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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may constitute “forward-looking statements” for purposes of the federal securities laws. Our forward-looking statements 
include, but are not limited to, statements regarding our and our management team’s expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future. In addition, any 
statements that refer to projections, forecasts or other characterizations of future events or circumstances, including any underlying assumptions, are forward-looking statements. 
The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intends,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “will,” 
“would” and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. These 
forward-looking statements are provided for illustrative purposes only and are not intended to serve as, and must not be relied on by any investor as, a guarantee, an assurance, a 
prediction or a definitive statement of fact or probability. Actual events and circumstances are difficult or impossible to predict and will differ from assumptions. Many actual 
events and circumstances are beyond the control of Bitcoin Depot Inc. (the “Company” or “Bitcoin Depot”). Some risks of achieving any of these forward-looking statements 
include: 

•failure to realize the anticipated benefits of the Merger; 

•the ability to maintain the listing of the Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the "Class A common stock"), and the warrants to purchase the Class A 
common stock (the "Warrants") on Nasdaq; 

•the Company’s ability to issue equity or equity-linked securities, to obtain debt financing or refinance existing indebtedness on satisfactory terms, or otherwise raise 
financing in the future; 

•the liquidity and trading of the Class A common stock and the Warrants; 

•members of the Company’s management team allocating their time to other businesses and potentially having conflicts of interest with the Company’s business; 

•the Company’s future financial performance; 

•the Company’s success in retaining or recruiting, or changes required in, its officers, key employees or directors; 

•the Company’s ability to manage future growth; 

•the Company’s ability to develop new products and services, bring them to market in a timely manner, and make enhancements to its business; 

•the effects of competition on the Company’s business; 

•market adoption and future performance of cryptocurrencies; 

•changes in domestic and foreign business, financial, political and legal conditions; 

•future global, regional or local economic and market conditions; 

•the outcome of any potential litigation, government and regulatory proceedings, investigations and inquiries; 

•the development, effects and enforcement of laws and regulations; and 

•other risks noted in this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Risk Factors,” and other documents that the Company will file, from time to time with the 
Securities Exchange Commission (“SEC”). 

If any of these risks materialize or our assumptions prove incorrect, actual results could differ materially from the results implied by these forward-looking statements. There 
may be additional risks that we do not presently know or that we currently believe are immaterial that could also cause actual results to differ from those contained in the 
forward-looking statements. 

In addition, forward-looking statements reflect our expectations, plans or forecasts of future events and views as of the date hereof. We anticipate that subsequent events and 
developments will cause our assessments to change. We specifically disclaim any obligation to update these forward-looking statements except as otherwise required by 
applicable law. These forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing our assessment as of any date subsequent to the date hereof. 

These statements are inherently uncertain, and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements. As a result of a number of known and unknown risks and 
uncertainties, actual results or our performance of the Company may be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. 
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You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents that we reference in and have filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K completely and with 
the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary 
statements.

 
PART I

 
Item 1. Business
 
Our Business
 
Business Overview
 
Bitcoin Depot owns and operates the largest network of BTMs (or, "kiosks") across North America where customers can buy and sell Bitcoin. Bitcoin Depot helps power the 
digital economy for users of cash.
 
Our mission is to bring Crypto to the Masses TM. Digital means and systems dominate the way that consumers send money, make purchases, and invest; however, we believe that 
many people still utilize cash as their primary means of initiating a transaction, either as a necessity or as a preference. These individuals have largely been excluded from the 
digital financial system and associated technological advancements in our global and digitally interconnected society. Bitcoin Depot’s simple and convenient process to convert 
cash into Bitcoin via our BTMs and BDCheckout products, as supported by our full-service mobile app, enables not only these users, but also the broader public, to access the 
digital financial system. Our mobile app includes a buy online feature that connects consumers to a third-party service, Simplex powered by Nuvei, that allows consumers to 
buy Bitcoin without going to a kiosk or using BDCheckout
 
As of December 31, 2024, our offerings included approximately 8,500 BTMs in retailer locations throughout the U.S., Canada and Puerto Rico, our BDCheckout product, 
which is accepted at approximately 7,600 retail locations, and our mobile app. We maintain the leading position among cash-to-Bitcoin BTM operators in the U.S., representing 
an approximate 25% market share in the U.S., and a strong position in Canada. Our BTMs offer one-way exchange of cash-to-Bitcoin. We also operate a leading BTM device 
and transaction processing system, BitAccess, which provides software and operational capabilities to third-party BTM operators, which generates software revenue for the 
Company.
 
The charts below illustrate the number of BTMs and corresponding market shares for the leading BTM operators in the U.S. and Canada, as of  December 31, 2024: (Note data 
is delayed from our actual active kiosks, please see Section 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for additional 
information regarding kiosk information.)

 
(1) Source: coinatmradar.com as of December 31, 2024. Figures only account for cash-to-Bitcoin ATMs, which results in the exclusion of LibertyX.
 
Our diverse retail locations and intuitive transaction process make us a convenient option for our users, and our predictable minimum monthly rent payments to our retail 
partners where our kiosks are located make us an attractive option for these retailers. We have locations across the U.S., Canada and Puerto Rico at, among others, the following 
type of retailers:

•Convenience Stores and Gas Station Chains: Our largest BTM deployment to date is with Circle K, a convenience store chain with over 9,000 locations in North 
America and over 5,000 stores in Europe and other international markets. We are 
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the exclusive provider and operator of BTMs for Circle K in the U.S. and Canada, and as of December 31, 2024, we have installed our BTMs in approximately 1,100 
Circle K stores.

•Pharmacies and Grocers: In addition to our installed BTMs at pharmacy and grocery chains, we have thousands of additional access points via our BDCheckout 
product. Our BDCheckout locations are sourced and connected through our relationship with a leading global payments technology company. See "Our Products".

•Mall Operators: Further, we have installed our BTMs at shopping malls across North America, including those operated by Simon Property Group, CBL Properties and 
others.

 
The following map illustrates the number of BTMs we operate by U.S. and Australian state and Canadian province as of January 31, 2025:

 
Both our revenue and transaction volumes have historically grown despite volatility in market prices for Bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies and we expect this trend to continue 
as Bitcoin becomes increasingly accepted across the world.
 
Our focus on robust compliance procedures and ease of use of our BTMs has helped create a powerful compounding effect: the convenience and quality of our platform 
provides a seamless experience for users transacting at our BTMs; thereby driving increased traffic and business at our retail partners; attracting more retailers to partner with 
us; and in turn driving even more users to our BTMs. Our scale and leadership position has enabled us to develop a deeper understanding of our users’ needs and continually 
innovate and launch new products and services, such as BDCheckout, further enhancing the value of our platform.
 
From our inception in July 2016 through December 31, 2024, we have completed more than 3.7 million user transactions, equating to approximately $2.8 billion in total 
transaction value. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we averaged approximately 14,961 monthly active users, which we define as the total number of unique 
customers. In light of the nature of our transactions, no customer is close to accounting for 10% of our revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2024, we generated 
approximately $573.7 million of revenue, $7.8 million of net income and $39.7 million in Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP), which represented 15.9% of Adjusted Gross Profit 
Margin (non-GAAP) for the same period. For the year ended December 31, 2023, we generated approximately $689.0 million of revenue, $1.5 million of net income and $56.3 
million in Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP), which represented 14.7% of Adjusted Gross Profit Margin (non-GAAP) for the same period. See the sections titled “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations—Non- GAAP Financial Measures” for information regarding our use of Gross Profit Margin, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Gross Profit and a 
reconciliation of such measures.
 
Our Products
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As of December 31, 2024, we operated a portfolio of approximately 8,500 owned and leased kiosks across 48 U.S. states, 10 Canadian provinces and Puerto Rico. Within the 
United States, our kiosks and BDCheckout access points are located in zip codes containing approximately 55% of the U.S. population. While we are currently not operating 
kiosks in New York, we have applied for the license required to operate in New York. See “Item 1A.—Risk Factors—Government Regulation—Money transmission and virtual 
currency business activity” for more information.
 
BTM
 
Our kiosks are located in convenience stores, gas stations, pharmacies, grocery chains and shopping malls across North America. Our largest deployment across a single retail 
chain is with Circle K, which accounted for approximately 1,100 of our total number of deployed kiosks as of December 31, 2024. We continuously monitor our BTM 
performance at each location, and at various times we relocate our BTMs to more profitable locations. The majority of our contracts contractually, allow us to move our BTMs 
with a limited notification to our retail partners. At December 31, 2024, we had approximately 2,100 BTMs with our logistics providers to redeploy to new locations.
 
Our kiosks, with the operating software pre-loaded, are manufactured and deployed by multiple providers. Our US providers include: Loomis, Garda, Rochester, and Titan 
Service for armored cash pickup; Burroughs and Cennox as service providers; Installations are handled by Bibbeo and Drop Pin; Wireless Communications provided by 
OptConnect, DPL, and Wireless ATM Store. Our Canadian providers include:  Brinks Canada for armored services, ATM Token for service and installation; and OptConnect 
provides wireless service. Our Australian providers include: Authentic for armored services, Banktech for service; installations are provided by Trip H; and OptConnect 
provides wireless communications. Our providers in Puerto Rico include: Loomis for armored; Burroughs for services and installations; and OptConnect for wireless 
communications. This gives us the flexibility to acquire additional hardware as the need arises. Because utilization is below that of typical cash ATMs, we believe that that the 
functional life of our kiosks is extended relative to manufacturer specifications. We have contracted with a network of providers to service our kiosks on an as-needed basis to 
support kiosk up-time, but our kiosks have typically not required frequent repair or maintenance.
 
We have found that a key factor affecting transaction volumes at any particular kiosk is its location. Our strategy in deploying our BTMs is to identify locations that are 
expected to generate high visibility and high transaction volume. Site selection for kiosk deployment is also determined based on an analysis of historical business trends and a 
determination of the proximity and density of competitors’ kiosks. The approximately 1,100 kiosks deployed at Circle K stores are a prime example of the types of locations 
that we seek when deploying our BTMs. In addition to the Circle K locations, we have also entered into agreements with a number of other retail partners.
 
Our retail deployments are secured through negotiation with our retail partners. Contract terms are generally similar across the portfolio of retail partners, such as payment 
terms, service level agreements, rent, placement, and access. These contracts provide a recurring and stable source of revenue for our retail partners over a typical initial term of 
approximately five years, although our terms vary because of negotiations at the time of execution. As of December 31, 2024, our contracts with our top 10 retail partners had a 
weighted average remaining life of 1.8 years. Many of our contracts include auto-renewal features providing for additional one-year terms following the expiration of the initial 
term. Such contracts may be terminated at either party’s option by giving proper notice in accordance with the subject contract. Contracts with over a 12-month term allow for 
kiosks to be removed at our discretion, and this overall flexibility to move our BTMs allows us to not record a liability on the balance sheet related to these retail location 
leases.
 
The software that resides on the kiosk is designed to provide an intuitive user interface for our users. Upon using a Bitcoin Depot kiosk for the first time, users will be prompted 
to provide certain information for account creation and verification. Users are required to select from three ranges of cash amounts to be inserted in the kiosk for purchasing 
Bitcoin. The user then provides the address of their digital wallet by scanning a QR code; the user can create and use a Bitcoin Depot-branded wallet (un-hosted and non-
custodial), or their other existing digital wallet. Bitcoin Depot’s branded wallet is facilitated through an unaffiliated third party. Bitcoin Depot utilizes this wallet infrastructure 
to offer users the ability to use an un-hosted non-custodial wallet within the Bitcoin Depot mobile app or through other third-party apps which allow access to non-custodial 
wallets. Bitcoin Depot is not liable for any losses users may experience because Bitcoin Depot does not have access to users’ wallets or their private keys. Cash is then inserted 
by the user into the kiosk, and the kiosk will confirm the dollar amount and other details of the transaction, including quantity of Bitcoin being purchased. Once the transaction 
is complete, the Bitcoin is electronically delivered to the user’s digital wallet and the user is provided with a physical receipt as well as a receipt via SMS text.
 
Prior to the time at which a user inserts cash in the BTM to purchase Bitcoin, Bitcoin Depot has control of such Bitcoin, and maintains such control until the transaction is 
completed at the kiosk and Bitcoin Depot initiates a transaction on the blockchain to send Bitcoin to the user. Bitcoin Depot never custodies a user’s Bitcoin. Bitcoin Depot 
takes custody of the user’s cash at the time the same is inserted into the BTM.
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BDCheckout
 
Bitcoin Depot also sells Bitcoin without the use of kiosks at several thousand additional retailer locations through a relationship with a leading global payments technology 
company. This product, called BDCheckout, allows users similar functionality to our kiosks, enabling them to load cash into their accounts at the checkout counter at retailer 
locations, and then use those funds to purchase Bitcoin. The transaction is initiated on the Bitcoin Depot mobile app, which is available for download from major app stores for 
free. We believe that BDCheckout offers an attractive value proposition for retailers, providing fee income and potentially increasing shopper foot traffic, without Bitcoin Depot 
incurring upfront out-of-pocket hardware costs and certain operational expenses, such as rent.
 
The primary difference between a BDCheckout transaction and a BTM kiosk transaction is that the former is completed via interaction with a cashier at a retail location and 
relies more heavily on the use of the Bitcoin Depot mobile app, while the latter involves a user interfacing with a kiosk.
 
Bitcoin Depot’s costs associated with a BDCheckout transaction are lower than its costs associated with a BTM transaction, primarily due to significantly greater operating 
expenses associated with the BTMs, including cash collection fees and short-term lease payments to the retail locations where the kiosks are placed. However, the profitability 
of the two services is similar because of the higher markup that Bitcoin Depot applies to BTM transactions to support the higher costs associated therewith.
 
Industry Trends
 
The adoption of cryptocurrencies as a medium of exchange has grown significantly since Bitcoin’s introduction in 2009 and cryptocurrency is continuing to become more 
mainstream among consumers. In 2024, centralized and decentralized exchanges reported approximately $149 trillion, in cryptocurrency trading volume, more than double 
2023 levels. According to New York Digital Investment Group LLC d/b/a NYDIG, Bitcoin alone was the largest payment network in 2024 with over $19 trillion in transaction 
volume, greater than Visa and Mastercard, and an estimated 27% of the U.S. adult population owns cryptocurrency.
 
Several notable developments have contributed to this growth, including broader acceptance of cryptocurrency on payment platforms, the proliferation of financial products 
offering investors exposure to cryptocurrencies, and market participants looking for ways to simplify transactions for the everyday consumer.
 
At the same time, consumers have become attracted to the accessibility and user experience of BTMs as an entry ramp into the digital financial system. Several companies 
began to work on BTM prototypes as early as 2013, and the BTM market has shown rapid growth since then. According to Coin ATM Radar, from January 1, 2017 to 
December 31, 2024, the total number of BTMs deployed grew from approximately 1,000 to 38,000, representing a CAGR of approximately 46%, with the vast majority of 
BTMs now located in North America. According to Coin ATM Radar, as of December 31, 2024, approximately 90% of installed BTMs worldwide reside in the U.S. and 
Canada, in which Bitcoin Depot had a market share of 25% and 8%, respectively.
 
Market Opportunity
 
Although U.S. consumers continued to use credit cards and debit cards for a majority of their payments, market studies indicate there is still a significant desire to utilize cash 
for various purposes in the U.S. The 2024 Diary of Consumer Payment Choice, a study conducted by Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco found that while it has declined 
over time, the share of payments in cash was 16% in 2023, which was a decrease from the data in 2021. As of December 2024, the value of currency in circulation passed $2.36 
trillion, a 36% increase compared to February 2020, but with slower growth since 2021. In addition, according to a study by Travis Credit Union conducted in 2020, 29% of 
U.S. adults sampled prefer to use cash to purchase goods. We believe a portion of this population finds obtaining cryptocurrencies through online cryptocurrency exchanges 
challenging and inconvenient and prefers to directly convert their cash to cryptocurrencies. The chart below shows the proportions of various methods of payments since 2016. 
The 2024 Diary of Consumer Payment Choice also shows that a significant percentage of person-to-person payments continue to be made in cash, and credit cards, the 
percentage of these payments made with credit cards has been steadily increasing compared to the prior years. According to a user survey we conducted, many of our users 
report that the reason they used our BTMs was to send cryptocurrency to others. This use case can represent a more efficient means of sending money for those who are using 
cash to make person-to-person payments, or an alternative means of sending money for those who are using mobile apps.
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Share of payment instrument use for all payments (1)

 
(1) Source: 2024 Findings from the Diary of Consumer Payment Choice; 
 
For the most up-to-date figures please consult the links in the section titled “Market, Industry and Other Data.”
 
Our Competitive Strengths
We believe the below competitive strengths differentiate us from our competition and enhance our ability to compete.
 

•Largest BTM Operator in North America
We are the largest operator of BTMs in North America with an approximately 25% market share as of December 31, 2024, according to Coin ATM Radar. As of December 31, 
2024, we have approximately 8,500 active kiosks across 48 states in the U.S. and 10 provinces in Canada across convenience stores, gas stations, pharmacies, grocery chains 
and shopping malls. Bitcoin Depot’s strategically placed network of BTMs and BDCheckout access points are located in zip codes addressing approximately 55% of the U.S. 
population. Our strong presence has given us increased visibility among users and retail partners and has helped drive user traffic to our kiosks.
 

•Superior User and Retailer Experience
In addition to offering intuitive user interfaces at our BTMs for transactions, we believe we offer a streamlined alternative to online exchanges for transacting in Bitcoin. Online 
exchanges can in certain instances require users to wait over three business days to convert money to Bitcoin, and they also require a user to have a bank account and therefore 
provide no cash conversion options. Our users can purchase Bitcoin without a bank account through our kiosks in typically under two minutes for new accounts and in under a 
minute for returning users. Our streamlined mobile app offers an easy way for our users to locate points-of-transaction, create a digital wallet, transfer Bitcoin between digital 
wallets and initiate BDCheckout transactions. We provide telephone customer service almost around the clock to address questions or concerns from our users and to facilitate a 
smooth transaction process.
 
We have flexible hosting contract terms with our retail partners that offer location payments tied to a predictable minimum rate monthly rent (which, for certain locations, may 
be increased based on transaction volumes, thereby aligning partners’ success with our own performance). Based on our observations, our kiosks provide the benefit of driving 
additional foot traffic at retail locations, which as a result potentially drives additional business to our partners, thereby increasing their revenue.
 

•Robust Compliance Procedures
We complete our customer Know Your Customer (“KYC”) process prior to permitting a user to transact. We have invested in and maintain robust, multi-layer compliance 
procedures to evaluate potential users, open user accounts and monitor transactions at our BTMs. Our compliance team, comprised of 20 individuals, has over 100 years of 
combined experience in AML (Anti-Money Laundering), BSA (Bank Secrecy Act), OFAC (Office of Foreign Assets Control) and Consumer Protection compliance. For KYC  
verification for any given user transacting at our kiosks is generally based on the user’s proposed transaction amount with us. Generally, verification involves collecting users’ 
names, email addresses, phone numbers, driver’s licenses or other ID, social security numbers and photos of each user. Further, our BTMs take photos throughout the 
transaction process, which allows us to verify that users match the identifying information that has been provided during the KYC process. We utilize blockchain analytics and 
work with various third parties for transaction monitoring, case management and regulatory filings and reporting. We prioritize proactive 
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reporting procedures in accordance with local, state, and federal requirements. Our compliance systems routinely reject user applicants that fail authentication requirements, and 
bans users from transacting at our kiosks and via BDCheckout when our compliance team discovers suspicious activity or when the users violate our terms of service (which 
can be accessed on our website) to which users agree prior to transacting at a BTM or during the BDCheckout transaction process, as applicable. These user bans represent 
approximately 4% of our overall transaction volumes in a given month. We do not believe there are any material challenges related to conducting KYC at a kiosk. We believe 
many of our retail partners have selected us to be their BTM provider based on our focus and commitment to robust compliance.
 

•Limited Exposure to Cryptocurrency Prices
Our revenue has not been correlated to the price of Bitcoin historically, even in light of volatile Bitcoin prices. Based on our own user surveys, a majority of our users use our 
products and services for non-speculative purposes, including money transfers, international remittances, and online purchases, among others.
 

•Prudent Bitcoin Management
We use a sophisticated Bitcoin management process to reduce our exposure to volatility in Bitcoin prices by maintaining a relatively low balance (typically less than $1.0 
million) of Bitcoin at any given time in our hot wallets to fulfill orders from users while we are automatically placing orders with liquidity providers and exchanges to replenish 
the Bitcoin we have sold to users, which we believe differentiates us from our competition. We do not act as an agent or exchange for users in our transactions; we maintain 
balances of Bitcoin from which we satisfy our users’ demand from kiosk or BDCheckout transactions. As we send users Bitcoin, we replenish our Bitcoin balance on an 
ongoing basis to meet user demand. Our typical practice is to purchase Bitcoin through a liquidity provider such as Cumberland DRW. We replenish our Bitcoin only through 
purchases from leading Bitcoin liquidity providers and do not engage in any mining of Bitcoin ourselves. Our sophisticated replenishment process enables us to satisfy our 
users’ Bitcoin purchases with our own Bitcoin holdings, yet maintain relatively small balances of Bitcoin to effectively manage our principal risk.
 

•Management Team With Deep Industry Experience
We are led by a management team that built our business from the ground up to become the largest operator of BTMs in North America. Our founder and other executive 
officers bring extensive multidisciplinary experience in technology and business. We believe our management team has a competitive advantage in their ability to attract a 
highly talented pool of experienced engineers and seasoned industry professionals. We believe our management team’s expertise in this industry enables them to pursue 
attractive and opportunistic acquisition targets to further strengthen our competitive advantage.
 
Our Strategies
 
We intend to continue to grow our business by employing the following strategies:

•Geographical and Retailer Expansion
We intend to continue to expand into more physical locations at our existing partners as well as build new partner relationships for further greenfield market penetration. 
Among existing partners, our kiosks are located in approximately 1,100 out of the over 9,000 total Circle K locations in the U.S. and Canada. Our broad footprint and user base 
presents us an opportunity to offer additional products and services in the future, which we believe will further strengthen and grow our user base. To expand into new 
geographies, we have applied for a license to operate in the state of New York, a market we believe could support thousands of kiosks, an estimate we adopted based on other 
states with more established BTM networks and comparable populations, such as Florida. Finally, approximately 90% of BTMs worldwide are in North America, according to 
Coin ATM Radar as of December 31, 2024, presenting an attractive international expansion opportunity for us. Various countries have begun accepting cryptocurrency as a 
legal form of payment, which we believe is going to accelerate the adoption of cryptocurrency and offer us an opportunity to establish a presence in these countries.
 

•Leverage Scale and Profitability to Reinvest in the Business
We operate the largest network of BTMs in North America. We have generated positive net income and cash flow from operations during every year since our inception. For 
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we generated revenue of approximately $573.7 million and $689.0 million, respectively, gross profit of $81.5 million and $88.6 
million, respectively, and adjusted gross profit of $91.4 million and $101.0 million, respectively. We currently intend to reinvest the majority of the profits back in our business 
to continue to develop new products and services to address the needs of our users, such as BDCheckout, allowing us to achieve further brand recognition and brand loyalty and 
grow our user base.
 

•Strategic Acquisitions and Partnerships
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We believe the BTM market is fragmented. We plan to opportunistically evaluate acquiring other kiosk operators and complementary businesses to support our operations and 
strategy. Provided we are able to secure appropriate opportunities, we intend to pursue inorganic growth in the form of strategic bolt-on acquisitions to build on our leading 
market position and to supplement our in-house capabilities in both hardware kiosks and software that run on these kiosks as well as any product or service that provides Bitcoin 
access in a retail setting. In addition, we continue to look for potential acquisitions to enhance our capabilities in areas such as cyber security and compliance, among others.
 

•Grow Volume of Retail Transactions Through BDCheckout
We launched BDCheckout in June 2022 and as of December 31, 2024, it is available at approximately 7,600 retail locations across North America, including convenience 
stores, gas stations, pharmacies, grocery chains and shopping malls. BDCheckout enables our users to load cash into their accounts at the checkout counter at retailer locations, 
and then use those funds to purchase Bitcoin using the same fee structure in place at our kiosks, thereby lowering our required upfront capital expenditures and operating 
expenses and providing us with additional revenues from the sale of Bitcoin. For more information about how we generate our revenue, please see the section of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Components of Results of Operations—Revenue.” 
We intend to fully capitalize on this by actively targeting our users with BDCheckout through online advertising and our free mobile app. We believe the expansion of 
BDCheckout to new locations across the U.S. and Canada will diversify our revenue streams as well as further grow our transaction volumes, revenue and profitability.
 
Recent Highlights
 
In March 2023, we announced a partnership agreement with GetGo® Café + Market, an innovative, food-first convenience store retailer with locations throughout western 
Pennsylvania, Ohio, northern West Virginia, Maryland and Indiana. We have begun installing our BTMs into 125 GetGo® Café + Market stores in multiple metropolitan areas, 
strengthening our presence throughout the Midwest and Mid-Atlantic.
 
In September 2023, the Company entered into an On-Site Agreement, with Tanger Management, the property manager for the outlet centers located throughout the United 
States and Canada. The agreement anticipates the placement of BTMs in 16 mall locations.
 
In October 2023, we fostered a critical relationship, for the placement of our kiosks, with one of the foremost distributors in the ATM industry, CORD, underscoring our 
reputation as a formidable player in the market which has more than 3000+ ATMs in the US. We believe this partnership will expand our reach of connecting our BTMs with 
those that wish to own or operate BTMs.
 
In December 2023, we announced a partnership with MAPCO for kiosk placement, which encompasses 63 of their corporate locations. With MAPCO's expansive network of 
over 145+ locations spanning six states, this collaboration presents an opportunity to bolster our market presence and engage with a wider audience. Initially commencing with 
their corporate sites, we have laid a robust foundation for additional expansion. Furthermore, we have a strategic alliance with Majors Management that carries the potential to 
extend our reach to an additional 570+ franchisee locations, and 200+ corporate locations. This strategic alliance holds immense promise for expanding our market positions.
 
Entering January 2024, we signed a master placement agreement with EG America LLC, in one of the largest retail partner deals in the Company's history.  With this 
agreement, we are set to install our BTMs in approximately 900+ locations, a significant leap forward in our expansion trajectory.
 
In February 2024, we were able to secure a deal with CEFCO for 72 out of their 200+ locations which marks a significant milestone for our company. This partnership not only 
expands our market reach but also diversifies us within the convenience store industry. By aligning with CEFCO, a reputable and rapidly growing chain, we gain access to a 
broader customer base and increase brand visibility.

During 2024, we entered into seven franchise profit sharing arrangements. Under the terms of the agreements, the counterparties receive a share in the profits generated by a 
group of specifically identified kiosks.  The agreements mature between February 2029 and February 2033.

Competition
 
We operate in a highly competitive industry with an increasing number of participants. Industries adjacent to the digital financial system are highly fragmented, quickly 
evolving, intensely competitive, and subject to growing global regulatory scrutiny and oversight.
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There are several publicly traded companies that operate cash to Bitcoin ATMs, including Athena Bitcoin Inc. and Bitcoin Well Inc. We believe we do not have any direct, 
pure-play competitors, traded on major exchanges, who operate cash to Bitcoin ATMs at scale.
 
Several private companies and wholly-owned subsidiaries of other publicly traded companies may be considered to be our competitors, including BitNational, Bitstop, Byte 
Federal, Inc., Cash2Bitcoin.com, Coin Hub, Coin Flip Bitcoin ATMs, Coinme, Instacoin, Moon Inc., dba LibertyX, a division of NCR Atleos Corporation, Localcoin, 
NationalBitcoin ATM, and RockItCoin, among others.
 
Separately, given our mission to Bring Bitcoin to the Masses™ by enabling our users to transact on everyday activities using Bitcoin, from paying bills to sending money 
transfers to a variety of other use cases, other established payment processing and money transfer businesses may become our competitors, including PayPal, Block, Global 
Payments, Coinbase, Jack Henry, and MoneyGram, among others.
 
Sales and Marketing
 
Our sales team focuses principally on maintaining relationships with our existing retail partners and developing new relationships with national, regional and local retailers. The 
team is organized into groups that specialize in marketing to specific retail industry segments, which allows us to tailor our offering to the specific requirements of each retail 
partner. As of December 31, 2024, our sales and marketing teams consisted of 21 employees. Those who are exclusively focused on sales typically receive a combination of 
base salary and an incentive-based compensation.
 
In addition to targeting new business opportunities, our sales team supports our business initiatives by building and maintaining relationships with new retail partners. We seek 
to identify growth opportunities within each account by analyzing the retailer’s sales at each of its locations, foot traffic, and various demographic data to determine the best 
opportunities for new BTM placements.
 
Our marketing team is focused on attracting users to our BTMs as well as to our BDCheckout retail locations. Our marketing team primarily uses digital marketing tools, such 
as Google AdWords, to acquire and retain users but also deploys email, SEO, and physical marketing presences as applicable. Our marketing team also supports the sales team 
in attracting new retail partners.
 
Intellectual Property, Patents and Trademarks
 
Although we believe our success depends upon our technical and marketing expertise more than our proprietary rights, our future success and ability to compete depend in part 
upon our proprietary technology. We have registered or filed applications for our primary trademarks. Most of our technology is not patented. Instead, we rely on a combination 
of contractual rights, copyrights, trademarks, and trade secrets to establish and protect our proprietary technology. We generally enter into confidentiality agreements with our 
employees, consultants, third-party contractors, and retail partners. Access to, and distribution of, our source code is restricted, and the disclosure and use of other proprietary 
information is further limited. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties can attempt to copy or otherwise obtain, or use our products or 
technology. We cannot be certain that the steps taken in this regard will be adequate to prevent misappropriation of our technology or that our competitors will not 
independently develop technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technology in a manner that would avoid our intellectual property rights.
 
Research and Development
 
We invest in ongoing research to develop new software solutions and services and enhance existing solutions with additional functionality and features required to ensure 
regulatory compliance. Product-specific enhancements are largely user-driven with recommended enhancements formally gathered through survey results, strategic initiatives 
meetings and ongoing user contact. We also continually evaluate and implement process improvements that expedite the delivery of new products, services and enhancements 
to our users and reduce related costs. For instance, our research and development capabilities and efforts resulted in the successful launch and deployment of BDCheckout, 
recently at thousands of major retailers. Associated costs are recorded in Selling, general and administrative expense on the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) and are not material.
 
Our Retail Partners
 
In the U.S., we have contracts with over 50 major national and regional retailers, including convenience stores, supermarkets, drug stores, and other high-traffic retail chains, 
which represent approximately 2,700 BTMs. Circle K is the largest retailer in our portfolio, representing approximately 23% and 27% of our total revenues for the years ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The underlying retail agreement with Circle K has an initial term of five years. As of December 31, 2024, our contract with Circle 
K had a 
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remaining life of 0.5 years. In January 2025, our contract with Circle K was extended by 1 year. Our other top ten retail partners (excluding Circle K) comprise 11.5% of our 
retail locations. Contracts with these other nine retail partners have a weighted average remaining life of 3.4 years as of December 31, 2024. Many of our contracts include 
auto-renewal features providing for additional one-year terms following the expiration of the initial term. Such contracts may be terminated at either party’s option by giving 
proper notice in accordance with the subject contract. The terms of our retail partner contracts vary because of negotiations at the time of execution. In addition, through 
BDCheckout, our users can now load cash into their accounts at the checkout counter at approximately 7,600 retailer locations, and then use those funds to purchase Bitcoin.
 
Our Vendors/Suppliers
 
Cumberland DRW
 
Cumberland DRW ("Cumberland") is one of our co-primary liquidity providers from whom we purchase Bitcoin that we sell to our users. We have had a relationship with 
Cumberland for over three years. Cumberland is a leading OTC liquidity provider in the digital financial system. The company has operations globally and is owned by DRW, a 
diversified principal trading firm with more than 25 years of experience in multiple asset classes around the world. 
 
Abra
 
Abra is one of our co-primary liquidity providers from whom we purchase Bitcoin that we sell to our users. We have had a relationship with Abra for almost one year. Abra is a 
financial services and technology company that operates a cryptocurrency wallet service including a trading service for buying and selling cryptocurrencies and a service for 
earning interest on cryptocurrencies and stablecoins.
 
Genmega
 
Genmega is a global provider of kiosks and traditional cash ATMs and is currently the largest provider of our BTM kiosks. The company was founded over ten years ago and 
has cumulatively delivered more than 150,000 ATMs worldwide. Since 2016, Genmega has supplied more than 8,000 kiosks to us.
 
Gemini
 
Gemini is an American cryptocurrency exchange and custodian that allows customers to buy, sell, and store digital assets. To place orders for Bitcoin on the Gemini exchange, 
we are required to have USD on account and available which facilitates the purchasing process. We maintain a minimum USD balance needed for anticipated Bitcoin purchases 
for the day. We replenish the account with USD as needed. Gemini is the sole cryptocurrency exchange with which we hold USD balances. For the year ended December 31, 
2024, our average daily USD balance held in fiat wallets on the Gemini exchange was approximately $0.5 million.
 
Cash Transportation
 
We contract with large and reputable armored courier services to transport and transfer funds to and from our kiosks. We use leading armored couriers such as Loomis, Brinks 
and Garda in the U.S. and Canada to collect and transport cash. Under these arrangements, the armored couriers collect cash either on a regular schedule or pickups are initiated 
when cash in a particular kiosk has reached a specified threshold dollar amount, which we can track on a real-time basis. The armored couriers then confirm cash counts and our 
bank accounts are then credited.
 
ATM Operations
 
We contract with large and reputable service providers that support the various activities of our BTMs operations related to deployment, repairs and maintenance, and wireless 
communications.  Operations vendors include, but are not limited to, Bibbeo, Burroughs, Cennox, DropPin, Fiserv, National Services, and OptConnect.  We also supplement 
our vendors by insourcing some field activities with several employees who travel to various markets as needed.
 
Lease Providers
 
We utilize three major lessors to finance approximately 3,500 of our BTMs. We believe these lessors are experienced in lease transactions and have adequate equity reserves. 
We have been able to negotiate with several lease providers and are able to receive 
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market rates for these lease arrangements. As of December 31, 2024, we have lease commitments to acquire all the kiosks for a bargain purchase option at the end the lease term.
 
User Transactions
 
We hold an amount of Bitcoin in a hot wallet that we own and send Bitcoin to users from that wallet when transactions are completed at a BTM or through BDCheckout. We 
replenish our hot wallet from time to time through open market purchases of Bitcoin with certain liquidity providers. When a user buys Bitcoin from us, the purchase price is 
based on the spot price of Bitcoin at the time of the user’s transaction. When a user sells Bitcoin to us, such Bitcoin is held in a Bitcoin Depot hot wallet for a period of time, 
which could be up to several days, until such Bitcoin is later sold through a liquidity provider to fund operations or is resold to users transacting at BTM kiosks or through 
BDCheckout; however, the volume of transactions of this type are de minimis. Our policy for transfers from our hot wallet (the private keys to which are stored in 
geographically dispersed locations throughout the U.S.) that do not involve fulfilling user purchases require dual approval by our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating 
Officer. Transfers from our hot wallet to fulfill user purchases occur automatically through an application program interface that is secured by passwords and login credentials.
 
We do not custody Bitcoin for our kiosk users. Our relationship with our primary liquidity provider allows us to purchase Bitcoin to quickly replenish amounts sold to users, 
which means that we hold relatively small amounts of Bitcoin for customer sales at any given time. Due to the minimal amount of Bitcoin held at any given time (typically less 
than $1.0 million) in our hot wallets to fulfill orders from users while we are automatically placing orders with liquidity providers and exchanges to replenish the Bitcoin we 
have sold to users, coupled with our high transaction volumes, we do not store Bitcoin in cold wallets.
 
Human Capital
 
As of December 31, 2024, we had 126 full-time employees, most of whom were in the U.S. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or covered by collective 
bargaining agreements, and we have not experienced any work stoppages. We believe we have a positive relationship with our employees.
 
We believe that our success is driven by our employees. Therefore, we strive to drive their own professional growth, success and wellbeing. Our human capital strategy focuses 
on: 
 
Diversity, Equity and Inclusion: We recognize the value of diversity, equity and inclusion within our organization and strive to ensure that our workplace reflects the diverse 
communities in which we operate in order to promote collaboration, innovation, creativity and belonging. We are committed to recruiting and employing qualified candidates 
regardless of their gender or cultural background. 
 
Employee Benefits: We believe in the importance of offering our employees competitive salaries and wages, together with comprehensive insurance options. We recognize the 
importance of comprehensive healthcare benefits, including medical, prescription drug, vision and dental, and employees and their family members are provided with tools and 
resources to assist in adopting and maintaining a healthy lifestyle. We offer medical, dental, vision, short and long-term disability, life insurance, match 401K contributions up 
to 3%, and pay for a ClassPass membership.
 
Training and Talent Development: We are committed to the education of our employees and have committed to provide our employees with a variety of learning opportunities, 
including, but not limited to, technical skill development, soft skills development, workplace conduct guidance, and IT security training.
 
Facilities
 
Our principal executive offices and headquarters are located in leased premises at 3343 Peachtree Road NE, Suite 750, Atlanta, Georgia, 30326, consisting of approximately 
5,700 square feet. We also lease office space in Canada, located at 267 Richmond Rd, 3rd Fl., Ottawa, Ontario K1Z 6X3 and consisting of approximately 1,000 square feet. We 
believe that these facilities are generally suitable to meet our needs.
 
Seasonality and Inflation
 
We have typically experienced seasonality in the 4th quarter of the calendar year in our revenue and the related cost of cryptocurrency. We believe this trend is attributable to 
less business days in the quarter as a result of public holidays. Our costs of goods, services and labor and third-party services, have been impacted by the recent high inflationary 
environment. To date, we have been successful in managing these inflationary cost increases through pricing, productivity and cost-cutting initiatives. There can be no 
assurance that 
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our operating results will not continue to be affected by inflation in the future or that we will be successful in managing such cost increases.
 
Governmental Regulation
 
Currently, we operate in the U.S., Puerto Rico, Canada and Australia in a complex and rapidly evolving regulatory environment and are subject to a wide range of laws, rules 
and regulations enacted by U.S. and Canadian federal, state, territorial, provincial, and local governments and regulatory authorities. At a high-level, this evolving regulatory 
environment currently is characterized by a heightened focus by regulators on the cryptocurrency industry and countering terrorist financing and anti-money laundering. The 
scope of laws, rules, and regulations that can impact our business, including many laws, rules, and regulations that were enacted prior to the creation of the digital financial 
system, are expansive and include certain of the requirements that apply to financial services, money transmission, privacy protection, cybersecurity, electronic payments, and 
securities and commodities regulation, as well as bespoke cryptocurrency laws that have been adopted in some jurisdictions. Notwithstanding the applicability of the above-
described regulatory framework, currently we are not supervised or examined by any banking, securities or commodities regulator such as the Office of the Comptroller of the 
Currency, the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions, the SEC, or the Commodity Futures Trading Commission.
 
We monitor changes to the regulatory environment closely and invest significant resources in our legal and compliance teams to ensure that we are able to design and maintain 
appropriate compliance systems and practices. However, the complexity and evolving nature of our business and the significant uncertainty surrounding the regulation of the 
digital financial system and related industries, require us to exercise our judgment as to whether certain laws, rules, and regulations apply to us, and it is possible that regulators 
may disagree with our conclusions. New or changing laws and regulations, including changes to their interpretation or implementation, as well as our failure to appreciate that 
the laws and regulations apply to our business, could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
 
We regularly monitor official SEC releases and comments made by senior SEC officials, including the sitting Chairman, regarding the regulation of cryptocurrencies and related 
activities. Based on such statements, historical enforcement actions and existing regulations and laws, we have made the determination that our activities and the 
cryptocurrencies that we currently sell, which consists of only Bitcoin, do not subject us to SEC regulation (other than in connection with our status as a public company) and 
thus we believe we are not required to be registered with the SEC to support transactions which consist of only Bitcoin at our BTMs and via BDCheckout. We note that we have 
previously provided products and services related to Litecoin and Ethereum, however, based on a risk-based determination made after consideration of public statements by the 
SEC, historical enforcement actions, and existing regulations and laws in effect at the time, we have determined to limit our activities to Bitcoin only.
 
Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing
 
We are subject to various anti-money laundering and counter terrorist financing laws, including the BSA in the U.S. and similar laws and regulations in Canada. In the U.S. as a 
money services business registered with the FinCEN, the BSA requires us to develop, implement, and maintain a risk-based anti-money laundering program, provide an anti- 
money laundering-related training program, report suspicious activities and transactions, comply with certain reporting and recordkeeping requirements, and collect and 
maintain information about our users. In addition, the BSA requires us to comply with certain user due diligence requirements as part of our anti-money laundering obligations, 
including developing risk-based policies, procedures, and internal controls reasonably designed to verify each user’s identity. We have implemented a compliance program 
designed to prevent our kiosks, products and services from being used to facilitate money laundering, terrorist financing, and other illicit activity in countries, or with persons or 
entities, included on designated lists issued by the OFAC, and equivalent foreign authorities. Our compliance program includes policies, procedures, reporting protocols, 
training and internal controls, and is designed to address legal and regulatory requirements as well as to assist us in managing business risks associated with money laundering 
and terrorist financing.
 
Money transmission and virtual currency business activity
 
In the U.S., we have obtained licenses to operate as a money transmitter, or the equivalent, in the states where we understand such licenses or equivalent are required to conduct 
our business. In addition, we have applied for a BitLicense from the NYDFS. As a licensed money transmitter, we are subject to a range of legal obligations and requirements 
including bonding, net worth maintenance, customer notice and disclosure, reporting and recordkeeping requirements, and obligations that apply to the safeguarding of third-
party funds and crypto assets. In addition, the licensed entity within our corporate structure is subject to inspection and examination by the state licensing agencies and certain 
actions involving that entity, such as changes in controlling equity holders, board members, and senior management, may require regulatory approval.
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Privacy and protection of user data
 
We are subject to a number of laws, rules, directives, and regulations relating to the collection, use, retention, security, processing, and transfer of personally identifiable 
information about our users and employees in the jurisdictions where we operate. We are subject to privacy and information safeguarding requirements under the Gramm-
Leach-Bliley Act and the California Consumer Privacy Act in the U.S., as well as the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act in Canada, which impose 
certain privacy protections and require the maintenance of a written, comprehensive information security program.
 
Our business relies on the processing of personal data in many jurisdictions and the movement of data across state and national borders. As a result, much of the personal data 
that we process, which may include certain financial information associated with individuals, is regulated by multiple privacy and data protection laws and, in some cases, the 
privacy and data protection laws of multiple jurisdictions. In many cases, these laws apply not only to third-party transactions, but also to transfers of information between or 
among us, our subsidiaries, and other parties with which we have commercial relationships.
 
Regulatory scrutiny of privacy, data protection, cybersecurity practices, and the processing of personal data is increasing in the U.S. and around the world. Regulatory 
authorities are continuously considering numerous new legislative and regulatory proposals and interpretive guidelines that may contain additional privacy and data protection 
obligations. Any expansion or changes in the application of these privacy, data protection and cybersecurity laws or other regulatory requirements could increase our 
compliance costs and have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
 
Consumer protection
 
The FTC, the CFPB, and other U.S. federal, state, and local and foreign regulatory agencies regulate business activities, including money transfer services related to remittance 
or user-to-user transfers. These agencies, as well as certain other governmental bodies, including state attorneys general, have broad consumer protection mandates and 
discretion in enforcing consumer protection laws, including matters related to unfair or deceptive, and, in the case of the CFPB, abusive, acts or practices, or Unfair, deceptive, 
or abusive acts and practices (“UDAAPs”), and they promulgate, interpret, and enforce rules and regulations that affect our business. The CFPB has enforcement authority to 
prevent an entity that offers or provides financial services or products to consumers in the United States from committing or engaging in UDAAPs, including the ability to 
engage in joint investigations with other agencies, issue subpoenas and civil investigative demands, conduct hearings and adjudication proceedings, commence a civil action, 
grant relief (e.g., limit activities or functions; rescission of contracts), and refer matters for criminal proceedings.
 
Recent Developments in State Regulations
 
Several states have introduced or have pending legislation regarding cryptocurrency, digital or virtual currency. We cannot be sure of the impact such pending or future 
legislation might have on our results of operations or financial condition, or the probability that such bills will be entered into law. See below for recently effective state 
regulations and how they have impacted our business thus far. 
 
California
 
As expanded upon below, California passed certain legislation over the past year which limited our ability to operate effectively in that state. As a result, the Company has 
significantly reduced its footprint of kiosks in the state of California. However, we continue to evaluate the regulatory environment and our ability to comply with new 
regulations and reinstate operations there. 
 
Effective as of January 1, 2025, the Digital Financial Assets Law of California requires a kiosk operator to: (a) limit the charges that may be collected from a customer, such 
that they may not collect direct or indirect charges from a customer related to a single digital financial asset transaction that exceeds the greater of (x) $5, or (y) 15% of the U.S. 
Dollar equivalent of digital financial assets involved in the transaction, and (b) provide written disclosures to a customer prior to completing a transaction, that includes the 
following certain minimum information.
 
Effective as of January 1, 2024, pursuant to the Digital Financial Assets Law of California, operators of digital financial asset transaction kiosks in California are required to 1) 
provide to the Department of Financial Protection and Innovation of California (“DFPI”) a list of all locations of kiosks that the operator owns, operates or manages in 
California and to provide the DFPI with any updates to these locations within 30 days of any change; 2) abide by transaction limits of $1,000 in a day from a customer via kiosk; 
and 3) provide customers with receipts that include certain information regarding the transaction.
 
Connecticut
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On October 1, 2024, the Connecticut Act Concerning Digital Assets became effective, placing heavy regulatory, process and compliance burdens on our operations in the state. 
This bill allows the banking commissioner to adopt regulations, forms and orders governing the business use of digital assets by entities that, and individuals who, are under his 
regulatory jurisdiction (e.g. state-chartered banks and credit unions).  The regulations, forms, and orders must ensure consumer protection and the commissioner may consult 
with federal and other states’ financial services regulators, other stakeholders, and industry professionals to ensure that digital assets receive, to the extent practicable, consistent 
treatment. Further, the bill created a transaction limit of $2,000 for new customers and a $5,000 transaction limit for existing customers and capped fees for all transactions at 
15%.
 
The bill also imposes several disclosure and receipt requirements on virtual currency kiosk owners and operators. It further requires them to allow customers to cancel and 
receive a full refund for a virtual currency transaction within seventy-two hours 
after the new customer registered as a customer of such owner or operator if, not later than thirty days after the last virtual currency transaction that occurred during such 
seventy-two-hour period. Lastly, the bill allows the banking commissioner to establish a schedule of maximum fees that an owner or operator of a virtual currency kiosk may 
charge for specific services.
 
Minnesota
 
On August 1, 2024, the Minnesota Act Regulating Disclosures and Consumer Protections Related to Virtual-Currency Kiosks became effective, which placed additional 
compliance burdens on our operations and increased the risk of deterring consumers or decreasing market confidence in cryptocurrency. This bill requires virtual currency kiosk 
operators to (1) disclosure to consumers the relevant terms and conditions of the transactions; (2) issue full refunds for transactions made within seventy two hours of becoming 
a new customer if fraudulently induced to engage in virtual currency transactions and is reported within 14 days of the last transaction during the seventy two hour window and 
the customer contacts the virtual currency kiosk operator and a government or law enforcement agency informing of them of the fraudulent nature of the transaction; and (3) set 
maximum daily transaction limits of $2,000 for new customers. The disclosures on material risks must be made to customers before entering into the virtual currency 
transaction, and must include at least certain enumerated risks. 
 
Nebraska
 
On September 1, 2025, LB 609 will take effect in Nebraska. The law establishes a transaction limit of $2,000 for new customers (defined as individuals within 14 days of 
signing up), while existing customers will be permitted to transact up to $10,500 per day. Additionally, LB 609 imposes an 18% fee cap on transactions and requires operators 
to issue full refunds for transactions conducted by new customers within their first 14 days of registration, with refund requests permitted up to 90 days after the transaction.
 
Vermont
 
On May 10, 2024, the Vermont Act Relating to Banking, Insurance and Securities was signed into law. This act imposes a daily transaction limit of $1,000, a fee cap of 3% on 
transactions and a one year moratorium (beginning at the end of June 2024) on the installation of any new kiosks in the state. This has limited our ability to grow sales, 
transaction volumes and our consumer base in the state. 
 
Pending Federal Legislation
 
Certain federal agencies and representatives have introduced or have pending legislation regarding cryptocurrency, digital or virtual currency. We cannot be sure of the impact 
such pending or future legislation might have on our results of operations or financial condition, or the probability that such bills will be entered into law. We continue to 
monitor the status of pending legislation.
 
FinCEN has issued a notice of proposed rulemaking to see public comments on a proposal to require banks and money service businesses to submit reports, keep records, and 
verify the identity of customers in relation to transactions involving convertible virtual currency (“CVS”) or digital assets with legal tender status (“LTDA”) held in unhosted 
wallets (as defined below), or held in wallets hosted in a jurisdiction identified by FinCEN. FinCEN is proposing to adopt these requirements pursuant to the BSA. To effectuate 
certain of these proposed requirements, FinCEN proposes to prescribe by regulation that CVC and LTDA are “monetary instruments” for purposes of the BSA. However, 
FinCEN is not proposing to modify the regulatory definition of “monetary instruments” or otherwise alter existing BSA regulatory requirements applicable to “monetary 
instruments” in FinCEN's regulations, including the existing currency transaction reporting (“CTR”) requirement and the existing transportation of currency or monetary 
instruments reporting requirement.
 
On February 25, 2025, the Crypto ATM Fraud Prevention Act was introduced by Senator Dick Durbin (D-IL), proposing significant regulatory changes that could materially 
adversely impact our operations. If enacted, the bill would impose new customer transaction 
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limits, fee caps, refund requirements, and additional compliance measures for cryptocurrency kiosk operators. The bill defines “new customers” as individuals who have signed 
up within the past 14 days and imposes a transaction limit of $2,000 per day and $10,000 in total transactions during that period. Existing customers would be subject to a 
$5,000 daily transaction limit. Specifically, operators would be required to issue full refunds for transactions conducted by new customers within the first 14 days of signing up, 
with refund requests allowed up to 30 days after the transaction. For existing customers, fee refunds would be required if requested within 30 days. The bill also mandates verbal 
confirmation for transactions exceeding $500, which may introduce operational challenges and increased processing times.  We are unable to predict whether or not the 
proposed legislation will be passed into law (or even if it will be voted upon).
 
Additional regulatory developments
 
Various regulatory authorities continue to evaluate and implement laws, rules and regulations governing a wide variety of issues, including cryptocurrencies, identity theft, 
account management guidelines, disclosure rules, cybersecurity, marketing, ESG performance, transparency, and reporting, including requirements related to overall corporate 
ESG disclosures and climate-related financial disclosures which may impact our business. For an additional discussion on the impact of governmental regulation on our 
business, please see “Risk Factors” included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Legal Proceedings
 

On January 13, 2023, Canaccord Genuity Corp. (“Canaccord”) commenced proceedings against the Company by filing a claim with the Superior Court of Justice in Toronto, 
Ontario which named Lux Vending, LLC and Bitcoin Depot LLC as the defendants. Canaccord is a financial services firm in Canada that the Company previously had hired to 
perform advisory services related to a potential initial public offering in Canada or sales transaction. The claim asserts that Lux Vending, LLC breached the contract by 
terminating the contract to avoid paying fees for their services and that Canaccord is entitled to $23.0 million in damages equivalent to the fees alleged to be payable for breach 
of contract that would have been owed upon the closing of a transaction to acquire control, the sale of substantially all the Company’s assets, or a merger transaction pursuant to 
the previously terminated engagement letter for advisory services. Canaccord proposes that the amount of fees would be calculated on the total cash transaction value of the 
business combination of $880.0 million. The claim also seeks an award for legal and other costs relating to the proceeding.

In 2024 Canaccord added Bitcoin Depot Operating LLC as a defendant to account for the name change following the closing of the merger. Canaccord now estimates the total 
transaction value could be up to $655 million.

Bitcoin Depot does not believe the allegations made against it are valid and intends to vigorously defend against them. The range of potential loss related to the identified claim 
is between $0 and $23.0 million, the amount of damages that Canaccord is seeking in the lawsuit. The additional costs mentioned in the claim are not able to be estimated at this 
time.  The discovery phase of the litigation involving documentary productions and oral examinations is largely completed. A mediation of the dispute has been rescheduled to 
second quarter of 2025. 

In March 2025, two of our subsidiaries were served with a civil complaint from the Attorney General of the State of Iowa (the “Iowa AG”) in connection with a suit filed against 
us by the Iowa AG, on behalf of the state of Iowa, in the Iowa District Court for Polk County.  The complaint alleges that our subsidiaries violated certain provisions of the Iowa 
Consumer Fraud Act as a result of Bitcoin withdrawals made from our ATMs being used by our customers to pay make payments under a variety of fraudulent schemes.   The 
complaint further alleges that Bitcoin Depot should have known that the purpose of these withdrawals was to make payment under such schemes and that it should have taken 
additional steps to protect its customers.  The complaint is seeking a preliminary and permanent injunction against the subsidiaries from either operating in Iowa or further 
violating the Iowa Consumer Fraud Act as well as monetary penalties.   The Company strongly rejects any allegations that its subsidiaries or their BTMs violated the Iowa 
Consumer Fraud Act and intends to vigorously defend itself against the allegations.  While we believe that the Iowa AG is misinterpreting the related act and we have other 
strong defenses, we cannot assure you of the ultimate outcome of the claim.   Although the Company does not believe that this matter will have a material adverse effect on its 
business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows, the Company can provide no assurance as to the scope and outcome of this matter and no assurance as to whether 
there will be a material adverse effect to its business or its Consolidated Financial Statements.

We are also party to various other legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of our business. We believe these matters will not have a material adverse effect on our 
consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity. 
 
 
Corporate Information
 
Our principal executive office is located at 3343 Peachtree Road NE, Suite 750, Atlanta, Georgia, 30326, which is where our records are kept and the principal business address 
for our executive officers. Our mailing address is 2870 Peachtree Road #327, Atlanta, 
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Georgia, 30305 and our telephone number is (678) 435-9604. Our internet website is located at https://bitcoindepot.com. The information on our website is not a part of or 
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Lux Vending, LLC was incorporated as a Georgia limited liability company on June 7, 2016. In connection with the Closing, Lux Vending, LLC merged with and into Bitcoin 
Depot Operating LLC, a Delaware limited liability Company, with Bitcoin Depot Operating LLC surviving the merger.
 
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors
 

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated 
financial statements and related notes. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of or 
that we deem immaterial may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. If any of the following risks occur, our business, operating results, financial 
condition, and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected. Many risks affect more than one category, and the risks are not in order of significance or 
probability of occurrence because they have been grouped by categories. In that event, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline, and you could lose part or 
all of your investment.

 
Summary of Risk Factors 
 
The following is a summary of the principal risks that could adversely affect our business, operations and financial results. 
 
Risks Related to our Business and Industry

•Our total revenue is substantially dependent on the price and volume of transactions conducted by our customers. Furthermore, our transaction volume may be partially 
dependent on the prices of Bitcoin we sell, which can be volatile. 

•Our long-term success depends on our ability to develop new and innovative products and services to address and keep pace with the rapidly evolving market for 
payments and financial services.

•Our risk management efforts may not be effective, which could expose us to losses and liability and harm our business.

•We obtain and process a large amount of sensitive user data. Any real or perceived improper use of, disclosure of, or access to such data could harm our reputation, as 
well as have an adverse effect on our business.

•We face intense competition, and if we are unable to continue to compete effectively for any reason, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be 
adversely affected.

•Converting cash into cryptocurrency (and vice versa) involves risks, which could result in loss of user assets, user disputes and other liabilities, which could adversely 
impact our business.

•Disputes with our users could adversely impact our brand, reputation, business, operating results, and financial condition.

•There are a number of risks associated with our non-U.S. operations that could adversely affect our business.

•Our products and services may be exploited to facilitate illegal activity such as fraud, money laundering, gambling, tax evasion, and scams. If any users use our business 
to further such activities, our business could be adversely affected.

•If we fail to retain existing users or add new users, or if our users decrease their level of engagement with our products and services, our business, operating results, and 
financial condition may be significantly harmed.

•Our products and services may be negatively characterized by consumer advocacy groups, the media or certain federal, state and local government officials.

•Our strategy and focus on delivering high-quality, compliant, easy-to-use, and secure Bitcoin-related services may not maximize short-term or medium-term financial 
results.

•Any significant disruption in our kiosks or software, information technology systems, or any of the blockchain networks related to our business, could adversely impact 
our reputation and our business, operating results, and financial condition.
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•Banks and financial institutions may not provide banking services, or may cut off services, to businesses that engage in Bitcoin and/or other cryptocurrency-related 
activities, or accept Bitcoin as payment, including financial institutions of investors in our securities, and we may be exposed to counterparty risk as a result.

•Due to unfamiliarity and some negative publicity associated with cryptocurrency-related businesses, existing and potential users may lose confidence in cryptocurrency-
related products and services, which could negatively affect our business.

•We have entered into, and may in the future enter into, acquisitions, strategic investments, partnerships or relationships, entries into new businesses, joint ventures, 
divestitures, and other transactions which could fail to achieve strategic objectives, harm our business, and negatively impact our results of operations in a variety of ways.

•Our business could be harmed if we are unable to accurately forecast demand for Bitcoin and to adequately manage our Bitcoin balances and kiosk inventory.

•Cryptocurrency balances, including the balances we maintain for our own account or balances that may be maintained for us, and any investments in cryptocurrency, is 
subject to volatile market prices, impairment, and other risks of loss.

•Our failure to safeguard and manage our 3rd party operators' crypto assets could adversely impact our business.

•Cybersecurity threats continue to increase in frequency and sophistication; a successful cybersecurity attack could interrupt or disrupt our information technology 
systems or cause the loss of confidential or protected data which could disrupt our business, force us to incur excessive costs, cause reputational harm and adversely affect 
our business.

•Litigation or investigations involving us, our agents or other contractual counterparties could result in material settlements, fines or penalties and may adversely affect 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

•Major bank failure or sustained financial market illiquidity, or illiquidity at our clearing, cash management and custodial financial institutions, could adversely affect our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

•Our recent rapid growth, including in our transaction volume, may not be indicative of our future growth. Our rapid growth also makes it difficult to evaluate our future 
prospects and may increase the risk that we will not be successful.

•The further development and acceptance of cryptocurrency networks and other cryptocurrencies, which represent a new and rapidly changing industry, are subject to a 
variety of factors that are difficult to predict and evaluate.

•Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry could adversely affect our current and projected business operations, our financial condition, and results 
of operations.

•If we are unable to adequately protect our brands and the intellectual property rights related to our existing and any new or enhanced products and services, or if we 
infringe on the rights of others, our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

•BitAccess provides operating software to other BTM operators to run their machines, which could lead to access to information about the operations of our competitors, 
giving us an anti-competitive advantage that could result in a higher risk of litigation if sufficient controls are not in place.

•We face risks related to heightened inflation, which could adversely affect our business and results operations.

•We are subject to economic and geopolitical risk, business cycles, and the overall level of consumer, business and government spending, which could negatively affect 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

•We depend on major mobile operating systems and third-party platforms. If Google Play, the Apple App Store, or other platforms prevent users from downloading our 
mobile app, our ability to grow may be adversely affected.

•If miners or validators of Bitcoin demand high transaction fees, our operating results may be adversely affected.

•We rely on search engines, social networking sites, and other web-based platforms to attract a meaningful portion of our users, and if those search engines, social 
networking sites and other web-based platforms change their listings or policies regarding advertising, or increase their pricing or suffer problems, it may limit our ability 
to attract new users.

•The nature of our business requires the application of complex financial accounting rules. If financial accounting standards undergo significant changes, our operating 
results could be adversely affected.

 
 Risks Related to Government Regulation and Privacy Matters

•Any failure to obtain or maintain necessary money transmission registrations and licenses could adversely affect our operations.
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•We are subject to an extensive and highly evolving regulatory landscape and any adverse changes to, or our failure to comply with, any laws, rules, and regulations could 
adversely affect our business, and financial condition.

•It may become illegal to acquire, own, hold, sell, or use Bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies, participate in blockchains or utilize cryptocurrencies in other countries, which 
would adversely affect us.

•The theft, loss, or destruction of private keys required to access any Bitcoin may be irreversible. If we are unable to access our private keys or if we experience a hack or 
other data loss relating to our ability to access any Bitcoin, it could cause regulatory scrutiny, reputational harm, and other losses.

•The digital financial system is novel. If we are unable to effectively react to future proposed legislation and regulation of cryptocurrencies or cryptocurrency businesses, 
our business, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

•Our obligations to comply with the laws, rules, regulations, and policies of a variety of jurisdictions may increase and we may be subject to inquiries, investigations, and 
enforcement actions by U.S. and non-U.S. regulators and governmental authorities, including those related to sanctions, export control, and anti-money laundering.

•Complex and evolving U.S. and international laws, rules and regulation regarding privacy and data protection could result in claims, changes to our business practices, 
penalties, increased cost of operations, or otherwise harm our business.

•We are subject to compliance with U.S. anti-money laundering laws, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and numerous laws and regulations.

•Future developments in tax laws or regulations regarding the treatment and reporting of cryptocurrencies for U.S. and foreign tax purposes could adversely impact our 
tax expense and liabilities, reporting obligations, liquidity, and business.

•Changing environmental and safety regulations, including those regarding climate change, coupled with investors’ expectations of our performance relating to 
environmental, social, and governance factors may impose additional costs and expose us to new risks.

 
Other categories of risk discussed in more detail below include risks related to third parties, our management and employees, our capital structure and our tax receivables 
agreement.
 

Risks Related to our Business and Industry 

Our total revenue is substantially dependent on the price and volume of transactions conducted by our customers. If either declines, our business would be adversely 
affected. Furthermore, our transaction volume may be partially dependent on the prices of Bitcoin we sell, which can be volatile. If such prices decline, the volume of user 
transactions could decrease and our business, operating results, and financial condition would be adversely affected. 

We generate substantially all of our revenue from the cash paid by customers to purchase Bitcoin from our kiosks. Revenue is based on the prices we charge our customers 
based on prevailing market prices and may fluctuate based on the price of Bitcoin. Additionally, the number of user transactions and our transaction volumes may be partially 
dependent on the prices of Bitcoin, as well as the associated demand for buying, selling and trading Bitcoin, which can be and historically have been volatile. If such prices 
decline, the number of user transactions or our transaction volumes could decrease. As such, any declines in the volume of transactions, or any declines in the price of Bitcoin or 
market liquidity for cryptocurrency generally, may result in lower total revenue to us. For example, from January 1, 2020 through March 2025, the trading price of Bitcoin 
appreciated significantly, from a low of approximately $3,800 per Bitcoin in March 2020, to a high of approximately $109,588 per Bitcoin in January 2025. The price and 
trading volume of any cryptocurrency, including Bitcoin, is subject to significant uncertainty and volatility, depending on a number of factors, including: 
 

•market conditions of, and overall sentiment towards, cryptocurrency; 

•changes in liquidity, market-making volume, and trading activities; 

•trading activities in cryptocurrency, including on other cryptocurrency platforms worldwide, many of which may be unregulated, and may include manipulative 
activities; 

•investment and trading activities of highly active retail and institutional users, speculators, miners, and investors; 

•the speed and rate at which cryptocurrency is able to gain adoption as a medium of exchange, utility, store of value, consumptive asset, security instrument, or other 
financial assets worldwide, if at all; 
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•changes in user and investor confidence in cryptocurrency and cryptocurrency platforms; 

•negative publicity and events relating to the digital financial system; 

•unpredictable social media coverage or “trending” of, or other rumors and market speculation regarding cryptocurrency; 

•the ability for cryptocurrency to meet user and investor demands; 

•the functionality and utility of cryptocurrency and its associated ecosystems and networks, including cryptocurrency designed for use in various applications; 

•retail user preferences and perceived value of cryptocurrency and cryptocurrency markets; 

•increased competition from other payment services or cryptocurrency for which we do not sell that exhibit better speed, security, scalability, or other characteristics; 

•federal and state regulatory or legislative changes and updates affecting the digital financial system; 

•the characterization of cryptocurrency under the laws of various jurisdictions around the world; 

•the adoption of unfavorable taxation policies on cryptocurrency investments by governmental entities; 

•the maintenance, troubleshooting, and development of the blockchain networks underlying cryptocurrency, including by miners, validators, and the development 
community; 

•the ability for cryptocurrency networks to attract and retain miners or validators to secure and confirm transactions accurately and efficiently; 

•legal and regulatory changes affecting the operations of miners and validators of blockchain networks, including limitations and prohibitions on mining activities, or 
new legislative or regulatory requirements as a result of growing environmental concerns around the use of energy in mining cryptocurrency, including Bitcoin, and 
other proof-of-work mining activities; 

•ongoing technological viability and security of cryptocurrency and its associated smart contracts, applications and networks, including vulnerabilities against hacks 
and scalability, particularly given the evolution and increased adoption of artificial intelligence (“AI”) technologies, which amplifies these concerns; 

•fees and speed associated with processing cryptocurrency transactions, including on the underlying blockchain networks and on cryptocurrency platforms; 

•financial strength of market participants; 

•the availability and cost of funding and capital; 

•interruptions in service from or failures of major cryptocurrency platforms; 

•availability of an active derivatives market for various cryptocurrencies; 

•availability of banking and payment services to support cryptocurrency-related projects; 

•level of interest rates and inflation; 

•monetary policies of governments, trade restrictions, and fiat currency devaluations; and 

•national, North American and international economic and political conditions and the proliferation of global and regional conflicts and political instability, including 
the war in Ukraine, continued tensions between China and the United States and sustained conflicts in the Middle East. 

There is no assurance that any given cryptocurrency will maintain or increase in value or that there will be meaningful transaction volumes from our users. In the event that the 
price or trading of, or demand for, cryptocurrency declines, our business, operating results, and financial condition would be adversely affected. 

Our long-term success depends on our ability to develop new and innovative products and services to address and keep pace with the rapidly evolving market for payments 
and financial services, and, if we are not able to implement successful enhancements and 
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new features for our products and services, our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. 

Rapid and significant technological changes continue to confront the industries in which we operate, including developments in digital banking, mobile financial apps, ATMs 
and BTMs, and point-of-service solutions, as well as developments in cryptocurrency and in tokenization, which replaces sensitive data (e.g., payment card information) with 
symbols (tokens) to keep the data safe in the event that sensitive data is stolen or viewed by unauthorized third parties. 

These new and evolving services and technologies may be superior to, impair, or render obsolete the products and services we currently offer or the technologies we currently 
use to provide them. Incorporating new technologies into our products and services may require substantial expenditures and take considerable time, and we may not be 
successful in realizing a return on these development efforts in a timely manner or at all. Our ability to develop new and innovative products and services may be inhibited by 
industry-wide standards, payment networks, existing and future laws and regulations, resistance to change from our users or third parties’ intellectual property rights. Our 
success will depend on our ability to develop new technologies and to adapt to technological changes and evolving industry standards. If we are unable to provide enhancements 
and new features for our products and services or to develop new and innovative products and services that achieve market acceptance or that keep pace with rapid technological 
developments and evolving industry standards, our business, operating results and financial condition would be materially and adversely affected. 

We often rely not only on our own initiatives and innovations, but also on third parties, including some of our competitors, for the development of and access to new 
technologies and development of a robust market for these new products and technologies. Failure to accurately predict or to respond effectively to developments in our industry 
may significantly impair our business. 

In addition, because our BitAccess software is designed to operate with a variety of systems and devices, we need to continuously modify and enhance our products and services 
to keep pace with changes in technologies. Any failure of our BitAccess software to continue to operate effectively with new technologies could reduce our growth 
opportunities, the demand for our products and services, result in dissatisfaction of our users, and materially and adversely affect our business. 

Our risk management efforts may not be effective, which could expose us to losses and liability and otherwise harm our business. 

We offer payments and other products and services to a large number of users. We have programs designed to vet and monitor these users and the transactions we process for 
them as part of our risk management efforts, but such programs require continuous improvement and may not be effective in detecting and preventing fraud and illegitimate 
transactions, particularly given the increase in sophistication of techniques used to conduct cyberattacks and rapid evolution and increased adoption of AI technologies. When 
our services are used to process illicit transactions, and we settle those funds to users and are unable to recover them, we suffer losses and liability. Additionally, illicit 
transactions can also expose us to governmental and regulatory enforcement actions. 

The highly automated nature of, and liquidity offered by, our services make us and our users a target for illegal or improper uses, including scams and fraud directed at our 
users, fraudulent or illegal sales of goods or services, money laundering, and terrorist financing. Our risk management policies, procedures, techniques, and processes may not 
be sufficient to identify all risks to which we are exposed, to enable us to prevent or mitigate the risks we have identified, or to identify additional risks to which we may become 
subject in the future. Our current business, changing and uncertain economic, geopolitical, and regulatory environment, and anticipated domestic and international growth will 
continue to place significant demands on our risk management and compliance efforts, and we will need to continue developing and improving our existing risk management 
infrastructure, techniques, and processes. 

We maintain insurance policies providing general liability, umbrella and excess liability coverage, each of which has an aggregate limit between $2 million to $9 million, as 
well as coverage relating to cyber-related incidents, having an aggregate policy limit of approximately $5 million. Typically, these insurance policies have one-year terms, and 
we are able to apply for term renewal at the end of each calendar year. With respect to termination provisions included in the subject policies, we have the option to terminate 
each policy by providing notice to the applicable provider and fulfilling our obligation to pay the minimum earned premium due under the applicable policy. While we maintain 
a program of insurance coverage for various types of liabilities, we may self-insure against certain business risks and expenses where we believe we can adequately self-insure 
against the anticipated exposure and risk or where insurance is either not available or deemed not cost-effective.



 

23

Table of Contents

We obtain and process a large amount of sensitive user data. Any real or perceived improper use of, disclosure of, or access to such data could harm our reputation, as well 
as have an adverse effect on our business.

We obtain and process large amounts of sensitive data, including personal data related to our users and their transactions, such as their names, addresses, social security or tax 
identification numbers, copies of government-issued identification, facial recognition data (from scanning of photographs for identity verification), bank statements and 
transaction data. We face risks, including to our reputation, in the handling and protection of this data, and these risks will increase as our business expands, including through 
our acquisition of, and investment in, other companies and technologies. Federal, state, and international laws and regulations governing privacy, data protection, and e-
commerce transactions require us to safeguard our users’, employees’, and service providers’ personal data.

We have administrative, technical, and physical security measures and controls in place and maintain an information security program. However, our security measures, or the 
security measures of companies we acquire, may be inadequate or breached as a result of third-party action, employee or service provider error, malfeasance, malware, 
phishing, hacking attacks, system error, trickery, advances in computer capabilities, new discoveries in the field of cryptography, inadequate facility security or otherwise, and, 
as a result, someone may be able to obtain unauthorized access to sensitive information, including personal data, on our systems. We could be the target of a cyber security 
incident, which could result in harm to our reputation and financial losses. Additionally, our users have been and could be targeted in cyber security incidents like an account 
takeover, which could result in harm to our reputation and financial losses. Notably, the techniques and sophistication used to conduct cyberattacks and compromise information 
technology systems, as well as the sources and targets of these attacks, change and are often not recognized until such attacks are launched or have been in place for some time. 
Furthermore, there has been an increase in state sponsored cyberattacks which are often conducted by capable, well-funded groups. The rapid evolution and increased adoption 
of AI technologies amplifies these concerns. 

Additionally, privacy and data protection laws are evolving, and these laws may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our data handling safeguards 
and practices that could result in fines, lawsuits, and other penalties, and significant changes to our business practices and products and services. Violation of privacy laws in the 
U.S. (especially in California), even if inadvertent, can lead to significant financial consequences, including significant fines and sanctions. Our future success depends on the 
reliability and security of our products and services. To the extent that the measures we or any companies we acquire have taken prove to be insufficient or inadequate, or to the 
extent we discover a security breach suffered by a company we acquire following the closing of such acquisition, we may become subject to litigation, breach notification 
obligations, or regulatory or administrative sanctions, which could result in significant fines, penalties, damages, harm to our reputation, or loss of users. If our own confidential 
business information or sensitive user information were improperly disclosed, our business could be adversely affected. Additionally, a party who circumvents our security 
measures could, among other effects, appropriate user information or other proprietary data, cause interruptions in our operations, or expose users to hacks, viruses, and other 
disruptions.

We face intense competition, and if we are unable to continue to compete effectively for any reason, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be 
adversely affected. 

The markets in which we compete are highly competitive, and we face a variety of current and potential competitors that may have larger and more established user bases and 
substantially greater financial, operational, marketing and other resources than we have. The digital financial system is highly innovative, rapidly evolving, and characterized by 
healthy competition, experimentation, changing user needs, frequent introductions of new products and services, and subject to uncertain and evolving industry and regulatory 
requirements. We expect competition to intensify as existing and new competitors introduce new products and services or enhance existing ones. We compete against a number 
of companies operating both within the U.S. and abroad, including traditional financial institutions, financial technology companies and brokerage firms that have entered the 
cryptocurrency market in recent years, digital and mobile payment companies offering overlapping features targeted at our users, and companies focused on cryptocurrency. 

The products and services provided by our competitors are differentiated by features and functionalities, including brand recognition, user service, reliability, distribution 
network and options, information technology infrastructure, price, speed, and convenience. Distribution channels such as online, mobile solutions, account deposit and kiosk-
based services continue to evolve and impact the competitive environment for cryptocurrency transactions. For example, traditional financial institutions could offer competing 
cryptocurrency-related products and services to our existing and prospective users. Additionally, we expect our competitors to continue to improve their information technology 
systems and user interfaces, including through the use of AI and machine learning solutions, to further enhance operations and their exchange or trading platforms.

Our future growth depends on our ability to compete effectively in Bitcoin transaction-related services, including through innovation of our own technology infrastructure and 
appropriate addressing user experience. For example, if our products and services do not offer competitive features and functionalities or if we do not keep up with 
technological advances, we may lose users to our competitors, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if we fail to 
charge 
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our users comparable and appropriate transaction and other fees relative to our competitors, users may not use our services, which could adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. For example, transaction volume, where we face intense competition, could be adversely affected by pricing pressures between our services 
and those of some of our competitors, which could reduce the markup at which we sell Bitcoin to users and the separate flat transaction fee that we charge and adversely affect 
our financial condition and results of operations. We have the ability to implement fee adjustments from time to time in response to competition and other factors. Fee reductions 
could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations in the short-term and may also adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations in the 
long-term if transaction volumes do not increase sufficiently in response. 

Many innovative start-up companies and larger companies have made, and continue to make, significant investments in research and development, and we expect these 
companies to continue to develop similar or superior products and technologies that compete with our products and services. Further, more traditional financial and non-
financial services businesses may choose to offer cryptocurrency-related services in the future as cryptocurrencies gain adoption. Our current and potential competitors may 
establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties that may further enhance their resources. 

Our existing competitors have, and our potential competitors are expected to have, various competitive advantages over us, such as: 

•the ability to trade cryptocurrencies, and offer products and services, that we do not support or offer (due to constraints from regulatory authorities, our banking 
partners, and other factors) such as tokens that constitute securities or derivative instruments under U.S. or foreign laws; 

•greater name recognition, longer operating histories, larger user bases, and larger market shares; 

•larger sales and marketing budgets and organizations; 

•more established marketing, banking, and compliance relationships; 

•greater user support resources; 

•greater resources to make acquisitions; 

•lower labor, compliance, risk mitigation, and research and development costs; 

•larger and more mature intellectual property portfolios; 

•greater number of applicable licenses, registrations or similar authorizations; 

•established core business models outside of facilitating cryptocurrency transactions, allowing them to operate on lesser margins or at a loss; 

•operations in certain jurisdictions with lower compliance costs and greater flexibility to explore new product offerings; and 

•substantially greater financial, technical, and other resources. 

If we are unable to compete successfully, or if competing successfully requires us to take costly actions in response to the actions of our competitors, our business, operating 
results, and financial condition could be adversely affected. 

Converting cash into cryptocurrency (and vice versa) involves risks, which could result in loss of user assets, user disputes and other liabilities, which could adversely 
impact our business. 

To own, transfer and use a cryptocurrency on its underlying blockchain network, a person must have a private and public key pair associated with a network address, commonly 
referred to as a “wallet.” Each wallet is associated with a unique “public key” and “private key” pair, each of which is a string of alphanumerical characters. Our mobile app 
allows our users to receive and transfer Bitcoin using an un-hosted digital wallet (which can be created by a user via our mobile app) or by inputting the information for any 
other digital wallet. Also, some blockchain networks may require additional information to be provided in connection with any transfer of Bitcoin to or from a user’s wallet. A 
number of errors can occur in the process of converting cash into or transferring Bitcoin by way of our mobile platform, such as typos, mistakes, or the failure to include the 
information required by the blockchain network. For instance, a user may incorrectly enter the desired recipient’s public key. Alternatively, a user may transfer Bitcoin to a 
wallet address that such user does not own, control, or hold the private keys to. In addition, each wallet address is only compatible with the underlying blockchain network on 
which it is created. For instance, a Bitcoin wallet address can only be used to send and receive Bitcoin. If any Ethereum or other cryptocurrency is sent to a Bitcoin wallet 
address, or if any of the foregoing errors occur, all of the user’s sent cryptocurrency will be permanently and irretrievably lost with no means of recovery. We have encountered 
and 
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expect to encounter similar incidents with our users. Such incidents could result in user disputes, damage to our brand and reputation, legal claims against us, and financial 
liabilities, any of which could adversely affect our business. 

Disputes with our users could adversely impact our brand and reputation and our business, operating results, and financial condition. 

From time to time we have been, and may in the future be, subject to claims and disputes with our users with respect to our products and services, such as regarding the 
execution and settlement of cryptocurrency trades, fraudulent or unauthorized transactions, account takeovers, deposits and withdrawals of cryptocurrency, failures or 
malfunctions of our systems and services, or other issues relating to our products and services. Additionally, the ingenuity of criminal fraudsters may cause our users to be 
subject to ongoing account takeovers and identity fraud issues. While we have taken measures to detect and reduce the risk of fraud, there is no guarantee that they will be 
successful and, in any case, require continuous improvement and optimization for continually evolving forms of fraud to be effective. There can be no guarantee that we will be 
successful in detecting and resolving these disputes or defending ourselves in any of these matters, and any failure may result in impaired relationships with our users, damage 
to our brand and reputation, and substantial fines and damages. In some cases, the measures we have implemented to detect and deter fraud have led to poor user experiences, 
including indefinite account inaccessibility for some of our users, which increases our user support costs and can compound damages. We could incur significant costs in 
compensating our users, such as if a transaction was unauthorized, erroneous, or fraudulent. We could also incur significant legal expenses resolving and defending claims, even 
those without merit. To the extent we are found to have failed to fulfill our regulatory obligations, we could also lose our authorizations, registrations or licenses or become 
subject to conditions that could make future operations more costly, impair our ability to grow, and adversely impact our operating results. We are subject to investigation and 
enforcement action by state, federal, and international consumer protection agencies, including the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, the Federal Trade Commission 
(“FTC”), state agencies and attorneys general in the U.S., the Canadian Office of Consumer Affairs, and other similar U.S. and Canadian government authorities, each of which 
monitors user complaints against us and, from time to time, escalates matters for investigation and potential enforcement against us. 

While certain of our agreements with users contain arbitration provisions with class action waiver provisions that may limit our exposure to class action litigation, some federal, 
state, and foreign courts have refused or may refuse to enforce one or more of these provisions, and there can be no assurance that we will be successful in enforcing these 
arbitration provisions, including the class action waiver provisions, in the future or in any given case. Legislative, administrative, or regulatory developments may directly or 
indirectly prohibit or limit the use of pre-dispute arbitration clauses and class action waiver provisions. Any such prohibitions or limitations on or discontinuation of the use of 
such arbitration or class action waiver provisions could subject us to additional lawsuits, including additional class action litigation, and significantly limit our ability to avoid 
exposure from class action litigation. 

There are a number of risks associated with our non-U.S. operations that could adversely affect our business. 

We provide products and services in the U.S. and Canada and may in the future expand in various international markets. Our ability to grow in international markets and our 
future results could be adversely affected by a number of factors, including: 

•difficulty in attracting a sufficient number of users or retail partners, or a lack of acceptance of our products and services; 

•failure to anticipate competitive conditions and competition with service providers or other market players that have grater experience in the local markets than we 
do; 

•difficulty in recruiting and retaining qualified employees and managing foreign operations in an environment of diverse cultures, laws and customs; 

•challenges caused by distance, language and cultural differences and the increased travel, infrastructure and other resources associated with international operations; 

•failure to conform with applicable business customs, including translation into foreign languages, cultural context and associated expenses; 

•any inability or difficulties supporting or integrating with local third-party providers; 

•changes in political and economic conditions and potential instability in certain regions, including in particular the recent civil unrest, terrorism, political turmoil and 
economic uncertainty in Africa, the Middle East, Europe (including Ukraine), and other regions;

•changes in the political and economic relationships between the U.S. and other nations, including the continued uncertainty in U.S. trade policy; 

•restrictions on money transfers to, from and between certain countries; 
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•currency controls, new currency adoptions and repatriation issues; 

•changes in regulatory requirements or in foreign policy, including the adoption of domestic or foreign laws, regulations and interpretations detrimental to our business 
(including, but not limited to, with respect to payments, privacy, data protection, information security and tax); 

•difficulty in gaining acceptance from industry self-regulating bodies; 

•possible increased costs and additional regulatory burdens imposed on our business, including tariffs, sanctions, fines or other trade restrictions; 

•changes to or the implementation of new U.S. sanctions, resulting in bank closures in certain countries, the ultimate freezing of our assets, adverse effects on existing 
business relationships, and/or restrictions on entering into new business relationships where carrying on business would violate such sanctions; 

•burdens of complying with a wide variety of laws and regulations; 

•potential increased exposure to public health issues such as pandemics, and related industry and governmental actions to address these issues; 

•possible fraud or theft losses and lack of compliance by international representatives in foreign legal jurisdictions where collection and legal enforcement may be 
difficult or costly; 

•reduced protection of our intellectual property rights; 

•unfavorable tax rules or trade barriers; and 

•failure to successfully manage our exposure to non-U.S. dollar exchange rates. 

In the future, if a material portion of our revenue is generated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, we will be subject to risks associated with changes in the value of our 
revenues denominated in non-U.S. dollars. As exchange rates among the U.S. dollar and other currencies fluctuate, the impact of these fluctuations may have a material adverse 
effect on our results of operations or financial condition as reported in U.S. dollars. 

Our products and services may be exploited to facilitate illegal activity such as fraud, money laundering, gambling, tax evasion, and scams. If any of our users use our 
business to further such illegal activities, our business could be adversely affected. 

Our products and services may be exploited to facilitate illegal activity including fraud, money laundering, gambling, tax evasion, and scams. We may be specifically targeted 
by individuals seeking to conduct fraudulent transfers, and it may be difficult or impossible for us to detect and avoid such transactions in certain circumstances. The use of our 
products and services for illegal or other illicit purposes could subject us to claims, individual and class action lawsuits, and government and regulatory investigations, 
prosecutions, enforcement actions, inquiries, or requests that could result in liability and reputational harm for us. Moreover, certain activities that may be legal in one 
jurisdiction may be illegal in another jurisdiction, and certain activities that are at one time legal may in the future be deemed illegal in the same jurisdiction. As a result, there 
is significant uncertainty and cost associated with detecting and monitoring transactions for compliance with local laws. In the event that a user is found responsible for 
intentionally or inadvertently violating the laws in any jurisdiction, we may be subject to governmental inquiries, enforcement actions, prosecuted, or otherwise held secondarily 
liable for aiding or facilitating such activities. Changes in law have also increased the penalties for money transmitters for certain illegal activities, and government authorities 
may consider increased or additional penalties from time to time. Government authorities may seek to bring legal action against money transmitters, including us, for 
involvement in the sale of infringing or allegedly infringing items. Any threatened or resulting claims could result in reputational harm, and any resulting liabilities, loss of 
transaction volume, or increased costs could harm our business. 

Moreover, while fiat currencies can be used to facilitate illegal activities, cryptocurrencies are relatively new and, in many jurisdictions, may be lightly regulated or largely 
unregulated. Many types of cryptocurrencies have characteristics, such as the speed with which cryptocurrency transactions can be conducted, the ability to conduct transactions 
without the involvement of regulated intermediaries, the ability to engage in transactions across multiple jurisdictions, the irreversible nature of certain cryptocurrency 
transactions, and encryption technology that anonymizes these transactions, that make cryptocurrency susceptible to use in illegal activity. U.S. federal and state and foreign 
regulatory authorities and law enforcement agencies, such as the Department of Justice, SEC, U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission, FTC, or the Internal Revenue 
Service (“IRS”), and various state securities and financial regulators have taken and continue to take legal action against persons and entities alleged to be engaged in fraudulent 
schemes or other illicit activity involving cryptocurrency. Facilitating transactions in cryptocurrency, including those that obscure the identities of the sender and/or receiver, 
may cause us to be at increased risk of liability arising out of anti-money laundering and economic sanctions laws and regulations. 
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Like many money service businesses, we face a variety of unique challenges when it comes to anti-money laundering compliance, which require us to implement compliance 
programs unique in comparison to a bank or large financial institution. Our kiosks operate in retail store fronts detached from the store’s core business operations which 
necessitates all Know Your Customer and anti-money laundering data collection to be automated at the kiosk without any interpersonal interactions. Further, individuals 
attempting to shield the ultimate beneficiary of these transactions often move funds from these transactions multiple times. In addition, we do not typically trace where the 
Bitcoin is sent following the delivery of the Bitcoin from Bitcoin Depot to the user which could make it easier for users to obscure the ultimate beneficiary or end use of the 
Bitcoin purchased from us, especially when those looking to commit fraud or launder money could present different or even fictitious, counterfeit, or altered identification on 
separate occasions. 

While we have designed our risk management and compliance framework to detect significant illicit activities conducted by our potential or existing users, we cannot ensure 
that we will be able to detect all illegal or other illicit activity on our platform. If any of our users use our platform to further such illegal or other illicit activities, our business 
could be adversely affected. 

If we fail to retain existing users or add new users, or if our users decrease their level of engagement with our products and services, our business, operating results, and 
financial condition may be significantly harmed. 

Our success depends on our ability to retain existing users and attract new users to increase engagement with our products and services. To do so, we must continue to offer 
leading technologies and ensure that our products and services are secure, reliable, and engaging. We must also expand our products and services and offer competitive 
transaction and other fees in an increasingly crowded and price-sensitive market. There is no assurance that we will be able to continue to do so, that we will be able to retain 
our current users or attract new users, or keep our users engaged. Any number of factors can negatively affect user retention, growth, and engagement, including if: 

•we fail to increase awareness of our brand and successfully compete with the offerings and prices other companies, or if our users otherwise increasingly engage with 
competing products and services, including those that we are unable to offer due to regulatory reasons; 

•we fail to introduce new and improved products and services, or if we introduce new products or services that are not favorably received; 

•we fail to successfully identify and acquire or invest in businesses, products or technologies that we believe could complement or expand our business; 

•we fail to support new and in-demand cryptocurrencies or if we elect to support cryptocurrencies with negative reputations; 

•there are changes in sentiment about the quality or usefulness of our products and services or concerns related to privacy, security, or other factors including, without 
limitation, changes in macro-level user preference for using cash to purchase Bitcoin; 

•there are adverse changes in our products and services that are mandated by legislation, regulatory authorities, or litigation; 

•we fail to maintain existing authorizations as well as obtain newly required authorizations, registrations and licenses for our products; 

•users perceiving Bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies to be a bad investment, or experiencing significant losses in Bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies, may not desire to 
utilize our products and services; 

•technical or other problems prevent us from delivering our products and services with the speed, functionality, security and reliability that our users expect, or if we 
fail to otherwise gain and maintain the trust and confidence of our users; 

•there are cyber security incidents, employee or service provider misconduct or other unforeseen activities that cause losses to us or our users; 

•there are modifications to our fee model, including as a result of changes in or the adoption of any laws or regulations imposing restrictions or limitations on the 
markup at which we sell Bitcoin to users or the separate flat transaction fee that we are able to charge our users, or modifications by competitors to their fee models; 

•we fail to provide adequate customer service for our users and retail partners; 

•regulatory and governmental bodies in countries that we target for expansion express negative views towards cryptocurrency-related services and, more broadly, the 
digital financial system; or 

•we or other companies in our industry are the subject of adverse media reports or other negative publicity. 
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From time to time, certain of these factors have negatively affected user retention, growth, and engagement to varying degrees. If we are unable to maintain or increase our user 
base and user engagement, our revenue and financial results may be adversely affected. Any decrease in user retention, growth, or engagement could render our products and 
services less attractive to users, which may have an adverse impact on our revenue, business, operating results, and financial condition. If our user growth rate slows or 
declines, we will become increasingly dependent on our ability to maintain or increase levels of user engagement and monetization in order to drive growth of revenue. 

Our products and services may be negatively characterized by consumer advocacy groups, the media or certain federal, state and local government officials, and if those 
negative characterizations result in restrictions on the fees we charge to users or become increasingly accepted by current or potential new users and/or our retail partners, 
our reputation could be significantly impacted, , all of which could materially and adversely impact our business. 

Certain media reports have asserted that laws and regulations regarding cryptocurrencies and related transactions and activities should be broader and more restrictive. In many 
cases, these media reports can focus on fees charged to users, which are often alleged to be higher than the fees typically charged by banks or similar institutions, as well as 
marketing tactics, which are alleged to target socioeconomically vulnerable communities. The fees and marketing strategies associated with our kiosks are from time to time 
characterized by consumer advocacy groups and media reports as predatory or abusive without discussing the numerous benefits to users. If the negative characterization of our 
marketing strategies and/or fee structure becomes increasingly accepted by current or potential new users or our retail partners, demand for our products and services could 
decrease, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

If we are unable to quickly and effectively respond to such characterizations, or if there are modifications to our fee model, including as a result of changes in or the adoption of 
any laws or regulations imposing restrictions or limitations on the markup at which we sell Bitcoin to users, we may experience declines in user loyalty and transactions and our 
relationships with our retail partners may suffer, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, any 
actions by our competitors that are challenged by users, advocacy groups, the media or governmental agencies or entities as being abusive or predatory, could result in our 
products and services being perceived as unlawful or inappropriate activities or business practices, merely because we operate in the same general industries as such 
competitors. Such perception, whether or not accurate, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Our strategy and focus on delivering high-quality, compliant, easy-to-use, and secure Bitcoin-related services may not maximize short-term or medium-term financial 
results. 

We have taken, and expect to continue to take, actions that we believe are in the best interests of our users and the long-term interests of our business, even if those actions do 
not necessarily maximize short-term or medium-term results. These include expending significant managerial, technical, and legal efforts on complying with laws and 
regulations that are applicable to our products and services and protecting our and our users’ data. For instance, our compliance personnel costs are approximately $2.0 million 
annually. Substantially all of our operating costs with respect to regulation and compliance are correlated with our transaction volumes, and mainly driven by payroll to employ 
a growing number of personnel to support the expansion of our business. We also focus on driving long-term engagement with our users through innovation and developing 
new industry-leading products and technologies. These decisions may not be consistent with the short-term and medium-term expectations of our stockholders and may not 
produce the long-term benefits that we expect, which could have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition. 

Any significant disruption in our kiosks or software, information technology systems, or any of the blockchain networks related to our business, could result in a loss of 
users or funds and adversely impact our brand and reputation and our business, operating results, and financial condition. 

Our reputation and ability to attract and retain users and grow our business depends on our ability to operate our products and services at high levels of reliability, scalability, 
and performance, including the ability to process and monitor, on a daily basis, the transactions that occur across multiple systems. Our kiosks and software, the ability of our 
users to transact in Bitcoin, and our ability to operate at a high level, are dependent on our ability to access the blockchain networks underlying the supported Bitcoin, for which 
access is dependent on our systems’ ability to access the internet. Further, the successful and continued operations of such blockchain networks will depend on a network of 
computers, miners, or validators, and their continued operations, all of which may be impacted by service interruptions. 

Our kiosks and certain cryptocurrency and blockchain networks have experienced from time to time, and may experience in the future, service interruptions or degradation 
because of hardware and software defects or malfunctions, distributed denial-of-service and other cyberattacks, insider threats, break-ins, sabotage, human error, vandalism, 
earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, and other natural disasters, power losses, disruptions in telecommunications services, fraud, military or political conflicts, terrorist attacks, 
computer 
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viruses or other malware, or other events. As noted earlier, the techniques and sophistication used to conduct cyberattacks, as well as the sources and targets of these attacks, 
change and are often not recognized until such attacks are launched or have been in place for some time, which could elongate the interruption. The rapid evolution and 
increased adoption of AI technologies amplifies these concerns. In addition, extraordinary transactions or site usage could cause our kiosks to operate at an unacceptably slow 
speed or even fail. 

If any of our kiosks are disrupted for any reason, our products and services may fail, resulting in unanticipated disruptions, slower response times and delays in our users’ 
transaction execution and processing, failed transactions, incomplete or inaccurate accounting, recording or processing of transactions, unauthorized transactions, loss of user 
information, increased demand on limited user support resources, user claims, complaints with regulatory organizations, lawsuits, or enforcement actions. A prolonged 
interruption in the availability or reduction in the availability, speed, or functionality of our products and services could harm our business. Significant or persistent interruptions 
in our services could cause current or potential users to believe that our kiosks or software are unreliable, leading them to switch to our competitors or to avoid or reduce the use 
of our products and services, and could permanently harm our reputation and brands. Moreover, to the extent that any system failure or similar event results in damages to our 
users, these users could seek significant compensation from us for their losses, and those claims, even if unsuccessful, would likely be time-consuming and costly for us to 
address. Problems with the reliability or security of our kiosks or software would harm our reputation, and damage to our reputation and the cost of remedying these problems 
could negatively affect our business, operating results, and financial condition. 

Because we are a regulated money services business in certain jurisdictions, interruptions have resulted and in the future may result in regulatory scrutiny, and significant or 
persistent interruptions could lead to significant fines and penalties, and mandatory and costly changes to our business practices, and ultimately could cause us to lose existing 
licenses or banking and other relationships that we need to operate or prevent or delay us from obtaining additional authorizations, registrations or licenses that may be required 
for our business. 

In addition, we are continually improving and upgrading our information systems and technologies. We also rely on technologies developed by others, and if we are unable to 
continue to obtain licenses for such technologies or licenses to substitute for similar technologies, our business could be adversely impacted. Implementation of new systems and 
technologies is complex, expensive, time-consuming, and may not be successful. If we fail to timely and successfully implement new information systems and technologies, or 
improvements or upgrades to existing information systems and technologies, or if such systems and technologies do not operate as intended, it could have an adverse impact on 
our business, internal controls (including internal controls over financial reporting), operating results, and financial condition. 

Banks and financial institutions may not provide banking services, or may cut off services, to businesses that engage in Bitcoin and/or other cryptocurrency-related 
activities, or accept Bitcoin as payment, including financial institutions of investors in our securities, and we may be exposed to counterparty risk as a result. 

Although a number of significant U.S. banks and investment institutions, such as Goldman Sachs, Citi Group, J.P. Morgan, Bank of America and BlackRock, have indicated 
they plan to begin allowing their customers to carry and invest in Bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies, the acceptance and use of Bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies by banks is 
relatively uncommon and may never become mainstream. Indeed, a number of companies and individuals engaged in Bitcoin and/or other cryptocurrency-related activities have 
been unable to find banks or financial institutions that are willing to provide them with banking services. Similarly, a number of companies and individuals or businesses 
associated with Bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies may have had and may continue to have their existing banking services discontinued with financial institutions in response to 
government action, particularly in China, where the regulatory response to cryptocurrencies has been to exclude their use for ordinary consumer transactions within China. We 
also may be unable to obtain or maintain these services for our business. To date, we have not experienced such issues in finding banks or financial institutions willing to 
provide services to us that has had a material impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations. The difficulty that many businesses that provide Bitcoin 
and/or derivatives on other digital asset-related activities have and may continue to have in finding banks and financial institutions willing to provide them services may be 
decreasing the usefulness of cryptocurrency as a payment system and harming public perception of cryptocurrency and could decrease cryptocurrency’s usefulness and harm its 
public perception in the future. 

The public perception of Bitcoin or cryptocurrency could be damaged if banks or financial institutions were to close the accounts of businesses engaging in Bitcoin and/or other 
cryptocurrency-related activities. This could occur as a result of compliance risk, cost, government regulation, or public pressure. The risk applies to securities firms, clearance 
and settlement firms, national stock and derivatives on commodities exchanges, the over-the-counter market and the Depository Trust Company. The adoption or 
implementation of similar policies, rules or regulations by these or similar entities could negatively affect our relationships with financial institutions and impede our ability to 
convert Bitcoin and other cryptocurrencies to fiat currencies. Such factors could have a 
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material adverse effect on our ability to continue as a going concern or to pursue our strategy at all, which could ultimately have a material adverse effect on our business, 
prospects, or operations and harm investors. 

Due to unfamiliarity and some negative publicity associated with cryptocurrency-related businesses, existing and potential users may lose confidence in cryptocurrency-
related products and services, which could negatively affect our business. 

Cryptocurrency and related products and services are relatively new. Many of our competitors are unlicensed, unregulated, operate without supervision by any governmental 
authorities, and do not provide the public with significant information regarding their ownership structure, management team, corporate practices, cybersecurity, and regulatory 
compliance. As a result, users and the general public may lose confidence in cryptocurrency businesses, including regulated businesses like ours. 

Since the inception of the digital financial system, numerous cryptocurrency businesses have been sued, investigated, or shut down due to fraud, manipulative practices, 
business failure, and security breaches. In many of these instances, customers of these businesses were not compensated or made whole for their losses. Larger businesses like 
us are more appealing targets for hackers and malware and may also be more likely to be targets of regulatory enforcement actions. For example, in May 2019, Binance, one of 
the world’s largest platforms, was hacked, resulting in losses of approximately $40 million, and in February 2021, Bitfinex settled a long-running legal dispute with the State of 
New York related to Bitfinex’s alleged misuse of over $800 million of customer assets. Further, in the first half of 2022, major cryptocurrency lending platforms declared 
bankruptcy, resulting in a loss of confidence in participants of the digital financial system and negative publicity surrounding cryptocurrency more broadly. 

In addition, there have been reports that a significant amount of cryptocurrency trading volume on cryptocurrency businesses is fabricated and false in nature, with a specific 
focus on unregulated businesses located outside the U.S. Such reports may indicate that the market for cryptocurrency business activities is significantly smaller than otherwise 
understood. 

We have entered into, and may in the future enter into, acquisitions, strategic investments, partnerships or relationships, entries into new businesses, joint ventures, 
divestitures, and other transactions which could fail to achieve strategic objectives, disrupt our ongoing operations or result in operating difficulties, divert the attention of 
management, liabilities and expenses, harm our business, and negatively impact our results of operations. 

In pursuing our business strategy, we routinely conduct discussions and evaluate opportunities for possible acquisitions, strategic investments, partnerships and relationships, 
entries into new businesses, joint ventures, divestitures, and other transactions. We have in the past acquired or invested in, and we continue to seek to acquire or invest, in 
businesses, technologies, or other assets that we believe could complement or expand our business, including acquisitions of new lines of business that are adjacent to or outside 
of our existing products and services. As we grow, the pace and scale of our acquisitions may increase and may include larger acquisitions than we have done historically. The 
identification, evaluation, and negotiation of potential acquisition or strategic investment transactions may divert the attention of management and entail various expenses, 
whether or not such transactions are ultimately completed. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in identifying, negotiating, and consummating favorable 
transaction opportunities. In addition to transaction and opportunity costs, these transactions involve large challenges and risks, whether or not such transactions are completed, 
any of which could harm our business and negatively impact our results of operations, including risks that: 

•the transaction may not advance our business strategy or may harm our growth or profitability; 

•we may not be able to secure required regulatory approvals or otherwise satisfy closing conditions for a proposed transaction in a timely manner, or at all; 

•the transaction may subject us to additional regulatory burdens that affect our business in potentially unanticipated and significantly negative ways; 

•we may not realize a satisfactory return on our investment or increase our revenue; 

•we may experience difficulty, and may not be successful in, integrating technologies, IT or business enterprise systems, culture, or management or other personnel 
of the acquired business; 

•we may incur significant acquisition costs and transition costs, including in connection with the assumption of ongoing expenses of the acquired business; 

•we may not realize the expected benefits or synergies from the transaction in the expected time period, or at all; 

•we may be unable to retain key personnel; 
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•acquired businesses or businesses that we invest in may not have adequate controls, processes, and procedures to ensure compliance with laws and regulations, 
including with respect to data privacy, data protection, and information security, and our due diligence process may not identify compliance issues or other liabilities; 

•acquired businesses’ technology stacks may add complexity, resource constraints, and legacy technological challenges that make it difficult and time consuming to 
achieve such adequate controls, processes, and procedures; 

•we may fail to identify or assess the magnitude of certain liabilities, shortcomings, or other circumstances prior to acquiring or investing in a business, which could 
result in additional financial, 

•legal, regulatory, or tax exposure and may subject us to additional controls, policies, procedures, liabilities, litigation, costs of compliance or remediation, or other 
adverse effects on our business, operating results, or financial condition; 

•we may have difficulty entering into new market segments or new geographic territories; 

•we may be unable to retain the users, vendors, and partners of acquired businesses; 

•there may be lawsuits or regulatory actions resulting from the transaction; 

•there may be risks associated with undetected security weaknesses, cyberattacks, or security breaches or incidents at companies that we acquire or with which we 
may combine or partner; 

•there may be local and foreign regulations applicable to the international activities of our business and the businesses we acquire; and 

•acquisitions could result in dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt. 

Also, in the future we may choose to divest certain businesses, products, or services. If we decide to sell assets or a business, we may have difficulty obtaining terms acceptable 
to us in a timely manner, or at all. Additionally, we may experience difficulty separating out portions of, or entire, businesses, incur loss of revenue or experience negative 
impact on margins, or we may not achieve the desired strategic and financial benefits. Such potential transactions may also delay achievement of our strategic objectives, cause 
us to incur additional expenses, disrupt user or employee relationships, and expose us to unanticipated or ongoing obligations and liabilities, including as a result of our 
indemnification obligations. Further, during the pendency of a divestiture, we may be subject to risks such as a decline in the business to be divested, loss of employees, users, 
or suppliers and the risk that the transaction may not close, any of which would have a material adverse effect on the business to be divested and our retained business. If a 
divestiture is not completed for any reason, we may not be able to find another buyer on the same terms, and we may have incurred significant costs without the corresponding 
benefit. 

Joint ventures and minority investments inherently involve a lesser degree of control over business operations, thereby potentially increasing the financial, legal, operational, 
regulatory, and/or compliance risks associated with the joint venture or minority investment. In addition, we may be dependent on joint venture partners, controlling 
stockholders, management, or other persons or entities who control them and who may have business interests, strategies, or goals that are inconsistent with ours. Business 
decisions or other actions or omissions of the joint venture partners, controlling stockholders, management, or other persons or entities who control them may adversely affect 
the value of our investment, result in litigation or regulatory action against us, and may otherwise damage our reputation and brand. 

Our business could be harmed if we are unable to accurately forecast demand for Bitcoin and to adequately manage our Bitcoin balances and kiosk inventory. 

We invest broadly in our business, and such investments are partially driven by our expectations of the future success of Bitcoin. An inability to correctly forecast the success of 
Bitcoin could harm our business. For example, we must forecast kiosk inventory needs and expenses based on our estimates of future demand for Bitcoin and our products and 
services, and place orders for kiosks sufficiently in advance with our third-party suppliers. In addition, we must forecast demand for Bitcoin to maintain our holdings of Bitcoin 
at sufficient levels to meet customer needs, while minimizing the potential to hold Bitcoin at levels that could subject us to significant exposure to price volatility. Our ability to 
accurately forecast demand for Bitcoin and consequently, our products and services, could be affected by many factors, including an increase or decrease in demand for Bitcoin 
or for our competitors’ products or services, changes in general market or economic conditions, and business closures. 

If we underestimate demand for our products or services, the suppliers of our kiosks may not be able to deliver sufficient quantities to meet the demand, and we may experience 
a shortage of kiosks for deployment. If we overestimate demand for our products and services, we may purchase or lease excess kiosks and the excess kiosks may become 
obsolete or out-of-date, which may result in write-downs or write-offs and the sale of excess kiosks at discounted prices, which could negatively impact our operating results 
and our business. 
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Cryptocurrency balances, including the cryptocurrency balances we maintain for our own account or cryptocurrency balances that may be maintained for us, and any 
investments in cryptocurrency, is subject to volatile market prices, impairment, and other risks of loss. 

We had approximately $1.5 million and $0.7 million of cryptocurrency as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The prices of cryptocurrencies have 
been highly volatile and may continue to be volatile in the future, including as a result of various associated risks and uncertainties. For example, the prevalence of 
cryptocurrency is a relatively recent trend, and the long-term adoption of cryptocurrency by investors, consumers, and businesses remains uncertain. The lack of a physical 
form, reliance on technology for creation, existence, and transactional validation, and decentralization may subject cryptocurrencies’ integrity to the threat of malicious attacks 
and technological obsolescence. We currently no longer hold any cryptocurrency as an investment, rather we only hold Bitcoin for operational purposes. To the extent the 
market value of the Bitcoin we hold continues to decrease relative to the purchase prices, our financial condition may be adversely impacted. 

Moreover, cryptocurrencies are considered indefinite-lived intangible assets under applicable accounting rules, meaning that any decrease in its market value below our book 
value for such asset at any time subsequent to its acquisition will require us to recognize impairment charges, whereas we may make no upward revisions for any market price 
increases until a sale, which may adversely affect our operating results in any period in which such impairment occurs. We have recorded such impairment charges. If there are 
future changes in applicable accounting rules that require us to change the manner in which we account for our cryptocurrencies, there could be a material and adverse effect on 
our financial results and the market price of our Class A common stock. 

Our failure to safeguard and manage our 3rd party operators' crypto assets could adversely impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

 

We believe our policies, procedures, operational controls and controls over financial reporting, protect us from material risks surrounding the safeguarding of these assets and 
conflicts of interest.  Our financial statements and disclosures, as a whole, are available through periodic filings on a quarterly basis, and compliant with annual audit 
requirements of Article 3 of Regulation S-X.

Any inability by us to maintain our safeguarding procedures, perceived or otherwise, could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. Accordingly, we take 
steps to ensure third-party operator wallets are always secure. Third-party operator wallets are maintained in their own segregated wallet. We safeguard crypto assets using 
proprietary technology and operational processes. Crypto assets are not guaranteed by any government or government agency, however we have insurance against loss of these 
assets are insured under our insurance policy coverage as our own crypto assets for operational purposes.

Any material failure by us to maintain the necessary controls, policies, procedures or to manage the crypto assets we hold for our own operating purposes could also adversely 
impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Cybersecurity threats continue to increase in frequency and sophistication; a successful cybersecurity attack could interrupt or disrupt our information technology systems 
or cause the loss of confidential or protected data which could disrupt our business, force us to incur excessive costs, cause reputational harm and adversely affect our 
business. 

The size and complexity of our information systems make such systems potentially vulnerable to service interruptions or to security breaches from inadvertent or intentional 
actions by our employees or vendors, or from attacks by malicious third parties. Such attacks are of ever-increasing levels of sophistication and are made by groups and 
individuals with a wide range of motives and expertise. While we have invested in the protection of data and information technology, there can be no assurance that our efforts 
will prevent or quickly identify service interruptions or security breaches. We maintain cyber liability insurance; however, this insurance may not be sufficient to cover the 
financial, legal, business or reputational losses that may result from an interruption or breach of our systems. Any such interruption or breach of our systems could adversely 
affect our business operations and result in the loss of critical or sensitive confidential information or intellectual property and could result in financial, legal, business and 
reputational harm to us. 

Litigation or investigations involving us, our agents or other contractual counterparties could result in material settlements, fines or penalties and may adversely affect our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We have been, and in the future may be, subject to allegations and complaints that individuals or entities have used our products and services for fraud-induced money transfers, 
as well as certain money laundering activities, which may result in fines, penalties, judgments, settlements and litigation expenses. We also are the subject from time to time of 
litigation related to our business. The outcome of such allegations, complaints, claims and litigation cannot be predicted. 

Regulatory and judicial proceedings and potential adverse developments in connection with ongoing litigation may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results 
of operations. There may also be adverse publicity associated with lawsuits and 
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investigations that could decrease third-party and consumer use and acceptance of our products and services. Additionally, our business may be the subject of class action 
lawsuits including securities litigation, regulatory actions and investigations and other general litigation. The outcome of class action lawsuits, including securities litigation, 
regulatory actions and investigations and other litigation is difficult to assess or quantify but may include substantial fines and expenses, as well as the revocation of required 
authorizations, registrations or licenses or the loss of approved status, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, and results of operations or 
users’ confidence in our business. Plaintiffs or regulatory agencies in these lawsuits, actions or investigations may seek recovery of very large or indeterminate amounts, and the 
magnitude of these actions may remain unknown for substantial periods of time. The cost to defend or settle future lawsuits or investigations may be significant. In addition, 
improper activities, lawsuits or investigations involving third parties may adversely impact our business operations or reputation even if we are not directly involved. 

Major bank failure or sustained financial market illiquidity, or illiquidity at our clearing, cash management and custodial financial institutions, could adversely affect our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We face certain risks in the event of a sustained deterioration of financial market liquidity, as well as in the event of sustained deterioration in the liquidity, or failure, of our 
clearing, cash management and custodial financial institutions. In particular: 

•we may be unable to access funds in our deposit accounts on a timely basis. Any resulting need to access other sources of liquidity or short-term borrowing would 
increase our costs. Any delay or inability to settle transactions with users or our contractual counterparties could adversely impact our business, financial condition 
and results of operations; 

•in the event of a major bank failure or other adverse financial event impacting where our cash, cash equivalents and interest-bearing deposits are held, we could face 
major risks to the recovery of such deposits. As of December 31, 2024, approximately $12.8 million of our $29.5 million in cash, cash equivalents and interest-
bearing deposits was not subject to insurance protection against loss or was in excess of the deposit insurance limits at banks; 

•further, to facilitate the purchasing process for Bitcoin on the cryptocurrency exchange operated by Gemini Trust Company, LLC, we maintain a minimum USD 
balance needed for anticipated Bitcoin purchases for any given day, all or a portion of which may not be subject to insurance protection against loss; 

•our existing debt financing agreements are sources of funding for our corporate transactions and liquidity needs. If any of the lenders participating in our debt 
financing agreements were unable or unwilling to fulfill its lending commitment to us, our short-term liquidity and ability to engage in corporate transactions, such as 
acquisitions, could be adversely affected; and 

•we may be unable to borrow from financial institutions or institutional investors on favorable terms, which could adversely impact our ability to pursue our growth 
strategy and fund key strategic initiatives. 

If financial liquidity deteriorates, there can be no assurance we will not experience an adverse effect, which may be material, on our ability to access capital and on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our recent rapid growth, including in our transaction volume, may not be indicative of our future growth. Our rapid growth also makes it difficult to evaluate our future 
prospects and may increase the risk that we will not be successful. 

Our revenue was approximately $573.7 million in 2024 and $689.0 million in 2023. We have recently experienced growth in our transaction volume from the years ended 
December 31, 2023 to December 31, 2024. However, even if our transaction volume continues to increase, we expect that our growth rate will decline in the future as a result of 
a variety of factors, including the increasing scale of our business, new entrants into the market and the maturation of the BTM operator industry. Overall growth of our 
transaction volume depends on a number of factors, and we may not successfully accomplish our objectives, which makes it difficult for us to forecast our future operating 
results. If the assumptions that we use to plan our business are incorrect or change in reaction to changes in our market, or if we are unable to maintain or grow transaction 
volumes, our stock price could be volatile, and it may be difficult to achieve and maintain profitability. Additionally, if we fail to address the risks and difficulties that we face, 
including those associated with the factors listed above as well as those described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section, our growth rate will be adversely affected. You 
should not rely on our results for any prior quarterly or annual periods as any indication of our future transaction volumes or revenue growth. 
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The further development and acceptance of cryptocurrency networks and other cryptocurrencies, which represent a new and rapidly changing industry, are subject to a 
variety of factors that are difficult to predict and evaluate. The slowing or stopping of the development or acceptance of digital asset systems may adversely affect an 
investment in us. 

Cryptocurrency that may be used to buy and sell goods and services, among other things, are a new and rapidly evolving industry which is subject to a high degree of 
uncertainty. The factors affecting the further development of the digital asset industry, as well as the digital asset networks, include: 

•continued worldwide growth in the adoption and use of cryptocurrencies; 

•governmental and quasi-governmental regulation of cryptocurrencies and their use, or restrictions on or regulation of access to and operation of the digital asset 
network or similar cryptocurrency systems; 

•the maintenance and development of the open-source software protocol of cryptocurrency networks; 

•changes in consumer demographics and public tastes and preferences; 

•the availability and popularity of other forms or methods of buying and selling goods and services, including new means of using fiat currencies; 

•general economic conditions and the regulatory environment relating to cryptocurrency; and 

•the impact of regulators focusing on cryptocurrencies and digital securities and the costs associated with such regulatory oversight. 

•A decline in the popularity or acceptance of the digital asset networks could adversely affect an investment in us. 

We are, or may in the future, be susceptible to risks arising from disruptions in crypto asset markets. Such risks could potentially result in, among other things: 

•the depreciation of investments held in us, including the depreciation in the price of our publicly traded stock; 

•decreased user demand for our products and services; 

•financing risks to us, including relating to our ability to obtain equity and debt financing; 

•increased losses or impairments of the crypto assets held by us; 

•legal proceedings and government investigations involving us or our affiliates or other third-parties with which we do business; or 

•indirect risks to our business due to any adverse impact of recent or future crypto market disruptions on our users, suppliers or other counterparties. 

Additionally, although we are not directly connected to recent crypto market events, we may still suffer reputational harm due to our association with the cryptocurrency 
industry in light of the recent disruption in, or as a result of any future disruptions in, the crypto asset markets. Specifically, recent negative publicity stemming from these 
market disruptions and speculation of potential future disruptions increases our risk of reputational harm simply by association with the industry. 

Further, any future market disruptions resulting in overall decreased interest in Bitcoin could harm our business. The prevalence of cryptocurrency is a relatively recent trend, 
and the long-term adoption of cryptocurrency by investors, consumers, and businesses remains uncertain. 

The number of user transactions and our transaction volumes is partially dependent on the price of Bitcoin, as well as the associated demand for buying, selling, and trading 
Bitcoin, which can be and historically have been volatile. If such prices decline, the number of user transactions or our transaction volumes could decrease. As such, any such 
declines, or any declines in the price of Bitcoin or market liquidity for cryptocurrency generally, may result in lower total revenue to us due to an associated decrease in demand 
for our products and services. The price and trading volume of any cryptocurrency, including Bitcoin, is subject to significant uncertainty and volatility, depending on a number 
of factors, as discussed elsewhere in this section under the subheading “—Our transaction volume may be partially dependent on the prices of Bitcoin we sell, which can be 
volatile. If such prices decline, the volume of user transactions could decrease and our business, operating results, and financial condition would be adversely affected.” 



 

35

Table of Contents

Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults, or non-performance by financial institutions 
or transactional counterparties, could adversely affect our current and projected business operations, our financial condition, and results of operations. 

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance, or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, transactional counterparties or other 
companies in the financial services industry or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the 
past and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity problems. For example, on March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”), was closed by the California Department of 
Financial Protection and Innovation, which appointed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”), as receiver. Similarly, on March 12, 2023, Signature Bank Corp. 
(“Signature”), and Silvergate Capital Corp. were each swept into receivership. Although a statement by the U.S. Department of the Treasury, the U.S. Federal Reserve and the 
FDIC indicated that all depositors of SVB would have access to all of their money after only one business day of closure, including funds held in uninsured deposit accounts, 
borrowers under credit agreements, letters of credit and certain other financial instruments with SVB, Signature or any other financial institution that is placed into receivership 
by the FDIC may be unable to access undrawn amounts thereunder. Although we are not a borrower under or party to any material letter of credit or any other such instruments 
with SVB, Signature or any other financial institution currently in receivership, and we are not a borrower under or party to any credit agreement with such institutions, if we 
enter into any such instruments and any of our lenders or counterparties to such instruments were to be placed into receivership, we may be unable to access such funds. In 
addition, if any of our partners, suppliers or other parties with whom we conduct business are unable to access funds pursuant to such instruments or lending arrangements with 
such a financial institution, such parties’ ability to pay their obligations to us or to enter into new commercial arrangements requiring additional payments to us could be 
adversely affected. In this regard, counterparties to SVB credit agreements and arrangements, and third parties such as beneficiaries of letters of credit (among others), may 
experience direct impacts from the closure of SVB and uncertainty remains over liquidity concerns in the broader financial services industry. Similar impacts have occurred in 
the past, such as during the 2008 to 2010 financial crisis. 

Inflation and rapid increases in interest rates have led to a decline in the trading value of previously issued government securities with interest rates below current market interest 
rates. Although the U.S. Department of the Treasury, the FDIC and the Federal Reserve Board have announced a program to provide up to $25 billion of loans to financial 
institutions secured by certain of such government securities held by financial institutions to mitigate the risk of potential losses on the sale of such instruments, widespread 
demands for customer withdrawals or other liquidity needs of financial institutions for immediate liquidity may exceed the capacity of such program. Additionally, we regularly 
maintain cash balances at third-party financial institutions in excess of the FDIC standard insurance limit, and there is no guarantee that the U.S. Department of the Treasury, the 
FDIC and the Federal Reserve Board will provide access to uninsured funds in the future in the event of the closure of such banks or financial institutions, or that they would do 
so in a timely fashion. 

Our access to funding sources and other credit arrangements in amounts adequate to finance or capitalize our current and projected future business operations could be 
significantly impaired by factors that affect us, any financial institutions with which we enter into credit agreements or arrangements directly, or the financial services industry 
or economy in general. These factors could include, among others, events such as liquidity constraints or failures, the ability to perform obligations under various types of 
financial, credit or liquidity agreements or arrangements, disruptions or instability in the financial services industry or financial markets, or concerns or negative expectations 
about the prospects for companies in the financial services industry. These factors could involve financial institutions or financial services industry companies with which we 
have financial or business relationships but could also include factors involving financial markets or the financial services industry generally. We have not materially modified 
or updated our policies and practices as they relate to our banking partners and related counterparties in light of the recent financial services industry instability. 

The results of events or concerns that involve one or more of these factors could include a variety of material adverse effects on our current and projected business operations 
and our financial condition and results of operations. These risks include, but may not be limited to, the following: 

•delayed access to deposits or other financial assets or the uninsured loss of deposits or other financial assets; 

•inability to enter into credit facilities or other working capital resources; 

•potential or actual breach of contractual obligations that require us to maintain letters of credit or other credit support arrangements; or 

•termination of cash management arrangements and/or delays in accessing or actual loss of funds subject to cash management arrangements. 

In addition, investor concerns regarding the U.S. or international financial systems could result in less favorable commercial financing terms, including higher interest rates or 
costs and tighter financial and operating covenants, or systemic limitations on access to credit 
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and liquidity sources, thereby making it more difficult for us to acquire financing on acceptable terms or at all. Any decline in available funding or access to our cash and 
liquidity resources could, among other risks, adversely impact our ability to meet our operating expenses or other obligations, financial or otherwise, result in breaches of our 
financial and/or contractual obligations or result in violations of federal or state wage and hour laws. Any of these impacts, or any other impacts resulting from the factors 
described above or other related or similar factors, could have material adverse effects on our liquidity and our current and/or projected business operations and financial 
condition and results of operations. 

In addition, any further deterioration in the macroeconomic economy or financial services industry could lead to losses or defaults by our partners, vendors or suppliers, which 
in turn could have a material adverse effect on our current and/or projected business operations and results of operations and financial condition. For example, a partner may fail 
to make payments when due, default under their agreements with us, become insolvent or declare bankruptcy, or a supplier may determine that it will no longer deal with us as a 
customer. In addition, a vendor or supplier could be adversely affected by any of the liquidity or other risks that are described above as factors that could result in material 
adverse effects on us, including but not limited to delayed access or loss of access to uninsured deposits or loss of the ability to draw on existing credit facilities involving a 
troubled or failed financial institution. The bankruptcy or insolvency of any partner, vendor or supplier, or the failure of any partner to make payments when due, or any breach 
or default by a partner, vendor or supplier or the loss of any significant supplier relationships, could cause us to suffer material losses and may have a material adverse effect on 
our business. 

If we are unable to adequately protect our brands and the intellectual property rights related to our existing and any new or enhanced products and services, or if we 
infringe on the rights of others, our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. 

Our brands are important to our business. We utilize trademark registrations in the countries we operate and other tools to protect our brands. Our business would be harmed if 
we were unable to adequately protect our brands and the value of our brands was to decrease as a result. 

We rely on a combination of patent, trademark and copyright laws, trade secret protection and confidentiality and license agreements to protect the intellectual property rights 
related to our products and services. We also investigate the intellectual property rights of third parties to prevent our infringement of those rights. We may be subject to third-
party claims alleging that we infringe their intellectual property rights or have misappropriated other proprietary rights. We may be required to spend resources to defend such 
claims or to protect and police our own rights, including maintenance costs as well as expenses associated with sending and responding to demand letters and with 
administrative proceedings or litigation. We cannot be certain of the outcome of any such allegations. Some of our intellectual property rights may not be protected by 
intellectual property laws, particularly in foreign jurisdictions. 

The loss of our intellectual property protection, the inability to secure or enforce intellectual property protection or to successfully defend against claims of intellectual property 
infringement could harm our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operation. 

BitAccess provides operating software to third-party BTM operators to run their machines, which could lead to access to information about the operations of our 
competitors, giving us an anti-competitive advantage that could result in a higher risk of litigation if sufficient controls are not in place. 

BitAccess provides operating software to multiple BTM operators. Through our acquisition of BitAccess, we supply software to some of our competitors. If a party (whether 
internal, external, an affiliate or unrelated third-party) is able to circumvent our data security systems or those of the competitors to whom we supply software, or engage in 
cyber-attacks, such party could obtain our competitors’ proprietary information, the loss, theft or inaccessibility of, unauthorized access to, or improper use or disclosure of, our 
competitors’ data and/or significant interruptions in our competitors’ operations. Further, if sufficient controls are not in place, or if we fail to implement adequate data security 
practices or fail to comply with our policies or otherwise suffer a network or other security breach, our competitors’ information may be improperly (even if inadvertently) 
accessed, used or disclosed. If any of the foregoing were to occur, we could potentially have visibility into the operations of our competitors, which may give us an unfair, anti-
competitive advantage. As a result, we could be subject to claims of alleged infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of the intellectual property rights of our 
competitors or other third parties in the operation of our business, including for our use of our competitors’ or other third-party intellectual property rights or our internally 
developed or acquired intellectual property and technologies. Consequently, this could lead to a higher litigation risk in the future. We maintain a comprehensive portfolio of 
insurance policies to 
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meet both our legal obligations and to cover perceived risks within our business, but we cannot know whether our coverage and the deductibles under these policies are 
adequate to protect us against the aforementioned risks that we face. 

We are subject to economic and geopolitical risk, business cycles, and the overall level of consumer, business and government spending, which could negatively affect our 
business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. 

The cryptocurrency payments technology industry depends heavily on the overall level of consumer, business and government spending. We are exposed to general economic 
conditions that affect consumer confidence, spending, and discretionary income and changes in consumer purchasing habits. A sustained deterioration in general economic 
conditions in the markets in which we operate, supply chain disruptions, inflationary pressure or interest rate fluctuations may adversely affect our financial performance by 
reducing demand for cryptocurrencies and cryptocurrency-based services and thereby reducing transaction volumes. A reduction in transaction volumes could result in a 
decrease in our revenues and profits. 

A downturn in the economy could force retailers or financial institutions to close or petition for bankruptcy protection, resulting in lower revenue and earnings for us. We also 
have a certain amount of fixed costs, such as rents, debt service, and salaries, which could limit our ability to quickly adjust costs and respond to changes in our business and the 
economy. Changes in economic conditions could also adversely affect our future revenues and profits and cause a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
results of operations, and cash flows. 

In addition, our business, growth, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected by instability or changes in a country’s or region’s economic 
conditions; inflation; changes in laws or regulations or in the interpretation of existing laws or regulations, whether caused by a change in government or otherwise; increased 
difficulty of conducting business in a country or region due to actual or potential political or military conflict; or action by the U.S. or foreign governments that may restrict our 
ability to transact business in a foreign country or with certain foreign individuals or entities. A possible slowdown in global trade caused by increasing tariffs or other 
restrictions could decrease consumer or corporate confidence and reduce consumer, government and corporate spending in countries inside or outside the U.S., which could 
adversely affect our operations. Climate-related events, including extreme weather events and natural disasters and their effect on critical infrastructure in the U.S. or 
internationally, could have similar adverse effects on our operations, users, or third-party suppliers. 

We depend on major mobile operating systems and third-party platforms. If Google Play, the Apple App Store, or other platforms prevent users from downloading our 
mobile app, our ability to grow may be adversely affected. 

We rely upon third-party platforms for the distribution of certain products and services. Our mobile app is provided as a free application through both the Apple App Store and 
the Google Play Store. The Google Play Store and Apple App Store are global application distribution platforms and the main distribution channels for our mobile app. As such, 
the promotion, distribution, and operation of our mobile app is subject to the respective platforms’ terms and policies for application developers, which are very broad and 
subject to frequent changes and re-interpretation. 

The terms and conditions under which we access these distribution platforms may contain restrictions related to cryptocurrencies that could be broadly construed, and if 
construed to encompass the functionality of our mobile app, could limit the nature and scope of services that can be offered. If our products and services are found to be in 
violation of any such terms and conditions, we may no longer be able to offer our products and services through such third-party platforms. There can be no guarantee that 
third-party platforms will continue to support our mobile application, or that users will be able to continue to use our products and services. Any changes, bugs, technical or 
regulatory issues with third-party platforms, our relationships with mobile manufacturers and carriers, or changes to their terms of service or policies could degrade our app’s 
functionalities, reduce or eliminate our ability to distribute our app, give preferential treatment to competitive products and services, limit our ability to deliver high quality 
offerings, or impose fees or other charges, any of which could affect usage of our products and services and harm our business. 

If miners or validators of Bitcoin demand high transaction fees, our operating results may be adversely affected. 

Miners and validators are individuals or entities who operate a computer or group of computers that add new transactions to blocks, and verify blocks created by other miners. 
Miners collect transaction fees and are rewarded with new tokens for their services, which such fees and rewards can be unpredictable. When a user buys Bitcoin from a kiosk, 
miner fees incurred to process the withdrawal transaction on the underlying blockchain network are an inherent component of the transaction costs. If the block rewards for 
miners on any blockchain network are not sufficiently high to incentivize miners, miners may demand higher transaction fees, or collude to reject low transaction fees and force 
users to pay higher fees. Although we generally attempt to pass miner fees through to our users, we may incur from time to time, reduced margins related to higher miner fees in 
excess of what we expect when we charge a transaction fee to our users, resulting in adverse impacts on our operating results. 
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We rely on search engines, social networking sites, and other web-based platforms to attract a meaningful portion of our users, and if those search engines, social 
networking sites and other web-based platforms change their listings or policies regarding advertising, or increase their pricing or suffer problems, it may limit our ability 
to attract new users. 

Many users locate our website and kiosks through internet search engines, such as Google, and advertisements on social networking sites and other web-based platforms. If we 
are listed less prominently or fail to appear in search results for any reason, downloads of our mobile application, and visits to our website and kiosks, could decline 
significantly, and we may not be able to replace this traffic. Search engines revise their algorithms from time to time in an attempt to optimize their search results. If the search 
engines on which we rely for algorithmic listings modify their algorithms, we may appear less prominently or not at all in search results, which could result in reduced traffic to 
our website or kiosks that we may not be able to replace. Additionally, if the costs of search engine marketing services, such as Google AdWords, increase, we may incur 
additional marketing expenses, we may be required to allocate a larger portion of our marketing spend to this channel or we may be forced to attempt to replace it with another 
channel (which may not be available at reasonable prices, if at all), and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. 

Furthermore, competitors may in the future bid on search terms that we use to drive traffic to our website and engagement with current and potential users. Such actions could 
increase our marketing costs and result in decreased traffic to our website or use of our application and kiosks. In addition, search engines, social networking sites and other 
web-based platforms may change their advertising policies from time to time. If any change to these policies delays or prevents us from advertising through these channels, it 
could result in reduced traffic to our website or use of our application and kiosks. Additionally, new search engines, social networking sites and other web-based platforms may 
develop in specific jurisdictions or more broadly that reduce traffic on existing search engines, social networking sites and other web-based platforms. Moreover, the use of 
voice recognition technology such as Alexa, Google Assistant, Cortana, or Siri may drive traffic away from search engines, potentially resulting in reduced traffic to our 
website or use of our application and kiosks. If we are not able to achieve awareness through advertising or otherwise, we may not achieve significant traffic to our website, 
mobile application or kiosks. 

The nature of our business requires the application of complex financial accounting rules. If financial accounting standards undergo significant changes, our operating 
results could be adversely affected.

The accounting rules and regulations that we must comply with are complex and subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”), the SEC, 
and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or interpretations could have a significant effect on our 
reported financial results, and may even affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement or effectiveness of a change. For example recent actions and 
public comments from the FASB and the SEC have focused on the integrity of financial reporting and internal controls. In addition, many companies’ accounting policies are 
being subjected to heightened scrutiny by regulators and the public. Further, there has been limited precedent for the financial accounting of crypto assets and related valuation 
and revenue recognition. Currently, we account for the crypto assets we hold for operating purposes as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, which requires us to 
measure these crypto assets at cost less impairment. As a result of the high volatility in the crypto economy and of crypto asset prices, which may continue to experience 
significant declines, we may continue to record impairment charges on the crypto assets we hold in a particular period. 

In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-08, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Crypto Assets (ASU 2023-08): Accounting for and 
Disclosure of Crypto Assets, which represents a significant change in how entities that hold crypto assets will account for certain of those holdings.  ASU 2023-08 will require 
us to measure crypto assets that meet the scope criteria at fair value and to reflect changes in fair value in net income each reporting period.  The amendments in ASU 2023-08 
will also require us to present crypto assets measured at fair value separately from other intangible assets on the balance sheet and changes in the fair value measurement of 
crypto assets separately from changes in the carrying amounts of other intangible assets on the income statement.  The amendments in ASU 2023-08 are effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted.

Uncertainties in or changes to regulatory or financial accounting standards could result in the need to change our accounting methods and restate our financial statements and 
impair our ability to provide timely and accurate financial information, which could adversely affect our financial statements, result in a loss of investor confidence, and more 
generally impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Risks Related to Government Regulation and Privacy Matters 

Any failure to obtain or maintain necessary money transmission registrations and licenses could adversely affect our operations. 

We currently operate in states where we have obtained the requisite licenses to the extent that the laws and regulations of such states clearly indicate that a license is required or 
where state regulators have advised us that we need a license to operate. In the U.S., we are registered as a money services business with the Financial Crimes Enforcement 
Network of the U.S. Department of the Treasury 
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(“FinCEN”) and are currently also licensed to operate as a money transmitter in Alabama, Alaska, Arkansas, Connecticut, Florida, Georgia, Iowa, Louisiana, Nevada, New 
Mexico, Ohio, Rhode Island, Vermont, Washington, Puerto Rico, and the District of Columbia. In Canada, we are registered with the Financial Transactions and Reports 
Analysis Centre of Canada ("FINTRAC") as a money services business. We have applied for a BitLicense from the New York State Department of Financial Services and we 
hold a Virtual Currency Business License from Louisiana and have money transmitter license applications pending in Arizona, Delaware, Illinois, Kentucky, Maine, Maryland, 
Massachusetts, Minnesota, Missouri, North Carolina, North Dakota, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania and Tennessee. We also currently operate in states where we do not believe we 
are required, or have been informed by the relevant jurisdiction that we are not required, to obtain money transmitter licenses or any other required licenses. This belief is based 
on our analysis of the applicable laws and regulations and/or our communications with the regulators in the relevant jurisdiction. We plan to apply for money transmitter or 
virtual currency licenses or their equivalents in additional jurisdictions as needed. As we obtain additional licenses, we may be required to bear ongoing costs to comply with the 
requirements of the additional states or jurisdictions. If our licenses are not renewed, we are denied licenses in additional states or jurisdictions where we choose to apply for a 
license, or jurisdictions that have previously not required a license require a license in the future, we could be forced to seek a license or change our business practices. 

As a money services business and a money transmitter, we are subject to a range of legal obligations and requirements including bonding, net worth maintenance, user notice 
and disclosure, reporting, recordkeeping and cybersecurity requirements, and obligations that apply to the safeguarding of third-party funds and crypto assets. In addition, the 
licensed entity within our corporate structure is subject to inspection and examination by the state licensing agencies and certain actions involving that entity, such as changes in 
controlling equity holders, board members, and senior management, may require regulatory approval. Further, if we were found by these regulators to be in violation of any 
applicable laws, rules, or regulations, we could be subject to fines, penalties, lawsuits, and enforcement actions, additional compliance requirements, increased regulatory 
scrutiny of our business, restriction of our operations, or damage to our reputation or brand. Regulatory requirements are constantly evolving, and we cannot predict whether we 
will be able to meet changes to existing regulations or the introduction of new regulations without such compliance harming our business, financial condition, and operating 
results. 

Certain jurisdictions have enacted rules that require money transmitters, money services businesses, or virtual currency businesses to establish and maintain transaction 
monitoring, filtering, scanning and cybersecurity programs. Wherever we are subject to these rules, we are required to adopt business practices that require additional 
expenditures and impact our operating results. 

Additionally, if federal, state, or international regulators were to take actions that limit or prohibit us or our business partners from continuing to operate our business or their 
businesses as currently operated, whether by imposing additional requirements, compliance obligations or sanctions, such actions could harm our business. Any change to our 
business practices that makes our service less attractive to users or prohibits use of our services by residents of a particular jurisdiction could decrease our transaction volume 
and harm our business. 

We are subject to an extensive and highly evolving regulatory landscape and any adverse changes to, or our failure to comply with, any laws, rules, and regulations could 
adversely affect our brand, reputation, business, operating results, and financial condition. 

Our business is subject to extensive laws, rules, regulations, policies, orders, determinations, directives, and legal and regulatory interpretations and guidance in the markets in 
which we operate. The scope of laws, rules, and regulations that can impact our business is expansive and includes certain of the requirements that apply to financial services, 
money transmission, privacy protection, cybersecurity, electronic payments, securities and commodities regulation, data governance, data protection, fraud detection, marketing 
(including the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991), civil rights (including the Americans with Disabilities Act, which generally requires, among other things, that our 
BTMs be accessible to individuals with disabilities, such as visually- impaired persons), competition, bankruptcy, tax, anti-bribery, economic and trade sanctions, anti-money 
laundering, and counter-terrorist financing as well as bespoke cryptocurrency and cryptocurrency laws that have been adopted in some jurisdictions that can impact 
cryptocurrency custody, exchange, and transfer, cross-border and domestic cryptocurrency transmission. 

Many of these legal and regulatory regimes were adopted prior to the advent of the internet, mobile technologies, cryptocurrencies, and related technologies. As a result, some 
applicable laws, rules and regulations do not contemplate or address unique issues associated with cryptocurrencies or the digital financial system, are subject to significant 
uncertainty, and vary widely across U.S. federal, state, and local and international jurisdictions. These legal and regulatory regimes evolve frequently and may be modified, 
interpreted, and applied in an inconsistent manner from one jurisdiction to another, and may conflict with one another. Moreover, the complexity and evolving nature of our 
business and the significant uncertainty surrounding the regulation of cryptocurrencies and the digital financial system requires us to exercise our judgment as to whether certain 
laws, rules, and regulations apply to us, and it is possible that governmental bodies and regulators may disagree with our conclusions. For example, in light of the regulatory 
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uncertainty around what digital assets qualify as “securities” under U.S. federal securities laws, we elected to only transact in Bitcoin and stop offering transactions of Litecoin 
and Ethereum. 

To the extent we have not complied with such laws, rules, and regulations, we could be subject to significant fines, revocation of authorizations, registrations or licenses, 
limitations on our products and services, whistleblower complaints, reputational harm, and other regulatory consequences, each of which may be significant and could 
adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition. 

In addition to existing laws, rules and regulations, various governmental and regulatory bodies, including legislative and executive bodies, in the U. S. and in other jurisdictions 
may adopt new laws, rules, regulations and regulatory requirements. For example, we could become subject to laws, regulations or other regulatory action imposing restrictions, 
disclosure requirements or limitations on the transaction fees that we are able to charge our users for Bitcoin transactions, including the markup at which we sell Bitcoin to users 
and the separate flat transaction fee that we charge. As a result, we may not be able to sell Bitcoin at a profitable margin, which would adversely affect our revenue and 
financial condition. Furthermore, new interpretations of existing laws, rules, and regulations may be issued by such bodies or the judiciary, which may adversely impact the 
development of the digital financial system as a whole and our legal and regulatory status in particular by changing how we operate our business, how our products and services 
are regulated, and what products or services we and our competitors can offer, requiring changes to our compliance and risk mitigation measures, imposing new registration or 
licensing requirements, or imposing a total ban on certain Bitcoin transactions, as has occurred in certain jurisdictions in the past. 

We are subject to ongoing supervision, examination, oversight, and reviews and currently are, and expect in the future, to be subject to investigations and inquiries, by U.S. 
federal and state regulators, and foreign financial service regulators. As a result of findings from these reviews and examinations, regulators have, are, and may in the future 
require us to take certain actions, including amending, updating, or revising our compliance policies and procedures from time to time, limiting the kinds of users that we 
provide services to, changing, terminating, or delaying our registrations or licenses and the introduction of our existing or new product and services, and undertaking further 
external audits. From time to time, we may receive examination reports citing violations of rules and regulations, inadequacies in existing compliance programs, and requiring 
us to enhance certain practices with respect to our compliance program, including user due diligence, transaction monitoring, training, and regulatory reporting and 
recordkeeping. Implementing appropriate measures to properly remediate these examination findings may require us to incur significant costs, and if we fail to properly 
remediate any of these examination findings, we could face civil litigation, significant fines, damage awards, forced removal of certain employees including members of our 
executive team, barring of certain employees from participating in our business in whole or in part, revocation of existing authorizations, registrations or licenses, limitations on 
existing and new products and services, reputational harm, negative impact to our existing relationships with regulators, exposure to criminal liability, or other regulatory 
consequences. Further, we believe increasingly strict legal and regulatory requirements and additional regulatory investigations and enforcement, any of which could occur or 
intensify, may continue to result in changes to our business practices, as well as increased costs, and supervision and examination for ourselves and our service providers. 
Moreover, new laws, rules, regulations, or interpretations may result in additional litigation, regulatory investigations, and enforcement or other actions, including preventing or 
delaying us from offering certain products or services offered by our competitors or could impact how we offer such products and services. Adverse changes to, or our failure 
to comply with, any laws, rules, and regulations have had, and may continue to have, an adverse effect on our reputation and brand and our business, operating results, and 
financial condition. 

The above risks are exacerbated by the uncertainty dominating the current regulatory environment. In June 2024, the U.S. Supreme Court reversed its longstanding approach 
under the Chevron doctrine, which provided for judicial deference to regulatory agencies. As a result of this decision, we cannot be sure whether there will be increased 
challenges to existing agency regulations or how lower courts will apply the decision in the context of other regulatory schemes without more specific guidance from the U.S. 
Supreme Court. For example, the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision could significantly impact financial services, money transmission environmental regulation, consumer 
protection, advertising, privacy, artificial intelligence, and other regulatory regimes with which we are required to comply.
 
New approaches to policymaking and legislation may also produce unintended harms for our business, which may impact our ability to operate our business in the manner in 
which we are accustomed. Any of these regulations could negatively affect how we market our offerings and increase our regulatory compliance costs. It will become 
increasingly difficult to predict which new laws will apply to our business and when, especially with the potential for an increase in legal challenges to new laws. This 
uncertainty could, in turn, have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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It may become illegal to acquire, own, hold, sell, or use Bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies, participate in blockchains or utilize cryptocurrencies in other countries, which 
would adversely affect us. 

Although currently the use of cryptocurrencies generally is not restricted in most countries, countries such as China and Russia have taken harsh regulatory actions to curb the 
use of cryptocurrencies and may continue to take regulatory actions in the future that could severely restrict the right to acquire, own, hold, sell or use cryptocurrencies or to 
exchange them for fiat currency. In September 2021, China instituted a blanket ban on all cryptocurrency transactions and mining, including services provided by overseas 
cryptocurrency exchanges in mainland China, effectively making all cryptocurrency-related activities illegal in China. In other nations, including Russia, it is illegal to accept 
payment in cryptocurrency for consumer transactions, and banking institutions are barred from accepting deposits of Bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies. In January 2022, the 
Central Bank of Russia called for a ban on cryptocurrency activities ranging from mining to trading. While our operations are currently limited to the U.S., Puerto Rico and 
Canada, such restrictions may adversely affect our growth potential or us if the restrictions limit the large-scale use of cryptocurrency or if the use of cryptocurrency becomes 
confined to certain regions globally. Such circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, operating results, and financial condition. 

The theft, loss, or destruction of private keys required to access any Bitcoin may be irreversible. If we are unable to access our private keys or if we experience a hack or 
other data loss relating to our ability to access any Bitcoin, it could cause regulatory scrutiny, reputational harm, and other losses. 

Bitcoin is generally accessible only by the possessor of the unique private key relating to the digital wallet in which the Bitcoin is held. While blockchain protocols typically 
require public addresses to be published when used in a transaction, private keys must be safeguarded and kept private to prevent a third-party from accessing the Bitcoin held 
in the applicable wallet. To the extent that any of the private keys relating to our wallets containing Bitcoin held for our own account or our users’ private keys relating to their 
un-hosted wallets is lost, destroyed, or otherwise compromised or unavailable, and no backup of the private key is accessible, we or our users will be unable to access the 
Bitcoin held in the related wallet. Further, we cannot provide assurance that our or our users’ wallets will not be hacked or otherwise compromised. Cryptocurrency and 
blockchain technologies have been, and may in the future be, subject to security breaches, hacking, or other malicious activities. Any loss of private keys relating to, or any hack 
or other compromise of, digital wallets used to store our users’ Bitcoin could adversely affect our users’ ability to access or sell their Bitcoin, as well as result in loss of user trust 
in us. As such, any loss of private keys due to a hack, employee or service provider misconduct or error, or other compromise by third parties could hurt our brand and 
reputation, result in significant losses, and adversely impact our business. The balance in Bitcoin Depot’s hot wallets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, was approximately 
$0.9 million. The average balance in Bitcoin Depot’s hot wallets during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, was $0.6 million and $0.6 million, respectively. 

The digital financial system is novel. As a result, policymakers are just beginning to consider what a regulatory regime for cryptocurrencies should look like and the 
elements that would serve as the foundation for such a regime. If we are unable to effectively react to future proposed legislation and regulation of cryptocurrencies or 
cryptocurrency businesses, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely affected. 

The digital financial system is novel. As a result, many policymakers are just beginning to consider what a regulatory regime for cryptocurrency should look like and the 
elements that would serve as the foundation for such a regime. As cryptocurrency has grown in both popularity and market size, various U.S. federal, state, and local and 
foreign governmental organizations, consumer protection agencies, and public advocacy groups have been examining the operations of cryptocurrency networks, users and 
platforms, with a focus on how cryptocurrencies can be used to launder the proceeds of illicit activities, fund criminal or terrorist enterprises, and the safety and soundness of 
platforms and other service providers that hold cryptocurrencies for users. Many of these entities have called for heightened regulatory oversight, and have proposed legislation 
and regulations, undertaken enforcement actions and/or issued consumer advisories describing the risks posed by cryptocurrencies to users and investors. The impacts of such 
potential and proposed heightened regulatory oversight are not yet known. 

For example, in Connecticut, Substitute House Bill 6752 concerns digital assets, authorizes the state banking commissioner to adopt, amend and rescind regulations, forms and 
orders governing the business use of digital assets, defines virtual currency address, virtual currency kiosk and virtual currency wallet, and establishes certain requirements 
applicable to owners or operators of virtual currency kiosks. 

In addition, other state agencies may propose and adopt new regulations (or interpret existing regulations) in ways that could result in significant adverse changes in the 
regulatory landscape for cryptocurrencies, regardless of whether these or other new laws are adopted. Competitors, including providers of traditional financial services, have 
spent years cultivating professional relationships with relevant policymakers on behalf of their industry so that those policymakers may understand that industry, the current 
legal landscape affecting that industry, and the specific policy proposals that could be implemented to responsibly develop that industry. The lobbyists working for these 
competitors have similarly spent years developing and working to implement strategies to advance these industries. 
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Members of the digital financial system have started to engage policymakers directly and with the help of external advisors and lobbyists, but this work is still in a relatively 
nascent stage. As a result, our industry may not be able to adequately engage with legislators regarding new laws, rules, and regulations that may be proposed and adopted in 
the U.S. and internationally, or regarding interpretations of existing laws, rules, and regulations that may be interpreted in new ways, that harm the digital financial system or 
digital asset businesses, and which could in turn adversely impact our business. 
 
Our obligations to comply with the laws, rules, regulations, and policies of a variety of jurisdictions may increase and we may be subject to inquiries, investigations, and 
enforcement actions by U.S. and non-U.S. regulators and governmental authorities, including those related to sanctions, export control, and anti-money laundering. 

If we expand our non-U.S. activities, we may become obligated to comply with additional laws, rules, regulations, policies, and legal interpretations of both the jurisdictions in 
which we operate and those into which we offer products and services on a cross-border basis. For instance, financial regulators outside the U.S. have in recent months 
significantly increased their scrutiny of digital asset exchanges, such as by requiring digital asset exchanges operating in their local jurisdictions to be regulated and licensed 
under local laws. Moreover, laws regulating financial services, the internet, mobile technologies, cryptocurrencies, and related technologies outside of the U.S. are evolving, 
extensive and could impose different, more specific, or even conflicting obligations on us, as well as broader liability. In addition, we are required to comply with laws, rules, 
and regulations related to economic sanctions and export controls enforced by U.S. Department of Commerce’s Bureau of Industry and Security, and U.S. anti-money 
laundering and counter-terrorist financing laws, rules, and regulations enforced by FinCEN and certain state financial services regulators. U.S. sanctions and export control laws 
and regulations generally restrict dealings by persons subject to U.S. jurisdiction with certain jurisdictions that are the target of comprehensive embargoes, currently the Crimea 
Region, the Donetsk People’s Republic of Ukraine, the Luhansk People’s Republic of Ukraine, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, and Syria, as well as with persons, entities, and 
governments identified on certain prohibited party lists. Moreover, as a result of the Russian invasion of Ukraine, the U.S., the E.U., the United Kingdom, and other jurisdictions 
have imposed wide-ranging sanctions on Russia and Belarus and persons and entities associated with Russia and Belarus. There can be no certainty regarding whether such 
governments or other governments will impose additional sanctions, or other economic or military measures against Russia or Belarus. 

We have an Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) compliance program in place that includes monitoring of IP addresses to identify prohibited jurisdictions and of 
blockchain addresses that have either been identified by OFAC as prohibited or that otherwise are believed by us to be associated with prohibited persons or jurisdictions. 
Nonetheless, there can be no guarantee that our compliance program will prevent transactions with particular persons or addresses or prevent every potential violation of OFAC 
sanctions, and our expansion into additional jurisdictions may subject us to additional risks related to use of our services by sanctioned persons. 

From time to time, we have submitted voluntary disclosures to OFAC or responded to administrative subpoenas from OFAC. Certain of these voluntary self-disclosures are 
currently under review by OFAC. To date, none of those proceedings has resulted in a monetary penalty or finding of violation. Any present or future government inquiries 
relating to sanctions could result in negative consequences for us, including costs related to government investigations, financial penalties, and harm to our reputation. The 
impact on us related to such matters could be substantial. Although we have implemented controls and are working to implement additional controls and screening tools 
designed to prevent sanctions violations, there is no guarantee that we will not inadvertently provide access to our products and services to sanctioned parties or jurisdictions in 
the future. 

Regulators worldwide frequently study each other’s approaches to the regulation of the digital financial system. Consequently, developments in any jurisdiction may influence 
other jurisdictions. New developments in one jurisdiction may be extended to additional services and other jurisdictions. As a result, the risks created by any new law or 
regulation in one jurisdiction are magnified by the potential that they may be replicated, affecting our business in another place or involving another service. Conversely, if 
regulations diverge worldwide, we may face difficulty adjusting our products, services, and other aspects of our business with the same effect. 

The complexity of U.S. federal and state and international regulatory and enforcement regimes could result in a single event prompting numerous overlapping investigations and 
legal and regulatory proceedings by multiple government authorities across different jurisdictions. Any of the foregoing could, individually or in the aggregate, harm our 
reputation, damage our brands and business, and adversely affect our operating results and financial condition. Due to the uncertain application of existing laws, rules, and 
regulations, it may be that, despite our regulatory and legal analysis concluding that certain products and services are currently unregulated, such products or services may 
indeed be subject to financial regulation, licensing, or authorization obligations that we have not obtained or with which we have not complied. As a result, we are at a 
heightened risk of enforcement action, litigation, 



 

43

Table of Contents

regulatory, and legal scrutiny which could lead to sanctions, cease and desist orders, or other penalties and censures which could significantly and adversely affect our 
continued operations and financial condition. 

Complex and evolving U.S. and international laws, rules and regulation regarding privacy and data protection could result in claims, changes to our business practices, 
penalties, increased cost of operations, or otherwise harm our business. 

We are subject to requirements relating to data privacy and the collection, processing, storage, transfer, and use of data under U.S. federal, state and foreign laws. For example, 
the FTC routinely investigates the privacy practices of companies and has commenced enforcement actions against many, resulting in multi-million dollar settlements and 
multi-year agreements governing the settling companies’ privacy practices. As the number of jurisdictions enacting privacy and related laws increases and the scope of these 
laws and enforcement efforts expands, we will increasingly become subject to new and varying requirements. Failure to comply with existing or future data privacy laws, rules, 
regulations and requirements, including by reason of inadvertent disclosure of personal information, could result in significant adverse consequences, including reputational 
harm, civil litigation, regulatory enforcement, costs of remediation, increased expenses for security systems and personnel, and harm to our users. These consequences could 
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

In addition, we make information available to certain U.S. federal and state, as well as certain foreign, government agencies in connection with regulatory requirements to assist 
in the prevention of money laundering and terrorist financing and pursuant to legal obligations and authorizations. In recent years, we have experienced increasing data sharing 
requests by these agencies, particularly in connection with efforts to prevent terrorist financing or reduce the risk of identity theft. During the same period, there has also been 
increased public attention to the corporate use and disclosure of personal information, accompanied by legislation and regulations intended to strengthen data protection, 
information security, and consumer privacy. These regulatory goals may conflict, and the law in these areas may not be consistent or settled. While we believe that we are 
compliant with our regulatory responsibilities, the legal, political, and business environments in these areas are rapidly changing, and subsequent legislation, regulation, 
litigation, court rulings or other events could expose us to increased program costs, liability and reputational damage that could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, and results of operations. 

We are subject to compliance with U.S. anti-money laundering laws, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and numerous laws and regulations. Failure to comply with these 
laws could result in material settlements, fines, penalties, and increased operating costs, all of which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

We are considered a money services business in the U.S. under the Bank Secrecy Act, as amended by the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001. As such, we are subject to reporting, 
recordkeeping and anti-money laundering provisions in the U.S. as well as other jurisdictions. Many of these laws are evolving, with requirements that may be unclear and 
inconsistent across jurisdictions, making compliance challenging. Subsequent legislation, regulation, litigation, court rulings or other events could expose us to increased 
program costs, liability and reputational damage. During 2017 and 2018, there were significant regulatory reviews and actions taken by U.S. and other regulators and law 
enforcement agencies against banks, money services businesses and other financial institutions related to money laundering. We are also subject to regulatory oversight and 
enforcement by FinCEN. Any determination that we have violated any anti-money-laundering laws could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and 
results of operations. 

We are also subject to regulations imposed by the FCPA in the U.S. and similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions. To the extent we expand our non-U.S. operations, we 
could experience a higher risk associated with the FCPA and similar anti-bribery laws than other companies. Since 2016 and prior to the change in federal administration, there 
had been an increase in regulatory reviews and enforcement actions taken by the U.S. and other regulators related to antibribery laws, along with increased scrutiny on payments 
to and relationships with, foreign entities and individuals. However, on February 10, 2025, President Trump issued an executive order directing a pause in enforcement of the 
FCPA for an initial 180-day period while new enforcement guidelines are created. While the scope and substance of the forthcoming new FCPA enforcement guidelines remain 
unclear, the executive order by itself is not expected to produce a significant or lasting change in the FCPA compliance environment.  Any investigation or negative finding in 
connection with such laws could result in significant fines or internal compliance cost, and could also harm our reputation, which would result in a negative impact on our 
business. 

Future developments in tax laws or regulations regarding the treatment and reporting of cryptocurrencies for U.S. and foreign tax purposes could adversely impact our tax 
expense and liabilities, reporting obligations, liquidity, and business. 

Due to the new and evolving nature of cryptocurrencies and the absence of comprehensive legal and tax guidance with respect to digital asset products and transactions, many 
significant aspects of the U.S. and foreign tax treatment of transactions involving cryptocurrencies, such as the purchase and sale of cryptocurrencies, are uncertain, and it is 
unclear whether, when and what guidance may be issued in the future on the treatment of digital asset transactions for U.S. and foreign income tax purposes. 
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In 2014, the IRS released Notice 2014-21, discussing certain aspects of “virtual currency” for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, in particular, stating that such virtual 
currency (i) is “property,” (ii) is not “currency” for purposes of the rules relating to foreign currency gain or loss, and (iii) may be held as a capital asset. In 2019, the IRS 
released Revenue Ruling 2019-24 and a set of “Frequently Asked Questions” (which have been periodically updated), that provide additional guidance, including guidance to 
the effect that, under certain circumstances, hard forks of digital currencies are taxable events giving rise to ordinary income and guidance with respect to the determination of 
the tax basis of virtual currency. However, this guidance does not address other significant aspects of the U.S. federal income tax treatment of cryptocurrencies and related 
transactions. 

There continues to be uncertainty with respect to the timing, character and amount of income inclusions for various digital asset transactions. Although we believe our treatment 
of digital asset transactions for federal income tax purposes is consistent with existing guidance provided by the IRS and existing U.S. federal income tax principles, because of 
the rapidly evolving nature of digital asset innovations and the increasing variety and complexity of digital asset transactions and products, it is possible the IRS and various 
U.S. states may disagree with our treatment of certain digital asset transactions for U.S. tax purposes, which could adversely affect our users and our business. Similar 
uncertainties exist in the foreign markets in which we operate, affecting our non-U.S. user base, and these uncertainties and potential adverse interpretations of tax law could 
affect our non-U.S. users and the vitality of our platforms outside of the U.S. There can be no assurance that the IRS, the U.S. state revenue agencies or other foreign tax 
authorities, will not alter their respective positions with respect to cryptocurrencies in the future or that a court would uphold the treatment set forth in existing guidance. It also 
is unclear what additional guidance may be issued in the future on the treatment of existing digital asset transactions and future digital asset innovations for purposes of U.S. tax 
or other foreign tax regulations. Any such alteration of existing IRS, U.S. state and foreign tax authority positions or additional guidance regarding digital asset products and 
transactions could result in adverse tax consequences for holders of cryptocurrencies and could have an adverse effect on the value of cryptocurrencies and the broader 
cryptocurrency markets. Future technological and operational developments that may arise with respect to cryptocurrencies may increase the uncertainty with respect to the 
treatment of cryptocurrency for U.S. and foreign tax purposes. The uncertainty regarding tax treatment of digital asset transactions impacts our users, and could adversely 
impact our business, including if the volume of cryptocurrency transactions decreases due to adverse tax effect. 

Changing environmental and safety regulations, including those regarding climate change, coupled with investors’ expectations of our performance relating to 
environmental, social, and governance factors may impose additional costs and expose us to new risks. 

Our operations, like those of other companies engaged in similar businesses, may require the manufacturing, deployment, use and disposal of certain regulated materials in 
connection with our kiosks. Furthermore, our business implicates certain environmental concerns about Bitcoin mining, as the system on which Bitcoin is currently based 
consumes large amounts of electricity, making it particularly taxing for the environment. As a result, we are subject to the requirements of federal, state and local environmental 
protection and occupational health and safety laws and regulations.  We are subject to potentially significant civil or criminal fines or penalties if we fail to comply with any of 
these requirements. We have made and will continue to make capital and other expenditures in order to comply with these laws and regulations. These include climate change 
regulation, which could materially affect our operating results through increased compliance costs. The requirements of these laws and regulations are complex, change 
frequently, and could become more stringent in the future. It is possible that these requirements will change or that liabilities will arise in the future in a manner that could have 
a material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations.

In addition to the evolving nature of these regulations, there is also increased unpredictability in the regulatory and legislative processes, as well as the scope of such 
requirements and initiatives, due to the change in administration and the overturning of the Chevron doctrine. For example, on January 20, 2025, President Trump signed an 
Executive Order entitled “Unleashing American Energy,” (the “ESG EO”) that, among other provisions, directed all agencies to adhere to only relevant legislated requirements 
for environmental considerations and to prioritize energy production, and directed the Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) to consider eliminating the social cost of 
carbon from permitting or regulatory decisions and reconsider its 2009 finding that greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions endanger public health and welfare, which provides 
legal support for EPA GHG emissions regulations. The future impact of these actions and the new administration generally on existing climate-related regulations cannot be 
predicted at this time. The SEC’s new climate disclosure rules are another example of this regulatory uncertainty, which, while adopted by the SEC, have been voluntarily 
stayed pending judicial review. The uncertainty around the evolution of the United States’ regulatory environment with regards to regulating GHGs and climate change issues 
renders it increasingly difficult to plan for future developments. Ultimately, these future regulatory developments could increase costs of operations for us or our customers, 
reduce demand and adversely impact our operations.

Further, there is an increasing focus from certain investors, employees, users and other stakeholders concerning corporate responsibility, specifically related to environmental, 
social, and governance (“ESG”) matters, or ESG. Some investors may use these non-financial performance factors to guide their investment strategies and, in some cases, may 
choose not to invest in us if they believe our policies and actions relating to corporate responsibility are inadequate. The growing investor demand for measurement of non-
financial performance is addressed by third-party providers of sustainability assessment and ratings on companies. The criteria by which our corporate responsibility practices 
are assessed may change due to the constant evolution of the sustainability landscape, 
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which could result in greater expectations of us and cause us to undertake costly initiatives to satisfy such new criteria. If we elect not to or are unable to satisfy such new 
criteria, investors may conclude that our policies and actions with respect to corporate social responsibility are inadequate. We may face reputational damage in the event that 
we do not meet the ESG standards set by various constituencies. 

Furthermore, if our competitors’ corporate social responsibility performance is perceived to be better than ours, potential or current investors may elect to invest with our 
competitors instead. In addition, in the event that we communicate certain initiatives and goals regarding ESG matters, we could fail, or be perceived to fail, in our achievement 
of such initiatives or goals, or we could be criticized for the scope of such initiatives or goals. If we fail to satisfy the expectations of investors, employees, and other 
stakeholders or our initiatives are not executed as planned, our reputation and business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely impacted. 

However, anti-ESG initiatives might serve as a counteracting concern in the future, particularly in light of recent executive orders issued by President Trump. In recent years 
anti-ESG sentiment has gained momentum in the United States, with several states and Congress having proposed or enacted “anti-ESG” policies, legislation, or initiatives or 
issued related legal opinions, and could find support in President Trump’s ESG EO, regardless of the anticipated challenges to it. Further, some conservative groups and 
Republican state attorneys general have asserted that the Supreme Court’s decision striking down race-based affirmative action in higher education in June 2023 should be 
analogized to private employment matters and private contract matters. Several new cases alleging discrimination based on similar arguments have been filed since the decision, 
which has escalated scrutiny of certain practices and initiatives related to diversity, equity, and inclusion (“DEI”). This scrutiny may increase in light of President Trump’s 
repealing of a 1965 Executive Order barring employment discrimination by federal contractors and new Executive Order issued on January 20, 2025 directing federal agencies 
to terminate DEI mandates, policies and programs, dissuading private companies from implementing them and suggesting the risk of legal actions or civil investigations for 
employers who do not comply (though specifications of what policies could merit investigation are not provided). The future impact of these actions on existing DEI regulations 
cannot be predicted at this time, particularly given that such new orders are likely to face legal challenges. However, in the interim, such anti-ESG and anti-DEI-related 
policies, legislation, initiatives, litigation, legal opinions, and scrutiny could result in additional compliance obligations or becoming the subject of investigations or enforcement 
actions.

Risks Related to Third Parties 

We currently rely on third-party service providers and their systems for certain aspects of our operations, and any interruptions in services provided by these third parties 
may impair our ability to support our users. 

We rely on third parties and their systems in connection with many aspects of our business, including our kiosk manufacturers, our retail partners, logistics providers, and 
banks; cloud computing services and data centers that provide facilities, infrastructure, website functionality and access, components, and services, including databases and data 
center facilities and cloud computing; as well as third parties that provide outsourced user service, compliance support and product development functions, which are critical to 
our operations. Because we rely on third parties to provide these services and systems and to facilitate certain of our business activities, we face increased operational risks. We 
do not directly manage the operation of any of these third parties, including their data center facilities that we use. These third parties may be subject to financial, legal, 
regulatory, and labor issues, cybersecurity incidents, break-ins, computer viruses, denial-of-service attacks, sabotage, theft, acts of vandalism, privacy breaches, service 
terminations, disruptions, interruptions, and other misconduct. They are also vulnerable to damage or interruption from human error, power loss, telecommunications failures, 
fires, floods, earthquakes, hurricanes, tornadoes, pandemics (including the COVID-19 pandemic), and similar events. For example, on February 24, 2021, the U.S. Federal 
Reserve’s payments network experienced an outage, which had the potential to result in reduced functionality for certain of our products. In addition, these third parties may 
breach their agreements with us, disagree with our interpretation of contract terms or applicable laws and regulations, refuse to continue or renew these agreements on 
commercially reasonable terms or at all, fail or refuse to process transactions or provide other services adequately, take actions that degrade the functionality of our services, 
impose additional costs or requirements on us or our users, or give preferential treatment to competitors. There can be no assurance that third parties that provide services to us 
or to our users on our behalf will continue to do so on acceptable terms, or at all. If any third parties do not adequately or appropriately provide their services or systems or 
perform their responsibilities to us or our users on our behalf, such as if third-party service providers close their data center facilities without adequate notice, are unable to 
restore operations and data, fail to perform as expected, or experience other unanticipated problems, we may be unable to procure alternatives in a timely and efficient manner 
and on acceptable terms, or at all, and we may be subject to business disruptions, losses or costs to remediate any of the deficiencies, user dissatisfaction, reputational damage, 
legal or regulatory proceedings, or other adverse consequences which could harm our business. 



 

46

Table of Contents

Many of our kiosks and key components to these kiosks are procured from a single or limited number of suppliers. Thus, we are at risk of shortage, price increases, tariffs, 
changes, delay, or discontinuation of these kiosks or components, which could disrupt and materially and adversely affect our business. 

Due to our reliance on the components or products produced by certain of our suppliers, we are subject to the risk of shortages and long lead times or other disruptions in the 
supply of certain components or products. Our ongoing efforts to identify alternative manufacturers for the assembly of our products and for many of the single-sourced 
components used in our products may not be successful. In the case of off-the-shelf and other hardware components of our kiosk-based equipment, we are subject to the risk 
that our suppliers may discontinue or modify them, or that the components may cease to be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. We have in the past 
experienced, and may in the future experience, component shortages or delays or other problems in product assembly, and the availability of these components or products may 
be difficult to predict. For example, our manufacturers may experience temporary or permanent disruptions in their manufacturing operations due to equipment breakdowns, 
labor strikes or shortages, natural disasters, the occurrence of a contagious disease or illness, component or material shortages, freight/shipping shortages, cost increases, 
acquisitions, insolvency, bankruptcy, business shutdowns, trade restrictions, changes in legal or regulatory requirements, or other similar problems. The current global supply 
chain disruptions and shortages, in particular with respect to integrated circuits, have affected our supply chain and resulted in low levels of inventory for some of our hardware 
products. Therefore, our suppliers may be unable to timely fulfill orders for some hardware products. These hardware shortages could negatively affect our ability to deploy our 
kiosks and serve our users, and if such shortages continue for an extended period of time, could materially and adversely impact our financial results. 

Additionally, various sources of supply-chain risk, including strikes or shutdowns at delivery ports or loss of or damage to our products while they are in transit or storage, 
intellectual property theft, losses due to tampering, third- party vendor issues with quality or sourcing control, failure by our suppliers to comply with applicable laws and 
regulation, potential tariffs or other trade restrictions, or other similar problems could limit or delay the supply of our products or harm our reputation. In the event of a shortage 
or supply interruption from suppliers of these components, such as the current global shortage of integrated circuits, we may not be able to develop alternate sources quickly, 
cost-effectively, or at all. Any interruption or delay in manufacturing, component supply, any increases in component costs (or prices charged by our vendors generally), or the 
inability to obtain these parts or components from alternate sources at acceptable prices and within a reasonable amount of time, would harm our ability to provide our products 
and services to users. This could harm our relationships with our users and retail partners, prevent us from acquiring new users and merchants, and materially and adversely 
affect our business. 

A substantial portion of our kiosks are placed with a small number of retailers today. The expiration, termination or renegotiation of any of these contracts with our top 
retail partners or if one or more of our top retail partners were to cease doing business with us or substantially reduce its dealings with us, could cause our revenues to 
decline significantly and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely impacted. 

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we derived approximately 23% and 27%, respectively, of our total revenue from kiosks placed at the locations of our largest 
retail partner, Circle K, under individual corporate and franchisee lease agreements. 

Because a significant portion of our kiosks are placed with a small number of retailers, a portion of our future revenues and operating income depends upon the successful 
continuation of our relationship with our top retail partners and the loss of any of our largest retail partners, a decision by any one of them to reduce the number of our kiosks 
placed in their locations, or a decision to sell or close their locations could result in a decline in our revenues or otherwise adversely impact our business operations. 
Furthermore, if their financial conditions were to deteriorate in the future, and as a result, one or more of these retail partners were required to close a significant number of their 
store locations, our revenues would be significantly impacted. 

Additionally, these retail partners may elect not to renew their contracts when they expire. Even if our major contracts are extended or renewed, the renewal terms may be less 
favorable to us than the current contracts. If any of our largest retail partners enters bankruptcy proceedings and rejects its contract with us, fails to renew its contract upon 
expiration, or if the renewal terms with any of them are less favorable to us than under our current contracts, it could result in a decline in our revenues and profits and have a 
material adverse impact on our operations and cash flows. 

Risks Related to our Management and Employees 

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company. 

Our management team has limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors, and complying with the increasingly complex 
laws pertaining to public companies. Our management team may not successfully or efficiently manage our transition to being a public company subject to significant 
regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under the federal securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of securities analysts and investors. These new obligations and 
constituents 
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require significant attention from our senior management and could divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could adversely affect 
our business, operating results, and financial condition. 

The loss of one or more of our key personnel, or our failure to attract and retain other highly qualified personnel in the future, could adversely impact our business, 
operating results, and financial condition. 

We operate in a relatively new industry that is not widely understood and requires highly skilled and technical personnel. We believe that our future success is highly dependent 
on the talents and contributions of our senior management team, members of our executive team, and other key employees across product, engineering, risk management, 
finance, compliance and legal, and marketing. Our future success depends on our ability to attract, develop, motivate, and retain highly qualified and skilled employees. Due to 
the nascent nature of the digital financial system, the pool of qualified talent is extremely limited, particularly with respect to executive talent, engineering, risk management, 
and financial regulatory expertise. We face intense competition for qualified individuals from numerous software and other technology companies. To attract and retain key 
personnel, we incur significant costs, including salaries and benefits and equity incentives. Even so, these measures may not be enough to attract and retain the personnel we 
require to operate our business effectively. The loss of even a few key employees or senior leaders, or an inability to attract, retain and motivate additional highly skilled 
employees required for the planned expansion of our business could adversely impact our operating results and impair our ability to grow. 

Our officers, directors, employees, and large stockholders may encounter potential conflicts of interests with respect to their positions or interests in cryptocurrencies, 
entities, and other initiatives and digital asset-related businesses, which could adversely affect our business and reputation. 

Certain of our officers, directors, and employees are involved with or active investors in certain digital asset-related businesses, such as cryptocurrency miners, as well as active 
investors in digital asset projects themselves, and may make investment decisions that favor projects that they have personally invested in. Our largest stockholders may also 
make investments in these digital asset projects. Similarly, certain of our directors, officers, employees, and large stockholders may hold cryptocurrencies that we are 
considering supporting, and may be more supportive of such listing notwithstanding legal, regulatory, and other issues associated with such cryptocurrencies. While we have 
instituted policies and procedures to limit and mitigate such risks, there is no assurance that such policies and procedures will be effective, or that we will be able to manage 
such conflicts of interests adequately. If we fail to manage these conflicts of interests, or we receive unfavorable media coverage with respect to actual or perceived conflicts of 
interest, our business may be harmed and the brand, reputation and credibility of our company may be adversely affected. 

Risks Related to our Organizational Structure and the Tax Receivable Agreement 

We are a holding company. Our sole material asset is our interests in BT HoldCo, and we are accordingly dependent upon distributions from BT HoldCo to pay taxes, make 
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, and cover our corporate and other overhead expenses. 

We are a holding company and have no material assets other than our ownership of equity interests in BT HoldCo. As such, we do not have any independent means of 
generating revenue or cash flow, and our ability to pay taxes and operating expenses or declare and pay dividends in the future, if any, is dependent upon the financial results 
and cash flows of BT HoldCo and its subsidiaries (including BT OpCo), and distributions we receive from BT HoldCo. 

BT HoldCo is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally will not be subject to entity-level U.S. federal income taxation. Instead, 
taxable income will be allocated to the unitholders of BT HoldCo. Furthermore, BT OpCo is disregarded as an entity separate from BT HoldCo for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes. Accordingly, we are required to pay income taxes on our allocable share of any net taxable income of BT HoldCo, which includes income of BT OpCo. To the extent 
BT HoldCo has available cash, we generally intend to cause BT HoldCo to make pro rata distributions to its unitholders, including us, in an amount at least sufficient to allow 
us to cover our tax obligations, to satisfy our payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement and to cover our corporate and other overhead expenses. There can be 
no assurance that BT HoldCo and its subsidiaries (including BT OpCo) will generate sufficient cash flow to distribute funds to us, or that applicable state law and contractual 
restrictions, including negative covenants in any financing agreements of BT HoldCo or its subsidiaries (including BT OpCo), will permit such distributions. To the extent that 
we need funds and BT HoldCo or its subsidiaries (including BT OpCo) are restricted from making such distributions under applicable law or under the terms of any financing 
agreements, or are otherwise unable to provide such funds, it could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition. 
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We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq rules and, as a result, we qualify for, and currently and may in the future rely on, certain exemptions 
from Nasdaq’s corporate governance requirements. As such, you may not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to such 
requirements. 

Because Brandon Mintz (through his ownership interests in BT Assets) owns a majority of the voting power of our outstanding common stock, we qualify as a “controlled 
company” within the meaning of the corporate governance standards of Nasdaq. Under the Nasdaq rules, a listed company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held 
by another person or group of persons acting together is a controlled company and may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance requirements, including the 
requirements that: 

•a majority of the board of directors consist of independent directors; 

•the nominating and corporate governance committee of the Board be composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee’s 
purpose and responsibilities; 

•the compensation committee be composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities; and 

•there be an annual performance evaluation of the nominating and corporate governance and compensation committees. 

These requirements will not apply to us as long as we remain a controlled company. We currently rely on two of these exemptions. As a result, we will not have a fully 
independent compensation committee or a fully independent nominating and corporate governance committee. We may in the future also rely on the other exemptions so long as 
we qualify as a controlled company. To the extent we rely on any of these exemptions, holders of shares of Class A common stock will not have the same protections afforded 
to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of Nasdaq. 

Brandon Mintz and his affiliates (including BT Assets) own a substantial majority of the common stock and have the right to appoint a majority of our board members, and 
his interests may conflict with those of other stockholders. 

Holders of our voting stock will vote together as a single class on all matters presented to our stockholders for their vote or approval, except as otherwise required by applicable 
law or the Amended and Restated Charter. As a result of BT Assets’ majority ownership, we are a “controlled company” within the meaning of Nasdaq corporate governance 
standards and BT Assets will be able to substantially influence matters requiring stockholder or board approval, including the election of directors, approval of any potential 
acquisition of us, changes to our organizational documents, significant corporate transactions, and certain decisions we make with respect to directing the manager of BT 
HoldCo. In particular, for so long as BT Assets continues to own a majority of our voting stock, Brandon Mintz, through BT Assets, will be able to substantially influence 
matters requiring stockholder or board approval, including the election of directors, approval of any potential acquisition of us, changes to our organizational documents, 
significant corporate transactions, and certain board decisions with respect to the management of BT HoldCo. This concentration of ownership makes it unlikely that any other 
holder or group of holders of common stock or Preferred Stock will be able to affect the way we and BT HoldCo are managed or the direction of our business. Furthermore, the 
concentration of ownership could deprive you of an opportunity to receive a premium for your shares of Class A common stock as part of a sale of us and ultimately might 
adversely affect the trading price of the Class A common stock to the extent investors perceive a disadvantage in owning stock of a company with a controlling stockholder. The 
interests of BT Assets and Brandon Mintz with respect to matters potentially or actually involving or affecting us, such as future acquisitions, financings, and other corporate 
opportunities and attempts to acquire us, may conflict with the interests of our other stockholders. 

For example, the interests of BT Assets may conflict with the interests of our other stockholders in light of the Tax Receivable Agreement and its ownership of the BT HoldCo 
Preferred Units. In particular, BT Assets’ right to receive payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement could influence its decisions regarding whether and when to support 
the disposition of assets, the incurrence or refinancing of new or existing indebtedness, the timing or amount of distributions by BT HoldCo or the termination of the Tax 
Receivable Agreement and acceleration of our obligations thereunder. The determination of future tax reporting positions, the structuring of future transactions and the handling 
of any challenge by any taxing authority to our tax reporting positions may take into consideration tax or other interests of BT Assets, including the effect of such positions on 
our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement and with respect to the amount of tax distributions, which may differ from our interests or the interests of our other 
stockholders. In addition, BT Assets’ ownership of the BT HoldCo Preferred Units and the right to receive distributions pursuant thereto could influence decisions regarding the 
timing or amount of distributions by BT HoldCo, and BT Assets’ interests in connection with such matters may differ from the interests of our other stockholders. These 
decisions could adversely affect our liquidity or financial condition. 
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We are required to make payments to BT Assets under the Tax Receivable Agreement for certain Tax Attributes, and no such payments will be made to any party other 
than BT Assets. The amounts of such payments could be significant. 

In connection with the closing of the Merger, we entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement with BT HoldCo and BT Assets. Pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement, we are 
generally required to pay BT Assets 85% of the amount of savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state, local, and foreign income taxes that we actually realize, or in certain 
circumstances are deemed to realize, as a result of certain Tax Attributes, including: 

•existing tax basis in certain assets of BT HoldCo and BT OpCo, including assets that will eventually be subject to depreciation or amortization, once placed in 
service, attributable to BT HoldCo Common Units acquired by us in connection with the closing of the Merger and thereafter in accordance with the terms of the BT 
HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement; 

•tax basis adjustments resulting from our acquisition of BT HoldCo Common Units from BT Assets at the closing of the Merger and thereafter pursuant to the terms 
of the BT HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement (including any such adjustments resulting from certain payments made by us under 
the Tax Receivable Agreement); 

•disproportionate tax-related allocations as a result of Section 704(c) of the Code; and 

•tax deductions in respect of interest payments deemed to be made by us in connection with the Tax Receivable Agreement (collectively, “Tax Attributes”). 

The payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement are our obligations and not obligations of BT HoldCo. For purposes of the Tax Receivable Agreement, we will 
generally be treated as realizing a tax benefit from the use of a Tax Attribute on a “with and without” basis, by comparing our actual tax liability to the amount we would have 
been required to pay had we not been able to utilize any of the Tax Attributes. The amounts payable, as well as the timing of any payments, under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement are dependent upon significant future events, including (but not limited to) the timing of the exchanges of BT HoldCo Common Units and surrender of a 
corresponding number of shares of Class V common stock, the price of the Class A common stock at the time of each exchange, the extent to which such exchanges are taxable 
transactions, the depreciation and amortization periods that apply to any increase in tax basis resulting from such exchanges, the types of assets held by BT HoldCo and BT 
OpCo, the amount and timing of taxable income we generate in the future, the U.S. federal income tax rate then applicable and the portion of our payments under the Tax 
Receivable Agreement that constitute imputed interest or give rise to depreciable or amortizable tax basis. 

Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement generally will be based on the tax reporting positions that we determine (with the amount of subject payments determined in 
consultation with an advisory firm and subject to BT Assets’ review and consent). The IRS or another taxing authority may challenge all or any part of a position taken with 
respect to Tax Attributes or the utilization thereof, as well as other tax positions that we take, and a court may sustain such a challenge. In the event that any Tax Attributes 
initially claimed or utilized by us are disallowed, BT Assets will not be required to reimburse us for any excess payments that may previously have been made pursuant to the 
Tax Receivable Agreement, for example, due to adjustments resulting from examinations by taxing authorities. Rather, any excess payments made to BT Assets will be applied 
against and reduce any future cash payments otherwise required to be made by us to BT Assets under the Tax Receivable Agreement, after the determination of such excess. 
However, a challenge to any Tax Attributes initially claimed or utilized by us may not arise for a number of years following the initial time of such payment. Moreover, even if 
a challenge arises earlier, any such excess cash payment may be greater than the amount of future cash payments that we might otherwise be required to make under the terms 
of the Tax Receivable Agreement. As a result, there might not be future cash payments against which such excess can be applied and we could be required to make payments 
under the Tax Receivable Agreement in excess of our actual savings in respect of the Tax Attributes, which could materially impair our financial condition. 

We expect that the payments that we will be required to make under the Tax Receivable Agreement could be substantial. There can be no assurance that we will be able to 
finance our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement. Moreover, the payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will not be conditioned upon BT Assets having a 
continued ownership interest in us. 

In certain cases, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement may be accelerated or significantly exceed the actual benefits we realize, if any, in respect of the Tax 
Attributes subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement. 

The Tax Receivable Agreement provides that, in the case of certain early termination events (including certain changes of control, material breaches, or at our option subject to 
the approval of a majority of our independent directors), we will be required to make a lump-sum cash payment to BT Assets equal to the present value of all forecasted future 
payments that would have otherwise been made under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which lump-sum payment would be based on certain assumptions, including that we will 
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have sufficient future taxable income to fully utilize the Tax Attributes over certain specified time periods and that all BT HoldCo Common Units that had not yet been 
exchanged for Class A common stock, Class M common stock, or cash are deemed exchanged. 

Accordingly, as a result of these assumptions, the required lump-sum payment may be significantly in advance of, and could materially exceed, the realized future tax benefits 
to which the payment relates. Consequently, our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement could have a material and adverse impact on Bitcoin Depot’s liquidity and 
financial condition and could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations or other changes of control. 
For example, in connection with the preparation of the proxy statement filed in connection with the Business Combination, we previously estimated that, if we had experienced a 
change of control or the Tax Receivable Agreement had otherwise been terminated immediately after the closing of the Merger, the estimated lump-sum payment would have 
been approximately $90.2 million. This estimated lump-sum payment was based on certain assumptions and was calculated using a discount rate equal to the Secured Overnight 
Financing Rate plus 100 basis points, applied against an undiscounted liability of approximately $134.6 million (based on the 21% U.S. federal corporate income tax rate and an 
estimated state and local income tax rate). These amounts are estimates and were prepared for informational purposes only. The actual amount of such lump-sum payment could 
vary significantly. There can be no assurance that we will be able to finance such lump-sum payment. In addition, to the extent that we are unable to make such lump-sum 
payment for any reason, the unpaid amounts will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid. 

In the event that our payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement are accelerated upon certain changes of control, the consideration payable to holders of 
Class A common stock could be substantially reduced. 

If we experience a change of control (as defined under the Tax Receivable Agreement), our obligation to make the lump-sum payment required under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement could result in holders of Class A common stock receiving substantially less consideration in connection with a change of control transaction than they would 
receive in the absence of such obligation. Further, BT Assets is not required to have a continued equity interest in us or BT HoldCo in order to receive payments under the Tax 
Receivable Agreement and therefore may not have an equity interest in us at the time of any such change of control. Accordingly, the interests of BT Assets may conflict with 
those of the holders of Class A common stock. 

If BT HoldCo were to become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we and BT HoldCo might be subject to 
potentially significant tax inefficiencies, and we would not be able to recover payments previously made by us under the Tax Receivable Agreement even if the 
corresponding Tax Attributes were subsequently determined to have been unavailable due to such status. 

We and BT HoldCo intend to operate such that BT HoldCo does not become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A 
“publicly traded partnership” is a partnership the interests of which are traded on an established securities market or are readily tradable on a secondary market or the substantial 
equivalent thereof. Under certain circumstances, exchanges of BT HoldCo Common Units pursuant to the BT HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company 
Agreement or other transfers of BT HoldCo Common Units could cause BT HoldCo to be treated as a publicly traded partnership. Applicable U.S. Treasury regulations provide 
for certain safe harbors from treatment as a publicly traded partnership, and we intend to operate such that exchanges or other transfers of BT HoldCo Common Units qualify for 
one or more such safe harbors. 

If BT HoldCo were to become a publicly traded partnership, significant tax inefficiencies might result for us and for BT HoldCo, including as a result of our inability to file a 
consolidated U.S. federal income tax return with BT HoldCo. In addition, we would no longer receive the benefit of certain increases in tax basis received as a result of our 
acquisition of BT HoldCo Common Units from BT Assets, and we would not be able to recover any payments previously made by us under the Tax Receivable Agreement, 
even if the corresponding Tax Attributes were subsequently determined to have been unavailable due to BT HoldCo’s status as a publicly traded partnership. 

In certain circumstances, BT HoldCo will be required to make tax distributions to the BT HoldCo unitholders (including us) and the tax distributions that BT HoldCo will 
be required to make may be substantial. To the extent we receive tax distributions in excess of our tax liabilities and obligations to make payments under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement and do not distribute such cash balances as dividends on shares of Class A common stock, BT Assets could benefit from such accumulated cash balances if it 
exchanges its BT HoldCo Common Units pursuant to the BT HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement. 

BT HoldCo is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax. Instead, taxable income will 
generally be allocated to the BT HoldCo unitholders (including us). The BT HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement requires tax distributions be 
made by BT HoldCo to the BT HoldCo unitholders (including us), on a pro rata basis, to the extent funds of BT HoldCo are legally available for distribution and such 
distribution would not be prohibited under any credit facility or any other agreement to which BT HoldCo or any of its subsidiaries is 
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a party, in each case, as determined by us in our reasonable discretion. Tax distributions will be made on a quarterly basis to each unitholder based on such unitholder’s 
allocable share of the taxable income of BT HoldCo and an assumed tax rate (and, in our case, taking into account our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement). The 
assumed tax rate will be the highest combined federal, state, and local tax rate that may potentially apply to a corporate or individual taxpayer (whichever is higher), taking into 
account certain assumptions and without regard to the actual final tax liability of any unitholder. 

As a result of (i) potential differences in the amount of net taxable income allocable to us and to BT Assets, (ii) the lower maximum tax rate applicable to corporations than 
individuals, and (iii) the use of an assumed tax rate in calculating BT HoldCo’s tax distribution obligations, we may receive distributions significantly in excess of our actual tax 
liabilities and our obligations to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. We will have no obligation to distribute such cash balances to our stockholders. If we do 
not distribute such cash balances as dividends on shares of Class A common stock and instead, for example, hold such cash balances or lend them to BT HoldCo, BT Assets 
would benefit from any value attributable to such accumulated cash balances as a result of its right to acquire shares of Class A common stock, Class M common stock or, at our 
election, an amount of cash equal to the fair market value thereof, in exchange for its BT HoldCo Common Units. 

Our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders will be subject to the discretion of our board of directors and may be limited by our holding company structure and 
applicable provisions of Delaware law. 

As a holding company, we are dependent upon the ability of BT OpCo to generate earnings and cash flows and distribute them to us (through BT HoldCo) so that we may pay 
our obligations and expenses (including our taxes and payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement) and pay to our stockholders any dividends that our board of directors 
may declare, in its sole discretion, in the future. See “—We are not obligated to, and do not intend to pay dividends on any class of our common stock for the foreseeable future. 
Our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders will be subject to the discretion of our board of directors and may be limited by our holding company structure, our financing 
arrangements and applicable provisions of Delaware law.” We expect to cause BT HoldCo to make distributions to its members. However, the ability of BT HoldCo to make 
such distributions to holders of its BT HoldCo Common Units is subject to its operating results, cash requirements and financial condition, restrictive covenants in our debt 
instruments, preferential distributions to the holders of the BT HoldCo Preferred Units, and applicable Delaware law (which may limit the amount of funds available for 
distribution to its members). Our ability to declare and pay dividends to our stockholders is likewise subject to Delaware law (which may limit the amount of funds available for 
dividends). If, as a consequence of these various limitations and restrictions, we are unable to generate sufficient distributions from our business, we may not be able to make, 
or may be required to reduce or eliminate, the payment of future dividends, if any, on Class A common stock or Class M common stock. 

Risks Related to our Indebtedness 

We are party to debt agreements (and we may in the future become party to new debt agreements) that could restrict our operations and impair our financial condition. 
The agreements governing our indebtedness will impose restrictions on us that limit the discretion of management in operating our business and that, in turn, could impair 
our ability to meet our obligations under our debt. 

The agreements governing our Term Loan include restrictive covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to: 

•incur additional debt; 

•pay dividends and make distributions; 

•make certain investments; 

•repurchase equity interests and prepay certain indebtedness; 

•create liens; 

•enter into transactions with affiliates; 

•modify the nature of our business; 

•transfer and sell assets, including material intellectual property; 

•enter into agreements prohibiting our ability to grant liens in favor of our senior secured creditors; 

•amend or modify the terms of any junior financing arrangements; 

•amend our organizational documents; and 

•merge, dissolve, liquidate or consolidate. 
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In addition, our Term Loan includes other restrictions. Our failure to comply with the terms and covenants of our indebtedness could lead to a default under the terms of the 
governing documents, which would entitle the lenders to accelerate the indebtedness and declare all amounts owed due and payable. 

As of December 31, 2024, our total indebtedness, excluding unamortized debt discounts and debt issuance costs of $0.8 million, was $56.2 million, including the accrual for the 
current note payable exit fee. In connection with the consummation of the Merger, we amended and restated our existing credit agreement, which provided BT OpCo with a 
$20.8 million term loan. We may also incur significant additional indebtedness in the future. See Note 25 - Subsequent Events in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities 

The market price of our Class A common stock may be volatile, and could decline significantly and rapidly. Market volatility may affect the value of an investment in our 
Class A common stock and could subject us to litigation. 

The market price of our Class A common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to the risk factors described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and others 
beyond our control, including: 

•the number of shares of Class A common stock publicly owned and available for trading; 

•overall performance of the equity markets or publicly-listed financial services, cryptocurrency and technology companies; 

•our actual or anticipated operating performance and the operating performance of our competitors; 

•changes in the projected operational and financial results we provide to the public or our failure to meet those projections; 

•failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who follow our company or our failure to 
meet the estimates or the expectations of investors; 

•any major change in our board of directors, management or key personnel; 

•issuance of shares of Class A common stock; 

•the highly volatile nature of the digital financial system and the prices of cryptocurrencies; 

•rumors and market speculation involving the digital financial system or us or other companies in our industry; 

•announcements by us or our competitors of significant innovations, new products, services, features, integrations or capabilities, acquisitions, strategic investments, 
partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitments; and 

•other events or factors, including those resulting from COVID-19, political instability, and acts of war, or terrorism, or responses to these events, including the 
current conflict in Ukraine. 

Furthermore, the stock market has recently experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity securities of 
many companies and financial services, cryptocurrency and technology companies in particular. These fluctuations often have been unrelated or disproportionate to the 
operating performance of those companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations, as well as general macroeconomic, political and market conditions such as recessions, 
interest rate changes or international currency fluctuations, may negatively impact the market price of our Class A common stock. In the past, companies that have experienced 
volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert our 
management’s attention from other business concerns, which could harm our business. 

An active, liquid trading market for our Class A common stock may not develop or be sustained, which may adversely affect the value of our Class A common stock. 

Upon the closing of the Merger, our Class A common stock commenced trading on Nasdaq under the symbol “BTM.” An active trading market for our shares may not develop 
or be sustained, which in turn would likely have a material adverse effect on the value of our Class A common stock. The market price of our Class A common stock may 
decline below the initial public offering price, and you may not be able to sell your shares of our Class A common stock at or above the price you paid, or at all. An inactive 
market may also impair our ability to raise capital to continue to fund operations by selling shares and may impair our ability to acquire other companies or technologies by 
using our shares as consideration. 
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The class structure of our Common Stock has the effect of concentrating voting control within Brandon Mintz and his affiliates (including BT Assets), which limits or 
precludes your ability to influence corporate matters. 

Shares of Class M common stock and Class V common stock each have ten votes per share, and shares of Class A common stock and Class O common stock each have one 
vote per share. Because of the ten-to-one voting ratio between the Class M common stock and the Class V common stock, on the one hand, and all other classes of our voting 
stock, on the other hand, the holder(s) of Class V common stock collectively holds more than a majority of the combined voting power of our common stock, and therefore such 
holders are able to control all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval. In the event Brandon Mintz and his affiliates (including, without limitation, BT Assets) cease 
to beneficially own in the aggregate (directly or indirectly) a number of shares of Class M common stock and Class V common stock that, in the aggregate, is at least 20% of 
the voting power represented by the shares of Class V common stock held by them, in the aggregate, as of immediately after the closing, (i) each of the then-outstanding shares 
of Class M common stock will automatically convert, on a one-for-one basis, into one fully paid and non-assessable share of Class A common stock and (ii) each of the then-
outstanding shares of Class V common stock will automatically convert, on a one-for-one basis, into one fully paid and non-assessable share of Class O common stock, in each 
case without any further action required on the part of Bitcoin Depot or any other person. 

Any purported transfer or assignment of shares of Class O common stock or Class V common stock which is not permitted by or otherwise provided for under the Amended 
and Restated Charter will be null and void and not recognized or given effect. Transfers by holders of shares of Class M common stock will generally result in those shares 
converting to Class A common stock, subject to limited exceptions. Such conversions of shares of Class M common stock to shares of Class A common stock upon transfer will 
have the effect, over time, of increasing the relative voting power of those other holders of shares of Class M common stock (if any) who retain their shares in the long-term. 
However, because of the nature of the relative voting power of classes of our common stock, the holders of Class V common stock and Class M common stock, notwithstanding 
conversions of shares thereof conversions, may continue to control a majority of the combined voting power of our outstanding capital stock. 

We are not obligated to, and do not intend to pay dividends on any class of our common stock for the foreseeable future. Our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders 
will be subject to the discretion of our board of directors and may be limited by our holding company structure, our financing arrangements and applicable provisions of 
Delaware law. 

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on any class of common stock, are not obligated to pay, and do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable 
future. We anticipate that for the foreseeable future we will retain all of our future earnings for use in the development of our business and for general corporate purposes. Any 
determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors. Our payment of any dividends will be subject to contractual and legal restrictions 
and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant. 

Our Amended and Restated Charter contains an exclusive forum provision for certain claims, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial 
forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees. 

Our Amended and Restated Charter provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, and unless we provide consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the 
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, in the event that the Chancery Court does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware or other 
state courts of the State of Delaware) will be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of 
breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer, employee or stockholder to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant 
to any provision of the DGCL, our Amended and Restated Charter or our Amended and Restated Bylaws or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery 
of the State of Delaware or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine, provided that this provision, including for any “derivative action,” will not 
apply to suits to enforce a duty or liability created by the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. 

Moreover, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all claims brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the 
Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder and the Amended and Restated Charter provides that the federal district courts of the United States of America are, to the 
fullest extent permitted by law, the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, unless we consent in writing to the 
selection of an alternative forum. Our decision to adopt an exclusive forum provision followed a decision by the Supreme Court of the State of Delaware holding that such 
provisions are facially valid under Delaware law. While there can be no assurance that federal or state courts will follow the holding of the Delaware Supreme Court or 
determine that the exclusive forum provision should be enforced in a particular case, application of the exclusive forum provision means that suits brought by our stockholders 
to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act must be brought in federal court and cannot be brought in state court. Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates 
exclusive federal jurisdiction over all claims brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange 
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Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. The exclusive forum provision applies to suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act to the fullest 
extent permitted by law. Accordingly, actions by our stockholders to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder must be 
brought in federal court. Our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the regulations promulgated thereunder. 

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in any of our securities will be deemed to have notice of and consented to our exclusive forum 
provisions. These provisions may limit our stockholders’ ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum they find favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other 
employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision 
contained in the Amended and Restated Charter to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other 
jurisdictions, which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. 

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our Amended and Restated Charter, our Amended and Restated Bylaws and provisions of Delaware law could impair a takeover 
attempt. 

Our Amended and Restated Charter, Amended and Restated Bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying or 
preventing an acquisition deemed undesirable by our board of directors and therefore depress the trading price of shares of Class A common stock. Among other things, the 
class structure of our common stock provides holders of Class M common stock and Class V common stock with the ability to significantly influence the outcome of matters 
requiring stockholder approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock. Further, our Amended and Restated Charter 
and Amended and Restated Bylaws include provisions (i) providing our directors with the exclusive ability (subject to the rights of holders of any series of preferred stock) to 
fill a vacancy on the board of directors; (ii) authorizing our board of directors to designate the terms of and issue new series of preferred stock without stockholder approval, 
which could be used, among other things, to institute a rights plan that would have the effect of significantly diluting the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer, likely 
preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by our board of directors; (iii) after we no longer qualify as a “controlled company” under applicable Nasdaq listing rules, 
limiting stockholders’ ability (a) to call special meetings of stockholders, (b) to require special meetings of stockholders to be called and (c) to take action by written consent; 
(iv) requiring advance notice of stockholder proposals for business to be conducted at meetings of our stockholders and for nominations of candidates for election to our board 
of directors; and (v) not permitting cumulative voting rights. These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in 
our management. 

As a Delaware corporation, we would normally be subject to certain provisions of Delaware law, including Section 203 of the DGCL, which prevents certain stockholders 
holding more than 15% of our outstanding capital stock from engaging in certain business combinations without the approval of our board of directors or the holders of at least 
two-thirds of our outstanding voting stock not held by such stockholder. We expressly elect not to be subject to Section 203 of the DGCL in our Amended and Restated Charter. 

Any provision of our Amended and Restated Charter, Amended and Restated Bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control could 
limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our capital stock and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for 
shares of Class A common stock. 

A significant portion of our total outstanding shares are restricted from immediate resale but may be sold into the market in the near future. This, as well as other future 
sales of Class A common stock in the public market, or the perception that any such sales may occur, could cause the market price of Class A common stock to drop 
significantly, even if our business is doing well, and any additional capital raised by us through the sale of equity or convertible securities may dilute your ownership in us. 

A significant portion of our total outstanding shares are restricted from immediate resale but may be sold into the market in the near future. Subject to certain limitations and 
exceptions, BT Unitholders may exchange their BT Units, together with shares of Class V common stock or Class O common stock, for shares of Class M common stock or 
Class A common stock, respectively (on a one-for-one basis, subject to conversion rate adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassification and other similar 
transactions) and then transfer those shares of Class M common stock (which, in that, case automatically convert into shares of Class A common stock) or sell those shares of 
Class A common stock. This could cause the market price of the Class A common stock to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well. Sales of a substantial number 
of shares of Class A common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend 
to sell shares, could reduce the market price of the Class A common stock. We may file additional registration statements to provide for the resale from time to time of restricted 
shares issued in connection with closing of the Merger. As restrictions on resale end and the registration 
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statements are available for use, the market price of the Class A common stock could decline if the holders of currently restricted shares sell them or are perceived by the market 
as intending to sell them. 

Warrants will become exercisable for Class A common stock, which would increase the number of shares eligible for future resale in the public market and result in further 
dilution to our stockholders. 

Outstanding warrants to purchase an aggregate of 43,848,750 shares of Class A common stock are exercisable in accordance with the terms of the Warrant Agreement 
governing those securities. These Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants are exercisable for $11.50 per share at any time. To the extent such Warrants are exercised, 
additional shares of Class A common stock will be issued, which will result in further dilution to the holders of shares of Class A common stock and increase the number of 
shares of Class A common stock eligible for resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares in the public market or the fact that such Warrants may be 
exercised could adversely affect the market price of shares of Class A common stock. 

The Private Placement Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants except as otherwise set forth herein that: (i) the Company may not elect to redeem the Private Placement 
Warrants; (ii) the Private Placement Warrants (including the shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the Private Placement Warrants) may not, subject to 
certain limited exceptions, be transferred, assigned or sold by Sponsor; (iii) they may be exercised by the Sponsor or its permitted transferees on a cashless basis; and (iv) the 
Private Placement Warrants (including the shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the Private Placement Warrants) are entitled to registration rights. 

The Warrants may not be “in the money” or expire worthless, and we may redeem unexpired Public Warrants prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to 
you, thereby making your Public Warrants worthless. 

The exercise price for each Warrant is $11.50 per share, subject to adjustment, which is greater than the market price of our Class A common stock, which was $1.38 per share 
based on the closing price on March 20, 2025. There can be no assurance that the Warrants will be “in the money” prior to their expiration and, as such, the Warrants may 
expire worthless. 

We also have the ability to redeem outstanding Public Warrants at any time after they become exercisable and prior to their expiration, at a price of $0.01 per Public Warrant, 
provided that the last reported sale price of Class A common stock for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date on 
which we send the notice of redemption to the Public Warrant holders equals or exceeds $18.00 per share and provided certain other conditions are met. If and when the Public 
Warrants become redeemable, we may exercise its redemption right even if we are unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state 
securities laws. Redemption of the outstanding Public Warrants could force you (i) to exercise your Public Warrants and pay the exercise price therefor at a time when it may be 
disadvantageous for you to do so; (ii) to sell your Public Warrants at the then-current market price when you might otherwise wish to hold your Public Warrants; or (iii) to 
accept the nominal redemption price which, at the time the outstanding Public Warrants are called for redemption, is likely to be substantially less than the market value of your 
Public Warrants. In addition, such redemption may occur at a time when the Public Warrants are “out of the money,” in which case you would lose any potential embedded 
value from a subsequent increase in the value of our Class A common stock had your Public Warrants remained outstanding. 

We may issue preferred stock whose terms could adversely affect the voting power or value of the Class A common stock. 

The Amended and Restated Charter authorizes us to issue, without the approval of our stockholders, one or more classes or series of preferred stock having such designations, 
preferences, limitations and relative rights, including preferences over our common stock respecting dividends and distributions, as our board of directors may determine. On 
June 30, 2023, in connection with the closing of the Merger, we issued 4,300,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock in a private placement to entities affiliated with Shaolin in 
connection with the previously announced PIPE Financing. As of December 31, 2024, 2,566,116 shares of Series A Preferred Stock have been converted into Class A common 
stock. Although the Series A Preferred Stock do not carry voting rights (other than in relation to amendments to the certificate of designation itself or as required by the DGCL), 
the terms of one or more additional classes or series of preferred stock could adversely impact the voting power or value of our Class A common stock. For example, we might 
grant holders of preferred stock the right to elect some number of our directors in all events or on the happening of specified events or the right to veto specified transactions. 
Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or liquidation preferences we might assign to holders of preferred stock could affect the residual value of the Class A common 
stock. 

Each share of Series A Preferred Stock (i) ranks senior to our common stock with respect to dividends, distributions, redemptions, and payments upon liquidation or 
dissolution, (ii) is entitled to participate in any distributions or dividends made to holders of Class A common stock, (iii) does not have voting rights (other than in relation to 
amendments to the certificate of designation itself or as 
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required by the DGCL), (iv) is initially convertible at any time at the election of the holder into one share of Class A common stock, subject to accrued and unpaid dividends, if 
any, and (v) be entitled to customary anti-dilution protections. 

General Risk Factors 

Adverse economic conditions may adversely affect our business. 

Our performance is subject to general economic conditions, and their impact on the digital asset markets and our users. The U.S. and other key international economies have 
experienced cyclical downturns from time to time in which economic activity declined resulting in lower consumption rates, restricted credit, reduced profitability, weaknesses 
in financial markets, bankruptcies, and overall uncertainty with respect to the economy. The impact of general economic conditions on the digital financial system is highly 
uncertain and dependent on a variety of factors, including market adoption of cryptocurrencies, global trends in the digital financial system, central bank monetary policies, and 
other events beyond our control. Geopolitical developments, such as military conflicts and wars, trade wars and foreign exchange limitations can also increase the severity and 
levels of unpredictability globally and increase the volatility of global financial and digital asset markets. To the extent that conditions in the general economic and 
cryptocurrency markets materially deteriorate, our ability to attract and retain users may suffer.

We may be adversely affected by natural disasters, pandemics, such as COVID-19, and other catastrophic events, and by man-made problems such as geopolitical conflicts 
and terrorism, that could disrupt our business operations, and our business continuity and disaster recovery plans may not adequately protect us from a serious disaster. 

Natural disasters or other catastrophic events may also cause damage or disruption to our operations, international commerce, and the global economy, and could have an 
adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition. Our business operations are subject to interruption by natural disasters, fire, power shortages, and other 
events beyond our control. In addition, our non-U.S. operations expose us to risks associated with public health crises, such as pandemics and epidemics, which could harm our 
business and cause our operating results to suffer. For example, the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the precautionary measures that we have adopted have 
resulted, and could continue to result, in difficulties or changes to our user support, or create operational or other challenges, any of which could adversely impact our business 
and operating results. Further, acts of terrorism, labor activism or unrest, and other geopolitical conflicts or unrest, including the ongoing conflicts in Ukraine and Israel, could 
cause disruptions in our business or the businesses of our partners or the economy as a whole. In the event of a natural disaster, including a major earthquake, blizzard, or 
hurricane, or a catastrophic event such as a fire, power loss, or telecommunications failure, we may be unable to continue our operations and may endure system interruptions, 
reputational harm, delays in development of our products and services, lengthy interruptions in service, breaches of data security, and loss of critical data, all of which could 
have an adverse effect on our future operating results. We do not maintain insurance sufficient to compensate us for the potentially significant losses that could result from 
disruptions to our services. Additionally, all the aforementioned risks may be further increased if we do not implement a disaster recovery plan or our disaster recovery plans 
prove to be inadequate. To the extent natural disasters or other catastrophic events concurrently impact data centers we rely on in connection with processing transactions, users 
will experience significant delays in withdrawing funds, or in the extreme we may suffer loss of user funds. 

Global climate change may have an increasingly adverse impact on our business continuity and our ability to keep our employees safe and provide for our users and retail 
partners. We consider potential risks related to weather as part of our operations strategy and have business continuity and disaster recovery plans in place. However, they may 
not adequately protect us from serious disasters and adverse impacts. In addition, climate change events could have an impact on critical infrastructure in the U.S. and 
internationally, which has the potential to disrupt our business, our third-party suppliers, and the business of retail partners. They may also cause us to experience higher losses, 
attrition, and additional costs to maintain or resume operations. 

The requirements of being a public company, including maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, may strain our resources, divert management’s attention, and affect our ability to attract and retain executive management and qualified board 
members. 

As a public company we have and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses. Additionally, we are subject to reporting requirements of the 
Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the rules subsequently implemented by the SEC, the rules and regulations of the listing standards of Nasdaq, and other applicable 
securities rules and regulations. Stockholder activism, the current political and social environment and the current high level of government intervention and regulatory reform 
may lead to substantial new regulations and disclosure obligations, which has and will likely continue to result in additional compliance costs and could impact the manner in 
which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently anticipate. Compliance with these rules and regulations may strain our financial and management systems, internal 
controls, and employees. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. 
Moreover, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures, and internal control, over financial reporting. In 
order to maintain and, if required, improve our disclosure controls and procedures, and internal control, 
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over financial reporting to meet this standard, significant resources and management oversight may be required. If we encounter material weaknesses or deficiencies in our 
internal control over financial reporting, we may not detect errors on a timely basis and our consolidated financial statements may be materially misstated. Effective internal 
control is necessary for us to produce reliable financial reports and is important to prevent fraud. 

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm is not required to attest to the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting until after the 
Company is no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act. At such time, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm may issue a 
report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which the internal control over financial reporting is documented, designed or operating. Any failure to 
implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting also could adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent 
registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting that will eventually be required to be included in 
Bitcoin Depot’s periodic reports that are filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause 
investors to lose confidence in Bitcoin Depot’s reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of the Class A common 
stock. In addition, we will not be able to continue to be listed on Nasdaq, which could have an adverse effect on the liquidity of your investment. 

For as long as we are an emerging growth company, we will not be required to comply with certain reporting requirements, including those relating to accounting 
standards and disclosure about our executive compensation, that apply to other public companies. 

We are classified as an “emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act. For as long as we are an emerging growth company, which may be up to five full fiscal years, unlike 
other public companies, we will not be required to, among other things: (i) provide an auditor’s attestation report on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our 
system of internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act; (ii) comply with any new requirements adopted by the PCAOB 
requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report in which the auditor would be required to provide additional information about the audit and the 
financial statements of the issuer; (iii) provide certain disclosures regarding executive compensation required of larger public companies; or (iv) hold nonbinding advisory votes 
on executive compensation. We will remain an emerging growth company for up to five years (until January 1, 2027), although we will lose that status sooner if we have more 
than $1.235 billion of revenues in a fiscal year, have $700.0 million or more in market value of Class A common stock held by non-affiliates, or issue more than $1.0 billion of 
non-convertible debt over a three-year period. 

To the extent that we rely on any of the exemptions available to emerging growth companies, you will receive less information about our executive compensation and internal 
control over financial reporting than issuers that are not emerging growth companies. Additionally, we intend to take advantage of the extended transition periods for the 
adoption of new or revised financial accounting standards under the JOBS Act until we are no longer an emerging growth company. Our election to use the transition periods 
permitted by this election may make it difficult to compare our financial statements to those of non-emerging growth companies and other emerging growth companies that 
have opted out of the extended transition periods permitted under the JOBS Act and who will comply with new or revised financial accounting standards. 

If some investors find Class A common stock to be less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for Class A common stock and our stock price may be 
more volatile. 

We might require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital might not be available. 

We have funded our operations since inception primarily through debt, financing lease arrangements, and revenue generated by our operations. While we believe that our 
existing cash and cash equivalents and availability under our debt financing agreements are sufficient to meet our working capital needs and planned capital expenditures, and to 
service our debt, there is no guarantee that this will continue to be true in the future. We cannot be certain when or if our operations will generate sufficient cash to fully fund 
our ongoing operations or the growth of our business. We intend to continue to make investments in our business to respond to business opportunities and challenges, including 
developing new products and services, enhancing our operating infrastructure, expanding our non-U.S. operations, and acquiring complementary businesses and technologies, 
all of which may require us to secure additional funds. In the future, we may also require additional capital due to refinancing needs, regulatory surety bond requirements, or 
unforeseen circumstances and may decide to engage in equity, equity-linked or debt financings, or enter into additional debt financing agreements for any of the foregoing 
reasons. We may not be able to secure any such additional financing on terms favorable to us, in a timely manner or at all. 

Changes by any rating agency to our outlook or credit rating could negatively affect the value of any debt securities of ours as well as our equity securities, and increase our 
borrowing costs. If our credit ratings are downgraded or other negative action is taken, our 
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ability to obtain additional financing in the future on favorable terms or at all could be adversely affected. In the event of a downgrade of our credit rating or if other negative 
action is taken, our ability to obtain additional financing may be adversely affected and any future debt offerings or credit arrangements we propose to enter into may be on less 
favorable terms or terms that may not be acceptable to us. In addition, even if debt financing is available, the cost of additional financing may be significantly higher than our 
current debt. If we incur additional debt, the debt holders would have rights senior to holders of Class A common stock to make claims on our assets, and the terms of any debt 
could restrict our operations, including our ability to pay dividends on Class A common stock. Furthermore, we have authorized the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock. 
If we issue additional equity securities or other securities convertible into equity, including convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could experience dilution in 
their percentage ownership of our company, and any such securities could have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our currently authorized and issued Class A 
common stock. 

The trading prices for Class A common stock may be highly volatile, which may reduce our ability to access capital on favorable terms or at all. In addition, a slowdown or 
other sustained adverse downturn in the general economic or digital asset markets could adversely affect our business and the value of the Class A common stock. Because our 
decision to raise capital in the future will depend on numerous considerations, including factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing, or nature 
of any future issuances of securities. As a result, our stockholders bear the risk of future issuances of debt or equity securities reducing the value of the Class A common stock 
and diluting their interests. Our inability to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it, could significantly limit our ability to continue 
supporting our business growth and responding to business challenges. 

Key business metrics and other estimates are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and our business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely 
affected by real or perceived inaccuracies in those metrics. 

We regularly review key business metrics, including installed kiosks, returning user transaction count, median transaction size and BDCheckout locations, and other measures to 
evaluate growth trends, measure our performance, and make strategic decisions. These key metrics are calculated using internal company data based on the activity we measure 
(and may be compiled from multiple systems) and have not been validated by an independent third-party. While these numbers are based on what we believe at the time to be 
reasonable estimates for the applicable period of measurement, there are inherent challenges in such measurements. If we fail to maintain an effective analytics platform, our 
key metrics calculations may be inaccurate, and we may not be able to identify those inaccuracies. We regularly review our processes for calculating these metrics, and from 
time to time we make adjustments to improve their accuracy. Additionally, certain of our key business metrics are measured at a point in time and as our products and internal 
processes for calculating these metrics evolve over time, a previously reported number could fluctuate. We generally will not update previously disclosed key business metrics 
for any such inaccuracies or adjustments that are immaterial. 
 
 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
 
None.
 
 
Item 1C. Cybersecurity
 
Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy
 
Identifying, assessing, and managing material risks associated with “cybersecurity threats,” as such term is defined in Item 106(a) of Regulation S-K, is important to Bitcoin 
Depot. Among the risks we strive to address and mitigate are the disruption of our business operations and the loss of personal and confidential data due to cybersecurity 
incidents, fraud, or extortion. 
 
We integrate the identification, assessment, and management of cybersecurity risks into our overall risk management systems and processes. We detect and address such 
risks from cybersecurity threats in several ways, including through third-party assessments, internal governance, risk and compliance, participation in industry groups to 
obtain intel, IT audits, and IT security reviews. To protect against, detect, and respond to cybersecurity incidents, we, among other things, leverage intrusion prevention and 
detection systems, perform penetration testing, conduct employee training, monitor emerging laws and regulations related to data protection and information security, and 
implement appropriate changes to comply with the identified emerging laws and regulations. To effectuate these processes, we regularly engage third-party auditors and 
advisors to assess our cybersecurity programs and ensure compliance with applicable guidelines, standards, and industry best practices.
 
Senior management, including our Bitcoin Depot’s Chief Technology Officer, Chief Information Security Officer, Cybersecurity Operations Director, Chief Financial Officer 
and General Counsel are responsible for implementing these security measures, as well 
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as being involved in all aspects of cybersecurity incident response and data breach management processes. Bitcoin Depot’s incident management plan provides a roadmap for 
responding to and categorizing incidents. Bitcoin Depot’s IT and cybersecurity teams collaborate with other company stakeholders to develop strategies for mitigating and 
responding to identified cybersecurity events.  
 
Our cybersecurity threat and risk management processes also involve assessing third-party risks. We maintain a Vendor Management Policy pursuant to which we assign a 
risk rating and assess third-party risks by conducting cybersecurity due diligence on our vendors, suppliers, and other entities with whom we do business. Due diligence 
includes, as appropriate, either requiring proof of security standard compliance or satisfactory responses to our Vendor Assessment Security Questionnaire. We also evaluate 
the cyber practices of, and cybersecurity risks associated with, the engagement of third-party service providers, including when we negotiate cybersecurity and data privacy 
contract terms, such as those relating to information security and audit rights. 
 
Although we constantly evaluate cyber risks, we are unaware of any prior cybersecurity incidents that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, 
including our business strategy, results of operations, or financial conditions.
 
Cybersecurity Governance
 
Our Board of Directors and management prioritize cybersecurity. Although our full Board of Directors is generally responsible for cybersecurity risk management, it has 
assigned principal oversight responsibility of risks from cybersecurity threats to our Audit Committee. As described above, management is also responsible for assessing 
and managing risks from cybersecurity threats, and designated management personnel, including our Chief Technology Officer, Chief Information Security Officer, 
Cybersecurity Operations Director, Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel and Corporate Secretary meet quarterly as a Risk Committee to determine cybersecurity 
matters to be shared with the Audit Committee. The Risk Committee provides the Audit Committee updates on such matters on at least a quarterly basis. The Audit 
Committee reports cybersecurity risks to the full Board during quarterly meetings.
 
The members of senior management involved in managing our material risks from cybersecurity threats, including our Chief Technology Officer, Chief Information 
Security Officer, Cybersecurity Operations Director, Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel and Corporate Secretary are experienced in data security matters and 
financial reporting matters. Our Chief Information Security Officer has more than 20 years of experience in information technology and has served in multiple technology 
executive roles, including security-compliance-related roles and holds a degree in Computer Information Systems from Harding University. Our Chief Technology Officer 
holds a computer science degree and Master of Engineering in Computer Science from Massachusetts Institute of Technology and has held engineering roles in multiple 
financial technology companies. Our Cybersecurity Operations Director holds a Master of Science degree in computer engineering as well as a Master of Science degree in 
information assurance, both from Iowa State University. He has led the security operations centers for large, global data management software company, as well as a large 
payment processing company. Additionally, he has led audits and penetration tests as the senior manager of a consulting company. Prior to entering into the private sector, 
he served as a police officer where he was a detective, specializing in computer crimes and forensics. Our Chief Financial Officer has over 10 years of experience in 
financial statement reporting and auditing. Our General Counsel has significant experience advising on cybersecurity matters and data protection matters and building out 
cybersecurity and data privacy compliance program across retail-facing business lines in the financial services industry. 
 
 
Item 2. Properties
 
Our principal executive offices and headquarters are located in leased premises at 3343 Peachtree Road NE, Suite 750, Atlanta, Georgia, 30326, consisting of approximately 
5,700 square feet. We also lease office space in Canada, located at 267 Richmond Rd, 3rd Fl., Ottawa, Ontario K1Z 6X3, consisting of approximately 1,000 square feet. We 
believe that these facilities are suitable to meet our needs.
 
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On January 13, 2023, Canaccord Genuity Corp. (“Canaccord”) commenced proceedings against the Company by filing a claim with the Superior Court of Justice in Toronto, 
Ontario which named Lux Vending, LLC and Bitcoin Depot LLC as the defendants. Canaccord is a financial services firm in Canada that the Company previously had hired to 
perform advisory services related to a potential initial public offering in Canada or sales transaction. The claim asserts that Lux Vending, LLC breached the contract by 
terminating the contract to avoid paying fees for their services and that Canaccord is entitled to $23.0 million in damages equivalent to the fees alleged to be payable for breach 
of contract that would have been owed upon the closing of a transaction to acquire control, the sale of substantially all the Company’s assets, or a merger transaction pursuant to 
the previously terminated engagement letter for advisory services. Canaccord proposes that the amount of fees would be calculated on the total cash transaction value of the 
business combination of $880.0 million. The claim also seeks an award for legal and other costs relating to the proceeding.
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In 2024 Canaccord added Bitcoin Depot Operating LLC as a defendant to account for the name change following the closing of the merger. Canaccord now estimates the total 
transaction value could be up to $655 million.

Bitcoin Depot does not believe the allegations made against it are valid and intends to vigorously defend against them. The range of potential loss related to the identified claim 
is between $0 and $23.0 million, the amount of damages that Canaccord is seeking in the lawsuit. The additional costs mentioned in the claim are not able to be estimated at this 
time. The discovery phase of the litigation involving documentary productions and oral examinations is largely completed. A mediation of the dispute has been rescheduled to 
second quarter of 2025. 

In March 2025, two of our subsidiaries were served with a civil complaint from the Attorney General of the State of Iowa (the “Iowa AG”) in connection with a suit filed against 
us by the Iowa AG, on behalf of the state of Iowa, in the Iowa District Court for Polk County.  The complaint alleges that our subsidiaries violated certain provisions of the Iowa 
Consumer Fraud Act as a result of Bitcoin withdrawals made from our ATMs being used by our customers to pay make payments under a variety of fraudulent schemes.   The 
complaint further alleges that Bitcoin Depot should have known that the purpose of these withdrawals was to make payment under such schemes and that it should have taken 
additional steps to protect its customers.  The complaint is seeking a preliminary and permanent injunction against the subsidiaries from either operating in Iowa or further 
violating the Iowa Consumer Fraud Act as well as monetary penalties.   The Company strongly rejects any allegations that its subsidiaries or their BTMs violated the Iowa 
Consumer Fraud Act and intends to vigorously defend itself against the allegations.  While we believe that the Iowa AG is misinterpreting the related act and we have other 
strong defenses, we cannot assure you of the ultimate outcome of the claim.   Although the Company does not believe that this matter will have a material adverse effect on its 
business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows, the Company can provide no assurance as to the scope and outcome of this matter and no assurance as to whether 
there will be a material adverse effect to its business or its Consolidated Financial Statements.

We are also party to various other legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of our business. We believe these matters will not have a material adverse effect on our 
consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity. 
 
 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
 
Not applicable.
 

PART II
 

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 
Market Information for Common Stock

Our Class A common stock currently trades on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “BTM”. 

Our Warrants currently trade on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “BTMWW”. 

No other classes of our equity securities are listed or traded on any stock exchange.

 
Holders of Record

As of, March 20, 2025, there were 23 registered holders of record of our Class A common stock and no registered holders of record of our Class B common stock. As of the 
filing date, there were 18 registered holders of record of our listed Warrants. Since many of our shares of Class A common stock and Warrants are held by brokers and other 
institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these record holders.

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any cash dividends on the Class A common stock to date (or any other outstanding class of common stock). As a holding company, our ability to pay 
dividends depends on our receipt of cash dividends from our operating subsidiaries. We may retain future earnings, if any, in order to pursue our business plan, cover operating 
costs and otherwise remain competitive. Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of the board of directors and will depend on, 
among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors that the board of directors may deem relevant. In 
addition, under Delaware law, our board of directors may declare dividends only to the extent of our surplus (which is defined as total assets at fair market value minus total 
liabilities, minus statutory capital) or, if there is no 
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surplus, out of our net profits for the then-current and/or immediately preceding fiscal year. In addition, our ability to pay dividends may be limited by covenants of any existing 
and future outstanding indebtedness we or our subsidiaries incur.
 
Holders of our Class A Preferred stock would participate in any dividend declared on our Class A common stock on an as converted basis.
 
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
 
For certain information concerning securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plan, see Item 12 — Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and 
Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds From Registered Securities
None.

 
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 
On September 22, 2023, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program providing for repurchases of up to $10 million of the 
Company’s outstanding Class A common stock through June 30, 2024. Repurchases of shares are made in accordance with applicable securities laws and may be made from 
time to time in the open market or by negotiated transactions, including through entry into 10b5-1 trading plans. The amount and timing of repurchases are based on a variety of 
factors, including stock price, regulatory limitations, debt agreement limitations, and other market and economic factors. The share repurchase plan does not require the 
Company to repurchase any specific number of shares, and the Company may terminate the repurchase plan at any time. The Company purchased 69,976 shares of our Class A 
common stock during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 on the open market. The following table provides information regarding purchases of our securities made by us 
for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.
 

SHARE REPURCHASES AND DIVIDENDS
 

The Company did not repurchase any shares during the fourth quarter of 2024.
 
 
Item 6.
 
[Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the 
accompanying notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following discussion and analysis contain forward-looking statements that involve 
risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptions that, if they never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by 
such forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below and those discussed in the 
section titled Risk Factors in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, references to “we,” 
“our,” “us,” “the Company,” and “Bitcoin Depot” refer to Bitcoin Depot Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Business Overview 

Bitcoin Depot owns and operates the largest network of Bitcoin ATMs (“BTMs”) across North America where customers can buy and sell Bitcoin. Bitcoin Depot helps power 
the digital economy for users of cash. 

Our mission is to bring Crypto to the Masses™. Digital means and systems dominate the way that consumers send money, make purchases, and invest; however, many people 
continue to utilize cash as their primary means of initiating a transaction, either as a necessity or as a preference. These individuals have largely been excluded from the digital 
financial system and associated technological advancements in our global and digitally interconnected society. Bitcoin Depot’s simple and convenient process to convert cash 
into Bitcoin via our BTMs and feature-rich mobile app enables not only these users, but also the broader public, to access the digital financial system.

As of December 31, 2024, our offerings included approximately 8,500 BTMs in retailer locations throughout the U.S., and Canada, our BDCheckout product, which is accepted 
at approximately 7,600 retail locations, and our mobile app. We maintain a leading position among cash-to-Bitcoin BTM operators in the U.S. and Canada.

Kiosk Network and Retailer Relationships 

Bitcoin Depot operates a network of kiosks that allow users to purchase Bitcoin with cash. Upon using a Bitcoin Depot kiosk for the first time, users will be prompted to provide 
certain information for account creation and verification. Users are required to select from three ranges of cash amounts to be inserted in the kiosk for purchasing Bitcoin. The 
user then provides the address of their digital wallet by scanning a QR code or manually inputting their unique wallet address; the user can create and use a Bitcoin Depot-
branded wallet (un-hosted and non-custodial), or their own other existing digital wallet. Cash is then inserted by the user into the kiosk, and the kiosk will confirm the dollar 
amount and other details of the transaction, including quantity of Bitcoin being purchased. Once the transaction is complete, the Bitcoin is electronically delivered to the user’s 
digital wallet and the user is provided with a physical receipt as well as a receipt via SMS text.

Bitcoin Depot’s largest BTM deployment as of December 31, 2024 is with Circle K, a convenience store chain of over 9,000 stores in North America and over 5,000 stores in 
Europe and other international markets. We are the exclusive provider and operator of BTMs for Circle K in the U.S. and Canada, and as of December 31, 2024, we have 
installed our BTMs in approximately 1,100 Circle K stores. We also have kiosks deployed in other convenience stores, gas stations, grocery stores, pharmacies, and shopping 
malls.

Cryptocurrencies

Our revenues, $573.7 million and $689.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, have not been correlated to the price of Bitcoin historically, 
even in light of volatile Bitcoin prices. For example, our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 declined by 16.7% year-over-year, while the market price of Bitcoin 
increased by 121% during the same period. Based on our own user surveys, a majority of our users use our products and services for non-speculative purposes, including money 
transfers, international remittances, and online purchases, among others. 

We use a sophisticated Bitcoin management process to reduce our exposure to volatility in Bitcoin prices by maintaining a relatively low balance (typically less than $1.0 
million) of Bitcoin at any given time in our hot wallets to fulfill orders from users, which we believe differentiates us from our competition. Our typical practice is to purchase 
Bitcoin through a liquidity provider such as Cumberland DRW or Abra. We replenish our Bitcoin only through purchases from leading Bitcoin liquidity providers and do not 
engage in any mining of Bitcoin ourselves. Our sophisticated replenishment process enables us to satisfy our users’ Bitcoin purchases with our own Bitcoin holdings yet 
maintain relatively small balances of Bitcoin to effectively manage our principal risk. There are two main components of the working capital required in our operations. On the 
Bitcoin side, we maintain Bitcoin in our hot wallets to fulfill orders from users while we are automatically placing orders with liquidity providers and exchanges to replenish the 
Bitcoin we 
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have sold to users. The second component to working capital is the cash that accumulates in the BTM kiosks. As users insert cash into the BTM kiosks, cash accumulates until 
armored carriers collect the cash and process it back to our bank accounts. While not required, we typically maintain a variable level of cash in the BTM kiosks at all times. As 
of December 31, 2024, cash in BTM kiosks was approximately 22.4% of average monthly revenues.

BitAccess and BDCheckout 

In July 2021, we acquired BitAccess, and in the second quarter of 2022, we launched BDCheckout. BitAccess added new software features to our BTMs and positions us to 
service new channels of users while eventually having full control over our own software capabilities. All of our BTMs use the BitAccess software. The acquisition also 
diversified our revenue streams into software offerings and generated significant savings in transaction processing fees and reduced other operating expenses. BitAccess 
revenues from third-party customers from the date of acquisition have not been material and the launch of BDCheckout has not yet had a meaningful impact on our results of 
operations. 

Regulatory Environment 

We operate internationally and in a rapidly evolving regulatory environment characterized by a heightened focus by regulators globally on all aspects of the payments industry, 
including countering terrorist financing, anti-money laundering, privacy, cybersecurity, and consumer protection. The laws and regulations applicable to us, including those 
enacted prior to the advent of digital payments, are continuing to evolve through legislative and regulatory action and judicial interpretation. New or changing laws and 
regulations, including changes to their interpretation and implementation, as well as increased penalties and enforcement actions related to non-compliance, could have a 
material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. It is also possible that the increased regulatory uncertainty could increase the cost of 
compliance due to tension with conflicting federal, state and local regulations, and could thus have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Significant changes or developments in U.S. laws and policies, such as laws and policies surrounding international trade, foreign affairs, environmental impact, and diversity 
and inclusion, among others, could materially adversely affect our business and financial condition. For examples, it is anticipated that the United States has imposed and may 
continue to impose tariffs which could result in a trade war, and the adoption or expansion of such tariffs or other governmental action related to tariffs and international trade 
may have a material adverse effect on our supply chain and access to equipment, costs and profit margins. Furthermore, due to the overturning of the Chevron doctrine, which 
provided for judicial deference to regulatory agencies, we cannot be sure whether there will be increased challenges to existing federal agency regulations or how lower courts 
will apply the decision, which could impact regulation of financial instructions, environmental regulation, consumer protection, advertising, privacy, artificial intelligence, and 
other regulatory regimes with which we are required to comply in an unpredictable manner. Finally, as further discussed in Item 1A—Risk Factors, we cannot predict how the 
slew of executive orders issued by the new presidential administration might impact our operations and financial condition, particularly given the likelihood of increasing legal 
challenges to these executive orders.

See “Governmental Regulations” and “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item I. 

Key Business Metrics 

We monitor and evaluate the following key business metrics to measure performance, identify trends, develop and refine growth strategies and make strategic decisions. We 
believe these metrics and measures are useful to facilitate period-to-period comparisons of our business, and to facilitate comparisons of our performance to that of our 
competitors.

Our key metrics are calculated using internal company data based on the activity we measure on our platform and may be compiled from multiple systems. While the 
measurement of our key metrics is based on what we believe to be reasonable methodologies and estimates, there are inherent challenges and limitations in measuring our key 
metrics. The methodologies used to calculate our key metrics require judgment and we regularly review our processes for calculating these key metrics, and from time to time, 
we may make adjustments to improve their accuracy or relevance.
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 Three Months Ended  

 
December 31  September 30  June 30  March 

31
 December 31  September 30  June 

30
 March 

31
 December 

31
 September 30  June 

30
 March 

31
 December 

31
 September 30  June 

30
 March 31  

 2024  2023  2022  2021  
Installed kiosks (at period end)

 8,457   8,304   8,068   7,061   6,334   6,404   
6,35

1   6,441   6,530   6,787   
6,95

5   6,711   6,220   4,520   
2,81

1   1,859  
Returning user transaction count  6.3   7.3   7.1   7.7   8.3   9.1   9.2   10.0   10.5   11.2   11.5   11.9   12.3   11.5   11.8   12.2  
Median kiosk transaction size (in $)  280   250   230   205   200   200   200   200   200   180   170   176   168   160   160   140  
BDCheckout locations (at period end) (1) 
(3)  7,624   7,723   7,441   6,734   5,681   5,681   

5,19
5   2,754   8,661   8,661   

8,39
5   —   —   —   —   —  

Kiosks held with logistics providers (2)  2,117   2,506   758   587   898   842   981   891   795   —   —   —   —   —   —   —  

 
(1)BDCheckout was launched in the second quarter of 2022. 
(2)Kiosks held with our logistic providers or in-transit to new locations, which we believe will result in higher transaction volume and revenue once deployed.
(3)During the three months ended March 31, 2023, one of our retail partners discontinued all BDCheckout and cryptocurrency transactions in its stores. 

Installed Kiosks 

We believe this metric provides us an indicator of our market penetration, the growth of our business and our potential future business opportunities. We define installed kiosks 
as the number of kiosks we have installed at the end of the quarter in a retail location and that are connected to our network. We monitor transaction volume at our kiosks on a 
continuous basis to maximize transaction volumes from the locations where our kiosks are placed. Based on these monitoring activities, we may re-deploy certain of our kiosks, 
using third-party logistics providers, to new locations (e.g., those available with our new retail partners) that we believe will maximize transaction volumes and revenues. 

Returning User Transaction Count 

We believe this metric provides us an indicator of user retention and our competitive advantage relative to our peers, as well as the trajectory of adoption of cryptocurrency, and 
allows us to make strategic decisions. We define returning user transaction count as the average number of aggregate transactions completed at any kiosk in the four quarters 
trailing the quarter in which a given user’s first transaction occurred, measured only for users who complete more than one transaction. For example, as of December 31, 2024, 
users who first transacted at one of our kiosks during the three months ended December 31, 2023 and who subsequently completed a second transaction completed an average 
of 6.3 transactions over the twelve months following their initial transaction. 

Median Kiosk Transaction Size 

We believe this metric provides us information to analyze user behavior as well as evaluate our performance and formulate financial projections. We calculate median kiosk 
transaction size based on the dollar value of all purchases and sales of Bitcoin at our kiosks, including transaction fees, during the rolling twelve month period. 

BDCheckout Locations 

We believe this metric provides us an indicator of our market penetration, the growth of our business and our potential future business opportunities. We calculate BDCheckout 
locations as the number of locations where BDCheckout is available at the end of the quarter. We are currently in discussion with other retail partners to expand our 
BDCheckout offering into additional locations. 

 Segment Reporting 

Our financial reporting is organized into one segment. We make specific disclosures concerning our products and services because they facilitate our discussion of trends and 
operational initiatives within our business and industry. Our products and services are aggregated and viewed by management as one reportable segment due to a similarity in 
the nature of customers and overall economic characteristics, the nature of the products and services provided and the applicable regulatory environment. 

Components of Results of Operations 

Revenue 

We generate substantially all of our revenue from the cash paid by customers to purchase Bitcoin from our kiosks. For example, approximately 99.7% of our revenue in the year 
ended December 31, 2024 was derived from the sale of our cryptocurrency, including 
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the markup at which we sell cryptocurrency to users (which can vary between BDCheckout and BTM kiosks) and a separate flat transaction fee. These user-initiated 
transactions are governed by terms and conditions agreed to at the time of each point-of-sale transaction and do not extend beyond the transaction. 

For the periods presented, the markup percentage for BTM kiosk transactions ranged between 15% and 50%, of the USD amount of the transaction with such markup rates 
historically having been, and continuing to be, subject to fluctuation as a result of our ongoing price strategy testing. The markup percentage for BDCheckout transactions has 
been 15% since inception/rollout of such transaction type in 2023. Finally, the Company receives a commission as a percentage for our website transactions which was 12.0% 
through December 31, 2024. Markup percentages are determined by examining user transaction patterns in various geographic locations, based on ongoing markup rate testing, 
with the ultimate aim of optimizing profitability, growth and user base. 

For each Bitcoin transaction on our kiosks or utilizing BDCheckout, the cryptocurrency price displayed to users includes the exchange rate at which we sell Bitcoin to users as 
well as a separate flat transaction fee. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we charge (i) a flat $3.00 fee on all transactions at BTM kiosks, which generally 
corresponds to the costs underlying such transactions and (ii) a flat $3.50 fee on BDCheckout transactions, which is what our payment provider charges us to facilitate 
transactions using their  network. 

Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization) 

Our cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization), which is primarily driven by transaction volume, consists primarily of direct costs related to selling Bitcoin and 
operating our network of kiosks. Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization) includes the cost of Bitcoin, fees paid to obtain Bitcoin, impairment of 
cryptocurrencies, gains on sales of Bitcoin on an exchange, fees paid to operate the software on the BTMs, rent paid for floorspace for BTMs, fees paid to transfer Bitcoin to 
users, cost of BTM repair and maintenance, and the cost of armored trucks to collect and transport cash deposited into the BTMs. 

Our costs associated with a BDCheckout transaction are lower than costs associated with a BTM transaction, primarily due to significantly greater operating expenses associated 
with the BTMs, including cash collection fees and short-term lease payments to the retail locations where the kiosks are placed. However, the profitability of the two services is 
similar because of the higher markup that Bitcoin Depot applies to BTM transactions to support the higher costs associated therewith.

Operating expenses 

Operating expenses consists of selling, general and administrative expenses and depreciation and amortization. 

Selling, general and administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of expenses related to our customer support, marketing, finance, legal, 
compliance, operations, human resources, and administrative personnel. Selling, general and administrative expenses also include costs related to fees paid for professional 
services, including legal, tax, and accounting services. 

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization include depreciation on computer hardware and software, BTMs (including both BTMs owned by us and those 
subject to finance leases), office furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements and amortization of intangible assets. 

 Other (expense) income 

Other (expense) income includes interest expense, expenses associated with the PIPE transaction, the impact of lease modifications, and gains and losses on foreign currency 
transactions.

Interest expense. Interest expense consists primarily of the interest expense on our borrowings and our finance leases. 
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Results of Operations 

Comparison between Year Ended December 31, 2024 and Year Ended December 31, 2023 

The following table sets forth selected historical operating data for the periods indicated: 
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
(in thousands)  2024   2023   $ Change   % Change  
          
Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive
Income (Loss) information:             
Revenue  $ 573,703   $ 688,967   $ (115,264 )   (16.7 )%
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization
reported separately below)   482,263    587,938    (105,675 )   (18.0 )%
Operating expenses             
Selling, general and administrative   57,158    57,770    (612 )   (1.1 )%
Depreciation and amortization   10,072    12,788    (2,716 )   (21.2 )%
Total operating expenses   67,230    70,558    (3,328 )   (4.7 )%
Income from operations   24,210    30,471    (6,261 )   (20.5 )%
Other (expense) income             
Interest expense

  (14,199 )   (11,926 )   
(2,273

)   19.1 %
Other (expense) income   406    (16,737 )   17,143    (102.4 )%
Loss on foreign currency transactions   (465 )   (289 )   (176 )   60.9 %
Total other expense, net   (14,258 )   (28,952 )   14,694    (50.8 )%
Income before provision for income taxes and
non-controlling interest   9,952    1,519    8,433    555.2 %
Income tax (expense) benefit   (2,138 )   (49 )   (2,089 )   4,263.3 %
Net income  $ 7,814   $ 1,470   $ 6,344    431.6 %
Net income attributable to Legacy Bitcoin Depot
unit holders   —    12,906    (12,906 )   (100.0 )%
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest   19,500    14,666    4,834    33.0 %
Net loss attributable to Bitcoin Depot Inc.  $ (11,686 )  $ (26,102 )  $ 14,416    (55.2 )%
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax             
Net income   7,814    1,470    6,344    431.6 %
Foreign currency translation adjustments   34    (4 )   38    (950.0 )%
Total comprehensive income   7,848    1,466    6,382    435.3 %
Comprehensive income attributable to Legacy
Bitcoin Depot unit holders   -    12,885    (12,885 )   (100.0 )%
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest   19,500    14,683    4,817    32.8 %
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Bitcoin
Depot Inc.  $ (11,652 )  $ (26,102 )  $ 14,450    (55.4 )%

Revenue 

Revenue decreased by approximately $115.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to decreases in 
kiosk transaction revenue which was related to decreases in transactions volume offset slightly by higher average transaction sizes. Additionally, regulatory changes limiting the 
transaction size in California resulted in lower kiosk revenue in California. During the fourth quarter of 2023, we uninstalled approximately 1,000 BTMs, which were reinstalled 
during the later part of February and March 2024 during our kiosk optimization plan.
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Revenue disaggregated by revenue stream is as follows for the periods indicated: 
 

  Year Ended December 31,        
(in thousands)  2024   2023   $ Change   % Change  
Kiosk Transaction Revenue  $ 571,261   $ 686,314   $ (115,053 )   (16.8 )%
BDCheckout   697    1,149    (452 )   (39.3 )%
Company Website   934    879    55    6.3 %
Software Services Revenue   479    575    (96 )   (16.7 )%
Hardware Revenue   332    50    282    564.0 %
Total Revenue  $ 573,703   $ 688,967   $ (115,264 )   (16.7 )%

 
Kiosk Transaction Revenue 

Revenue generated by our BTM kiosks decreased by approximately $115.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023,  
primarily due to decreases in kiosk transaction revenue primarily related to a decreased number of users and transaction volume as a result of relocating kiosks during the year 
ended December 31, 2024 that did not occur in the same magnitude in the year ended December 31, 2023. Also impacting our revenue during the year ended December 31, 
2024 are the daily transaction limits set in California, which accounted for approximately 20% of the decrease in revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to 
year ended December 31, 2023. Additionally, revenue was impacted by the significant number of new kiosk installations in the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company 
had approximately 25% more kiosks on average in service as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. Typically, the Company experiences increases in customer 
adoption and growth in revenue in future periods from a kiosk relocations and newly installed kiosks.

 

BDCheckout 

Our BDCheckout revenue decreased by approximately $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to 
a decrease in the number of transactions.

Hardware Revenue 

Our hardware revenue increased by approximately $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to the 
sale of 100 kiosks during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization) 

Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization) decreased by approximately $105.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2023, primarily due to a decrease in transaction volumes, as well as regulatory changes in California and relocations of kiosks during the year ended December 
31, 2024.

The following table sets forth the components of cost of revenue for the periods indicated: 
 

  Year Ended December 31,        
(in thousands)  2024   2023   $ Change   % Change  
Cryptocurrency Expenses  $ 424,135   $ 534,234   $ (110,099 )   (20.6 )%
Floorspace Leases   37,522    34,616    2,906    8.4 %
Kiosk Operations   20,606    19,088    1,518    8.0 %
Total Cost of Revenue (excluding Depreciation and Amortization)  $ 482,263   $ 587,938   $ (105,675 )   (18.0 )%
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Cryptocurrency Expenses 

The following table sets forth the components of cryptocurrency expenses in our cost of revenue for the periods indicated: 
 

  Year Ended December 31,        
(in thousands)  2024   2023   $ Change   % Change  
Cost of Cryptocurrency - BTM Kiosks  $ 422,873   $ 532,356   $ (109,483 )   (20.6 )%
Cost of Cryptocurrency - BDCheckout   599    985    (386 )   (39.2 )%
Software Processing Fees   

60
   

280
   

(220
)   

(78.6
)%

Exchange Fees   1    22    (21 )   (95.5 )%
Mining Fees   593    575    18    3.1 %
Software Processing Fee - BDCheckout   9    16    (7 )   (43.8 )%
Total Cryptocurrency Expenses  $ 424,135   $ 534,234   $ (110,099 )   (20.6 )%

Cost of Cryptocurrency - BTM Kiosks 

Our cost of cryptocurrency related to BTM kiosks decreased by approximately $109.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 
31, 2023, primarily as a result of lower transaction volume in the year ended December 31, 2024.

Cost of Cryptocurrency - BDCheckout 

Our cost of goods sold related to BDCheckout decreased by approximately $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 
2023. The decrease was a result of lower transaction volume in the year ended December 31, 2024.

Software Processing fees 

Our software processing fees decreased by approximately $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease 
in software processing fees was a direct result of completing the migration of our BTMs to the BitAccess platform in the first quarter of 2023, which reduced the costs we 
incurred from a third-party service provider for software processing fees based on kiosk transaction volume.

Floorspace Leases 

Our floorspace lease expenses increased by approximately $2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, due to an 
increase in rent paid to store owners and distributors under floorspace leases. This includes rent on new locations that currently are in ramp up stages, and thus currently have 
lower than anticipated revenue.

Kiosk Operations 

Our kiosk operations expenses increased by approximately $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. Our kiosk 
operations consisted of armored cash collection, bank fees, software costs, insurance and repair and maintenance. These costs were lower during the first quarter of 2023 
primarily related to repairs and maintenance as a result of the kiosks being in the field for longer periods and needing less repairs, compared to the year ended December 31, 
2024 which had more relocation costs. due to the kiosk optimization plan and installing additional kiosks.

Operating expenses 

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by approximately $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 
2023, primarily due to decreased costs associated with the merger of $3.3 million, offset by increases in computer software costs of $1.4 million.

Other expense, net

Other expenses decreased by approximately $14.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. primarily driven by the 
recognition of $14.9 million of PIPE expenses in the year ended December 31, 2023, 
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which did not recur in 2024. Interest expense increased $2.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 as a result of an increase to the amount of principal under the 
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. The increase of debt principal balance was considered an extinguishment of our prior debt agreement under US GAAP. This change 
resulted in the write-off of prior capitalized debt issuance costs of $2.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 which did not occur in the year ended December 31, 
2023. 

Net income (loss) attributable to Legacy Bitcoin Depot unit holders

Prior to the close of the Merger, net income was allocated to the Legacy Bitcoin Depot unit holders. After the close of the Merger on June 30, 2023, the Legacy Bitcoin Depot 
unit holders no longer receive any income allocation as they are owners of BT HoldCo.

Net income attributable to non-controlling interest

Prior to the close of the Merger, the non-controlling interest reflected Bitcoin Depot’s ownership in BitAccess. Subsequent to the close of the Merger, the non-controlling 
interest reflect both Bitcoin Depot's ownership in BitAccess and BT HoldCo. After the close of the Merger, up to $29.0 million of the net income from BT OpCo will be 
allocated to BT HoldCo as a result of the preferred return to BT Assets related to their preferred interest in BT HoldCo. If net income exceeds $29.0 million, such excess income 
will be allocated to Bitcoin Depot and BT HoldCo based on their pro rata economic ownership interest in BT OpCo. Additionally, when losses are incurred, BT HoldCo 
allocates the losses based on the economic ownership. During the year ended December 31, 2024, BT HoldCo paid a distribution of $29 million to BT Assets, and all BT 
Assets' preferred units of BT HoldCo were converted to common units.

Net income (loss) attributable to Bitcoin Depot Inc.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, Net Loss was allocated to Bitcoin Depot Inc from BT HoldCo. In addition to losses allocated under the HLBV methodology, the 
public entity incurred direct legal and professional services in maintaining its operations resulting in a Net Loss attributable to Bitcoin Depot Inc.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Adjusted Gross Profit

We define Adjusted Gross Profit (a non-GAAP financial measure) as revenue less cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization) and depreciation and amortization 
adjusted to add back depreciation and amortization. We believe Adjusted Gross Profit provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our 
results of operations, as well as provides a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of our business performance. Moreover, we have included Adjusted Gross Profit in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K because it is a key measurement used internally by management to measure the efficiency of our business. This non-GAAP financial measure 
should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We compensate for these limitations by relying 
primarily on U.S. GAAP results and using Adjusted Gross Profit on a supplemental basis. Our computation of Adjusted Gross Profit may not be comparable to other similarly 
titled measures computed by other companies because not all companies calculate this measure in the same fashion. You should review the reconciliation of Gross Profit to 
Adjusted Gross Profit below and not rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business.

The following table presents a reconciliation of revenue to Adjusted Gross Profit for the periods indicated:
 

 Year Ended December 31,  
(in thousands) 2024   2023  
Revenue $ 573,703   $ 688,967  
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and
amortization)  (482,263 )   (587,938 )
Depreciation and amortization excluded from cost of revenue  (9,984 )   (12,455 )
Gross profit $ 81,456   $ 88,574  
Adjustments:      
Depreciation and amortization excluded from cost of revenue $ 9,984   $ 12,455  
Adjusted gross profit $ 91,440   $ 101,029  
Gross profit margin (1)  14.2 %  12.9 %
Adjusted gross profit margin (1)  15.9 %  14.7 %
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(1)Calculated as a percentage of revenue. 

Adjusted EBITDA 

We define Adjusted EBITDA (a non-GAAP financial measure) as net income before interest expense, tax expense, depreciation and amortization, non-recurring expenses, 
share-based compensation, expenses related to PIPE financing and miscellaneous cost adjustments. 

The items below are excluded from Adjusted EBITDA because these items are non-cash in nature, or because the amount and timing of these items is unpredictable, not driven 
by core results of operations and renders comparisons with prior periods and competitors less meaningful. We believe Adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to 
investors and others in understanding and evaluating our results of operations, as well as provides a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of our business 
performance. Moreover, we have included Adjusted EBITDA in this Annual Report on Form 10-K because it is a key measurement used internally by management to make 
operating decisions, including those related to operating expenses, evaluate performance and perform strategic and financial planning. However, you should be aware that when 
evaluating Adjusted EBITDA, we may incur future expenses similar to those excluded when calculating these measures. The presentation of this measure should not be 
construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items. Further, this non-GAAP financial measure should not be considered in 
isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on U.S. GAAP 
results and using Adjusted EBITDA on a supplemental basis. Our computation of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures computed by 
other companies because not all companies calculate this measure in the same fashion. You should review the reconciliation of net income to Adjusted EBITDA below and not 
rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business. 

The following table presents a reconciliation of net income to Adjusted EBITDA for the periods indicated: 
 

 Year Ended December 31,  
(in thousands) 2024   2023  
Net income $ 7,814   $ 1,470  
Adjustments:      

Interest expense  14,199    11,926  
Income tax (benefit) expense  2,138    49  
Depreciation and amortization  10,072    12,788  
Expense related to the PIPE transaction (1)  —    14,896  
Non-recurring expenses (2)  1,410    9,298  
Share-based compensation  3,400    2,524  
Special bonus (3)  675    3,040  
Expenses associated with the termination of the phantom equity participation plan  —    350  

Adjusted EBITDA $ 39,708   $ 56,341  
Adjusted EBITDA margin (4)  6.9 %   8.2 %

 
(1)Amounts include the recognition of a non-cash expense of $13.9 million related to the PIPE transaction for the year ended December 31, 2023, entered into as of close of 
the Merger on June 30, 2023.
(2)Comprised of non-recurring professional service fees incurred by the Company related to the close of the Transaction. 
(3)Amount includes (A) Transaction bonus and related taxes to employees of approximately $1.4 million and (B) Founder Transaction bonus as a result of close of the 
Merger, of approximately $1.6 million, recognized as share-based compensation, for the year ended December 31, 2023. 
(4)Adjusted EBITDA margin is defined as Adjusted EBITDA divided by revenue. The Company uses this measure to evaluate its overall profitability.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

On December 31, 2024, we had negative working capital of approximately $(6.3) million, which included cash and cash equivalents and other current assets of approximately 
$34.3 million, offset by accounts payable and other current liabilities of approximately $40.6 million. We reported net income of approximately $7.8 million during the year 
ended December 31, 2024. 



 

71

Table of Contents

On December 31, 2023, we had working capital of approximately $(8.8) million, which included cash and cash equivalents and other current assets of approximately $34.2 
million, offset by accounts payable and other current liabilities of approximately $43.0 million. We reported net income of approximately $1.5 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2023.

For each of the periods presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, approximately 99.7% of our total transaction volume was attributable to transactions in Bitcoin and, as of 
the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, transactions in Bitcoin account for 100% of our transaction volumes. We purchase Bitcoin through a liquidity provider on a just-
in-time basis based on expected transaction volumes in order to maintain a balance at a specified amount. Our ability to dynamically rebalance the levels of Bitcoin we hold at 
any given time based on transaction volumes and the market price of Bitcoin means that there are limited working capital requirements related to our Bitcoin management 
activities. There are two main components of the working capital required in our operations. We maintain Bitcoin (currently in an amount which, at any given time, is typically 
less than $1.0 million) in our hot wallets to fulfill orders from users while we are automatically placing orders with liquidity providers and exchanges to replenish the Bitcoin we 
have sold to users. The second component to working capital is cash and cash equivalents generated from sales at our BTM kiosks. As users insert cash into the BTM kiosks, 
cash accumulates until armored carriers collect the cash and process it back to our bank accounts. While not required, we typically maintain a variable level of cash in the BTM 
kiosks at all times. As of December 31, 2024, cash in the BTM kiosks was approximately 22.4% of average monthly revenues. 

 In connection with the closing of the Merger, we had several events impacting our liquidity. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we refinanced our note payable and 
paid down approximately $16.4 million of principal, as well as incurred a $2.3 million exit fee. As of December 31, 2024, we had $55.5 million outstanding under our notes 
payable. 

Future Cash Requirements

The Company’s primary future cash requirements will be to fund operations, debt service, capital expenditures, employee defined contribution plans, and lease payment 
obligations. In addition, the Company may use cash in the future to make strategic acquisitions or investments. Specifically, the Company expects its primary cash requirements 
for fiscal year 2024 to be as follows:

Debt service

We expect to make principal and interest payments of approximately $5.7 million related to the profit share arrangements, and $11.8 million related to other credit agreements 
during fiscal year 2025, under our currently outstanding debt facilities based on interest rates at year end.

Lease payments

We expect to make lease payments of approximately $5.4 million for our operating and finance leases during fiscal year 2025 under our effective leases as of December 31, 
2024. In addition to the matters identified above, in the ordinary course of business, the Company may be involved in litigation, claims, government inquiries, investigations and 
proceedings relating to commercial, employment, environmental and regulatory matters. An unfavorable resolution in this or other matters could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company's future cash requirements.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors including our revenue growth rate, the timing and extent of spending to support research and development efforts 
and the timing and extent of additional capital expenditures to purchase additional kiosks and invest in the expansion of our products and services. We may in the future enter 
into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, products and technologies, including intellectual property rights. We may be required to seek additional 
equity or debt financing or sell assets to raise and/or maintain our liquidity. If additional financing is required from outside sources, we may not be able to raise it on acceptable 
terms or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, our business, results of operations and financial condition would be materially and adversely affected. 

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents, together with cash provided by operations, will be sufficient to meet our future liquidity needs for the foreseeable future, both 
in the short-term (over the next twelve months from the date of this annual report on From 10-K) and beyond. 

Share repurchase program

On September 22, 2023, the Company announced that its Board authorized a share repurchase program pursuant to which the Company is authorized to repurchase up to $10 
million of outstanding shares of its Class A common stock beginning immediately and continuing through and including June 30, 2024. From the date of authorization through 
December 31, 2024, 190,620 shares of the 
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Company's Class A common stock had been repurchased with a total cost of $0.4 million. The Company anticipates using cash flows from operations to make any future share 
repurchases.

Sources of Liquidity 

Credit Agreement

On December 21, 2020, the Company entered into a credit agreement with a financial institution which provided for initial term loans in an aggregate principal amount of $25.0 
million, comprised of two $12.5 million tranches, and which was subject to annual interest at a rate of 15% per annum (the “note”). In 2021, the Company utilized the delayed 
draw facility of the credit agreement and amended the note to provide an additional $15.0 million to fund the acquisition of BitAccess Inc. In March 2022, the note was again 
amended to provide an additional term loan in an aggregate principal amount of $5.0 million. 

On May 2, 2023, the Company amended its note with its lender. Pursuant to the amendment, the accelerated repayment feature in the event of a business combination 
transaction or a change in control transaction was removed and the repayment date was extended to August 15, 2023 to allow for a renegotiation of the repayment schedule. In 
addition, the fixed interest rate in the note was modified to increase the rate from 15% per annum to 20% per annum effective February 16, 2023 through August 15, 2023, and 
a catch-up payment was made for the incremental interest from February 16, 2023 through May 1, 2023 of approximately $0.3 million.

On June 23, 2023, the Company amended and restated its credit agreement (the "Amended and Restated Note") with its existing lender. Under the Amended and Restated Note, 
the Company refinanced $20.8 million of the note which is subject to an annual interest at a rate of 17% per annum. The Company is required to make monthly interest 
payments and fixed principal payments every six months beginning on December 15, 2023 through June 15, 2026. In connection with the Amended and Restated Note, the 
Company repaid approximately $16.4 million of the outstanding principal balance, refinanced $20.8 million of the outstanding principal balance and paid an exit fee of $2.3 
million. The Amended and Restated Note matures on June 23, 2026, at which time, any outstanding principal balance and any accrued interest become due. Additionally, the 
Company is required to pay an exit fee of $1.8 million upon maturity or prepayment and accordingly, has included this amount in the note payable, non-current in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet. In conjunction with the transaction, Legacy Bitcoin Depot and BT Assets, Inc. were substituted for BT OpCo and BT HoldCo, LLC respectively. 
The Amended and Restated Note is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of BT HoldCo, LLC and Mintz Assets, Inc., Express Vending, Inc., Intuitive Software, LLC, 
Digital Gold Ventures, Inc. and BitAccess Inc. The Company is subject to certain financial covenants contained in the Amended and Restated Note, which require BT HoldCo 
and certain of its subsidiaries to maintain certain cash balances, and a maximum consolidated total leverage ratio, in addition to customary administrative covenants.  The 
Company accounted for the Amended and Restated Note as a debt modification in accordance with ASC 470, Debt. 

On March 26, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment to the Amended and Restated Note dated June 23, 2023 to provide an additional $15.7 million in principal 
financing. This amendment increased the aggregate principal amount of the term loan facility to $35.6 million which consists of $19.9 million which was outstanding under the 
original loan and $15.7 million in additional principal resulting in net cash flow of $15.2 million related to the amendment. The Company accounted for the amendment as an 
extinguishment of debt in accordance with ASC 470, Debt. As such, the Company recognized the outstanding deferred financing costs of $3.2 million as a loss on 
extinguishment of debt in interest expense on the Consolidated Statements of (Loss) Income and Comprehensive (Loss) Income which consisted of a $2.7 million write off 
unamortized deferred loan costs and $0.5 million in loan origination fees related to the amendment.

As a part of the amendment, the Company incurred an additional exit fee of $1.3 million which is due upon either maturity or the prepayment of the note. The total deferred 
financing costs associated with the amendment were $1.4 million (which includes the exit fee of $1.3 million) and are reflected as a reduction of the note proceeds. The 
Company will recognize these deferred financing costs, using the effective interest method over the term of the note.

Other Debt

Kiosk Profit Share Franchise Arrangements:

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company entered into seven franchise profit sharing arrangements. The Company recorded debt of $15.8 million as a result of 
these franchise profit sharing arrangements, maturing between February 2029 and February 2033, with principal and interest paid monthly via profit sharing payments. 
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The carrying values of the notes payable related to the Company's franchise profit sharing arrangements were initially determined as the initial investment and are updated 
quarterly using a retrospective interest method.  The effective interest rate used in the calculation of monthly interest is determined based on actual and projected profit sharing 
payments and is updated on a quarterly basis under the retrospective interest method. 

Equipment Financing:

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company entered into five, 36-month collateralized term loans for a total amount of $2.6 million to facilitate the purchase of 
BTM kiosks. In accordance with the term loans, the kiosks are collateral for the loans. The loans are subject to annual interest rates between 16.86% and 17.42%, with interest 
and principal payments due monthly. 

PIPE Financing

On June 23, 2023, GSRM entered into a private placement agreement with certain subscribers (“Subscribers”). For purposes of settlement under the PIPE Agreement, the 
notional amount of 5,000,000 shares consisted of (a) the 4,300,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock sold at the closing of the Merger, and (b) 700,000 shares of Class A 
common stock that were held by the Subscribers prior to the consummation of the Transaction. In connection with the Transaction, the Subscribers entered into non-redemption 
agreements with the Company and received additional shares of Class A common stock in exchange for their commitments not to redeem. See the discussion below under 
GSRM Share Issuance for further information.

On October 11, 2023, the PIPE Agreement was settled with the Subscribers for de minimus consideration. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company incurred 
expenses of $15.2 million associated with the PIPE agreement which has been recognized on the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Cash Flows 

The following table presents the sources of cash and cash equivalents for the periods indicated: 
 

  Year Ended December 31,        
  2024   2023   $ Change   % Change  

Cash provided by operating activities  $ 22,544   $ 41,100   $ (18,556 )   -45.1 %
Cash (used) in investing activities  $ (11,370 )  $ (22 )  $ (11,348 )   51581.8 %
Cash (used) in financing activities  $ (11,576 )  $ (48,858 )  $ 37,282    -76.3 %
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1)  $ (287 )  $ (7,781 )  $ 7,494    -96.3 %

 
(1)Includes effect of exchange rate changes on cash. 

Operating Activities 

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $18.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to a 
$14.5 million increase in non-cash items principally related to an $14.5 million decrease from Series A Preferred Share PIPE Issuance in 2023, a $9.6 million decrease from 
changes in accrued expenses, offset by a $5.5 million increase from accounts payable.

Investing Activities 

Net cash used in investing activities increased $11.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to a $10.7 
million increase in acquisition of property and equipment.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities decreased $37.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to an 
increase in proceeds from notes payable of $33.2 million, an increase in principal payments of notes payable of $15.7 million, an increase in principal payments on finance 
leases of $6.4 million, offset by an increase in distributions of $22.2 million.
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Commitments and Contractual Obligations 

As of December 31, 2024, the aggregate amount of our operating and finance lease obligations was approximately $8.0 million. As of December 31, 2024, we had no open 
purchase orders for kiosks. 

See Note 15 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about our notes payable. 

See Note 19 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about our tax receivable 
agreement. 

See Note 23 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about our leases. 

See Note 24 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about our material 
commitments and contingencies. 

Summary of Critical Accounting Policies and Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Future events and their effects cannot be determined with absolute certainty. Therefore, the determination of 
estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Actual results inevitably will differ from those estimates, and such differences may be material to the financial statements. 
Estimates are used for, but not limited to, cryptocurrencies and the associated impairment, recoverability of intangible assets and goodwill, revenue recognition, valuation of 
current and deferred income taxes, the determination of the useful lives of property and equipment, for share-based compensation specifically the performance-based awards 
and the probability of achieving the performance criteria,  fair value of long-term debt, present value of lease liabilities and right of use assets, assumptions and inputs for fair 
value measurements used in business combinations and contingencies, including liabilities that we deem are not probable of assertion. We base our estimates on historical 
experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, actual results could differ from these estimates. 

Critical accounting policies are those that reflect significant judgments of uncertainties and potentially result in materially different results under different assumptions and 
conditions. The critical accounting policies should be read in connection with the discussion of significant accounting policies included in the notes of the consolidated financial 
statements.

Our financial position, results of operations and cash flows are impacted by the accounting policies we have adopted. To get a full understanding of our financial statements, one 
must have a clear understanding of the accounting policies employed. A summary of our critical accounting policies follows: 

Cryptocurrencies 

Cryptocurrencies are a unit of account that functions as a medium of exchange on a respective blockchain network, and a digital and decentralized ledger that keeps a record of 
all transactions that take place across a peer-to-peer network. Our cryptocurrencies were primarily comprised of Bitcoin for the periods presented and are collectively referred to 
as “cryptocurrencies” in the consolidated financial statements. We primarily purchase cryptocurrencies to sell to customers. 

We account for cryptocurrencies as indefinite-lived intangible assets in accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, and they are recorded on our consolidated 
Balance Sheets at cost, less any impairments. We have control and ownership over our cryptocurrencies which are stored in both our proprietary hot wallet and hot wallets 
hosted by a third-party, BitGo, Inc. 

The primary purpose of our operations is to buy and sell Bitcoin using the BTM kiosk network and other services. We do not engage in broker-dealer activities. We use various 
exchanges and liquidity providers to purchase, liquidate and manage our Bitcoin positions; however, this does not impact the accounting for these assets as intangible assets. 

Impairment 

Because our cryptocurrencies are accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible assets, the cryptocurrencies are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate it is more likely than not that the asset is impaired in accordance with ASC 350. We have determined that a decline in the quoted market price 
below the carrying value at any time during 
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the assessed period is viewed as an impairment indicator because the cryptocurrencies are traded in active markets where there are observable prices. Therefore, the fair value is 
used to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded. If the fair value of the cryptocurrency decreases below the initial cost basis, or the carrying value, at any time 
during the assessed period, an impairment charge is recognized at that time in cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization). After an impairment loss is 
recognized, the adjusted carrying amount of the cryptocurrency becomes our new accounting basis and this new cost basis will not be adjusted upward for any subsequent 
increase in fair value. For the purposes of measuring impairment on our cryptocurrencies, we determine the fair value of our cryptocurrency on a nonrecurring basis in 
accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, based on quoted (unadjusted) prices on an active exchange in the United States that the Company has determined is its 
principal market (Level 1 inputs). 

We purchase cryptocurrencies, which are held in our hot wallets, on a just-in-time basis to facilitate sales to customers and mitigate exposure to volatility in cryptocurrency 
prices. We sell our cryptocurrencies to our customers from our BTM kiosks and BDCheckout locations in exchange for cash, for a prescribed transaction fee applied to the 
current market price of the cryptocurrency at the time of the transaction, plus a predetermined markup. When the cryptocurrency is sold to customers, we relieve the adjusted 
cost basis of our cryptocurrency, net of impairments, on a first-in, first-out basis within cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization). 

The related cash flows from purchases and sales of cryptocurrencies are presented as cash flows from operating activities on the consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 

Goodwill and intangible assets, net 

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the estimated fair value of the acquired assets, assumed liabilities, and any non-controlling interest in the 
acquired entity in a business combination. We test for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than 
not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying value. Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting 
units, assignment of assets and liabilities to reporting units, assignment of goodwill to reporting units, and determination of the fair value of each reporting unit. The fair value 
of each reporting unit is estimated primarily through the use of a discounted cash flow methodology. This analysis requires significant judgments, including estimation of future 
cash flows, which is dependent on internal forecasts, estimation of the long-term rate of growth for our business, estimation of the useful life over which cash flows will occur, 
and determination of our weighted average cost of capital. The Company performs their annual test for impairment as of October 1 at the reporting unit level.

During the three months ended September 30, 2024, the Company changed its annual impairment testing date from December 31 to October 1.  The Company believes this new 
date is preferable as it allows for more timely completion of the annual goodwill impairment test prior to the end of our annual financial reporting period.  The Company applied 
the change in annual impairment testing date prospectively beginning October 1, 2024.

As a result of the acquisition of BitAccess in July 2021, we determined we had two reporting units. In August 2022, we terminated a significant BitAccess customer contract 
and determined that the termination of a significant customer was a triggering event requiring an assessment of impairment of both the acquired intangible assets and goodwill 
as of the date of the termination. In addition, as a result of the migration of our BTM kiosks onto the BitAccess platform and the integration of BitAccess operations and 
processes into our core operations, we re-assessed our reporting unit determination and concluded there was one reporting unit subsequent to the triggering event. As a result of 
the triggering event and reporting unit re-organization, we performed an impairment test of our acquired intangible assets and goodwill both before and after the re-organization 
based on the methodology described above. Based on these events, no impairment was determined as of the triggering event date. 

For purposes of performing our annual impairment test, we evaluated the recoverability of our goodwill using the consolidated cash flows of the single reporting unit to 
determine if our goodwill was impaired as of September 30, 2024 in accordance with the methodology described above. There were no triggering events identified during the 
year ended December 31, 2024. 

Intangible assets, net consist of tradenames, customer relationships, and software applications. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated lives and 
evaluated for impairment when an event or change in circumstances occurs that warrants such a review. Management periodically evaluates whether changes to estimated useful 
lives of intangible assets are necessary to ensure our estimates accurately reflect the economic use of the related intangible assets. 
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Revenue Recognition 

BTM Kiosks and BDCheckout 

Revenue is principally derived from the sale of cryptocurrencies at the point-of-sale on transactions initiated by customers. These customer-initiated transactions are governed 
by terms and conditions agreed to at the time of each point-of-sale transaction and do not extend beyond the transaction. We charge a fee at the transaction level. The transaction 
price for the customer is the price of the cryptocurrency, which is based on the exchange value at the time of the transaction plus a markup, and a nominal flat fee. The exchange 
value is determined using real-time exchange prices and the markup percentage is determined by us and depends on the current market, competition, the geography of the 
location of the sale, and the method of purchase. 

Our revenue from contracts with customers is principally comprised of a single performance obligation to provide cryptocurrencies when customers buy cryptocurrencies at a 
BTM kiosk or through BDCheckout. BDCheckout sales are similar to sales from BTM kiosks, in that customers buy cryptocurrencies with cash; however, the BDCheckout 
transactions are completed at the checkout counter of retail locations, initiated using the Bitcoin Depot mobile app instead of through the BTM kiosks. Regardless of the method 
by which the customer purchases the cryptocurrency, we consider our performance obligation satisfied when control of the cryptocurrency is transferred to the customer, which 
is at the point in time the cryptocurrency is transferred to the customer’s cryptocurrency wallet and the transaction is validated on the blockchain. 

The typical process time for our transactions with customers is 30 minutes or less. Contract liabilities are amounts received from customers in advance of the Company 
transferring the cryptocurrencies to the customer’s wallet and the transaction validated on the blockchain. Contract liabilities are presented in “Deferred revenue” on the 
consolidated Balance Sheets and are not material as of December 31, 2024.

Accounting for PIPE Financing, including Subscription Receivable 

Concurrently with the closing of the business combination, the Company entered into the PIPE Financing for which the Subscribers purchased 4,300,000 shares of Series A 
Preferred Stock in exchange for a subscription receivable (“Subscription Receivable”). As described in Note 4 of consolidated financial statements, the Subscription Receivable 
represented a hybrid financial instrument comprising a subscription receivable and an embedded derivative. The embedded derivative represented a net cash settled forward 
contract with a value that is indexed to the trading price of the Company’s Class A Common Stock. The derivative was carried at its fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized in earnings. 

The fair value of the embedded derivative was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation to simulate potential changes in share price and the resulting impact on the amount of 
cash to be collected under the PIPE Agreement.  The fair value of the embedded derivative was then determined by comparing (1) the best estimate of the cash to be collected at 
the valuation date using this simulation compared to (ii) the cash that would be collected under a hypothetical host contract that assumes the share price did not change since the 
date of initial recognition (both on a present value basis).  The fair value was considered to be a level 2 fair value as there were no significant unobservable inputs.

The Series A Preferred Stock was recorded at fair value of $13.9 million. The excess of the fair value the Series A Preferred Stock over the fair value of the Subscription 
Receivable was deemed to reflect the minimum return promised to the Subscribers, and therefore the Company determined that the difference between the fair value the Series 
A Preferred Stock and the fair value of the Subscription Receivable, along with certain fees, should be recognized as an expense at the date of the initial recognition. 

On October 11, 2023, the Company settled the Pipe Financing. For the year ended December 31, 2023 the Company recognized an expense of $15.2 million which was 
included within other (expense) income on the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss). 

Tax Receivable Agreement Liability 

As described in Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company is party to the Tax Receivable Agreement under which we are generally required to pay BT 
Assets 85% of the amount of savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state, local, and foreign income taxes that we realize. The Company recognized a liability under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement of approximately $0.9 million in connection with the business combination. This amount does not take into account any future exchanges of BT HoldCo Common 
Units by BT Assets pursuant to the BT HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement. The future amounts payable, as well as the timing of any 
payments, under the Tax Receivable Agreement are dependent upon significant future events and estimates, which are described in further detail under the Related Party 
Transactions Section below. 
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Commitments and Contingencies 

We assess legal contingencies in accordance with ASC 450—Contingencies and determines whether a legal contingency is probable, reasonably possible or remote. When 
contingencies become probable and can be reasonably estimated, we record an estimate of the probable loss. When contingencies are considered probable or reasonably 
possible but cannot be reasonably estimated, we disclose the contingency when the probable or reasonably possible loss could be material. 

Litigation 

From time to time in the regular course of our business, we are involved in various lawsuits, claims, investigations and other legal matters. Except as noted below, there are no 
material legal proceedings pending or known by us to be contemplated to which we are a party or to which any of our property is subject to. 

We believe that adequate provisions for resolution of all contingencies, claims and pending litigation have been made for probable losses that are reasonably estimable. These 
contingencies are subject to significant uncertainties and we are unable to estimate the amount or range of loss, if any, in excess of amounts accrued. We do not believe that the 
ultimate outcome of these actions will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition but could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows 
or liquidity in a given quarter or year. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

None. 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

Accounting Pronouncement Adopted 

In October 2021, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2021-08, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract 
Liabilities from Contracts with Customers,” which requires entities to apply Topic 606 to recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities in a business 
combination as if the acquiring entity had originated the contracts. The standard is effective for public companies for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, 
beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company adopted this accounting standard effective January 1, 2023 with no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In June 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-03, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to Contractual Sale Restrictions,” 
which clarifies that contractual sale restrictions are not considered in measuring fair value of equity securities and requires additional disclosures for equity securities subject to 
contractual sale restrictions. The standard is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. The Company adopted this update effective 
January 1, 2024 and did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

 
In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07 "Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures". The amendments require entities to 
disclose significant segment expenses impacting profit and loss that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker. In addition, the amendments enhance interim 
disclosure requirements, clarify circumstances in which an entity can disclose multiple segment measures of profit or loss, provide new segment disclosure requirements for 
entities with a single reportable segment, and contain other disclosure requirements. The update is required to be applied retrospectively to prior periods presented, based on the 
significant segment expense categories identified and disclosed in the period of adoption.  The amendments are required to be adopted for fiscal years beginning after December 
15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company adopted this updated effective January 1, 2024, which resulted in additional 
segment disclosures primarily related to significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM").  Refer to Note 5 - Segment 
Reporting for these additional disclosures 
 
In January 2025 the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 122, (SAB 122), which rescinds the interpretative guidance included in SAB 121 “Accounting for obligations to 
safeguard crypto-assets an entity holds for platform users." The new guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, and is required to be applied 
retrospectively to all prior periods with early adoption being permitted.  The Company early adopted SAB 122 as of December 31, 2024 with retrospective application as of 
January 1, 2023. The adoption of this guidance resulted in the derecognition of the Company's cryptocurrency safeguarding asset and cryptocurrency safeguarding liability 
which resulted a $3.0 million and $1.3 million decrease in Prepaid expenses and other current assets and Accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.
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Accounting Pronouncement Pending Adoption

In October 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-06 "Disclosure Improvements: Codification Amendments in Response to the SEC's Disclosures Update and Simplification 
Initiative". The guidance amends certain disclosure and presentation requirements related to the statement of cash flows, accounting changes and error corrections, earnings per 
share, interim reporting, commitments, debt, equity, derivatives, transfers and services and various industry specific guidance. For entities subject to the SEC's existing 
disclosure requirements, the effective date for each amendment will be the date on which the SEC's removal of that related disclosure from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K 
becomes effective. However, if by June 30, 2027, the SEC has not removed the existing disclosure requirements, the amendments will not become effective. Early adoption is 
not permitted. The Company is in the process of assessing the overall impact of adopting this guidance on its disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-08 "Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Crypto Assets (Subtopic 350-60) Accounting for and Disclosure of Crypto Assets".  
ASU 2023-08 will require entities to measure crypto assets that meet the scope criteria at fair value and to reflect changes in fair value in net income each reporting period.  The 
amendments in ASU 2023-08 will also require entities to present crypto assets measured at fair value separately from other intangible assets on the balance sheet and changes in 
the fair value measurement of crypto assets separately from changes in the carrying amounts of other intangible assets on the income statement. The amendments in the ASU are 
effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted for both interim and 
annual financial statements that have not yet been issued (or made available for issuance). The Company is still assessing the impacts to its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, "Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (Topic 740)". The ASU requires companies to break out their income tax 
expense, income tax rate reconciliation and income tax payments made in more detail. For public companies, the requirements will become effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is still assessing the impacts to its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03. "Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40)". The 
ASU requires expanded disclosures and disaggregation of certain expenses included within the income statement. The amendments become effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods befinning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted.  The Company is still assessing the impacts 
of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The primary objective of the following information is to provide forward-looking quantitative and qualitative information about our potential exposure to market risk. The term 
“market risk” refers to the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in cryptocurrency prices and interest rates. The disclosures are not meant to be precise indicators of expected 
future losses, but rather indicators of reasonably possible losses. This forward-looking information provides indicators of how we view and manage our ongoing market risk 
exposures. 

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk 

Certain of our operations are conducted in foreign currencies. Consequently, a portion of our revenues and expenses may be affected by fluctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates on cash residing in the kiosks. We have not historically hedged our translation risk on foreign currency exposure, but we may do so in the future. For the year 
ended December 31, 2024, and for the year ended December 31, 2023, currency exchange rate fluctuations had an insignificant impact on our consolidated revenues. 

Generally, the functional currency of our various subsidiaries is their local currency except BitAccess whose functional currency is USD. We are exposed to currency 
fluctuations on transactions that are not denominated in the functional currency. Gains and losses on such transactions are included in determining net income for the period. We 
may seek to mitigate our foreign currency risk through timely settlement of transactions and cash flow matching, when possible. For the year ended December 31, 2024 and for 
the years ended December 31, 2023, our transaction gains and losses were insignificant. 

We are also affected by fluctuations in exchange rates on our investments in foreign operations. Relative to our net investment in foreign operations, the assets and liabilities of 
subsidiaries whose functional currency is a foreign currency are translated at the period end rate of exchange. The resulting translation adjustment is recorded as a component of 

other comprehensive income and is included in Stockholders' equity. 

Adoption and Market Price of Cryptocurrency 

Our business is dependent on the broader use and adoption of Bitcoin, which can to an extent be impacted by the spot price of the cryptocurrency we sell. Bitcoin is our sole 
cryptocurrency offering. Bitcoin represents 99% of our total transaction volume for the year 
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ended December 31, 2024, with the remaining cryptocurrencies accounting for the remaining less than 1% of transaction volume. As the adoption of cryptocurrency continues 
to grow for the general public, we expect continued growth from our addressable market. The prices of cryptocurrencies, including the cryptocurrencies we sell, have 
experienced substantial volatility, and high or low prices may have little or no relationship to identifiable market forces, may be subject to rapidly changing investor sentiment, 
and may be influenced by factors such as technology, regulatory void or changes, fraudulent actors, manipulation and media reporting. Bitcoin (as well as other cryptocurrency) 
may have value based on various factors, including their acceptance as a means of exchange by consumers and producers, scarcity, and market demand. 

Equipment Costs 

The cost of new kiosks can be impacted significantly by inflation, supply constraints, and labor shortages, and could be significantly higher than our fair value for new kiosks. 
As a result, at times, we may obtain kiosks or other hardware from third parties at higher prices, to the extent they are available. 

Competition 

In addition to factors underlying kiosk business growth and profitability, our success greatly depends on our ability to compete. The markets in which we compete are highly 
competitive, and we face a variety of current and potential competitors that may have larger and more established customer bases and substantially greater financial, 
operational, marketing, and other resources than we have. The digital financial system is highly innovative, rapidly evolving, and characterized by healthy competition, 
experimentation, changing customer needs, frequent introductions of new products, and subject to uncertain and evolving industry and regulatory requirements. We expect 
competition to intensify as existing and new competitors introduce new products and services or enhance existing ones. We compete against a number of companies operating 
both within the United States and abroad, including traditional financial institutions, financial technology companies and brokerage firms that have entered the cryptocurrency 
market in recent years, digital and mobile payment companies offering overlapping features targeted at our users, and companies focused on cryptocurrencies. To stay 
competitive in the evolving digital financial system, both against new entrants into the market and existing competitors, we anticipate that we will have to continue to offer 
competitive features and functionalities and keep up with technological advances at fair prices to our users relative to our competitors.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
 
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Bitcoin Depot Inc. 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Bitcoin Depot Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2024, the related 
consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows, for the year then ended, 
and the related notes (collectively, the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Company as of December 31, 2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial 
statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and 
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor 
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal 
control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
 
Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing 
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
 
/s/ Wolf & Company, P.C. 
 
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2024.
 
 
Boston, Massachusetts
March 24, 2025
 
 

 



 

82

Table of Contents

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Bitcoin Depot Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Bitcoin Depot Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2023, the related 
consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders’ equity and member’s equity, and cash flows for the year 
then ended and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion
 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 
financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audit included performing 
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that 
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We served as the Company’s auditor from 2021 to 2024.

McLean, Virginia
April 15, 2024, except for Note 2(v) and Note 5, as to which the date is March 24, 2025
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BITCOIN DEPOT INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
 

  As of December 31,  
  2024   2023  

Assets       
Current:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 29,472   $ 29,759  
Cryptocurrencies   1,510    712  
Accounts receivable   275    245  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   3,076    3,514  

Total current assets   34,333    34,230  
Property and equipment:       

Furniture and fixtures   635    635  
Leasehold improvements   172    172  
Kiosk machines - owned   36,831    24,222  
Kiosk machines - leased   10,367    20,524  

Total property and equipment   48,005    45,553  
Less: accumulated depreciation   (21,158 )   (20,699 )

Total property and equipment, net   26,847    24,854  
Intangible assets, net

  2,320    3,836  
Goodwill   8,717    8,717  
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net   2,595    484  
Deposits   734    412  
Deferred tax assets   4,558    1,804  

Total assets  $ 80,104   $ 74,337  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited consolidated financial statements.
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BITCOIN DEPOT INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 

  As of December 31,  
  2024   2023  

Liabilities and Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity       
Current:       

Accounts payable  $ 11,557   $ 8,337  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   14,260    18,505  
Notes payable   6,022    3,985  
Income taxes payable   2,207    2,484  
Deferred revenue   20    297  
Operating lease liabilities, current portion   858    279  
Current installments of obligations under finance leases   3,446    6,801  
Other non-income tax payable   2,259    2,297  

Total current liabilities   40,629    42,985  
Long-term liabilities       

Notes payable, non-current   49,457    17,101  
Operating lease liabilities, non-current   1,774    319  
Obligations under finance leases, non-current   1,950    2,848  
Deferred income tax, net   604    846  
Tax receivable agreement liability due to related party   2,176    865  

Total Liabilities   96,590    64,964  
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 24)       
Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity       

Series A Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value; 50,000,000 authorized, 1,733,884 and 3,125,000 shares issued and 
outstanding, at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively   —    —  
Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value; 800,000,000 authorized, 19,263,164 and 13,602,691 shares issued, and 
19,072,544 and 13,482,047 shares outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively   1    1  
Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value; 20,000,000 authorized, no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively   —    —  
Class E common stock, $0.0001 par value; 2,250,000 authorized, 1,075,761 shares issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively   —    —  
Class M common stock, $0.0001 par value; 300,000,000 authorized, no shares issued and outstanding at December 
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively   —    —  
Class O common stock, $0.0001 par value; 800,000,000 authorized, no shares issued and outstanding at December 
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively   —    —  
Class V common stock, $0.0001 par value; 300,000,000 authorized, 41,193,024 and 44,100,000 shares issued and 
outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively   4    4  
Treasury stock   (437 )   (279 )
Additional paid-in capital   21,491    17,326  
Accumulated deficit   (44,349 )   (32,663 )
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (342 )   (203 )

Total Stockholders’ (Deficit) Attributable to Bitcoin Depot Inc.   (23,632 )   (15,814 )
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests   7,146    25,187  

Total Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity and Member’s Equity   (16,486 )   9,373  
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity  $ 80,104   $ 74,337  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited consolidated financial statements.
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BITCOIN DEPOT INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
 

 Year Ended December 31,  
 2024   2023  

Revenue $ 573,703   $ 688,967  
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)  482,263    587,938  
Operating expenses:      

Selling, general, and administrative  57,158    57,770  
Depreciation and amortization  10,072    12,788  

Total operating expenses  67,230    70,558  
Income from operations  24,210    30,471  
Other (expense) income:      

Interest (expense)  (14,199 )   (11,926 )
Other (expense) income  406    (16,737 )
Loss on foreign currency transactions  (465 )   (289 )

Total other (expense), net  (14,258 )   (28,952 )
Income before provision for income taxes and non-controlling interest  9,952    1,519  
Income tax (expense)  (2,138 )   (49 )
Net income $ 7,814   $ 1,470  
Net income attributable to Legacy Bitcoin Depot unit holders  —    12,906  
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest  19,500    14,666  
Net (loss) attributable to Bitcoin Depot Inc. $ (11,686 )  $ (26,102 )
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax      
Net income  7,814    1,470  
Foreign currency translation adjustments  34    (4 )
Total comprehensive income  7,848    1,466  
Comprehensive income attributable to Legacy Bitcoin Depot unit holders  —    12,885  
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest  19,500    14,683  
Comprehensive (loss) attributable to Bitcoin Depot Inc. $ (11,652 )  $ (26,102 )
Net (loss) attributable to Bitcoin Depot Inc. $ (11,686 )  $ (26,102 )
Loss per share basic and diluted $ (0.60 )  $ (1.57 )
Weighted average shares: basic and diluted  16,384,636    16,675,529  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited consolidated financial statements.
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BITCOIN DEPOT INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 
(in thousands, except share amounts) 

 
 

Series A
Preferred Stock  

Class A
Common Stock  

Class E
Common Stock  

Class V
Common Stock  Treasury Stock              

 Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital  

Accumulated 
Deficit  

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
(Loss)  

Total Stockholders’ 
Deficit Attributable 

to Bitcoin Depot 
Inc.  

Non-
Controlling 

Interest  

Total 
Stockholders’ 

Equity (Deficit)  

January 1, 2024  3,125,000  $ —   13,602,691  $ 1   1,075,761  $ —   
44,100,00

0  $ 4   
(120,6

44 ) $ (279 ) $ 17,326  $ (32,663 ) $ (203 ) $ (15,814 ) $ 25,187  $ 9,373  
Distributions  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (37,160 )  (37,160 )
Foreign currency translation  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (139 )  (139 )  173   34  
Conversion of Series A preferred 
stock to class A common stock  (1,391,116 )  —   1,391,116   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —  

Purchase of treasury shares  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   
(69,97

6 )  (158 )  —   —   —   (158 )  —   (158 )
Shares issued for vested RSU 
awards  —   —   1,362,381   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —  
Stock compensation  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   3,369   —   —   3,369   31   3,400  
Redemption of non-controlling 
interest  —   —   2,906,976   —   —   —   (2,906,976 )  —   —   —   585   —   —   585   (585 )  —  
Change in tax basis in BT HoldCo 
due to redemption  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   211   —   —   211   —   211  
Net (loss) income attributable to 
Bitcoin Depot Inc.  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (11,686 )  —   (11,686 )  19,500   7,814  

December 31, 2024  1,733,884  $ —   19,263,164  $ 1   1,075,761  $ —   
41,193,02

4  $ 4   
(190,6

20 ) $ (437 ) $ 21,491  $ (44,349 ) $ (342 ) $ (23,632 ) $ 7,146  $ (16,486 )

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited consolidated financial statements.
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 BITCOIN DEPOT INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND MEMBER’S EQUITY 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 

   
Series A

Preferred Stock  
Class A

Common Stock  
Class E

Common Stock  
Class V

Common Stock  Treasury Stock          

Total 
Stockholders’ 
(Deficit) and      

 

Equity
Attributed
to Legacy

Bitcoin Depot  Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  Shares  
Amo
unt  Shares  

Amo
unt  Shares  

Amou
nt  

Accumulate
d

Other
Comprehen

sive Loss  

Stock
Subscriptio

n 
Receivable  

Additio
nal

Paid-In 
Capital  

Accumulated 
Deficit  

(Deficit) 
Attributable 

to Bitcoin 
Depot Inc.  

Non-
Controlli

ng 
Interest  

Total 
Stockholders’ 

Equity and 
Member’s 

Equity  
January 1, 2023 $ 7,396   —  $ —   —  $ —   —  $ —   —  $ —   —  $ —  $ (182 ) $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 7,214  $ 2,230  $ 9,444  

Distributions  (12,737 )  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (12,737 )  
(2,29

4 )  (15,031 )
Foreign currency translation  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (21 )  —   —   —   (21 )  17   (4 )
Net income (loss) prior to 
transaction  12,906   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   12,906   —   12,906  
Recapitalization of Legacy Bitcoin 
Depot equity and establishment of 
non-controlling interest  (7,565 )  —   —   

11,858,69
1   1   

1,0
75,

761   —   
44,10
0,000   4   —   —   —   (4 )  —   (5,807 )  (13,371 )  9,866   (3,505 )

Establishment of TRA  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (754 )  (754 )  —   (754 )
Shares issued in connection with the 
PIPE Financing  —   4,300,000   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (5,609 )  

13,8
89   —   8,280   —   8,280  

Settlement of stock subscription 
receivable  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   5,613   —   —   5,613   —   5,613  
Conversion from Series A preferred 
stock to class A common stock  —   

(1,175,00
0 )  —   1,175,000   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —  

Share-based compensation expense  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   
1,82

2   —   1,822   702   2,524  

Treasury Shares  —   —   —   (120,644 )  —   —   —   —   —   
120,64

4   
(27

9 )  —   —   —   —   (279 )  —   (279 )
Stock compensation expense related 
to shares issued to founder  —   —   —   500,000   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   

1,61
5   —   1,615   —   1,615  

Shares issued for vested RSU 
awards  —   —   —   69,000   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —  
Net Income (loss) attributable to 
Bitcoin Depot Inc.  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (26,102 )  (26,102 )  

14,66
6   (11,436 )

December 31, 2023 $ —   3,125,000  $ —   
13,482,04

7  $ 1   

1,0
75,

761  $ —   
44,10
0,000  $ 4   

120,64
4  $

(27
9 ) $ (203 ) $ —  $

17,3
26  $ (32,663 ) $ (15,814 ) $

25,18
7  $ 9,373  

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited consolidated financial statements.
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BITCOIN DEPOT INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2024   2023  

Cash flows from operating activities:       
Net Income  $ 7,814   $ 1,470  

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in) operating activities:       
Amortization of deferred financing costs   1,261    1,567  
Accretion to contingent earn-out liability   —    159  
Depreciation and amortization   10,072    12,788  
Loss on Series A Preferred Share PIPE Issuance   —    14,472  
Non-cash stock compensation   3,400    4,139  
Purchase of services in cryptocurrencies   1,238    1,151  
Deferred taxes   (2,997 )   (1,392 )
Write-off of deferred financing costs   3,136    1,705  
Loss on disposal of property and equipment   122    273  
Reduction in carrying amount of right-of-use assets   632    151  
Cryptocurrency received as payment   (1,372 )   (1,450 )
Other   —    1,060  

Change in operating assets and liabilities
      

Deposits   (322 )   (412 )
Accounts receivable   (30 )   59  
Cryptocurrencies   (44 )   105  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   438    (1,113 )
Accounts payable   3,222    (2,238 )
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (4,247 )   5,388  
Income taxes payable / receivable   (276 )   1,538  
Other taxes payable   (38 )   1,502  
Tax receivable agreement liability   1,521    111  
Deferred revenue   (277 )   278  
Operating leases, net   (709 )   (211 )

Net cash flows provided by operations   22,544    41,100  
Cash flows from investing activities:       

Acquisition of property and equipment   (10,750 )   (22 )
Acquisition of Bitcoin for investment   (620 )   —  

Net cash flows used in investing activities   (11,370 )   (22 )
Cash flows from financing activities:       

Net proceeds from Merger   —    3,343  
PIPE commitment fees paid   —    (933 )
Contingent consideration payment   —    (2,000 )
Proceeds from stock subscription receivable   —    4  
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable   34,514    1,269  
Principal payments on notes payable   (4,398 )   (20,101 )
Payment of debt issuance costs   (121 )   —  
Principal payments on finance lease   (7,635 )   (14,005 )
Proceeds from finance leases   3,382    —  
Payment of deferred financing costs   —    (1,149 )
Purchase of treasury stock   (158 )   (279 )
Distributions   (37,160 )   (15,007 )

Net cash flows used in financing activities   (11,576 )   (48,858 )
Effect of exchange rate changed on cash and cash equivalents   115    (1 )
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   (287 )   (7,781 )
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period   29,759    37,540  
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period  $ 29,472   $ 29,759  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited consolidated financial statements.



 

89

Table of Contents

BITCOIN DEPOT INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2024   2023  
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:       
Cash paid during the year ended December 31 for:       
Interest  $ 9,926   $ 10,116  
Income taxes  $ 4,243   $ 371  
 
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities: 

See Note 6 for information on non-cash distribution to the Member. 

See Note 15 for information on non-cash financing activity related to term loan agreements. 

On March 26, 2024, the Company amended its term loan agreement with its lender. The total principal on the old term loan of $19.9 million was extinguished and the new term 
loan's principal balance with the same lender is $35.6 million. The net proceeds from the issuance is recorded as an inflow from financing activities of $15.2 million, net of fees 
paid of $0.5 million.

See Note 23 for information on non-cash activity related to a lease termination and new lease arrangements.  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited consolidated financial statements 
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BITCOIN DEPOT INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(1) Organization and Background 

(a) Organization 

Lux Vending, LLC (dba Bitcoin Depot) (“Legacy Bitcoin Depot”) was formed on June 7, 2016.  Pursuant to a transaction with GSR II Meteora Acquisition Corp. (“GSRM”), 
a Delaware corporation formed on October 14, 2021, Legacy Bitcoin Depot merged with and into GSRM and GSRM was renamed Bitcoin Depot Inc. (“Bitcoin Depot”, or 
the “Company”) (see Note 2(a)).  Bitcoin Depot owns and operates a network of cryptocurrency kiosks (“BTMs”) across North America and Australia where customers can 
buy and sell cryptocurrencies. In addition to the BTM network, Bitcoin Depot also sells cryptocurrency to consumers at a network of retail locations through its BDCheckout 
product offering and through its website. The BDCheckout offering allows users similar functionality to the BTM kiosks, enabling users to load cash into their accounts at the 
checkout counter at retailer locations, and use those funds to purchase cryptocurrency. The Company’s website allows users to purchase cryptocurrency online for which the 
Company earns a commission. Bitcoin Depot also offers a software solution to other BTM operators through its controlled subsidiary, BitAccess Inc. ("BitAccess").

(b) Background 

Several factors affect the price of cryptocurrencies, including but not limited to: (a) global supply and demand; (b) investors’ expectations with respect to the rate of inflation; 
(c) interest rates; (d) currency exchange rates, including the rates at which cryptocurrencies may be exchanged for fiat currencies; (e) fiat currency withdrawal and deposit 
policies of electronic market places where traders may buy and sell cryptocurrencies based on bid-ask trading activity with the various exchanges and the liquidity of those 
exchanges; (f) interruptions in service from or failures of major cryptocurrency exchanges; (g) investment and trading activities of large investors, including private and 
registered funds, that may directly or indirectly invest in cryptocurrencies; (h) monetary policies of governments, trade restrictions, currency devaluations and revaluations; (i) 
regulatory measures, if any, that restrict the use of cryptocurrencies as a form of payment; (j) the maintenance and development of the open-source protocol governing the 
cryptocurrency’s network; (k) global or regional political, economic or financial events and situations; (l) expectations among market participants that the value of a 
cryptocurrency will soon change; and (m) the reduction in mining rewards of Bitcoin, including block reward halving events, which are events that occur after a specific 
period of time and reduces the block reward earned by miners.

Global supply for a particular cryptocurrency is determined by the asset’s network source code, which sets the rate at which assets may be awarded to network participants. 
Global demand for cryptocurrencies is influenced by such factors as the increase in acceptance by retail merchants and commercial businesses of a cryptocurrency as a 
payment alternative, the security of online exchanges and digital wallets, the perception that the use of cryptocurrencies is safe and secure, and the lack of regulatory 
restrictions on their use. Additionally, there is no assurance that any cryptocurrency will maintain its long-term value in terms of purchasing power. Any of these events could 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position and the results of its operations. 

(c) Liquidity

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had current assets of $34.3 million, including cash and cash equivalents of $29.5 million, current liabilities of $40.6 million, total 
stockholders’ deficit of $16.5 million and an accumulated deficit of $44.3 million. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized net income of $7.8 
million and generated cash flows from operations of $22.5 million. The Company expects its existing cash and cash equivalents, together with cash provided by operations, to 
be sufficient to fund its operations for a period of 12 months from the date that these consolidated financial statements are issued.

 
(d) Risks and Uncertainties
 
The operations of Bitcoin Depot are subject to various regulatory challenges and uncertainties. The Company's ability to operate and expand its cryptocurrency kiosk services 
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations is a significant risk factor that may impact its financial performance and overall business prospects. The regulatory 
landscape surrounding cryptocurrencies, including the operation of crypto kiosks, is rapidly evolving and can vary significantly from one jurisdiction to another. The impact of 
heightened regulatory oversight is not yet known.  For example, recent legislation in California regulates digital financial asset transaction kiosks (“crypto kiosks”) by 
imposing the following: limiting to $1,000 per day the amount of funds the kiosk operator can accept from or dispense at its crypto kiosks; limiting the direct and indirect 
charges an operator may collect from a customer for a single transaction to the greater of $5 or 15% of the dollar equivalent of the digital assets involved in the transaction; 
(iii) requiring that specific information (including the amount of fees, expenses and charges, as well as any spread between the dollar price of the digital asset charged to the 
customer and the dollar price for that asset listed by a digital asset exchange) be disclosed both prior to a transaction 
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and on transaction receipts printed by crypto kiosks following the transaction; and (iv) requiring operators to provide the California Department of Financial Protection and 
Innovation with a list of all locations of the crypto kiosks that the operator owns, operates or manages in California. Other state agencies may propose and adopt new 
regulations (or interpret existing regulations) in ways that could result in significant adverse changes in the regulatory landscape for cryptocurrencies, regardless of whether 
these or other new laws are adopted.
 
The Company's financial performance and ability to achieve its business objectives may be significantly impacted by the outcome of ongoing regulatory discussions and 
potential changes in the regulatory framework governing cryptocurrencies in California and in other states that have passed, or may pass, similar legislation. These 
uncertainties may result in increased compliance costs, operational restrictions, or limitations on the Company's ability to expand its services or enter new markets. 
Compliance with current and proposed legislation that has not yet been published may be more challenging than expected.  
 
In addition, the Company's ability to obtain and maintain the necessary licenses, permits, and approvals from state regulatory authorities is subject to various factors beyond 
its control, including changes in laws, regulations, or interpretations thereof. Failure to comply with these requirements may result in penalties, fines, or even the suspension or 
termination of the Company's operations in the state.
 

(2) Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Basis of Presentation 

Reverse Recapitalization 

GSR II Meteora Acquisition Corp. (“GSRM”) was a blank check company incorporated as a Delaware corporation on October 14, 2021, for the purpose of effecting a 
merger or similar business combination with one or more businesses. On March 1, 2022, GSRM consummated its Initial Public Offering (“IPO”). On August 24, 2022, 
GSRM entered into a Transaction Agreement, as subsequently amended (the “Transaction Agreement”), by and among GSRM, GSR II Meteora Sponsor LLC (the 
“Sponsor”), Lux Vending, LLC (dba Bitcoin Depot), and BT Assets, Inc. (“BT Assets”). Prior to the events contemplated in the Transaction Agreement (collectively, the 
"Merger"), BT Assets was the sole owner and member in Legacy Bitcoin Depot (the "Member").

On June 30, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), Legacy Bitcoin Depot merged with and into Bitcoin Depot Operating, LLC (“BT OpCo”), with BT OpCo surviving the Merger as 
the post-transaction operating company owned solely by a newly formed entity, BT HoldCo, LLC (“BT HoldCo”) with common units (the “BT HoldCo Common Units”), 
preferred units (the “BT HoldCo Preferred Units”) and earnout units (the “BT HoldCo Earnout Units”) outstanding and issued to BT Assets. In connection with the Merger, 
GSRM changed its name to Bitcoin Depot Inc., purchased BT HoldCo Common Units owned by BT Assets and was issued BT HoldCo Earnout Units and warrants issued 
by BT HoldCo to the Company to purchase a number of BT HoldCo Common Units equal to the number of shares of Class A common stock that may be purchased upon 
the exercise in full of all Warrants outstanding immediately after the Closing Date (“BT HoldCo Matching Warrants”). The former owners of Legacy Bitcoin Depot (i.e., 
BT Assets and the owners thereof) were issued 44,100,000 non-economic, super voting shares of Class V common stock in Bitcoin Depot. The Class V common stock held 
by BT Assets corresponds to units held by BT Assets in BT HoldCo and represents non-controlling interests in the Company, as described in Note 12. Following the 
Closing Date, the Company is organized under an “Up-C” structure in which the business of the Company is operated by BT HoldCo and its subsidiaries, and Bitcoin 
Depot’s only material direct asset consists of equity interests in BT HoldCo. At June 30, 2023, the Company had issued and outstanding 12,358,691 common units, 
4,300,000 Series A Preferred Units and 43,848,750 warrants in BT HoldCo. Also at June 30, 2023, BT Assets owned 41,200,000 common units, 2,900,000 Founder 
Preferred Units, 5,000,000 Class 1 Earnout Units, 5,000,000 Class 2 Earnout Units and 5,000,000 Class 3 Earnout Units in BT HoldCo. 

On the Closing Date, the Company also issued 4,300,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of the Company (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) in connection 
with the private placement (“PIPE Financing”) discussed in Note 4, and 12,358,691 shares of Class A common stock. 

Notwithstanding the legal form of the Merger pursuant to the Transaction Agreement, the Merger is accounted for as a reverse recapitalization. The Merger is accounted 
for as a common control transaction and reverse recapitalization in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”), as BT Assets controls 
BT OpCo both before and after the transactions. 
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Legacy Bitcoin Depot is determined to be the predecessor and represents a continuation of BT OpCo’s balance sheet and consolidated statement of Income (Loss) and 
Comprehensive Income (Loss), reflective of the recapitalization of the Merger. 

As a result of the reverse capitalization accounting, the consolidated assets and liabilities of Legacy Bitcoin Depot are reflected by the Company at their historical cost with 
no additional goodwill or intangible assets recorded, accompanied by a recapitalization of the equity structure. The Company has reflected the recapitalization within the 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' (Deficit) Equity.

In connection with the Merger, the Company’s Class A common stock is now listed on the Nasdaq stock market under the symbol BTM and the Warrants to purchase the 
Class A common stock are listed on the Nasdaq stock market under the symbol BTMWW in lieu of the GSRM Ordinary Shares and GSRM’s warrants, respectively. 
GSRM’s units automatically separated into the GSRM’s Ordinary Shares and GSRM’s warrants and ceased trading separately on the Nasdaq stock market following the 
Closing Date. Prior to the Merger, GSRM neither engaged in any operations nor generated any revenue. Until the Merger, based on GSRM’s business activities, it was a 
shell company as defined under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). 

The consolidated assets, liabilities and results of operations prior to the Merger reflect those of Legacy Bitcoin Depot, which represents the predecessor of the Company. All 
such references to the Company for periods prior to the Merger refer to the activity of Lux Vending, LLC. 

The Company consolidates business enterprises that it controls by ownership of a majority voting interest. However, there are situations in which consolidation is required 
even though the usual condition of consolidation (ownership of a majority voting interest) does not apply. An enterprise must consolidate a Variable Interest Entity (“VIE”) 
if it is determined to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The primary beneficiary has both (a) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact 
the entity’s economic performance, and (b) the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. The 
Company consolidates all entities that it controls by ownership of a majority voting interest as well as VIEs for which the Company is the primary beneficiary. 

In connection with the Merger, the Company became the sole managing member of BT HoldCo, which holds all of the Company’s operating subsidiaries, and has the sole 
authority to make the key operating decisions on behalf of BT HoldCo. As such, the Company determined that BT HoldCo is a VIE and the Company is the primary 
beneficiary. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results of operations of BT HoldCo.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of Bitcoin Depot Inc. and its controlled subsidiaries: BT HoldCo, Kiosk Holdco LLC, Bitcoin 
Depot Operating, LLC, Lux Vending Kiosk, LLC, Mintz Assets, Inc., BTM Solutions India Private Limited, Express Vending, Inc., Kiosk Technicians LLC, NZ BTM Ltd., 
BTM AUS Pty Ltd., UK BTM LTD, Intuitive Software, LLC, Digital Gold Ventures, Inc. (“Digital Gold”), and BitAccess Inc. BT HoldCo is a holding company with 
ownership of Kiosk Holdco LLC.  Kiosk Holdco LLC is a holding company with ownership of Bitcoin Depot Operating, LLC. Bitcoin Depot Operating, LLC is a holding 
company with ownership of Lux Vending Kiosk LLC, Mintz Assets, Inc. and Intuitive Software, LLC. Mintz Assets, Inc. is a holding company that holds the ownership of 
BTM Solutions India Private Limited, Express Vending, Inc., Kiosk Technicians LLC, NZ BTM Ltd., BTM AUS Pty Ltd., and UK BTM LTD.  Intuitive Software, LLC is a 
holding company that holds an 82.14% equity interest (through its ownership of Digital Gold) in BitAccess Inc., a Canadian corporation. The non-controlling interests held by 
investors directly in BT HoldCo and BitAccess are presented separately as further discussed in Note 12. Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation. 

(b) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Estimates are used for, but not limited to, valuation of current and deferred income taxes, the determination of the useful lives of 
property and equipment, recoverability of intangible assets and goodwill, fair value of long-term debt, present value of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, assumptions and 
inputs for fair value measurements used in business combinations and in the transaction, impairments of cryptocurrencies, share-based compensation, and contingencies, 
including liabilities that the Company deems are not probable of assertion. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
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(c) Concentration of Credit Risk Arising from Cash Deposits in Excess of Insured Limits 

The Company maintains cash in established U.S., Canadian and Australian financial institutions that often will exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not 
experienced any losses in such accounts that are maintained at the financial institutions. 

The Company maintains cash balances in its BTMs and in fiat wallets with cryptocurrency exchanges to facilitate the purchase and sale of cryptocurrencies. The cash 
balances in the BTMs are not insured. The Company had cash of $10.7 million and $12.2 million in BTMs at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. 
Cash maintained in fiat wallets with cryptocurrency exchanges is not insured. The Company had $0.03 million and $0.1 million in cash with cryptocurrency exchanges as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

A significant customer concentration is defined as one from whom at least 10% of annual revenue is derived. The Company had no significant customer concentration for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash maintained at various financial institutions, cryptocurrency exchanges, cash in transit, and cash in BTMs owned and leased by the 
Company. 

Cash in transit consists of cash that is picked up by armored truck companies from the Company’s BTM machines but not yet deposited in the Company’s bank accounts. 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had cash in transit of $2.6 million and $5.3 million, respectively. Management evaluates cash in transit based on 
outstanding cash deposits on cash picked up by the armored truck companies, historical cash deposits and cash that is lost during transit, which is immaterial. The armored 
truck companies maintain insurance over theft and losses.

(e) Cryptocurrencies 

Cryptocurrencies are a unit of account that function as a medium of exchange on a respective blockchain network, and a digital and decentralized ledger that keeps a record 
of all transactions that take place across a peer-to-peer network. The Company primarily purchases cryptocurrencies to sell to customers. The Company’s cryptocurrencies 
consisted primarily of Bitcoin (“BTC”) as of and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The Company accounts for cryptocurrencies as indefinite-lived intangible assets in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 350, Intangibles - 
Goodwill and Other, and they are recorded on the Company’s consolidated Balance Sheets at cost, less any impairments. The Company has control and ownership of its 
cryptocurrencies which are stored in both the Company’s proprietary hot wallets and hot wallets hosted by a third-party, BitGo, Inc. 

The primary purpose of the Company’s operations is to buy and sell Bitcoin using the BTM kiosk network and other services. The Company does not engage in broker-
dealer activities. The Company uses various exchanges and liquidity providers to purchase, liquidate and manage its cryptocurrency positions; however, this does not 
impact the accounting for these assets as intangible assets. 

In June 2024, the Company announced plans to allocate a portion of its cash reserves to Bitcoin. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had Bitcoin with an adjusted cost 
basis of $0.6 million allocated to its treasury strategy within Cryptocurrencies on its Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Impairment 

Because the Company’s cryptocurrencies are accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible assets, the cryptocurrencies are tested for impairment annually or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate it is more likely than not that the asset is impaired in accordance with ASC 350. The Company has determined that a decline 
in the quoted market price below the carrying value at any time during the assessed period is viewed as an impairment indicator because the cryptocurrencies are traded in 
active markets where there are observable prices. Therefore, the fair value is used to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded. If the fair value of the 
cryptocurrency decreases below the initial cost basis or the carrying value during the assessed period, an impairment charge is recognized at that time in cost of revenue 
(excluding depreciation and amortization). After an impairment loss is recognized, the adjusted carrying amount of the cryptocurrency becomes its new accounting basis 
and this new cost basis will not be adjusted upward for any subsequent increase in fair value. For purposes of measuring impairment on its cryptocurrencies, the 
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Company determines the fair value of its cryptocurrency on a non-recurring basis in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, based on quoted (unadjusted) 
prices on an active exchange in the United States that the Company has determined is its principal market (Level 1 inputs).

The Company purchases cryptocurrencies, which are held in the Company’s hot wallets, on a just-in-time basis to facilitate sales to customers and mitigate exposure to 
volatility in cryptocurrency prices. The Company sells its cryptocurrencies to its customers from its BTM kiosks and BDCheckout locations in exchange for cash, for a 
prescribed transaction fee applied to the current market price of the cryptocurrency at the time of the transaction, plus a predetermined markup. When the cryptocurrency is 
sold to customers, the Company relieves the adjusted cost basis of its cryptocurrency, on a first-in, first-out basis within cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and 
amortization).  

If the fair value of the cryptocurrency held for treasury purposes decreases below the initial cost basis or the carrying value during the period, an impairment charge is 
recognized at that time. After an impairment loss is recognized, the adjusted carrying amount of the cryptocurrency becomes its new accounting basis and will not be 
adjusted upward for any subsequent increase in fair value.

The related cash flows from purchases and sales of cryptocurrencies are presented as cash flows from operating activities on the consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The 
related cash flows from investments in and sales of cryptocurrencies are presented as cash flow s from investing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 

See Notes 2(i) and 2(j) to the consolidated financial statements for further information regarding the Company’s revenue recognition and cost of revenue related to the 
Company’s cryptocurrencies. 

(f) Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Finance leases for kiosk machines are stated at the present value of the future minimum lease 
payments, less accumulated depreciation. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. The cost of assets sold, retired, or otherwise disposed of, and 
the related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from their respective accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated Statements of Income 
(Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) upon disposition. 

Depreciation of property and equipment is determined using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are as follows: 
 

Furniture and fixtures 7 years
Leasehold improvements Lesser of estimated useful life or life of the lease
Kiosk machines - owned 7 years
Kiosk machines - leased 2-7 years

 
Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled $8.6 million, and $11.3 million, respectively. 
 
In connection with an assessment of the estimated useful lives of the Company's owned and leased kiosks conducted in July 2024, the Company determined that the 
estimated useful lives of its owned and leased kiosks should be increased from 5 years to 7 years. This change in accounting estimate was effective beginning August 1, 
2024 and is being applied on a prospective basis to the owned and leased kiosks on the Company's balance sheet as of July 31, 2024, as well as to subsequent kiosk leases or 
purchases. Based on the net carrying amount of assets in use as of August 1, 2024, the impact of this change was a reduction of $2.3 million in depreciation expense and an 
increase of $0.12 in basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2024. 

(g) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group may not be fully 
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset group to its fair value, which is normally 
determined through analysis of the future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. If such asset group is considered to be impaired, the impairment to be 
recognized is measured by the amount that the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds the fair value of the asset group. There were no impairments of long-lived assets 
for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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(h) Goodwill and Intangible Assets, net 

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the estimated fair value of the acquired assets, assumed liabilities, and any non-controlling interest in the 
acquired entity in a business combination. The Company tests for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that would 
more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying value. The Company performs it's annual test for impairment as of October 1 at the 
reporting unit level. There was no impairment of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2024.

During 2024, the Company changed its annual impairment testing date from December 31 to October 1.  The Company belives this new date is preferable as it allows for 
more timely completion of the annual goodwill impairment test prior to the end of our annual financial reporting period.  The Company applied the change in annual 
impairment testing date prospectively beginning October 1, 2024.

Intangible assets, net consist of tradenames, customer relationships, and software applications. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated lives and 
evaluated for impairment when an event or change in circumstances occurs that warrants such a review. Management periodically evaluates whether changes to estimated 
useful lives of intangible assets are necessary to ensure its estimates accurately reflect the economic use of the related intangible assets. 

(i) Revenue Recognition 

BTM Kiosks and BDCheckout 

Revenue is principally derived from the sale of cryptocurrencies at the point-of-sale on transactions initiated by customers. These customer-initiated transactions are 
governed by terms and conditions agreed to at the time of each point-of-sale transaction and do not extend beyond the transaction. The Company charges a fee at the 
transaction level. The transaction price for the customer is the price of the cryptocurrency, which is based on the exchange value at the time of the transaction, plus a 
markup, and a flat fee. The exchange value is determined using real-time exchange prices and the markup percentage is determined by the Company and depends on the 
current market, competition, the geography of the location of the sale, and the method of purchase. 

The Company’s revenue from contracts with customers is principally comprised of a single performance obligation to provide cryptocurrencies when customers buy 
cryptocurrencies at a BTM kiosk or through BDCheckout. BDCheckout sales are similar to sales from BTM kiosks in that, customers buy cryptocurrencies with cash; 
however, the BDCheckout transactions are completed at the checkout counter of retail locations, initiated using the Bitcoin Depot mobile app instead of through the BTM 
kiosks. Regardless of the method by which the customer purchases the cryptocurrency, the Company considers its performance obligation satisfied when control of the 
cryptocurrency is transferred to the customer, which is at the point in time the cryptocurrency is transferred to the customer’s cryptocurrency wallet and the transaction is 
validated on the blockchain.

The typical processing time for the Company's transactions with customers is 30 minutes or less. Contract liabilities are amounts received from customers in advance of the 
Company transferring the cryptocurrencies to the customer’s wallet and the transaction validated on the blockchain. Contract liabilities are presented in “Deferred revenue” 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are not material as of December 31, 2024.

Judgment is required in determining whether the Company is the principal or the agent in transactions with customers. The Company evaluates the presentation of revenue 
on a gross or net basis based on whether it controls the cryptocurrency before control is transferred to the customer (gross) or whether it acts as an agent by arranging for 
other customers on the platform to provide the cryptocurrency to the customer (net). The Company controls the cryptocurrency before it is transferred to the customer, has 
ownership risk related to the cryptocurrency (including market price volatility), sets the transaction fee to be charged, and is responsible for transferring the cryptocurrency 
to the customer upon purchase. Therefore, the Company is the principal in transactions with customers and presents revenue and cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and 
amortization) from the sale of cryptocurrencies on a gross basis. 

(j) Cost of Revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization) 

The Company’s cost of revenue consists primarily of direct costs related to selling cryptocurrencies and operating the Company’s network of BTMs. The cost of revenue 
(excluding depreciation and amortization) caption includes cryptocurrency expenses, floorspace expenses, and kiosk operations expenses. 
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Cryptocurrency expenses 

Cryptocurrency expenses include the cost of cryptocurrencies, fees paid to obtain cryptocurrencies, impairment of cryptocurrencies, gains on sales of cryptocurrencies on 
exchange, fees paid to operate the third-party software on the BTM kiosks, and fees paid to transfer cryptocurrencies to customers. 

Floorspace lease expenses 

Floorspace lease expenses include lease expenses related to the placement of BTM kiosks.

Kiosk Operations expenses 

Kiosk operations expenses include the cost of kiosk repair and maintenance and the cost of armored trucks to collect and transport cash deposited into the BTM kiosks. 

The Company presents cost of revenue in the consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) exclusive of depreciation related to BTM kiosks 
and amortization of intangible assets related to software applications, tradenames and customer relationships. 

(k) Advertising 

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expenses were $6.1 million and $5.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. Amounts are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss). 

(l) Foreign Currency 

The functional currency of the Company is the USD. The functional currency of Express Vending, Inc. is the Canadian Dollar. All revenue, cost and expense accounts 
recorded in foreign currencies are translated at an average of exchange rates in effect during the period. Assets and liabilities recorded in foreign currencies are translated 
at the exchange rate as of the balance sheet date. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity, identified as 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). 

(m) Income Taxes 

Bitcoin Depot Inc. is treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes.  

BT HoldCo is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. Bitcoin Depot Operating, LLC is a Single-Member Limited Liability Company and owned by BT 
HoldCo, through Kiosk Holdco LLC, and with the consent of BT HoldCo, has elected under the Internal Revenue Code and similar state statutes to be a disregarded 
entity. In lieu of federal corporate income taxes, Bitcoin Depot Operating, LLC reflects its operating results on BT HoldCo’s federal tax return as a division of the 
partnership. As such, there were no federal income taxes for these entities. 

Mintz Assets, Inc., is treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes. Intuitive Software, LLC., and its wholly owned subsidiary, Digital Gold, are treated as 
corporations for federal income tax purposes. BitAccess Inc., and Express Vending, Inc., are each taxed as Canadian corporations. For the years ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023, there was minimal activity for Mintz Assets, Inc. and Intuitive Software, LLC and no activity for Digital Gold. As such, there were no federal income taxes for 
these entities. 

Deferred taxes are recognized for future tax consequences attributable to differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and 
liabilities and their respective tax basis and net operating loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to 
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.   

The effect of any tax rate change on deferred taxes is recognized in the period that includes the enactment date of the tax rate change. Realization of deferred tax assets is 
assessed on an annual basis and, unless a deferred tax asset is more likely than not to 
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be utilized, a valuation allowance is recorded to write down the deferred tax assets to their net realizable value. In assessing the realizability of deferred income tax assets, 
management considers whether it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred 
income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those deductible temporary differences reverse. Management 
considers the scheduled reversal of deferred income tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. For uncertain 
income tax positions, the Company uses a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold based on the technical merits of the income tax position taken. Income tax positions 
that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are measured in order to determine the tax benefit recognized in the financial statements. The Company 
recognizes accrued interest related to unrecognized tax benefits as part of income tax expense. Penalties, if incurred, are recognized as a component of income tax expense.

(n) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

Certain assets and liabilities are reported or disclosed at fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the Company’s principal market for such transactions. If the Company has not established a 
principal market for such transactions, fair value is determined based on the most advantageous market. The Company uses a three-level hierarchy that prioritizes fair value 
measurements based on the types of inputs used for the various valuation techniques. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below: 

•Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities.

•Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are either directly or indirectly observable, such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, 
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data 
for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

•Level 3: Inputs that are generally unobservable, supported by little or no market activity, and typically reflect management’s estimates of assumptions that market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

The categorization of an asset or liability within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The valuation 
techniques used by the Company when measuring fair value maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 

(o) Share-Based Compensation

BitAccess

The Company maintains an equity award plan under which the officers and employees of BitAccess were awarded various types of share-based compensation, including 
options to purchase shares of BitAccess common stock and restricted stock units. 

 
For stock options, share-based compensation expense is based on the fair value of the awards on the date of grant, as estimated using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The model requires management to make a number of assumptions, including the fair value
and expected volatility of BitAccess' underlying BitAccess common stock price, expected life of the option, risk-free interest rate, and expected dividend yield. The fair 
value of the underlying stock is the estimated fair value of BitAccess common stock on the date of grant. The expected stock price volatility assumption for BitAccess' stock 
is determined by using a weighted average of the historical stock price volatility of comparable companies from a representative peer group, as BitAccess stock is not 
actively traded. The Company uses historical exercise information and contractual terms of options to estimate the expected term. The risk-free interest rate for periods 
within the expected life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury zero coupon bonds with terms consistent with the expected term of the award at the time of grant. The 
expected dividend yield assumption is based on BitAccess’ history and expectation of no dividend payouts.

2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan

In conjunction with the close of the Transaction the Company established the Bitcoin Depot Inc. 2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”) under which officers, 
directors, and employees may be awarded various types of share-based compensation, 
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including but not limited to, restricted stock, stock options, and restricted stock units. Under the Incentive Plan, the Company has granted time-based and issued 
performance-based restricted stock units ("RSUs"). The Company recognizes compensation expense for the RSUs in accordance with ASC 718 - Compensation - Stock 
Compensation, ("ASC 718").

 
For RSUs, share-based compensation expense is based on the fair value of the Company’s Class A common stock at the closing price on the day before the date of grant.  
Share-based compensation expense associated with time-based RSUs is recognized on a straight-line basis over the award’s requisite service period (generally the vesting 
period). Share-based compensation expense associated with performance-based RSUs is determined based on the number of performance-based RSUs that are earned based 
on the Company's achievement of certain adjusted EBITDA targets that are determined and approved by the Company's Compensation Committee at its sole discretion. 
Forfeitures of awards granted under the Incentive Plan are accounted for at the time the forfeiture occurs.

(p) Segment Reporting 

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is available and that is regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating 
Decision Maker (the “CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer is the 
Company’s CODM. The CODM reviews financial information presented on a global, consolidated basis for purposes of making operating decisions, allocating resources, 
and evaluating financial performance. As such, the Company has determined that it operates as one operating segment and one reportable segment.

(q) Net Income Per Share Attributable to Class A Common Stock 

Basic earnings per share of Class A common stock is computed by dividing net income attributable to the Company by the weighted-average number of shares of Class A 
common stock outstanding during the same period. Diluted net income per share of Class A common stock is computed by dividing net income attributable to the Company 
by the weighted-average number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding adjusted to give effect to potentially dilutive securities. Potential shares of common stock 
consist of incremental shares issuable upon the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants, vesting of RSUs, vesting of Class E common stock and Class V common 
stock and conversion of the Company’s preferred stock, as applicable. 

(r) Litigation 

The Company assesses legal contingencies in accordance with ASC 450 - Contingencies and determines whether a legal contingency is probable, reasonably possible or 
remote. When contingencies become probable and can be reasonably estimated, the Company records an estimate of the probable loss. When contingencies are considered 
probable or reasonably possible but cannot be reasonably estimated, the Company discloses the contingency when the probable or reasonably possible loss could be material. 
Legal costs are expensed in the period in which the costs are incurred. 

(s) Earnouts 

At the closing of the Merger, GSRM received a total of 1,075,761 earnout shares (“Sponsor Earnout Shares”) in the form of Class E common stock of the Company. In 
current form, the Sponsor Earnout Shares are represented by the Company’s Class E-1, E-2, and E-3 common stock, each class comprising of one-third (1/3) of the total 
Sponsor Earnout Shares, or 358,587 shares each. Class E-1 Shares automatically convert to Class A common stock if during the seven-year period following the closing of 
the Merger, the Company’s stock price is greater than $12.00 over 10 trading days (which may be consecutive or not consecutive) within any 20 consecutive trading days 
(“First Milestone”). Class E-2 and Class E-3 are subject to similar milestones. The “Second Milestone” is reached when the Company’s stock price is greater than $14.00 
per share over any 10 trading days (which may be consecutive or not consecutive) within any 20 consecutive trading days during the seven-year period following the 
Merger. The “Third Milestone” has a threshold of $16.00 per share over any 10 trading days (which may be consecutive or not consecutive) within any 20 consecutive 
trading days during the 10-year period following the Merger. 

In addition to the Sponsor Earnout Shares, certain owners of BT HoldCo are entitled to receive an additional 15,000,000 BT HoldCo Earnout Units (“BT Earnout”). The BT 
Earnout is structured similarly to the Sponsor Earnout Shares with consistent milestones and vesting conditions. 

The Company evaluated the Sponsor Earnout Shares and BT HoldCo Earnout Shares under ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity, and 
concluded equity classification is appropriate. As equity-classified contracts, the Sponsor 
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Earnout Shares are not subject to remeasurement provided the conditions for equity-classification continue to be met. The Sponsor Earnout Shares have been recorded in 
connection with the reverse recapitalization accounting as part of the adjustment to accumulated deficit due to the absence of additional paid in capital. 

In connection with the Merger, the BT Earnout will be settled in Common Units which represent non-controlling interest, to be measured under the hypothetical liquidation at 
book value method, as described further in Note 12. 

(t) Warrants 

In connection with the Merger, the Company assumed a total of 43,848,750 Warrants, consisting of 31,625,000 Public Warrants and 12,223,750 Private Placement Warrants 
issued by GSRM which continue to be outstanding following the Merger. The outstanding Warrants are accounted for as freestanding equity contracts and are classified in 
equity under ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity. 

(u) Emerging Growth Company Status 

The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), as modified by the Jumpstart our 
Business Startups Act of 2012, (the “JOBS Act”), and it may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public 
companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements. 

(v) Change in Accounting Principle

On January 30, 2025, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 122 (“SAB 122”). SAB 122 rescinds the previously-issued 
interpretative guidance included within SAB 121 with respect to accounting for obligations to safeguard cryptocurrency assets that an entity holds for its customers. SAB 
122 directs an entity to apply ASC 450-20, Loss Contingencies to determine whether an entity has a liability related to risk of loss from an obligation to safeguard 
cryptocurrency assets for customers. The Company has adopted SAB 122 as of December 31, 2024 on a retrospective basis. As a result of the adoption of SAB 122, the 
Company has derecognized the cryptocurrency safeguarding asset and cryptocurrency safeguarding liability previously recognized within Prepaid expenses and other 
current assets and Accrued expenses and other current liabilities, respectively, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023.

In accordance with GAAP, the periods presented have been retrospectively adjusted to reflect this change, with no impact on revenue, operating income, net income, 
earnings per share, or any other components of equity or net assets. The following table shows the changes in presentation in the Consolidated Balance Sheets upon the 
Company’s change in accounting principle to reflect the derecognition of cryptocurrency safeguarding asset and cryptocurrency safeguarding liability (in thousands):

 
  As of December 31, 2023  
  As Previously Reported   Adjustment  As Adjusted  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 6,554   $ (3,040 ) $ 3,514  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

 $ 21,545   $ (3,040 ) $ 18,505  

 

(3) Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

Accounting Pronouncement Adopted 

In October 2021, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2021-08, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract 
Liabilities from Contracts with Customers,” which requires entities to apply Topic 606 to recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities in a business 
combination as if the acquiring entity had originated the contracts. The standard is effective for public companies for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, 
beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company adopted this accounting standard effective January 1, 2023 with no impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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In June 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-03, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to Contractual Sale 
Restrictions,” which clarifies that contractual sale restrictions are not considered in measuring fair value of equity securities and requires additional disclosures for equity 
securities subject to contractual sale restrictions. The standard is effective for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. The Company adopted this 
update effective January 1, 2024 and did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

 
In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07 "Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures". The amendments require entities to 
disclose significant segment expenses impacting profit and loss that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker. In addition, the amendments enhance interim 
disclosure requirements, clarify circumstances in which an entity can disclose multiple segment measures of profit or loss, provide new segment disclosure requirements for 
entities with a single reportable segment, and contain other disclosure requirements. The update is required to be applied retrospectively to prior periods presented, based on 
the significant segment expense categories identified and disclosed in the period of adoption.  The amendments are required to be adopted for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company adopted this updated effective January 1, 2024, which resulted 
in additional segment disclosures primarily related to significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM").  Refer to 
Note 5 - Segment Reporting for these additional disclosures 
 
In January 2025 the Securities and Exchange Commission issued SAB 122, which rescinds the interpretative guidance included in SAB 121 “Accounting for obligations to 
safeguard crypto-assets an entity holds for platform users." Please refer to Note 2(v) for more information in the Company's adoption of this interpretative guidance.

Accounting Pronouncement Pending Adoption 

In October 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-06 "Disclosure Improvements: Codification Amendments in Response to the SEC's Disclosures Update and Simplification 
Initiative". The guidance amends certain disclosure and presentation requirements related to the statement of cash flows, accounting changes and error corrections, earnings 
per share, interim reporting, commitments, debt, equity, derivatives, transfers and services and various industry specific guidance. For entities subject to the SEC's existing 
disclosure requirements, the effective date for each amendment will be the date on which the SEC's removal of that related disclosure from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K 
becomes effective. However, if by June 30, 2027, the SEC has not removed the existing disclosure requirements, the amendments will not become effective. Early adoption is 
not permitted. The Company is in the process of assessing the overall impact of adopting this guidance on its disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-08 "Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Crypto Assets (Subtopic 350-60) Accounting for and Disclosure of Crypto Assets".  
ASU 2023-08 will require entities to measure crypto assets that meet the scope criteria at fair value and to reflect changes in fair value in net income each reporting period.  
The amendments in ASU 2023-08 will also require entities to present crypto assets measured at fair value separately from other intangible assets on the balance sheet and 
changes in the fair value measurement of crypto assets separately from changes in the carrying amounts of other intangible assets on the income statement. The amendments 
in the ASU are effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted for 
both interim and annual financial statements that have not yet been issued (or made available for issuance). The Company is still assessing the impacts to its consolidated 
financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, "Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (Topic 740)". The ASU requires companies to break out their income tax 
expense, income tax rate reconciliation and income tax payments made in more detail. For public companies, the requirements will become effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is still assessing the impacts to its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03. "Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40)". The 
ASU requires expanded disclosures and disaggregation of certain expenses included within the income statement. The amendments become effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted.  The Company is still assessing the 
impacts of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
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(4) Merger 

For accounting purposes, the Merger was treated as the equivalent of Legacy Bitcoin Depot issuing stock for the net assets of GSRM accompanied by a recapitalization. The 
following summarizes the elements of the Merger to the consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, including the transaction funding, sources and uses of cash (in thousands): 
 

  As of June 30, 2023  
Cash - GSR II Meteora Acquisition Corp Trust  $ 332,102  
Less: GSRM transactions cost paid from Trust(1)   (25,958 )
Less: Purchase of BT HoldCo common units from BT Assets   (10,066 )
Less: Redemptions of existing shareholders of GSRM   (292,735 )
Net proceeds from GSRM shareholders   3,343  
Assumed net liabilities from GSRM, excluding net cash proceeds   (6,850 )
Net Impact of the Merger on the Statement of Changes in
Stockholders’ Equity and Member's Equity  $ (3,507 )

 
(1)Transaction costs paid from the GSRM trust account include $18.7 million of non-redemption payments, $4.9 million of other transaction-related expenses and $2.4 
million of franchise and income taxes, all of which were recorded by GSRM. 

PIPE Financing 
 
On June 23, 2023, GSRM entered into a private placement agreement with certain subscribers (“Subscribers”). Concurrently with the closing of the Merger, the Subscribers 
purchased 4,300,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock in exchange for a subscription receivable (“Subscription Receivable”).  The terms of the Subscription Receivable 
provided that the Subscribers would pay a purchase price of up to $43.3 million if the trading price of the Company’s Class A common stock exceeded certain hurdle prices 
ranging from $10.50 to $11.39 per share over the period from September 2023 through February 2024 (or April 2024 if the Company elected certain extensions).  The price 
paid by the Subscribers would be reduced if the trading price did not exceed the hurdle price and, if the Class A common stock trading price declined to zero, could have 
resulted in the Company making a cash payment to the Subscribers of up to $10.9 million (or $12.1 million if the Company elected to extend the observation period). 
 
For purposes of determining the settlement payments under the Subscription Receivable, the notional amount of 5,000,000 shares consisted of (a) the 4,300,000 shares of 
Series A Preferred Stock sold at the closing of the Merger, and (b) 700,000 shares of Class A common stock that were held by the Subscribers prior to the consummation of 
the Merger.  The Subscribers also entered into non-redemption agreements with the Company and received additional shares of Class A common stock in exchange for their 
commitments not to redeem in connection with the Merger. See the discussion below under GSRM Share Issuance for further information. 
 
The Series A Preferred Stock issued to the Subscribers was recorded in stockholders’ equity at a fair value of approximately $13.9 million based on the price of the 
Company’s Class A common stock as the Series A Preferred Stock are convertible at any time by the Subscribers on a 1:1 basis.  
 
The Subscription Receivable represented a hybrid financial instrument comprising a subscription receivable and a compound embedded derivative.  The host subscription 
receivable was recognized at fair value as a reduction to stockholders’ equity.  The embedded derivative represented a net cash settled forward contract with a value that is 
indexed to the trading price of the Company’s Class A common stock and was bifurcated pursuant to subtopic ASC 815-15 – Embedded derivatives and was initially recorded 
as a liability at de minimus fair value at inception, with changes in fair value recognized in earnings.
 
On October 11, 2023, the PIPE Agreement was settled with the Subscribers for de minimus consideration.  The effects of the settlement resulted in the elimination of the 
subscription receivable and the embedded derivative liability with the difference being recorded as other expenses within Other (expense) income in the consolidated 
Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss).  For the year-ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized approximately $15.2 million in expenses 
related to the agreement including $13.9 million of expense related to the fair value of the Series A Preferred Shares and $1.3 million of other transaction-related expenses. 
 

Non-Redemption Agreements 
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Prior to the Merger, GSRM entered into voting and non-redemption agreements (“Voting and Non-Redemption Agreements”) with unaffiliated third parties (“Non-Redeeming 
Stockholders”) in exchange for such Non-Redeeming Stockholders, including the Subscribers referenced above, agreeing to either not redeem or to reverse any previously 
submitted redemption request with respect to an aggregate of 6,783,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock sold in its initial public offering (“Non-Redeemed 
Shares”) and to allow the Company, without another stockholder vote, to further extend the date to consummate an initial business combination on a monthly basis up to eight 
times by an additional one month each time after July 1, 2023 (each one month extension, a “Monthly Extension”), until March 1, 2024, unless the closing of an initial 
business combination shall have occurred prior thereto (the “Extension”). As noted above, the Merger closed on June 30, 2023. 

GSRM Share Issuance 

In exchange for the commitments not to redeem such Non-Redeemed Shares, GSRM agreed to issue to the Non-Redeeming Stockholders an aggregate of 67,830 shares 
(“Commitment Shares”) (representing 1% of the Non-Redeemed Shares) of the Company’s Class A common stock. The Non-Redeeming Stockholders also received 135,660 
shares (“Extension Shares”) of the Company’s Class A common stock in connection with the initial extension. Additionally, a backstop fee was paid immediately upon closing 
of the Merger, which was paid to all Non-Redeeming Stockholders, except for one investor, to which the Company paid the backstop fee in the form of 454,350 shares of the 
Company’s Class A common stock. In total, the Company issued 657,840 shares of Class A common stock at the closing of the Merger and $18.7 million of cash was paid 
out of the SPAC trust account proceeds. The cash paid by GSRM to Non-Redeeming Stockholders of $18.7 million reduced GSRM’s trust account balance at closing of the 
Merger. In connection with the reverse recapitalization, the Company recorded the remaining trust account balance and other net liabilities as an adjustment to accumulated 
deficit on the consolidated Balance Sheet and Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity and Member's Equity. The expenses related to the Non-Redemption 
Agreements and the GSRM Share Issuance described above have been recognized in the GSRM Statement of Operations as these transactions occurred prior to the Merger. 

Bonus Agreements

The Company entered into sale bonus agreements with an officer and an employee of Bitcoin Depot as part of the Merger and agreed to pay bonuses to these individuals based 
on the results of the Merger. The Company paid in cash an aggregate bonus compensation of $0.8 million as of year end December 31, 2023 and granted 120,500 restricted 
stock units related to the sale bonus agreement. The compensation expense is included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated Statements of 
Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss). Additionally, as part of the closing of the Transaction, the Company issued 500,000 Class A Common shares to the Chief 
Executive Officer. See Note 20 Share-Based Compensation for additional details.
 
 
(5) Segment Reporting

The Company operates as a single operating segment, with the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") serving as the CODM.  The CODM evaluates performance and allocates 
resources on a consolidated basis, reviewing financial and operational information for the entire organization rather than assessing discrete product or service lines or 
geographic locations.  The Company concluded that it has a single reportable segment based on the similarity of the Company's products and services, its common customer 
base, and the comparable regulatory environment in which it operates.

Revenue is primarily generated through cash paid by customers to purchase Bitcoin from the Company's kiosks with a minimal amount of revenue generated from other 
products and services. Refer to Note 7 - Revenue for more information on the Company's revenue generating products and services.

As of and for the year-ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, substantially all of the Company's revenue was generated in the US, and substantially all of its long-lived assets 
were located in the US.

As the CODM focuses on overall Company performance, any asset information used for decision-making purposes aligns with the consolidated totals presented in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. See the Consolidated Balance Sheets for additional information on the Company's asset composition.

The CODM considers multiple measures of profit or loss such as, EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, and Net Income, and uses these measures to assess the Company's overall 
performance, compare actual results to budgets, and guide decisions on capital investments 
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and other resource allocations. The table below summarizes net income related segment information used by the CODM to evaluate the Company's performance:

  Year Ended December 31,  

  2024   2023  

Revenue  $ 573,703   $ 688,967  
Cost of cryptocurrency sold   424,135    534,234  
Armored cash collection   8,010    7,051  
Wireless connectivity costs   2,671    2,297  
Loss on foreign currency transactions   465    289  
Share-based compensation   3,400    4,140  
Kiosk shipping and services   6,139    5,275  
Floorspace leases   37,522    34,616  
Bank fees   2,901    3,136  

Payroll costs   
24,428

   
19,952

 
Advertising and marketing costs   6,076    5,586  
Professional fees   9,904    14,978  
Operating software costs   4,133    2,571  
Interest   14,199    11,926  
Income tax expense   2,138    49  
Amortization   1,516    1,516  
Depreciation   8,556    11,272  
Other segment items   9,696    28,609  

Net income  $ 7,814   $ 1,470  
 
(1) Includes cryptocurrency impairments for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 of $8.7 million and $7.7 million, respectively. 
(2) Includes insurance and other expenses in 2024 and 2023. Includes $14.9 million of expenses related to the PIPE financing transaction in 2023.
 

(6) Related Party Transactions 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company distributed to BT Assets 112.4 Litecoin and 7.5 Ethereum with a total cost basis of $0.02 million. Total cash 
distributions made to BT Assets during the year ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 were $36.7 million and $15.0 million, respectively and are classified as 
cash outflows from financing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The total cash and non-cash distributions are reflected in the consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity.

At the closing of the Merger, the Company entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with by and among Bitcoin Depot Inc, HoldCo, and BT Assets. Pursuant to the Tax 
Receivable Agreement, the Company is generally required to pay BT Assets 85% of the amount of savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state, local, and foreign income taxes that 
the Company realizes, or in certain circumstances are deemed to realize. See Note 19. Income Taxes for further discussion.

In connection with the closing of the Merger, the Company entered into separate indemnification agreements with its directors and executive officers. These agreements, 
among other things, require the Company to indemnify its directors and executive officers for certain costs, charges and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines 
and settlement amounts, reasonably incurred by a director or executive officer in any action or proceeding because of their association with the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries. No amounts have been recognized related to these agreements as of December 31, 2024.

On September 28, 2023, the Company entered into an advisory agreement with SPAC Advisory Partners, LLC ("SAP"). The agreement is for capital markets advice. SAP is 
managed by the same investment professionals that managed GSRM prior to the 

(1)

(2)
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Merger. Total fees associated with their advisory services on a success basis is $0.3 million and are recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated 
Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company declared and paid a $29.0 million preferred distribution to BT Assets as a return to BT Asset's on the preferred units 
it holds in BT HoldCo. The distribution amount reduced the preferred dividend attributable to the Non-Controlling Interest from $29.0 million to a remaining balance of $0.

On July 10, 2024, the Company entered into a Kiosk Service Agreement with an entity owned by the CEO, that owns and operates kiosks unrelated to the Company’s Bitcoin 
ATM business. The agreement provides for the following services: kiosk placement, treasury management and other back office services. The Company will receive 30% of 
the net profit as compensation.  The Company did not have any revenue and only incurred an immaterial amount of start-up costs related to this agreement in the year ended 
December 31, 2024.

(7) Revenue

Revenue disaggregated by revenue stream is as follows (in thousands):
 

 Year Ended December 31,  
 2024   2023  

BTM Kiosks $ 571,261   $ 686,314  
BD Checkout  697    1,149  
Company Website  934    879  
Software Services  479    575  
Hardware Revenue  332    50  
Total Revenue $ 573,703   $ 688,967  

 
 

(8) Cost of Revenue (Excluding Depreciation and Amortization)

The following table presents cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization) by category (in thousands):
 

 Year Ended December 31,  
 2024   2023  

Cryptocurrency expenses $ 424,135   $ 534,234  
Floorspace lease expenses  37,522    34,616  
Kiosk operations expenses  20,606    19,088  

Total Cost of Revenue (excluding depreciation and
amortization reported separately) $ 482,263   $ 587,938  

 
The following table presents the components of cryptocurrency expenses (in thousands):
 

 Year Ended December 31,  
 2024   2023  

Cost of Cryptocurrency (1) - BTM Kiosk $ 422,873   $ 532,356  
Cost of Cryptocurrency (1) - BDCheckout  599    985  
Software Processing Fees  60    280  
Exchange Fees  1    22  
Mining Fees  593    575  
Software Processing Fee - BDCheckout  9    16  

Total cryptocurrency expenses $ 424,135   $ 534,234  
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(1)Cost of Cryptocurrency includes impairment losses recognized on cryptocurrencies. Impairment of $8.7 million and $7.7 million were offset by $0.2 million and 
$0.1 million gains from the sale of cryptocurrencies on exchange for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The following table reconciles amounts excluded from the cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization) caption in the consolidated Statements of Income 
(Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) included in total depreciation and amortization expense in the consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive 
Income (Loss) for the period presented (in thousands): 
 

 Year Ended December 31,  
 2024   2023  

Depreciation of owned BTM kiosks $ 4,430   $ 2,447  
Depreciation of leased BTM kiosks  4,038    8,492  
Amortization of intangible assets  1,516    1,516  

Total depreciation and amortization excluded from cost of revenue  9,984    12,455  
Other depreciation and amortization included in operating expenses  88    333  

Total depreciation and amortization $ 10,072   $ 12,788  
 
(9) Fair Value Measurements 

Contingent Consideration 

The following table presents the changes in the estimated fair value and level of the contingent consideration liability, as of December 31, 2023: (in thousands): 
 

  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
Ending balance - December 31, 2022  $ 1,841   $ —   $ —  

Change in fair market value   159    —    —  
Payment   (2,000 )   —    —  

Ending balance - December 31, 2023  $ —   $ —   $ —  
 
Contingent consideration related to the BitAccess acquisition in July 2021 was measured at the probability-weighted fair value at the date of acquisition, which was estimated 
by applying an income valuation approach based on Level 3 inputs consisting primarily of a discount rate and probability of achieving the performance metrics. During the 
year-ended December 31, 2022, the Company made the first year payment of $2.0 million to the former owners of BitAccess as the performance conditions were determined 
to have been met. In addition, the Company amended the contingent consideration arrangement to remove the performance conditions for the second year payment such that 
the full $2.0 million related to the second year payment would be paid out in accordance with the agreement on July 31, 2023. As a result of the change in the agreement, the 
contingent liability changed from Level 3 to Level 1, in accordance with ASC 820. The change in fair value of the contingent consideration is recognized in interest expense in 
the consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the year ended December 31, 2023. The difference between the recorded fair value of the 
payments and the ultimate payment amounts was not material to any period. In July 2023, in accordance with the BitAccess acquisition agreement, the Company paid $2.0 
million to settle the remaining contingent consideration. 

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis 

The Company’s non-financial assets, such as goodwill, intangible assets, property and equipment, operating lease right-of-use assets, and cryptocurrencies are adjusted down 
to fair value when an impairment charge is recognized. Certain fair value measurements are based predominantly on Level 3 inputs. No impairment charges related to 
goodwill, intangible assets, operating lease right-of-use assets and property and equipment have been recognized for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The Company did not have any assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2023 and 2024.
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Assets and Liabilities Not Measured and Recorded at Fair Value

The Company considers the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses (excluding contingent consideration) in 
the consolidated financial statements to approximate fair value due to their short maturities. 

The Company estimates the fair value of its fixed-rated notes payable based on quoted prices in markets that are not active, which is considered a Level 2 valuation input. As 
of December 31, 2024, the estimated fair value of the fixed-rate notes were approximately $39.3 million and the carrying value was $39.5 million. As of December 31, 2023, 
the estimated fair value of the fixed-rate notes were approximately $22.1 million and the carrying value was $21.1 million. 

The Company entered into franchise profit sharing arrangements in 2024. The carrying value of the notes payable related to the Company's franchise profit sharing 
arrangements was initially determined as the initial investment amount and is updated quarterly using a retrospective interest method.  The effective interest rate used is 
determined based on actual and projected profit sharing payments which are generally unobservable inputs and are considered Level 3 fair value estimates. As of December 
31, 2024, the estimated carrying value and fair value of the notes payable related to the franchise profit sharing arrangements was approximately $16.7 million.

(10) Prepaid and Other Current Assets

The following table presents Prepaid and other current assets (in thousands): 

  As of December 31,  
  2024   2023  

Prepaid expenses  $ 1,828   $ 2,334  
Other current assets   1,248    1,180  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 3,076   $ 3,514  

 

 
(11) Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

The following table presents Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (in thousands): 

  As of December 31,  
  2024   2023  

Payables to liquidity providers  $ 2,246   $ 5,143  
Accrued expenses   12,014    13,362  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  $ 14,260   $ 18,505  
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(12) Non-controlling Interests

The following table presents the changes in the balances of non-controlling interests for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):
 

  BitAccess  BT HoldCo  Total  
Beginning balance January 1, 2023  $ 2,230  $ —  $ 2,230  
Distributions   —   (2,294 )  (2,294 )
Stock compensation   702   —   702  
Foreign currency translation   —   17   17  
Recapitalization   —   9,866   9,866  
Net (loss) income   (225 )  14,891   14,666  

Ending balance December 31, 2023  $ 2,707  $ 22,480  $ 25,187  
Distributions   —   (37,160 )  (37,160 )
Stock compensation   31   —   31  
Foreign currency translation   —   173   173  
Recapitalization   —   (585 )  (585 )
Net (loss) income   (64 )  19,564   19,500  

Ending balance December 31, 2024  $ 2,674  $ 4,472  $ 7,146  

Non-controlling Interest - BitAccess 

In July 2021, the Company obtained a controlling interest in BitAccess Inc. in a business combination. The un-affiliated interest in BitAccess Inc. is reported as non-
controlling interests in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the non-controlling interest ownership was 17.86%.

The non-controlling interest has certain rights as defined in the Amended and Restated Shareholders Agreement, including the right, but not the obligation, to cause the 
Company to purchase the non-controlling interest immediately prior to a liquidity event (as defined in the Amended and Restated Shareholders Agreement) at the fair value of 
the non-controlling interest as of the liquidity event. The non-controlling interest is not mandatorily redeemable. The Company also holds a right, but not an obligation, to 
cause the non-controlling interest holders to sell the non-controlling interest under the same conditions. The Merger was not considered to be a liquidity event as defined in the 
agreement.

Non-controlling Interest - BT HoldCo

The Company is the primary beneficiary of BT HoldCo. The majority stockholder of BT HoldCo, BT Assets, held 44,093,024 and 41,200,000 common units, and 0 and 
2,900,000 preferred units of BT HoldCo, along with 41,193,024 and 44,100,000 Class V voting, non-economic shares in the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. BT Assets has the right to exchange the common units, together with a corresponding number of shares of Class V common stock, for, at the Company’s option, 
(i) shares of the Company’s Class A common stock or (ii) cash from a substantially concurrent public offering or private sale (based on the price of the Company’s Class A 
common stock). The ownership interests in BT HoldCo held by BT Assets represent the non-controlling interest not directly attributable to Bitcoin Depot and are reported as 
part of non-controlling interests in BT HoldCo on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, BT Assets had exchanged 
2,906,976 and 0 common units, respectively.

The preferred units are entitled to a $10.00 per unit preference (total preference of $29.0 million) on liquidation or distribution before any distributions may be made to other 
unitholders (other than certain permitted tax distributions). After the close of the Merger, up to $29.0 million of the net income from BT OpCo may be allocated to BT 
HoldCo. If net income exceeds $29.0 million, such excess income will be allocated to Bitcoin Depot and BT HoldCo based on their pro rata economic ownership interest in 
BT OpCo. When the preference amount is paid, the preferred units are automatically converted to common units. As such, the Company uses the hypothetical liquidation at 
book value (“HLBV”) method to determine its equity in the earnings of BT HoldCo. Under the HLBV method, a calculation is prepared at each balance sheet date to 
determine the amount that the Company would receive if BT HoldCo were to liquidate all of its assets (at book value in accordance with U.S. GAAP) on that date and 
distribute the net proceeds to the partners based on the contractually-defined liquidation priorities. The difference between the net assets at the beginning and end of the 
period, after adjusting for capital contributions, tax distributions, stock compensation and distributions, is the Company’s income or loss from BT HoldCo for the period.
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company paid a distribution of $29 million to BT Assets, and all BT Assets' preferred units of BT HoldCo were converted to 
common shares.

As of December 31, 2024, the non-controlling interest ownership of BT HoldCo was 67.7% and the non-controlling interests measured under the HLBV method were $7.1 
million.

As of December 31, 2023 the non-controlling interest ownership of BT HoldCo was 72.6% and the non-controlling interests measured under the HLBV method were $25.2 
million.

BT Assets also holds 15,000,000 BT Earnout units, which are discussed in more detail at Note 18.

(13) Cryptocurrencies
 
The following tables present additional information about the adjusted cost basis of cryptocurrencies (in thousands):
 

  BTC   ETH   Total  
Beginning balance—January 1, 2024  $ 711   $ 1   $ 712  

Purchase or receipts of cryptocurrency   425,348    —    425,348  
Cost of cryptocurrencies sold or distributed

  
(415,863

)   —    
(415,863

)
Impairment of cryptocurrencies   (8,687 )   —    (8,687 )

Balance—December 31, 2024  $ 1,509   $ 1   $ 1,510  
 

  BTC   ETH   LTC   Total  
Beginning balance—January 1, 2023  $ 523   $ 9   $ 8   $ 540  

Purchase or receipts of cryptocurrency   534,947    4    3    534,954  
Cost of cryptocurrencies sold or distributed   (527,036 )   (12 )   (11 )   (527,059 )
Impairment of cryptocurrencies   (7,723 )   —    —    (7,723 )

Balance—December 31, 2023  $ 711   $ 1   $ —   $ 712  
 
Purchases or receipts of cryptocurrency consists of: (a) cash paid by the Company to purchase cryptocurrencies on various exchanges and from liquidity providers and related 
transaction costs to acquire the cryptocurrencies, (b) receipts of cryptocurrency sold to the Company by customers at the BTM kiosks, and (c) receipts of cryptocurrency by 
the Company as consideration for company website and software services revenue. Costs of cryptocurrencies sold or distributed represents the adjusted cost basis of 
cryptocurrencies sold to customers or payments made in cryptocurrencies, recorded through the date of disposition.
 
The Company may be extended short-term credits from various exchanges and liquidity providers to purchase Bitcoin. The trade credits are generally due and payable in cash 
within days after they are extended. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had $2.2 million and $5.1 million outstanding within “Accrued expenses and other 
current liabilities” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, respectively.

(14) Goodwill and Intangible Assets, net 

Intangible assets, net were comprised of the following at December 31, 2024 (in thousands, except for weighted-average period): 
 

  
Estimated

life  
Cost
Basis   

Accumulated
Amortization   Net   

Remaining
Weighted-
Average

Amortization
Period  

Tradenames  5 years  $ 1,233   $ (856 )  $ 377    1.53  
Customer relationships  5 years   2,574    (1,786 )   788    1.53  
Software applications  5 years   3,771    (2,616 )   1,155    1.53  
    $ 7,578   $ (5,258 )  $ 2,320     
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Intangible assets, net were comprised of the following at December 31, 2023 (in thousands, except for weighted-average period): 
 

  
Estimated

life  
Cost
Basis   

Accumulated
Amortization   Net   

Remaining
Weighted-
Average

Amortization
Period  

Tradenames  5 years  $ 1,233   $ (609 )  $ 624    2.53  
Customer relationships  5 years   2,574    (1,271 )   1,303    2.53  
Software applications  5 years   3,771    (1,862 )   1,909    2.53  
    $ 7,578   $ (3,742 )  $ 3,836     
 
Amortization expense related to the intangibles with estimated lives of five years totaled $1.5 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. Amounts are 
included in depreciation and amortization in the consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Estimated future amortization expense as of December 31, 2024 approximately as follows (in thousands): 
 

  Amount  
2025  $ 1,516  
2026   804  
Total  $ 2,320  

 
There was no change in the amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.
 
  (15) Notes Payable 

Credit Agreement

On December 21, 2020, the Company entered into a credit agreement with a financial institution which provided for initial term loans in an aggregate principal amount of 
$25.0 million, comprised of two $12.5 million tranches, and which was subject to annual interest at a rate of 15% per annum (the “note”). In 2021, the Company utilized the 
delayed draw facility of the credit agreement and amended the note to provide an additional $15.0 million to fund the acquisition of BitAccess Inc. In March 2022, the note 
was again amended to provide an additional term loan in an aggregate principal amount of $5.0 million. 

On May 2, 2023, the Company amended its note with its lender. Pursuant to the amendment, the accelerated repayment feature in the event of a business combination 
transaction or a change in control transaction was removed and the repayment date was extended to August 15, 2023 to allow for a renegotiation of the repayment schedule. In 
addition, the fixed interest rate in the note was modified to increase the rate from 15% per annum to 20% per annum effective February 16, 2023 through August 15, 2023, 
and a catch-up payment was made for the incremental interest from February 16, 2023 through May 1, 2023 of approximately $0.3 million.

On June 23, 2023, the Company amended and restated its credit agreement (the "Amended and Restated Note") with its existing lender. Under the Amended and Restated 
Note, the Company refinanced $20.8 million of the note which is subject to an annual interest at a rate of 17% per annum. The Company is required to make monthly interest 
payments and fixed principal payments every six months beginning on December 15, 2023 through June 15, 2026. In connection with the Amended and Restated Note, the 
Company repaid approximately $16.4 million of the outstanding principal balance, refinanced $20.8 million of the outstanding principal balance and paid an exit fee of $2.3 
million. The Amended and Restated Note matures on June 23, 2026, at which time, any outstanding principal balance and any accrued interest become due. Additionally, the 
Company is required to pay an exit fee of $1.8 million upon maturity or prepayment and accordingly, has included this amount in the note payable, non-current in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet. In conjunction with the transaction, Legacy Bitcoin Depot and BT Assets, Inc. were substituted for BT OpCo and BT HoldCo, LLC respectively. 
The Amended and Restated Note is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of BT HoldCo, LLC and Mintz Assets, Inc., Express Vending, Inc., Intuitive Software, 
LLC, Digital Gold Ventures, Inc. and BitAccess Inc. The Company is subject to certain financial covenants contained in the Amended and Restated Note, which require BT 
HoldCo and certain of its subsidiaries to maintain certain cash balances, and a maximum consolidated total leverage ratio, in addition to customary 
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administrative covenants.  The Company accounted for the Amended and Restated Note as a debt modification in accordance with ASC 470, Debt. 

On March 26, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment to the Amended and Restated Note dated June 23, 2023 to provide an additional $15.7 million in principal 
financing. This amendment increased the aggregate principal amount of the term loan facility to $35.6 million which consists of $19.9 million which was outstanding under 
the original loan and $15.7 million in additional principal resulting in net cash flow of $15.2 million related to the amendment. The Company accounted for the amendment as 
an extinguishment of debt in accordance with ASC 470, Debt. As such, the Company recognized the outstanding deferred financing costs of $3.2 million as a loss on 
extinguishment of debt in interest expense on the Consolidated Statements of (Loss) Income and Comprehensive (Loss) Income which consisted of a $2.7 million write off 
unamortized deferred loan costs and $0.5 million in loan origination fees related to the amendment.

As a part of the amendment, the Company incurred an additional exit fee of $1.3 million which is due upon either maturity or the prepayment of the note. The total deferred 
financing costs associated with the amendment were $1.4 million (which includes the exit fee of $1.3 million) and are reflected as a reduction of the note proceeds. The 
Company will recognize these deferred financing costs, using the effective interest method over the term of the note.

Other Debt

Kiosk Profit Share Franchise Arrangements

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company entered into seven kiosk franchise profit sharing arrangements. Under the terms of the agreements, the third parties 
receive a share in the profits generated by a group of specifically identified kiosks for a specified period of time. As a result of consideration received up front, the Company 
determined these arrangements were accounted for as debt in accordance with ASC 470, Debt. The Company recorded debt of $15.8 million as a result of these franchise 
profit sharing arrangements, maturing between February 2029 and February 2033, with principal and interest paid monthly via profit sharing payments.

In December 2023, the Company entered into a 36-month collateralized term loan with a financing company in the amount of $1.3 million to facilitate the purchase of 
previously leased kiosks (Note 23). In accordance with the term loan, the kiosks are collateral for the loan. The loan is subject to annual interest of 15.75% with interest and 
principal payments due monthly.

The carrying values of the notes payable related to the Company's franchise profit sharing arrangements were initially determined as the initial investment and are updated 
quarterly using a retrospective interest method.  The effective interest rate used in the calculation of monthly interest is determined based on actual and projected profit sharing 
payments and is updated on a quarterly basis under the retrospective interest method.

Equipment Financing

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company entered into five, 36-month collateralized term loans for a total amount of $2.6 million to facilitate the purchase of 
BTM kiosks. In accordance with the term loans, the kiosks are collateral for the loans. The loans are subject to annual interest rates between 16.86% and 17.42%, with interest 
and principal payments due monthly. 
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Notes payable consisted of the following as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands): 

 
 As of December 31, 2024   As of December 31, 2023  

 
Credit 

Agreement   Other Debt   Total   
Credit 

Agreement   Other Debt   Total  
Credit agreement $ 33,338   $ —   $ 33,338   $ 19,920   $ —   $ 19,920  
Other debt  —    19,801    19,801    —    2,597    2,597  

Total notes payable principal outstanding $ 33,338   $ 19,801   $ 53,139   $ 19,920   $ 2,597   $ 22,517  
Plus: exit fee due upon payment of credit agreement  

3,098
   —    

3,098
   

1,764
   —    

1,764
 

Less: unamortized deferred financing costs  (758 )   —    (758 )   (3,195 )   —    (3,195 )
Total notes payable $ 35,678   $ 19,801   $ 55,479   $ 18,489   $ 2,597   $ 21,086  
Less: current portion of notes payable $ (4,733 )  $ (1,289 )  $ (6,022 )  $ (2,283 )  $ (1,702 )  $ (3,985 )

Notes payable, non-current $ 30,945   $ 18,512   $ 49,457   $ 16,206   $ 895   $ 17,101  
 
At December 31, 2024, aggregate future principal payments are as follows (in thousands): 
 

  As of December 31, 2024  

  
Credit 

Agreement   Other Debt   Total  
2025  $ 4,733   $ 1,289   $ 6,022  
2026   28,605    2,128    30,733  
2027   —    1,662    1,662  
2028   —    1,710    1,710  
2029   —    2,649    2,649  
Thereafter   —    10,363    10,363  
Total  $ 33,338   $ 19,801   $ 53,139  

 
(16) Warrants 

Warrants 

There are 43,848,750 warrants outstanding of which 31,625,000 (“Public Warrants”) were issued by GSRM at the time of its IPO and 12,223,750 (“Private Warrants” and 
together the “Warrants”) were issued by GSRM to GSR II Meteora Sponsor LLC (“Sponsor”). As a result of the Merger, these Warrants became Bitcoin Depot Warrants. 

Each whole Warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one share of Class A common stock at a price of $11.50 per share. A holder may exercise its warrants only for a 
whole number of shares of Class A common stock. No fractional warrants will be issued upon separation of the units and only whole warrants will trade. The Company may 
redeem the Public Warrants at a price of $0.01 per share if the closing price of the Company’s Class A common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share for any 20 trading 
days within a 30-trading day period. The Private Warrants cannot be redeemed, even if sold or transferred to a non-affiliate. The Warrants will expire five years after the 
Closing Date, June 30, 2028, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. The Company also has the ability to redeem outstanding Public Warrants at any time after they become 
exercisable and prior to their expiration, at a price of $0.01 per Public Warrant, provided that the last reported sale price of Class A common stock for any 20 trading days 
within a 30-trading day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which we send the notice of redemption to the Public Warrant holders equals or exceeds 
$18.00 per share and provided certain other conditions are met.

The Private Warrants have terms and provisions that are identical to those of the Public Warrants, except the Private Warrants are not subject to redemption, and do not 
become subject to redemption after transfer to a non-affiliate (a distinction from other private placement warrants issued in connection with GSRM transactions). 

The Warrants are accounted for as freestanding equity contracts and are classified in equity under ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity. 
In connection with the Merger, the Warrants were recorded in connection with the reverse recapitalization accounting as part of the adjustment to accumulated deficit on the 
consolidated Balance Sheet and Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity and Member's Equity.
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The following table summarizes the warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2024: 
 

Class of Warrants  
Number

Outstanding  
Public warrants   34,058,079  
Private placement warrants   9,790,671  
Total warrants outstanding   43,848,750  

 

(17) Earnouts 

In connection with the Merger, the Sponsor received the Sponsor Earnout Shares, divided into three classes of Class E common stock; E-1, E-2, and E-3, respectively. All 
classes of Class E common stock are held by a single party. Upon achieving certain milestones (described below), each share of Class E common stock is automatically 
converted into shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. For the avoidance of doubt, Class E common stock shares do not have any voting or economic rights, and 
they represent the right to receive shares of Class A common stock. 

In addition to the Sponsor Earnout Shares described above, BT HoldCo also issued earnouts (“BT HoldCo Earnout Units”), of which 1,075,061 were issued to the Company 
and 15,000,000 were issued to BT Assets, Inc. The BT HoldCo Earnout Units issued by BT HoldCo are subject to the same vesting conditions as the Sponsor Earnout Shares. 
Upon vesting, these units will be automatically exchanged into common units of BT HoldCo. BT HoldCo Earnout Units held by the Company mirror the Sponsor Earnout 
Shares arrangement as it is intended to maintain the UP-C corporation structure of the consolidated reporting group (i.e., for every Class A common stock share outstanding, 
the Company will own a corresponding Class A Unit in BT HoldCo). BT HoldCo Earnout Units issued to BT Assets, Inc. will impact the non-controlling interest recognized 
by the Company when these units vest.  

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the market price of the Company's Class A common stock did not exceed required amount per share. Additionally, in accordance 
with the earnout provisions, the market price of the Company's Class A common stock did not exceed $12.00 per share for any 10 trading days within any consecutive 20 
trading day period after the Merger to achieve the 1st vesting hurdle.

 

(18) Common Stock, Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity 

The Company is authorized to issue seven classes of stock to be designated, respectively, Class A common stock, Class B common stock, Class M common stock, Class O 
common stock, Class V common stock (together with Class A common stock, Class B common stock, Class M common stock and Class O common stock, the “Voting 
Common Stock”) and Class E common stock (together with the Voting Common Stock, the “Common Stock”) and Preferred Stock. The total number of shares of capital 
stock which the Company shall have authority to issue is 2,223,250,000, divided into the following: 

 
 As of December 31, 2024  
 Series A Preferred  Class A  Class B  Class E  Class M  Class O  Class V  

Shares authorized  50,000,000   800,000,000   20,000,000   2,250,000   300,000,000   800,000,000   300,000,000  
Shares outstanding  1,733,884   19,072,544   —   1,075,761   —   —   41,193,024  
Par value $ 0.0001  $ 0.0001  $ 0.0001  $ 0.0001  $ 0.0001  $ 0.0001  $ 0.0001  

Class A Common Stock - Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share. Any dividends paid to the holders of Class A common stock will be paid on a 
pro rata basis. On a liquidation event, any distribution to common stockholders is made on a pro rata basis to the holders of the Class A common stock.

Class B Common Stock - Holders of Class B common stock are entitled to one vote per share. Dividends shall not be declared or paid on shares of PubCo Class B common 
stock. On a liquidation event, the holders of shares of PubCo Class B common stock shall not be entitled to receive any assets of PubCo in the event of any such liquidation.
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Class M Common Stock - Holders of Class M common stock are entitled to ten votes per share. Any dividends paid to the holders of Class M common stock will be paid on a 
pro rata basis. On a liquidation event, any distribution to common stockholders is made on a pro rata basis to the holders of the Class M common stock.

Class O Common Stock - Holders of Class O common stock are entitled to one vote per share. Dividends shall not be declared or paid on shares of PubCo Class O common 
stock. On a liquidation event, the holders of shares of PubCo Class O common stock shall not be entitled to receive any assets of PubCo in the event of any such liquidation.

Class V Common Stock - Class V common stock are voting, non-economic shares and exchangeable, along with common units of BT HoldCo, into Class A common stock. 
Shares of Class V common stock are convertible into an equivalent number of shares (one-for-one) of Class A common stock automatically upon transfer, or the Majority 
Stockholder ceasing to beneficially own at least 20% of the voting power represented by the shares in Class V common stock. 

Class E Common Stock - Class E common stock consists of three series: 750,000 shares of PubCo Class E-1 common stock (which shall not be entitled to vote), 750,000 
shares of PubCo Class E-2 common stock (which shall not be entitled to vote), 750,000 shares of PubCo Class E-3 common stock (which shall not be entitled to vote). 
Dividends shall not be declared or paid on shares of PubCo Class E common stock. On a liquidation event, the holders of shares of PubCo Class E common stock shall not be 
entitled to receive any assets of PubCo in the event of any such liquidation. Shares of Class E common stock are convertible into an equivalent number of shares (one-for-one) 
of Class A common stock when the reported closing trading price of the common stock exceeds certain thresholds if, from the closing of the Merger until the tenth 
anniversary thereof, the reported closing trading price of the common stock exceeds certain thresholds and is subject to forfeiture terms. Refer to Note 16 for further 
discussion regarding the Class E common stock. 

Series A Preferred Stock

In connection with the Merger and PIPE Financing, on June 30, 2023, the Company issued 4,300,000 shares of its Series A Preferred Stock. Holders of the Series A Preferred 
Stock have no voting rights except in certain matters as described in the Company’s Certificate of Designation. There are no other voting rights associated with the Series A 
Preferred Stock. 

The Series A Preferred Stock is only entitled to dividends when and if declared by the Company’s Board of Directors (the "Board"). There is no stated dividend preference. 
The Series A Preferred Stock participate fully with respect to all distributions and dividends made to the Company’s Class A common stock, including in the event of a 
liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company. 

The Series A Preferred Stock is convertible at any time at the option of the holders into Class A common stock at an initial exchange ratio of 1:1, as adjusted for any dilutive 
events. The Series A Preferred Stock is economically identical to the Company’s Class A common stock and is therefore treated as another class of common stock for 
reporting purposes (i.e., net income per share calculation), and is classified in permanent equity. During the year ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, 
1,391,116 and 1,175,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock were converted to shares of Class A common stock, respectively.

Registration Statement

On September 1, 2023, the Company’s registration statement registering the resale of up to 83,747,027 shares of Class A common stock, up to 43,848,750 shares of Class A 
common stock underlying Warrants and up to 12,223,750 Warrants to purchase Class A common stock was declared effective. 

Share repurchase program

On September 22, 2023, the Company's Board authorized a share repurchase program pursuant to which the Company is authorized to repurchase up to $10.0 million of 
outstanding shares of its Class A common stock beginning immediately and continuing through and including June 30, 2024. The Company made an accounting policy 
election to measure the fair value of purchases or sales of securities, including purchases of its own shares as part of the share repurchase program, as of the trade date. As of 
December 31, 2023, 120,644 shares had been repurchased with a total cost of $0.3 million with an average cost per share of $2.31.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company repurchased 69,976 shares at a total cost of $0.2 million with an average cost per share of $2.26. From the date of 
authorization through December 31, 2024, 190,620 shares of the Company's Class A common stock had been repurchased with a total cost of $0.4 million. As of December 
31, 2024, the program had expired.
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Redemptions of LLC Interests

The BT HoldCo Operating Agreement provides that holders of LLC Interests may, from time to time, require the Company to redeem all or a portion of their LLC Interests 
for newly-issued shares of Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. In connection with any redemption or exchange, the Company receives a corresponding number of 
LLC Interests, increasing its total ownership interest in BT HoldCo. Simultaneously, and in connection with a redemption, the corresponding number of shares of Class V 
common shares and Common BT HoldCo units are surrendered and cancelled. During the year ended December 31, 2024, BT Assets exchanged 2,906,976 Class V shares. 
This exchange in the second quarter of 2024 resulted in a transfer of 4.3% ownership interest in BT HoldCo from BT Assets to the Company.

(19) Income Taxes
 
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2024   2023  

United States  $ 11,324   $ 2,215  
Non-U.S.   (1,372 )   (696 )
Income before provision for income taxes and non-controlling interest  $ 9,952   $ 1,519  
 
Significant components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2024   2023  

Current:       
Federal  $ 2,261   $ 959  
State   1,443    380  
Foreign   18    —  

Total current provision for income taxes   3,722    1,339  
Deferred:       
Federal   (944 )   (800 )
State   (326 )   (121 )
Foreign   (314 )   (369 )

Total deferred provision for income taxes   (1,584 )   (1,290 )
Total provision for income taxes  $ 2,138   $ 49  

 
Deferred income taxes and liabilities are determined based upon differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the 
enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. A reconciliation of the income tax expense (benefit) at the statutory federal 
income tax rates as reflected in financial statements is as follows:
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2024   2023  

Federal income tax (benefit) at statutory rate   21.00 %   21.00 %
State taxes, net of federal benefit   0.08 %   (37.21 )%
Permanent differences

  
0.84

%   
5.27

%
Transaction expenses   — %   106.43 %
Stock excise tax   — %   22.08 %
PIPE adjustment   — %   190.66 %
Shaolin fees   — %   12.38 %
R&D credits   (0.60 )%   (1.65 )%
Change in valuation allowance   45.59 %   329.50 %
Foreign rate differential   (0.88 )%   (2.52 )%
Return to provision   2.94 %   (6.48 )%
Stock compensation   2.41 %   7.65 %
Non-controlling interest   (37.44 )%   (417.17 )%
Partnership outside basis adjustments   — %   (229.62 )%
Global intangible low taxed income   — %   5.35 %
Posting of valuation allowance on partnership step-up   (9.99 )%   — %
Other   (2.48 )%   (2.45 )%
Effective tax rate   21.47 %   3.22 %
 
In 2024, the effective tax rate differs from the statutory U.S. federal rate of 21.0% primarily due to the income or loss not being taxed due to the income and loss flowing 
through to its partners (non-controlling interest), and differences related to the foreign operations, state taxes, valuation allowance adjustments, and book-tax adjustments 
relating to share-based compensation. In the 2023, the effective tax rate differs from the statutory U.S. federal rate of 21.0% primarily due to the income or loss not being 
taxed due to the income and loss flowing through to its partners (non-controlling interest), and differences related to the foreign operations, transaction expenses, the PIPE 
adjustment, posting of the outside partnership basis difference, state taxes, valuation allowance adjustments, and book-tax adjustments relating to share-based compensation.
 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amount 
used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of the following:
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2024   2023  

Deferred tax assets:       
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards  $ 232   $ 193  
Accrued expenses   —    906  
Credits   —    37  
Investment in partnership   9,410    5,169  
Property and equipment   103    134  
Start up costs   711    751  
Deferred issuance costs   54    59  
Cryptocurrency safeguarding liability   —    239  
Profit-sharing agreement liabilities

  
3,404

   —  
Amortization   361    58  
Other   1    7  

Deferred tax assets before valuation allowance   14,276    7,553  
Less: Valuation allowance   (9,707 )   (5,169 )

Deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance  $ 4,569   $ 2,384  
Deferred tax liabilities:       
Foreign currency gains and losses  $ —   $ (171 )
Cryptocurrency safeguarding asset   —    (239 )
Intangibles   (615 )   (1,016 )

Deferred tax liabilities   (615 )   (1,426 )
Total net deferred tax assets (liabilities)  $ 3,954   $ 958  
 
As of December 31, 2024, the Company had Canada net operating loss carryforwards of $0.5 million, which will begin to expire in 2042. Additionally, the Company had 
Australia net operating loss carryforwards of $0.3 million which will not expire.
 
The Company’s largest change and deferred tax asset is the Company’s outside basis difference in its investment in BT HoldCo, arising in connection with the umbrella C-
corporation structure undertaken as part of the Merger.  Management of the Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the realizability of its 
deferred tax asset generated from its partnership interest in BT HoldCo. Management determined based on applicable accounting standards and the weight of all available 
evidence, it was not more-likely-than-not (“MLTN”) that the Company will realize its deferred tax asset for the difference in tax basis in excess of the GAAP basis for its 
investment in BT HoldCo, as the Company will not realize until its investment is liquidated or sold. Consequently, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has 
established a valuation allowance of $9.4 million and $5.2 million, respectively, with respect to its deferred tax asset related to its investment in BT HoldCo. The Company 
evaluated that the remaining deferred tax assets of $4.6 million will be recoverable due to significant taxable income at Bitcoin Depot, Inc. The Company’s change in 
valuation allowance from 2023 to 2024 was ($4.5) million, for a total valuation allowance of ($9.7) million, ($9.4) million relates to the above regarding the investment in BT 
HoldCo, and the remaining ($0.3) million of valuation allowance relates to operations in Australia and Canada (Express Vending), of which the Company has net operating 
losses, and cumulative losses in the preceding 12 quarters. 
 
The total liability for unrecognized income tax benefits was approximately $1.0 million as of December 31, 2024, of which included less than $0.2 million of penalties and 
interest. The Company recognizes interest accrued and penalties, if applicable, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. The Company believes that it is 
reasonably possible a decrease of up to $1.0 million in unrecognized tax benefits, which will occur within the coming 12 months.
 
The reconciliation below summarizes the Company's unrecognized tax benefits for the respective periods.  These amounts primarily relate to state taxes in Texas.
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2024   2023  

Unrecognized tax benefits beginning of year  $ 845   $ 518  
  Increases for prior period positions   470    327  
  Decrease due to settlements and payments   (327 )   —  
Unrecognized tax benefits end of the year  $ 988   $ 845  
 
The Company is subject to taxation in the United States and various states, Canada, and Australia. As of December 31, 2024, tax years for 2022 and 2023 are subject to 
examination by the United States and various states, and Canada. In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to examination by federal, state, Canadian and 
Australian jurisdictions, where applicable. There are currently no pending tax examinations in the U.S., Canada, or Australia. The Company has not received notice of 
examination by any jurisdictions in the U.S., Canada, or Australia. 
 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has made no provision for foreign or domestic income taxes on the cumulative unremitted earnings of our foreign 
subsidiaries. The Company intends to permanently reinvest all foreign earnings and have no intention to repatriate foreign earnings for the foreseeable future.

 
Tax Receivable Agreement 
 
Upon the completion of the Merger, Bitcoin Depot is party to the Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”). Under the terms of that agreement, Bitcoin Depot generally will be 
required to pay BT Assets 85% of the tax savings, if any, that Bitcoin Depot Inc. realizes, or in certain circumstances is deemed to realize, as a result of certain tax attributes 
that are created as part of and after the Merger. The payment of cash consideration to BT Assets in connection with the transaction will result in aggregate payments under the 
Tax Receivable Agreement of approximately $2.2 million as of December 31, 2024. This amount does not take into account any future exchanges of BT HoldCo Common 
Units by BT Assets pursuant to the BT HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement. The future amounts payable, as well as the timing of any 
payments, under the Tax Receivable Agreement are dependent upon significant future events, including (but not limited to) the timing of the exchanges of BT HoldCo 
Common Units and surrender of a corresponding number of shares of Bitcoin Depot Class V common stock, the price of Bitcoin Depot Class A common stock at the time of 
each exchange, the extent to which such exchanges are taxable transactions, the depreciation and amortization periods that apply to any increase in tax basis resulting from 
such exchanges, the types of assets held by BT HoldCo, the amount and timing of taxable income Bitcoin Depot generates in the future, the U.S. federal income tax rate then 
applicable and the portion of Bitcoin Depot’s payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement that constitute imputed interest or give rise to depreciable or amortizable tax 
basis. The Company has recognized a Tax Receivable Agreement liability of $0.9 million on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023. Changes in this 
liability will be recognized in future periods through the other income/(expense) benefit caption on the Consolidated Statements of (Loss) Income and Comprehensive (Loss) 
Income, the Company initially recorded $0.7 million on September 30, 2023 through equity, an additional adjustment $0.2 million was made on December 31, 2023, which 
was recorded to the income statement, for a total TRA of $0.9 million.
 
Pursuant to the Company's election under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code"), the Company expects to obtain an increase in its share of the tax basis in the 
net assets of BT HoldCo when units are redeemed or exchanged by the other members of BT HoldCo. The Company plans to make an election under Section 754 of the Code 
for each taxable year in which a redemption or exchange of BT HoldCo units occurs. The Company intends to treat any redemptions and exchanges of BT HoldCo units as 
direct purchases of the units for U.S. federal income tax purposes. These increases in tax basis may reduce the amounts that would otherwise be paid in the future to various 
tax authorities. They may also decrease gains (or increase losses) on future dispositions of certain capital assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those capital assets.
 
On April 24, 2024, the Company acquired an aggregate of 2.9 million units in connection with an exchange with BT HoldCo (see Note 18), which resulted in an increase in 
the tax basis of its investment in BT HoldCo subject to the provisions of the Tax Receivable Agreement.  The Company also recorded an additional liability of $1.3 million for 
the TRA Payments due to the redeeming members, representing 85% of the aggregate tax benefits the Company expects to realize from the tax basis increases related to the 
exchange of units, after concluding it was probable that such TRA Payments would be paid based on estimates of future taxable income. No payments were made to the 
members of BT HoldCo pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement in fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023.
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(20) Share-Based Compensation 

BitAccess:

BitAccess maintained a stock option plan for its employees under the Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan, (the “BitAccess Plan”). Pursuant to BitAccess Plan 
agreement, awards of stock options and restricted stock units (“BitAccess RSUs”) are permitted to be made to employees and shareholders of BitAccess. As of December 31, 
2024, all awards under the BitAccess Plan had been issued. 

The options under the BitAccess Plan generally vest over a two-year period following the one-year anniversary of the date of grant and expire not more than 10 years from the 
date of grant. 

Options:

A summary of the BitAccess Plan’s stock option activity and related information is as follows: 
 

  

Amount or
number of

Options   
Weighted-average

exercise price   

Weighted-average
remaining

contractual term   

Weighted-average
grant-date fair

value  
Outstanding at January 1, 2024   43,780   $ 2.86   $ 8.60   $ 1.21  
Granted   —   $ —    —   $ —  
Exercised   —   $ —    —   $ —  

Outstanding at December 31, 2024   43,780   $ 2.86    7.60   $ 3.09  
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2024   22,694   $ 2.86    —   $ 3.10  

 

  

Amount or
number of

Options   
Weighted-average

exercise price   

Weighted-average
remaining

contractual term   

Weighted-average
grant-date fair

value  
Outstanding at January 1, 2023   106,938   $ 1.04    8.86   $ 1.13  
Granted   39,600   $ 2.86    9.01   $ 3.05  
Exercised   (68,058 )  $ —    —   $ 4.44  
Forfeited   (34,700 )  $ 2.86    —   $ 3.07  

Outstanding at December 31, 2023   43,780   $ 2.86    8.60   $ 1.21  
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2023   12,249   $ —    —   $ 3.10  

 
RSUs
 
The BitAccess RSUs under the BitAccess Plan generally vest over a two-year period beginning following the one-year anniversary of the date of grant and expire not more 
than 10 years from the date of grant. A summary of the BitAccess Plan’s BitAccess RSU award activity is as follows: 
 

  
Restricted

Stock Units  
Outstanding at January 1, 2023   81,142  
Forfeited   (25,641 )
Exercised   (55,501 )

Outstanding at December 31, 2023   —  
 
The Company recognized compensation expense of $0 million and $0.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, related to the BitAccess 
Plan. These amounts are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss). As of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 there was an immaterial amount and $0.1 million, respectively, of unrecognized compensation expense related to BitAccess Plan’s unvested 
share options. 
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2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan

Pursuant to the Incentive Plan the Board is authorized to grant awards of Class A common Stock, incentive stock options, non statutory stock options, RSUs and restricted 
stock in an aggregate amount up to 6,029,445 shares of Class A common stock to eligible recipients, as defined in the Incentive Plan. The Company recognized $3.4 million 
of share-based compensation expense during each of the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. Share-based compensation expense is included within selling and 
administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of (Loss) Income and Comprehensive (Loss) Income. As of December 31, 2024, 4,598,064 shares of Class A common 
stock remained available to be issued under the plan.

PSUs

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company's Compensation Committee determined that the performance targets were met and approved the granting of 580,116 
fully vested performance-based RSUs ("PSUs").  For these PSUs, the Company recognized stock compensation in the Statement of Stockholders (Deficit) Equity as 
Additional-Paid-In Capital and Stock Compensation expense on the Consolidated Statements of (Loss) Income and Comprehensive (Loss) Income during the years ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 of $1.1 million and $0 million, respectively. No awards were required for approval during the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company 
had no unrecognized compensation expense associated with PSUs as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Time-based RSUs

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company granted 1,267,481 time-based RSUs. These RSUs vest one-third on the first anniversary of the grant date and in 
equal quarterly installments over the next two years.

For these time-based RSUs, the Company recognized stock-based compensation in the Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' (Deficit) Equity as Additional Paid-In Capital 
and stock-based compensation expense on the Consolidated Statements of (Loss) Income and Comprehensive (Loss) Income during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 
2023 of $2.2 million and $1.8 million, respectively. The Company had unrecognized compensation expense associated with time-based RSUs of $2.4 million and $3.4 million 
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. RSU and PSU award activity for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows: 

 

 Amount of PSUs   
PSU Weighted-average

grant date fair value   Amount of RSUs   
Weighted-average

grant date fair value  
Outstanding at January 1, 2024  —   $ —    1,352,085   $ 3.59  
Granted  580,116   $ 1.78    1,267,481   $ 1.88  
Vested  (580,116 )  $ 1.78    (782,265 )  $ 3.60  
Forfeited  —   $ —    (212,614 )  $ 2.42  

Outstanding at December 31, 2024  —   $ —    1,624,687   $ 2.40  
            
 
 

 Amount of RSUs   
Weighted-average

grant date fair value  
Outstanding at January 1, 2023  —   $ —  
Granted  1,473,585   $ 3.59  
Forfeited  (52,500 )  $ 3.61  
Delivered  (69,000 )  $ 3.61  

Outstanding at December 31, 2023  1,352,085   $ 3.59  
 

(21) Net Income (loss) per Share 

The Series A Preferred Stock have similar economic rights to the Class A common stock and management considers them to be in substance common shares for earnings per 
share (“EPS”) purposes. As a result, the weighted average Series A Preferred Stock outstanding during the period was included in the calculation of weighted average 
common stock outstanding. No other classes of shares with economic rights were outstanding during the period, and therefore, EPS was not presented for such classes. The 
Public and Private 
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Warrants were considered in diluted EPS under the treasury stock method, if dilutive. The Class E common stock represents earnout arrangements that are contingently 
issuable into Class A common stock, and are only considered in the calculation of EPS once the stock price milestones have been achieved. The non-controlling interest was 
considered in diluted EPS under the if-converted method, if dilutive.

The stock compensation expense related to Class A shares has been attributed entirely to Bitcoin Depot Inc. for purposes of the net income (loss) per share calculation within 
the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss). Additionally, for purposes of the net income (loss) per share calculation, because such 
amounts pertain to compensation expense that do not affect the net assets of BT HoldCo available for liquidation, they are not further attributed to the non-controlling interest 
holders under the HLBV method described in Note 12.

Management determined that EPS for periods prior to the Merger, was not considered meaningful due to the complexities of determining the weighted average stock 
outstanding as a result of the recapitalization. Accordingly, the computation of loss per share and weighted average common stock outstanding has only been presented for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and for the period from the date of transaction close through December 31, 2023, as follows: 
 

 
Year Ended

December 31, 2024   

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 

(from the date of the 
close of the transaction)  

Numerator:      
Net income (loss) attributable to Bitcoin Depot Inc. Including Series A Preferred
Stock - Basic and Diluted $ (11,652 )

 
$ (26,102 )

Denominator:      
Weighted average common and preferred stock outstanding - basic and diluted  19,384,636    16,675,529  
Net loss per share - Bitcoin Depot Inc. $ (0.60 )  $ (1.57 )

 
The following securities were not included in the computation of diluted shares outstanding because the effect would be anti-dilutive or issuance of such shares is contingent 
upon the satisfaction of certain conditions which were not satisfied by the end of the period: 
 

Class of Security Number of Shares as of December 31,  
 2024   2023  
PubCo Warrants - Public and Private  43,848,750    43,848,750  
PubCo Class E Common Stock - Earnouts Units  1,075,761    1,075,761  
BT OpCo Founder Convertible Preferred Units  —    2,900,000  
BT OpCo Exchangeable Non-Controlling Interest  44,093,024    41,200,000  
BT OpCo Earnouts Units  15,000,000    15,000,000  
2023 Incentive Plan RSU awards  1,624,687    1,352,145  

 
(1)Held at BT Assets and exchangeable into Class A common stock of the Company or cash upon the occurrence of certain conditions. 
(2)Held at BT Assets and can be exchanged into Class A common stock of the Company.

(22) Defined Contribution Plan

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Employees who are over the age of 21 years are eligible to participate 
in the plan. Eligible employees may elect to defer a percentage of eligible compensation, which is subject to an annual limit of the lesser of 90% of eligible compensation or 
the maximum limit set by the IRS. The Company matches employee contributions up to a maximum of 50% of the participant’s compensation deferral, limited to 6% of the 
employee’s compensation. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company made contributions of $0.3 million and $0.2 million to the plan. These expenses 
are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

(1) (2)

(1) (2)

(1)
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(23) Leases

The Company adopted Topic 842 effective January 1, 2022 using the modified retrospective transition approach. The Company has elected to adopt practical expedients 
which permits it to not reassess its prior conclusions about lease identification, lease classification and initial direct cost under the new standard. The Company elected not to 
recognize right-of-use ("ROU") assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms of 12 months or less at lease commencement and do not include an option to purchase the 
underlying asset that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise. The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease, or contains a lease, primarily by determining if the 
arrangement conveys to the Company the right to control or use an identified asset. The Company makes this determination at inception of a contract and when the terms of 
an existing contract are changed. The Company recognizes a lease liability and an ROU asset at the commencement date of each lease. For operating and finance leases, the 
lease liability is initially measures at the present value of the unpaid lease payments at the lease commencement date. The lease liability is subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective-interest method. The ROU asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for lease 
payments made at or before lease commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred less any lease incentives received. Variable payments are included in the future 
lease payments when those variable payments are included in the future lease payment when those variable payments depend on an index or a rate. The discount rate is the 
implicit rate, if it is readily determinable, or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. The Company’s incremental borrowing rate for a lease is the rate of interest it would 
have to pay on a collateralized basis to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments under similar terms and in a similar economic environment. The Company recognizes 
lease costs associated with short-term leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. When contracts contain lease and non-lease components, the Company accounts for 
both components as a single lease component. 

On adoption, the Company recognized operating lease liabilities of $0.6 million with corresponding ROU assets of $0.4 million which is the net of operating lease liabilities 
on adoption and deferred rent liability of $0.2 million at January 1, 2022. In connection with the adoption of ASC Topic 842, the Company reclassified existing capital lease 
obligations to finance lease obligations, which are presented as current installments of obligations under finance leases and obligation under leases, non-current on the 
consolidated Balance Sheets. There was no impact on the Statement of Changes in Stockholder's Equity and Member’s Equity for the adoption of Topic 842. 

Floorspace leases 

The Company has obligations as a lessee for floorspace. Generally, these lease arrangements meet the short-term lease criteria when the floorspace leases are cancellable by 
the Company upon notice of 30 days or less. Accordingly, for the leases that are cancellable, the Company has elected and applied the practical expedient that allows the 
Company to recognize short-term lease payments on a straight-line basis over the lease term on the Consolidated Statements of (Loss) Income and Comprehensive (Loss) 
Income. For those floorspace leases that have a noncancellable term greater than 12 months, the Company records ROU assets and lease liabilities and presents them as 
operating leases. The Company recognized right of use assets and a lease liability of $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as a result of the non-cash transaction 
related to floorspace operating leases.

Office space leases 

The Company has obligations as a lessee for office space under a noncancellable lease arrangement that expires in May 2025, with options to renew up to five years. 
Payments due under the lease contracts include mainly fixed payments. The lease for the office space is classified as an operating lease in accordance with Topic 842. 

BTM Kiosk leases 

The Company has obligations as a lessee for BTM kiosks. The leases for the BTM kiosks are classified as finance leases in accordance with Topic 842 that expire on various 
dates through August 31, 2027. The BTM kiosk lease agreements are for two or three year terms and include various options to either renew the lease, purchase the kiosks or 
exercise a bargain option to purchase the kiosk at the end of the term. Certain finance leases are personally guaranteed by the CEO and contain guarantees for return of 
equipment by the CEO.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company terminated three existing lease arrangement with a lessor and simultaneously entered into a new lease arrangement 
with a new lessor for 2,050 BTMs. Under this agreement, the new lessor agreed to purchase the BTM’s from the original lessor. Upon the termination of the original 
agreement, the Company removed the remaining right-of-use asset and the finance lease liability of $7.5 million and $5.7 million respectively and recognized a loss of $1.7 
million recorded in other (expense) income in the consolidated Statement of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss). The new leases commenced on March 31, 
2023, June 30, 2023 or September 30, 2023 and has a three year noncancellable period. Total fixed payments due on an undiscounted basis over the three year noncancellable 
period of the leases are $7.1 million. The Company will acquire the assets for a bargain purchase price of $1 at the end of the term. Due to the bargain purchase option, the 
Company classified the new lease as a 
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finance lease. The Company recognized a finance lease liability of $5.7 million discounted at an interest rate implicit in the lease and a corresponding right-of-use asset of 
$5.7 million. 
 
In December 2023, the Company entered into a finance agreement with a financing company to facilitate the purchase of 450 BTMs at the end of a lease with a lessor (Note 
14) for $1.3 million.  The Company recorded the cash flow impact of this agreement gross within the investing and financing sections of the consolidated Statements of Cash 
Flow. The company transferred the remaining $1.8 million worth of unamortized cost basis of the kiosk machines- leased to kiosk machines- owned.
 
The Company also transferred certain BTMs recorded as finance leases held with the financing company to kiosk machines – owned of $3.0 million in remaining unamortized 
cost basis and finance lease liabilities to notes payable of $1.3 million during the year-ended December 31, 2023. In addition, approximately $1.7 million of other finance 
leases ended during the year with the kiosks assets transferred to the Company.  The Company recognized approximately $6.5 million net, of non-cash investing and financing 
activities associated with these agreements during the year ended December 31, 2023.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company entered into lease agreements for the lease of 1,186 new BTMs. The leases have noncancellable lease terms ranging 
from 24 months to 36 months. The Company will acquire the assets for a bargain purchase price of $1 at the end of their terms. Due to the bargain purchase option, the 
Company classified the new leases as a finance lease. The Company recognized right of use assets and a lease liability of $3.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 
as a result of the non-cash transaction related to the finance leases.

The components of the lease expense are as follows (in thousands): 
 

 As of December 31,  
 2024   2023  

Finance lease expense:      
Amortization of right-of-use-assets $ 4,039   $ 8,492  
Interest on lease liabilities  1,311    3,343  

Total finance lease expense  5,350    11,835  
Operating lease expense  1,003    293  
Short-term lease expense  36,687    34,526  
Total lease expense $ 43,040   $ 46,654  

 
 As of December 31,  
 2024   2023  

Other information:      
Operating cash flows used for finance leases $ (1,373 )  $ (3,343 )
Operating cash flows used for operating leases $ (1,089 )  $ (318 )
Financing cash flows used for finance leases $ (7,634 )  $ (14,005 )

 
 Year Ended December 31,  

 2024  2023  
Weighted-average remaining lease term - finance leases

1.7 years
 

1.6 years
 

Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases 3.0 years  2.3 years  
Weighted-average discount rate - finance leases  18.2 % 17.9 %
Weighted-average discount rate - operating leases  16.9 % 16.6 %
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Maturities of the lease liability under the non-cancellable operating lease as of December 31, 2024 are as follows (in thousands): 
 

  Operating Leases  
2025  $ 1,218  
2026   1,117  
2027   590  
2028   345  
2029   59  
Total undiscounted lease payments   3,329  
Less: imputed interest   (697 )
Total operating lease liability   2,632  
Less: operating lease liabilities, current   (858 )
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion  $ 1,774  
    

 
Maturities of the lease liability under the non-cancellable finance leases as of December 31, 2024 are as follows (in thousands): 
 

  Finance Leases  
2025  $ 4,145  
2026   1,753  
2027   384  
Total undiscounted lease payments   6,282  

Less: imputed interest   (886 )
Total finance lease liability   5,396  

Less: current installments of obligations under finance leases   (3,446 )
Obligations under finance leases, excluding current installments  $ 1,950  

    
 
(24) Commitments and Contingencies 

Litigation 

From time to time in the regular course of its business, the Company is involved in various lawsuits, claims, investigations and other legal matters. Except as noted below, 
there are no material legal proceedings pending or known by the Company to be contemplated to which the Company is a party or to which any of its property is subject.

The Company believes that adequate provisions for resolution of all contingencies, claims and pending litigation have been made for probable losses that are reasonably 
estimable. These contingencies are subject to significant uncertainties and the Company is unable to estimate the amount or range of loss, if any, in excess of amounts accrued. 
The Company does not believe that the ultimate outcome of these actions will have a material adverse effect on its financial condition but could have a material adverse effect 
on its results of operations, cash flows or liquidity in a given quarter or year.

On January 13, 2023, Canaccord Genuity Corp. (“Canaccord”) commenced proceedings against the Company by filing a claim with the Superior Court of Justice in Toronto, 
Ontario which named Lux Vending, LLC and Bitcoin Depot LLC as the defendants. Canaccord is a financial services firm in Canada that the Company previously had hired 
to perform advisory services related to a potential initial public offering in Canada or sales transaction. The claim asserts that Lux Vending, LLC breached the contract by 
terminating the contract to avoid paying fees for their services and that Canaccord is entitled to $23.0 million in damages equivalent to the fees alleged to be payable for 
breach of contract that would have been owed upon the closing of a transaction to acquire control, the sale of substantially all the Company’s assets, or a merger transaction 
pursuant to the previously terminated engagement letter for advisory services. Canaccord proposes that the amount of fees would be calculated on the total cash transaction 
value of the business combination of $880.0 million. The claim also seeks an award for legal and other costs relating to the proceeding.
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In 2024 Canaccord added Bitcoin Depot Operating LLC as a defendant to account for the name change following the closing of the merger. Canaccord now estimates the total 
transaction value could be up to $655 million.

Bitcoin Depot does not believe the allegations made against it are valid and intends to vigorously defend against them. The range of potential loss related to the identified 
claim is between $0 and $23.0 million, the amount of damages that Canaccord is seeking in the lawsuit. The additional costs mentioned in the claim are not able to be 
estimated at this time.  The discovery phase of the litigation involving documentary productions and oral examinations is largely completed. A mediation of the dispute has 
been rescheduled to second quarter of 2025. 

In March 2025, two of our subsidiaries were served with a civil complaint from the Attorney General of the State of Iowa (the “Iowa AG”) in connection with a suit filed 
against us by the Iowa AG, on behalf of the state of Iowa, in the Iowa District Court for Polk County. The complaint alleges that our subsidiaries violated certain provisions of 
the Iowa Consumer Fraud Act as a result of Bitcoin withdrawals made from our ATMs being used by our customers to make payments under a variety of fraudulent schemes. 
The complaint further alleges that Bitcoin Depot should have known that the purpose of these withdrawals was to make payment under such schemes and that it should have 
taken additional steps to protect its customers. The complaint is seeking a preliminary and permanent injunction against the subsidiaries from either operating in Iowa or 
further violating the Iowa Consumer Fraud Act as well as monetary penalties. The Company strongly rejects any allegations that its subsidiaries or their BTMs violated the 
Iowa Consumer Fraud Act and intends to vigorously defend itself against the allegations. Although the Company does not believe that this matter will have a material adverse 
effect on its business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows, the Company can provide no assurance as to the scope and outcome of this matter and no 
assurance as to whether there will be a material adverse effect to its business or its Consolidated Financial Statements.

Financial and tax regulations 

Legislation or guidance may be issued by U.S. and non-U.S. governing bodies, including Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (“FinCen”) and the Internal Revenue 
Service (“IRS”), that may differ significantly from the Company’s practices or interpretation of the law, which could have unforeseen effects on our financial condition and 
results of operations, and accordingly, the related impact on our financial condition and results of operations is not estimable. Prior to 2022, the IRS concluded an examination 
of the Company related to certain regulatory reporting requirements related to cryptocurrency sales to certain customers. Based on the outcome of the examination, the 
Company has concluded it is not probable that any fines or penalties will be assessed against the Company. As a result, no accrual has been recorded in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements. 

(25) Subsequent Events 

In February 2025, the Company purchased an additional $6.0 million of BTC as a part of its treasury strategy.

In March 2025, the Company entered into an amendment to the Amended and Restated Note to extend the maturity date to December 15, 2027.  The amendment also 
amended the timing and amount of fixed amortization payments requiring $9.5 million in fixed amortization payments in 2025 and $17.6 million thereafter.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
 
Change in Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
As previously reported on a Current Report on Form 8-K that the Company filed on August 23, 2024:
 
Dismissal of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
On August 23, 2024, Bitcoin Depot Inc. (the “Company”) notified KPMG of its decision to dismiss KPMG as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, 
effective as of such date. The decision was approved by the Company's audit committee. 
 
The reports of KPMG on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, did not contain an adverse opinion or a 
disclaimer of opinion, and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles, except as follows:
 
KPMG’s report on the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, contained a separate paragraph stating that 
“As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for leases as of January 1, 2022, due to the adoption of 
Accounting Standards Codification 842, Leases.”

 
During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the subsequent interim period through August 23, 2024, there were (i) no disagreements between the Company and 
KPMG on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure, which, if not resolved to KPMG’s satisfaction, would 
have caused KPMG to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreement in connection with its report for such year, and (ii) no matter that was either the subject of a 
“disagreement” or a “reportable event” as those terms are defined in Item 304(a)(1) of Regulation S-K, except in connection with the preparation of the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, during which management identified material weaknesses in its internal control over financial reporting. As of 
December 31, 2024, the material weaknesses related to the Company’s lack of technical accounting resources to analyze and apply technical accounting considerations, and 
ineffective reconciliation controls over cash in transit, have been remediated. However, the remaining material weaknesses still exist as of December 31, 2024.

Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

On August 23, 2024, the Audit Committee engaged Wolf as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, effective as of August 23, 2024. During the fiscal 
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and through subsequent interim period through August 23, 2024, neither the Company, nor anyone on behalf of the Company, 
consulted with Wolf with respect to either (i) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that 
might be rendered on the Company’s consolidated financial statements, and no written report or oral advice was provided by Wolf to the Company that Wolf concluded was an 
important factor considered by the Company in reaching a decision as to the accounting, auditing, or financial reporting issue or (ii) any matter that was the subject of either a 
“disagreement” or a “reportable event” as those terms are defined in Item 304(a)(1) of Regulation S-K.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

With the participation of the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, management evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)), as of December 31, 2024. 
Based on their evaluation, the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were 
effective as of December 31, 2024.

The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures have been designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or furnishes 
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. 
Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the 
reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial 
officers, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 
We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our 
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including 
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal 
Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based upon that evaluation, 
management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting were effective as of December 31, 2024.
 

Material Weaknesses in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In connection with the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2024, management identified material weaknesses in its internal 
control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. The material weaknesses 
identified relates to (i) the fact that the Company did not have formalized system of internal control over financial reporting in place to ensure that risks are properly assessed, 
controls are properly designed and implemented and internal controls are properly monitored and functioning, (ii) the Company’s reliance on IT systems and the use of service 
organizations to initiate, process, and record transactions, for which it did not evaluate or test the respective control objectives and data provided by the service organizations, 
and did not maintain a sufficient complement of formally documented general IT controls over access, segregation of duties, security, and change management, and (iii) the 
Company having insufficient controls in place to prevent potential unauthorized activity related to cryptocurrencies. Management has concluded that these material weaknesses 
arose because, the Company did not have the necessary business processes, personnel and related internal controls necessary to satisfy the accounting and financial reporting 
requirements of a public company.

Effective internal controls are necessary to provide reliable financial reports and prevent fraud, and material weaknesses could limit the ability to prevent or detect a 
misstatement of accounts or disclosures that could result in a material misstatement of annual or interim financial statements. To address the material weaknesses, the Company 
will need to add personnel as well as implement additional financial reporting processes and related internal controls. Management intends to continue to take steps to remediate 
the material weaknesses described above through hiring additional qualified accounting and financial reporting personnel, further enhancing their accounting processes and risk 
assessment, and by designing, implementing and monitoring the respective controls. Management will not be able to fully remediate these material weaknesses until these steps 
have been completed and the controls have been operating effectively for a sufficient period of time. These remediation measures may be time consuming and costly and there 
is no assurance that these initiatives will ultimately have the intended effects or that the actions that management may take in the future will be sufficient to remediate the 
control deficiencies that led to the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting or that they will prevent or detect potential future material weaknesses. The 
Company’s current controls and any new controls that management develops may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in the business and weaknesses in 
disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls or any difficulties 
encountered in their implementation or improvement could harm the operating results or cause the Company to fail to meet the reporting obligations and may result in a 
restatement of the Company’s financial statements for prior periods. 
Notwithstanding the above identified material weaknesses, management believes the Consolidated Financial Statements as included in Part II of this Annual Report on Form 
10-K fairly represent, in all material respects, the Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows as of and for the periods presented in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm is not required to attest to the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting until after the 
Company is no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act. At such time, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm may issue a 
report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which the internal control over financial reporting is documented, designed or operating. Any failure to 
implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting also could adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent 
registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting required to be included in Bitcoin Depot’s 
periodic reports that are filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose 
confidence in Bitcoin Depot’s reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of the Class A common stock. In 
addition, we will not be able to continue to be listed on Nasdaq, which could have an adverse effect on the liquidity of your investment. 
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Remediation of Previously Disclosed Material Weaknesses

During the year ended December 31, 2023, two additional material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting were identified related to the lack of timely 
execution of controls related to the cash-in-transit process, and the lack of sufficient qualified and experienced resources within the Company’s accounting function. As of 
December 31, 2024, we finalized the design and implementation of the controls to address the material weakness. Specifically, the Company took the following steps to 
remediate this material weakness and concluded that the material weakness was remediated as of December 31, 2024:

•hired experienced technical accounting manager with extensive public accounting and public company experience, and implemented new internal controls over financial 
reporting and accounting processes; and

•implemented a new cash-in-transit reconciliation control, under this control, accounting personnel matches cash received from armored trucks to the corresponding sales 
transactions recorded. This matching process is documented within a standardized reconciliation template, which captures all relevant data points required for verifying 
that the amounts reported as in-transit are complete and accurate.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Except for efforts to remediate the material weakness described above, there was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Item 9B. Other Information.

Insider Trading Arrangements and Policies 

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, none of our directors or “officers” (as such term is defined in Rule 16(a)-1(f) under the Exchange Act) adopted or 
terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading agreement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” (each as defined in Item 408(a) and (c) of Regulation S-K).
 
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.
 
None.

 
PART III

 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
 
Executive Officers
 
The following table sets forth certain information, as of March 31, 2025, concerning the persons who serve as our executive officers and directors:
 

Name  Age   Position
Brandon Mintz   

30
  

 President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
Scott Buchanan   34    Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Director
Mark Smalley   56    Chief Compliance officer
Dan Gardner   43    Director
Teri G. Fontenot   71    Director
Daniel Stabile   41    Director
Bradley Strock   62    Director
Tim Vanderham   46    Director
 
Brandon Mintz. Brandon Mintz has served as President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the board of directors of Bitcoin Depot since the Closing. Mr. Mintz founded 
and has served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Bitcoin Depot since its inception in June 2016. Prior to founding Bitcoin Depot, Mr. Mintz founded and served 
as Chief Executive Officer of Premier Technologies, LLC beginning in November 2013. Mr. Mintz holds a B.B.A. in Marketing from the University of Georgia. Mr. Mintz was 
recognized by Ernst & Young as a finalist for the 2021 Southeast Entrepreneur of the Year. As the founder of Bitcoin Depot, we 
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believe Mr. Mintz is qualified to serve as director because of his historical knowledge about the cryptocurrency industry, deep understanding of our business and entrepreneurial 
spirit and leadership.
 
Scott Buchanan. Scott Buchanan has served as a director and Chief Operating Officer of Bitcoin Depot since the Closing. Mr. Buchanan has served as Bitcoin Depot’s Chief 
Operating Officer since March 2022, and also served as Bitcoin Depot’s Chief Financial Officer from August 2020 to January 2023, and again beginning in November 2024. 
From June 2019 to August 2020, Mr. Buchanan served as Bitcoin Depot’s Vice President of Finance/HR. Before his tenure at Bitcoin Depot, Mr. Buchanan worked at Acuity 
Brands (NYSE: AYI) in different finance-related roles beginning in December 2015. Mr. Buchanan holds a B.S. in Accounting from North Carolina State University and a 
Masters of Science in Accountancy from Wake Forest School of Business. Mr. Buchanan is a certified public accountant. We believe Mr. Buchanan is qualified to serve on 
Bitcoin Depot’s board of directors because of his finance-related expertise and credentials and his deep understanding of our business and operations.
 
Mark Smalley. Mark Smalley serves as a Compliance Officer of Bitcoin Depot. Mr. Smalley has served as Bitcoin Depot’s Chief Compliance Officer since March 2020. Before 
his tenure at Bitcoin Depot, Mr. Smalley worked at AML RightSource as a Risk & Regulatory Senior Manager from 2018 to 2020. He also served as a Risk & Regulatory 
Consultant at Crowe Horwath from 2014 to 2018. Prior to his time at Crow Horwath LLP, he held several key roles at KeyBank in different compliance-related roles beginning 
in October 2005. Mr. Smalley holds a BA in Political Science from University of Dayton, a JD from the School of Law at University of Akron, as well as an MBA in Executive 
Masters of Business Administration from Cleveland State University. 
 
Non-Employee Directors
 
Dan Gardner. Dan Gardner has served as a director of Bitcoin Depot since the Closing. Mr. Gardner founded Gardner Capital Group and has served as its Chief Executive 
Officer since November 2020. Within the Gardner Capital portfolio, Mr. Gardner has served as a Principal of Correlate, LLC and ValuFi, LLC since December 2020 and April 
2021, respectively. He co-founded and has been a partner of GPF Holdings since April 2019, and of Nova Group, LLC since January 2021. He has also served as Senior 
Advisor at CentSai since   August 2020. From February 2013 to November 2020, Mr. Gardner worked as a Consultant and Director of Strategic Accounts and Acquisitions at 
Paramount Management Group. In January 2006, Mr. Gardner co-founded Select-A-Branch, an ATM software company, where he developed patented software capable of 
delivering branded, surcharge-free ATM transactions for an unlimited number of financial institutions at each ATM. Select-A-Branch was acquired in February 2013 by Seven 
Bank, Ltd. Mr. Gardner serves on the advisory board of Univest Bank & Trust. He also serves on the boards of two Philadelphia nonprofits: Impact Services Corporation and 
Philly Startup Leaders. Mr. Gardner holds a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration and Management from the College of Charleston. We believe Mr. Gardner is 
qualified to serve on Bitcoin Depot’s board of directors because of his expertise in both business development strategies and transportation in the electronic payments industry, 
as well as his significant experience and ability to provide valuable insight and guidance regarding mergers and acquisitions.

Teri Fontenot. Teri Fontenot joined the board of directors of Bitcoin Depot, Inc. July 1, 2024. She is the Chair of the Audit Committee. Teri has served on numerous boards 
over the past 30 years including publicly traded, large not-for-profit, private and governmental organizations.  She is currently on the boards of publicly traded companies 
Amerisafe (AMSF/Audit, Governance and Risk committees) and AMN (AMN/chair of Audit Committee).  She is also on the board of Orlando Health, Inc., a $14 billion health 
multistate health system, and a private utility company. Teri was the president and CEO of Woman’s Hospital for 24 years, departing in March 2019. Under her leadership, the 
health system became the largest independently owned hospital for women and infants in the US. Teri holds a BBA in Accountancy from the University of MS, a MBA from 
Northeast LA University, and is a certified public accountant (inactive). She is also a SEC-qualified financial expert. 

Daniel Stabile. Daniel Stabile has served as a director of Bitcoin Depot since the Closing. Mr. Stabile has been a Partner at Winston & Strawn LLP since May 2022, serving as 
a co-chair of the firm’s Digital Assets and Blockchain Technology Group. Mr. Stabile also served as a vice chairperson of the Miami-Dade County Cryptocurrency Task Force. 
Prior to his tenure at Winston, he was an attorney at Shutts & Bowen from March 2012 to May 2022, and at Dewey & LeBoeuff LLP from September 2008 to March 2012. Mr. 
Stabile has over 10 years of experience as an attorney with expertise in the distributed ledger, blockchain and digital asset sector. Mr. Stabile has advised banks, broker-dealers, 
FinTech companies and other businesses regarding their implementation of blockchain technology, as well as government officials and regulators on digital asset technology 
and regulation. He has also represented financial institutions and other businesses in contentious matters and disputes, including government investigations and enforcement 
actions, arbitrations and civil litigations. Mr. Stabile hold both a BA in Philosophy from the University of Virginia and a JD from The George Washington University Law 
School. We believe Mr. Stabile is uniquely qualified to serve on Bitcoin Depot’s board of directors because of his crypto regulatory industry related expertise and his legal 
expertise related to digital assets.
 
Bradley Strock. Bradley Strock has served as a director of Bitcoin Depot since the Closing. Mr. Strock has served as President of Klaxon Holdings, LLC since January 2019. 
Mr. Strock served as Chief Information Officer at PayPal from October 2014 to December 2018, and from March 2011 to October 2014 he served as PayPal’s Vice President of 
Global Operations Technology. Prior to joining PayPal in 2011, Mr. Strock held several senior executive roles at Bank of America and at JP Morgan Chase. Mr. Strock served 
on the 
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board of directors of Elevate Credit, Inc. from January 2018 to February 2023, and was a member of Elevate’s Compensation Committee and Chairperson of its Risk 
Committee. Mr. Strock has also served on the board of Ascensus, LLC, a financial services and technology company, since February of 2023. Mr. Strock has also served on the 
board of Kiavi, Inc., one of the nation’s largest lenders to real estate investors, from December 2021 to September 2022. Mr. Strock also serves on the board of Hiigna, Inc., a 
non-profit organization providing micro-finance loans in Africa. He received his MSM (MBA) from the Krannert School of Management at Purdue University, along with a BS 
in Mechanical Engineering from Purdue. We believe Mr. Strock is qualified to serve on Bitcoin Depot’s board of directors because of his experience in transformative 
technology, information security, growth strategies and advanced analytics as a senior executive.
 
Tim Vanderham. Tim Vanderham has served as a director of Bitcoin Depot since the Closing. Mr. Vanderham has served on the technology advisory board of Ryan, LLC since 
December 2022. He also serves as a member of the President’s advisory board at Georgia Institute of Technology. Mr. Vanderham served as Chief Technology Officer and 
Executive Vice President at NCR from July 2018 to March 2022. During his tenure at NCR, he led the Software Strategy, Engineering and Innovation teams, integrating and 
consolidating such teams into one unit under the company’s new organizational structure. Prior to joining NCR, he served as Chief Technology Officer at Thomson Reuters for 
its Tax and Accounting division. Mr. Vanderham held several key roles at IBM, including the position of Vice President of Development and Operations of IBM Cloud 
Platform Services (Bluemix) which he held from February 2014 to October 2016. Mr. Vanderham received his BS in Mechanical Engineering from South Dakota State 
University. We believe Mr. Vanderham is qualified to serve on Bitcoin Depot’s board of directors because of his experience serving as Chief Technology Officer at a public 
payments company and a public technology company.
 
Audit Committee
 
The rules of the SEC and listing standards of Nasdaq require that the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) be comprised of at least three directors who 
meet the enhanced independence and experience standards established by Nasdaq and the Exchange Act as they relate to audit committees, subject to the phase in exceptions. 
Our Audit Committee consists of Ms. Fontenot, Mr. Strock and Mr. Vanderham, with Ms. Fontenot serving as the chair of the Audit Committee. Each member of the Audit 
Committee is independent and financially literate under the rules of the SEC, and the Bitcoin Depot board of directors has determined that Ms. Fontenot qualifies as an “audit 
committee financial expert” as defined in applicable SEC and Nasdaq rules. This committee oversees, reviews, acts on and reports on various auditing and accounting matters to 
the Bitcoin Depot board of directors, including: the selection of Bitcoin Depot’s independent accountants, the scope of Bitcoin Depot’s annual audits, fees to be paid to them, 
Bitcoin Depot’s performance and Bitcoin Depot’s accounting practices. In addition, the Audit Committee will oversee Bitcoin Depot’s compliance programs relating to legal 
and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee will also review and approve or disapprove of related party transactions. The purpose and responsibilities of our Audit 
Committee are set forth in the Audit Committee Charter adopted by our Board on June 30, 2023.
 
Compensation Committee
 
Because the Company is a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq corporate governance rules, we are not currently required to have a fully independent 
compensation committee. Our compensation committee currently consists of Mr. Gardner, Mr. Mintz and Mr. Stabile, with Mr. Mintz serving as the chair of the compensation 
committee.
The compensation committee reviews and approves, or recommends that our board of directors approve, the compensation of Bitcoin Depot’s chief executive officer, reviews 
and recommends to Bitcoin Depot’s board of directors the compensation of Bitcoin Depot’s non-employee directors, review and approve, or recommend that Bitcoin Depot’s 
board of directors approve, the terms of compensatory arrangements with Bitcoin Depot’s executive officers, administer Bitcoin Depot’s incentive compensation and benefit 
plans, select and retain independent compensation consultants and assess whether any of Bitcoin Depot’s compensation policies and programs has the potential to encourage 
excessive risk-taking. The purpose and responsibilities of our Compensation Committee are set forth in the Compensation Committee Charter adopted by our Board on June 30, 
2023.
 
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
 
Because the Company is a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq corporate governance rules, we are not currently required to have a fully independent 
nominating and corporate governance committee. Our NCG Committee currently consists of Mr. Mintz, Mr. Stabile and Mr. Strock, with Mr. Mintz serving as the chair of the 
nominating and corporate governance committee.
The NCG Committee identifies, evaluates and recommends qualified nominees to serve on Bitcoin Depot’s board of directors, considers and make recommendations to the 
Bitcoin Depot board of directors regarding the composition of the Bitcoin Depot board of directors and its committees, and oversees Bitcoin Depot’s internal corporate 
governance processes, maintains a management succession plan and oversees an annual evaluation of the Bitcoin Depot board of directors’ performance. The purpose and 
responsibilities of our Compensation Committee are set forth in the NCG Committee Charter adopted by our Board on June 30, 2023. 
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Since the Merger, there have been no changes to the procedures by which stockholders may recommend nominees to our Board. Since the Merger, there have been no changes 
to the procedures by which stockholders may recommend nominees to our Board.
 
Code of Ethics
 
In connection with the Closing of the Business Combination, the Board approved and adopted a new Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code of Conduct”) applicable 
our CEO, CFO and all other employees, officers and directors of the Company. A copy of the Code of Conduct can be found in the Investor Relations section of the Company’s 
website at https://bitcoindepot.com/investor-relations.
 
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
 
Brandon Mintz served as Chair of the Compensation Committee and also served as our President and Chief Executive Officer during 2024. None of our executive officers 
served on the compensation committee or board of any company that employed any member of the Compensation Committee or our Board.  
 
Limitations on Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors
 
The Amended and Restated Charter limits the liability of the directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL and provides that Bitcoin Depot will provide 
them with customary indemnification and advancement of expenses.
In addition, we entered into separate indemnification agreements with our directors and officers. These agreements, among other things, require us to indemnify our directors 
and officers for certain expenses, including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines, and settlement amounts incurred by a director or officer in any action or proceeding arising out of 
their services as one of our directors or officers or any other company or enterprise to which the person provides services at its request.
We maintain a directors’ and officers’ insurance policy pursuant to which our directors and officers are insured against liability for actions taken in their capacities as directors 
and officers. We believe these provisions in the Charter and the Bylaws and these indemnification agreements are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors 
and officers.
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers, and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the 
foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission, such indemnification is against public policy 
as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable.
 
 
Item 11. Executive Compensation.

We are currently considered an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act for purposes of the SEC’s executive compensation disclosure rules. 
Accordingly, we are required to provide a Summary Compensation Table and an Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End Table, as well as limited narrative disclosures 
regarding executive compensation, for our last completed fiscal year. Further, BT OpCo reporting obligations extend only to “Named Executive Officers,” which are the 
individuals who served as principal executive officer and the next two most highly compensated executive officers at any time during fiscal year 2024 or fiscal year 2023.

 
Executive  Principal Position

Brandon Mintz  President and Chief Executive Officer
Scott Buchanan  Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Glen Leibowitz  Chief Financial Officer

(1) Effective November 15, 2024, Glen Leibowitz resigned from his position as CFO.
 
2024 Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the compensation awarded to or earned by BT OpCo’s Named Executive Officers for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 and the fiscal 
year ended December 31, 2023.
 

(1)
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Name and Principal Position  Year  
Salary
($)(1)   

Bonus
($)(2)   

Stock Awards
($)(3)   

All Other
Compensation

($)(4)   
Total

($)  
Brandon Mintz  2024  $ 895,112   $ —   $ 617,381   $ —   $ 1,512,493  
President and Chief Executive Officer  2023  $ 688,188   $ 80,000   $ 2,923,380   $ —   $ 3,691,568  
Scott Buchanan  2024  $ 342,500   $ 116,000   $ 464,638   $ 625,000   $ 1,548,138  
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer  2023  $ 305,730   $ 50,000   $ 948,538   $ 825,000   $ 2,129,268  
Glen Leibowitz  2024  $ 276,923   $ 97,500   $ 89,673   $ —   $ 464,096  
Chief Financial Officer  2023  $ 275,687   $ 100,000   $ 130,527   $ —   $ 506,214  
 
(1) The amount in this column reflects the base salary actually earned by each Named Executive Officer during each of fiscal year 2024 and 2023.
 
(2) The amount in this column reflects the annual bonus earned by Mr. Buchanan (i) in fiscal year 2023 based on the achievement of net profit goals for BT OpCo, which 

was earned at 50% of target. (ii) in fiscal year 2024 based on the achievement of net profit goals for BT OpCo, which was earned at 50% of target.
 
(3) The amount in this column includes the grant of a share-based bonus earned by the Chief Executive Officer as a result of the Closing of the SPAC merger on June 30, 

2023. The Company issued 500,000 Class A Common shares and had a fair value of $3.23 per share. These shares have no vesting requirements when issued. See the 
table below for RSUs outstanding. RSUs were granted in July 2023 at a fair market value of $3.61 per unit.

 
(4) The amount in this column reflects the Closing of the SPAC merger Sale Bonus to Mr. Buchanan. In July 2023, Mr. Buchanan’s Sale Bonus Agreement was amended to 

include the following provisions: (i) $500,000 was paid in July 2023 (ii) $325,000 was paid as soon as the Tangible Net Worth of Bitcoin Depot Operating LLC was 
above $3 million (iii) $750,000 to be paid over time as the BT Assets Preferred Dividends are paid. For each $5.0 million of Preferred Dividends that are paid, Mr. 
Buchanan will be paid $125,000 until he has received the full $750,000. As of the date of this report, $29.0 million of Preferred Dividends have been paid, and Mr. 
Buchanan has earned $725,000 (iv) 120,500 RSUs which will vest quarterly over 1 year. As of the date of this report both the $500,000 and $325,000 have been paid as 
well as the 120,500 RSUs were granted during the three months ended September 2023. The RSUs granted are accounted for in the Stock Awards column.

 
 
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End
 
The following table provides information about the outstanding equity awards held by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.
 

  Stock Awards  

Name Year
Number of Shares or Units of Stock that Have 

Not Vested (#)   
Market Value of Shares or Units that Have Not 

Vested ($)  
Brandon Mintz 2024  816,218   $ 1,322,273  
 2023  362,432   $ 1,170,655  
Scott Buchanan 2024  311,375   $ 504,428  
 2023  232,628   $ 749,062  
Glen Leibowitz 2024  —   $ —  
 2023  36,157   $ 116,787  
 
Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table
 
Employment Agreements
 
BT OpCo is not party to an employment agreement with Brandon Mintz. On July 1, 2020, BT OpCo entered into an employment agreement with Scott Buchanan to serve as the 
Vice President, Finance & Human Resources of BT OpCo. Mr. Buchanan’s title was subsequently changed to Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The 
employment agreement does not have a fixed term. Mr. Buchanan’s employment agreement provides for an initial annual base salary of $125,000 (which has subsequently been 
increased to $350,000), as well as eligibility for Mr. Buchanan to earn an annual cash bonus as described below in the “Annual Bonus” section. Mr. Buchanan is also eligible for 
paid time off, reimbursement of business expenses, and participation in any health, dental and vision benefits provided by BT OpCo to similarly situated employees.
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Mr. Buchanan also entered into separate non-disclosure and restrictive covenant agreements that provide for the following restrictive covenants: (i) non-competition and non-
solicitation of customers and employees or service providers, in each case, during employment and for two years following termination and (ii) perpetual non-disclosure of 
confidential information.
 
Base Salary
 
The base salaries of BT OpCo’s Named Executive Officers are paid to retain qualified talent and are set at a level that is commensurate with the Named Executive Officer’s 
duties and authorities. 
 
For fiscal year 2024, Mr. Mintz’s base salary was $900,000 and Mr. Buchanan’s base salary was $320,000 until it was increased to $350,000, effective November 18, 2024, 
upon beginning to serve as acting CFO, Mr. Buchanan's base salary was increased to $558,000. Mr. Leibowitz's base salary was $300,000.
 
Prior to closing of the Merger on June 30, 2023, Mr. Mintz’s base salary was $600,000, Mr. Buchanan’s base salary was $290,000, and Mr. Leibowitz’s base salary was 
$250,000. After the close of the Merger, on July 1, 2023, the base salary for Mr. Mintz was increased to $750,000, Mr. Buchanan's was increased to $320,000, and Mr. 
Leibowitz's was increased to $300,000. 
 
BT OpCo expects to further evaluate the base salaries of its executive officers, including its Named Executive Officers, in consultation with the Compensation Committee, 
periodically.
 
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation
 
With respect to fiscal year 2024 and fiscal year 2023, Mr. Buchanan was eligible to receive an annual bonus, with the target amount of $100,000, pursuant to his employment 
agreement with BT OpCo, as described above. The annual bonus for fiscal year 2024 and fiscal year 2023 for Mr. Buchanan was earned at 50% and 50% respectively, of target 
based on the attainment of net profit goals for BT OpCo. 
 
Equity Incentive Compensation and Long Term Incentive Plan
 
Effective with the Merger, the Company and its Board of Directors adopted the Bitcoin Depot Inc. 2023 Omnibus Incentive Equity Plan (the “Incentive Equity Plan”).  The 
aggregate number of shares of PubCo Class A common stock that may be issued or used for reference purposes or with respect to which awards may be granted under the 
Incentive Equity Plan shall not exceed an amount equal to the sum of (i) ten percent (10%) of the number of shares of PubCo common stock outstanding as of immediately 
following the Closing of the business combination, plus (ii) the aggregate number of shares of PubCo Class A common stock issuable upon settlement of the Phantom Equity 
Awards or the BT Transaction Bonus Payments in accordance with the Transaction Agreement (in each case, subject to adjustment in the event of certain transactions or 
changes of capitalization in accordance with the Incentive Equity Plan) (together, the “Initial Share Reserve”). The number of shares available for issuance under the Incentive 
Equity Plan will be subject to an annual increase on the first day of each calendar year beginning January 1, 2023 and ending and including January 1, 2032, equal to the lesser 
of (i) four percent (4%) of the aggregate number of shares of PubCo Class A common stock outstanding on the final day of the immediately preceding calendar year and (ii) any 
such smaller number of shares as is determined by our board of directors. The aggregate number of shares that may be issued or used under the Incentive Equity Plan pursuant 
to incentive stock options (“ISOs”) shall not exceed the Initial Share Reserve. Shares of PubCo Class A common stock subject to an award that expires or is canceled, forfeited 
or otherwise terminated without delivery of shares, shares tendered in payment of an option, shares covered by a stock-settled SAR (as defined below) or other award that were 
not issued upon settlement, and shares delivered or withheld to satisfy any tax withholding obligations will again be available for delivery pursuant to other awards under the 
Incentive Equity Plan. The number of shares available for issuance under the Incentive Equity Plan will not be reduced by shares issued pursuant to awards issued or assumed in 
connection with a merger or acquisition as contemplated by applicable stock exchange rules.
 
Additional Narrative Disclosure
 
Scott Buchanan Sale Bonus Agreement
 
On July 21, 2020, BT OpCo entered into a sale bonus agreement with Mr. Buchanan, as modified by a letter from BT OpCo dated August 24, 2022 (collectively, the “Sale 
Bonus Agreement”). Pursuant to the Sale Bonus Agreement, upon a Sale Transaction (as defined in the Sale Bonus Agreement, which includes the business combination) where 
(i) the enterprise value of BT OpCo (as calculated in accordance with the terms of the Sale Bonus Agreement) is at least $25,000,000, BT OpCo will pay Mr. Buchanan a sale 
transaction bonus in an amount equal to 0.5% of the net proceeds realized in connection with such Sale Transaction, payable in a lump sum cash payment on or within 30 days 
following the date of the closing of such Sale Transaction (the “Original Bonus”) and (ii) BT 
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OpCo will pay Mr. Buchanan an additional bonus payment of $1,000,000 minus the amount of the Original Bonus (such amount the “Additional Bonus”). In the event the net 
proceeds from the business combination are equal to or greater than $5,000,000, then 50% of the Additional Bonus is payable in a lump sum cash payment on the first payroll 
date following the date of the Closing of the business combination. In the event the net proceeds from the business combination are equal to or greater than $10,000,000, the 
remaining 50% of the Additional Bonus is payable in a lump sum cash payment on BT OpCo’s first payroll date following BT OpCo’s determination that BT OpCo has 
sufficient cash on hand to make such payment (but in no event later than the first to occur of (1) March 15 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which 
the Closing of the business combination occurs and (2) the Grant Date (as defined below)).
 
On or within 30 days following the date on which the registration statement on Form S-8 with respect to the common stock of BT OpCo is filed (the “Grant Date”), subject to 
Mr. Buchanan’s continued employment by BT OpCo through the Grant Date, BT OpCo will grant Mr. Buchanan a number of restricted stock units, each representing the right 
to receive one share of PubCo common stock (the “RSUs”), equal to (i) 0.5% of the number of shares of BT OpCo’s common stock received by BT Assets, Inc. upon the 
Closing of the business combination, minus (ii) the quotient of (x) the cumulative amount, if any, of the Original Bonus and Additional Bonus paid to Mr. Buchanan as of the 
Grant Date, divided by (y) 10.15. The RSUs will vest in four equal installments on the dates on which the share consideration to be issued to existing equity holders of BT 
Assets, Inc. in the business combination is released from lock-up (which is anticipated to be on the first four quarterly earnings releases of BT OpCo following the Grant Date), 
subject to Mr. Buchanan’s continued employment by BT OpCo through each vesting date.
 
Mr. Buchanan’s Sale Bonus Agreement provides for the following restrictive covenants: (i) non-disparagement until July 21, 2025 and (ii) perpetual non-disclosure of 
confidential information. In the event that the Closing of the business combination does not occur on or prior to August 26, 2023, the terms of the modification letter dated 
August 24, 2022 (which include, among other things, payment of the Additional Bonus and grant of the RSUs) will become void.
 
Amended Sale bonus agreement
 
In July, 2023 Mr. Buchanan’s Sale Bonus Agreement was amended to include the following provisions: (i) $500,000 to be paid in July 2023 (ii) $325,000 to be paid as soon as 
the Tangible Net Worth of Bitcoin Depot Operating LLC is above $3 million (iii) $750,000 to be paid over time as the BT Assets Preferred Dividends are paid. For each $5.0 
million of Preferred Dividends that are paid Mr. Buchanan will be paid $125,000 until he has received the full $750,000. As of the date of this report, $29.0 million of Preferred 
Dividends have been paid, and Mr. Buchanan has earned $725,000. (iv) 120,500 RSU's which will vest quarterly over 1 year, which were granted in July 2023.
 
Employee and Retirement Benefits
 
BT OpCo currently provides broad-based health and welfare benefits that are available to its full-time employees, including its Named Executive Officers, including health, life, 
vision, and dental insurance. In addition, BT OpCo currently makes available a retirement plan intended to provide benefits under Section 401(k) of the Code, pursuant to which 
employees (including its Named Executive Officers) may elect to defer a portion of their compensation on a pre-tax basis and have it contributed to the plan. Pre-tax 
contributions are allocated to each participant’s individual account and are then invested in selected investment alternatives according to the participants’ directions. BT OpCo 
believes that such health, welfare, and retirement benefits are necessary and appropriate to provide a competitive compensation package to its Named Executive Officers.
 
Director Compensation
 
After the close of the Merger on June 30, 2023, the Company established its Board of independent directors and the respective committees as outlined below. Non-employee 
directors receive compensation for their service on our board and committees they serve on. The Company compensates our non-employee directors as follows i) $30,000 
annually for non-employee directors other than the lead independent director of the Board and ii) $48,750 for the lead independent director of the Board. The payments are 
made for the quarterly period after the closing of the Merger. Compensation for the non-employee directors consists of a cash payments based on their role on each committee 
they serve. In addition to annual cash compensation, the Company compensates its non-employee directors for their participation on our various committees. The compensation 
is based on the following roles on the board and the committees they serve on:
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Committee/Role  Committee Compensation  
Audit committee chairperson  $ 20,000  
Audit committee member  $ 8,125  
Compensation committee chairperson  $ 11,500  
Compensation committee member  $ 5,250  
Nominating and corporate governance committee chairperson  $ 8,000  
Nominating and corporate governance committee member  $ 5,000  
 
The following charts highlight the Board composition and their role on our various committees of the Board.
 

Director  Audit Committee  Compensation Committee  Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
Brandon Mintz    n  n
Bradley Strock  o    o
Dan Gardner    o   
Daniel Stabile    o  o
Scott Buchanan       
Teri Fontenot  n     
Tim Vanderham  o     

 
Committee member o
Committee chair n

 

Director  Fiscal Year   

Cash 
Compensation 

($)   

Committee 
Compensation

($)   
Stock Awards

(Shares) (1)   
Total

($)  
Brandon Mintz   2024            $ —  
Bradley Strock   2024   $ 48,750   $ 16,125    35,000   $ 64,875  
Dan Gardner   2024   $ 30,000   $ 8,000    35,000   $ 38,000  
Daniel Stabile   2024   $ 30,000   $ 16,000    35,000   $ 46,000  
Jackie Marks   2024   $ 15,000   $ 10,000    35,000   $ 25,000  
Scott Buchanan   2024            $ —  
Teri Fontenot   2024   $ 15,000   $ 10,000    40,000   $ 25,000  
Tim Vanderham   2024   $ 30,000   $ 8,125    35,000   $ 38,125  
 
(1) Teri Fontenot was granted 40,000 RSUs. Each of the other directors were granted 35,000 RSUs which cliff vest after 1 year.
 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
 
The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our shares of common stock as of March 17, 2025 by:
 

 •  each person known by us, based on Schedules 13D and 13G filed with the SEC, to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding shares of 
common stock;

 

 •  each of our named executive officers as set forth in Item 11 of this Annual Report and directors; and
 

 •  all of our executive officers and directors as a group.
 
A person is deemed to be a “beneficial owner” of a security if that person has or shares voting power, which includes the power to vote or direct the voting of such security, or 
investment power, which includes the power to dispose of or to direct the disposition of such security. A person is also deemed to be a beneficial owner of any securities of 
which that person has a right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days. Securities that can be so acquired are deemed to be outstanding for purposes of computing such 
person’s ownership percentage, but not for purposes of computing any other person’s percentage. Under these rules, more than one person may be deemed a beneficial owner of 
the same securities and a person may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of such securities as to which such person has no economic interest. Except as otherwise indicated in 
these footnotes, each of the beneficial owners has, to our knowledge, the sole voting and investment power with respect to the indicated shares of common stock. Percentages 
are based on 21,670,569 shares of Class A Common Stock and 41,193,024 shares of Class V Common Stock.
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Name and Address of Beneficial Owner  
Shares of Class A 
Common Stock   %  

Shares of Class V 
Common Stock   %  

Directors and named executive officers:            
Brandon Mintz (v)   34,280   (i)  0.2 % 41,193,024   (ii)  100.0 %
Scott Buchanan   221,276   (iii)  1.0 % —    —  
Glen Leibowitz   67,630   (iv)  0.3 % —    —  
Dan Gardner   —    —   —    —  
Teri Fontenot   —    —   —    —  
Daniel Stabile   —    —   —    —  
Bradley Strock   —    —   —    —  
Tim Vanderham   —    —   —    —  

All directors and all executive officers as a group (9 persons)   1,408,260    6.5 % 41,193,024    100.0 %
Five Percent Holders:            
BT Assets, Inc. (v)   -    —   41,193,024    —  
Sopris SS-BCD Secondary Investors LLC   3,062,762    14.1 % —    —  
Meteora Strategic Capital, LLC (viii)   1,477,371    6.8 % —    —  
Polar Multi-Strategy Master Fund (ix)   1,439,395    6.6 % —    —  
Shaolin Capital Management LLC (x)   1,365,646    6.3 % —    —  
AWM Investment Company, Inc. (xi)   1,323,944    6.1 % —    —  
Aristeia Capital, L.L.C.   1,218,611    5.6 % —    —  
Walleye Capital LLC   1,093,322    5.0 % —    —  
Owl Creek Asset Management, L.P.   945,050    4.4 % —    —  

 
(i) Consists of 34,280 shares of Class A common stock held by Brandon Mintz, a U.S. citizen. Mr. Mintz is Bitcoin Depot’s President and Chief Executive Officer and has 
served as Chairman of the board of directors of Bitcoin Depot since its inception in June 2016. The address of Mr. Mintz is c/o Bitcoin Depot Inc., 3343 Peachtree Road NE, 
Suite 750, Atlanta, Georgia 30326. 
 
(ii) Consists of 41,193,024 shares of Class V common stock held by BT Assets, of which Mr. Mintz is the sole voting stockholder and therefore Mr. Mintz may be deemed to 
beneficially own such shares.
 
(iii) Consists of 401 ,276 shares of Class A common stock held by Scott Buchanan, a U.S. citizen. Mr. Buchanan is Bitcoin Depot’s Chief Operating Officer and has served as a 
member of the board of directors of Bitcoin Depot since the Closing. The address of Mr. Buchanan is c/o Bitcoin Depot Inc., 3343 Peachtree Road NE, Suite 750, Atlanta, 
Georgia 30326. 
 
(iv) Consists of 67,630 shares of Class A common stock held by Glen Leibowitz, a U.S. citizen. Mr. Leibowitz was Bitcoin Depot’s Chief Financial Officer. Effective 
November 15, 2024, Glen Leibowitz resigned from his position as CFO. The address of Mr. Leibowitz is c/o Bitcoin Depot Inc., 3343 Peachtree Road NE, Suite 750, Atlanta, 
Georgia 30326.
 
(v) Consists of 44,100,000 BT HoldCo Common Units (corresponding to 44,100,000 shares of Class V common stock). Brandon Mintz is the sole voting stockholder of BT 
Assets and may be deemed to have voting and investment control with respect to the shares held by BT Assets. Each of the parties in this footnote disclaims any beneficial 
ownership of the reported shares other than to the extent of any pecuniary interest the party may have therein. The business address of BT Assets and Mr. Mintz is c/o Bitcoin 
Depot Inc., 3343 Peachtree Road NE, Suite 750, Atlanta, Georgia 30326. 
 
(vi) Consists of (i) 155,786 shares of Class A Common Stock, par value 0.0001 (“Shares”) directly held by Mr. Andrew Mitchell Paul, a citizen of the United States and (ii) 
2,906,976 Shares directly held by Sopris SS-BCD Secondary Investors, LLC, a limited liability company organized in Delaware. Mr. Paul is the sole managing member of 
Sopris SS-BCD Secondary Investors, LLC. The business address of this entity and Mr. Paul is 409 Aspen Airport Business Center, Suite B Aspen, CO 81611.
 
(vii) Consists of 1,938,724 Public Warrants exercisable for shares of Class A common stock. LMR Partners LLP, LMR Partners Limited, LMR Partners LLC, LMR Partners 
AG and LMR Partners (DIFC) Limited (collectively, the “LMR Investment Managers”), serve as the investment managers to certain funds with respect to the shares of Class A 
common stock held by certain funds. The ultimate natural persons who have voting and dispositive power over the securities held by certain funds and managed by LMR 
Investment Managers are Ben Levin and Stefan Renold. The securities beneficially owned by the preceding reporting parties are 

(vi)

(xii)

 (xiii)

(xiv)
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directly held by LMR Master Fund and LMR CCSA Master Fund, for which the LMR Investment Managers serve as the Investment Managers. The business address of LMR 
Investment Managers is c/o LMR Partners LLP, 9th Floor, Devonshire House, 1 Mayfair Place London, W1J 8AJ, United Kingdom. 
 
(viii) Consists of (i) 774,421 shares of Class A common stock, including (x) 468,545 shares registered for resale hereby and (y) 305,876 shares purchased in the open market, 
(ii) 29,794 shares of Class E-1 common stock, (iii) 29,794 shares of Class E-2 common stock, (iv) 29,794 shares of Class E-3 common stock, (v) 1,434,739 Private Placement 
Warrants, and (vi) 1,171,495 Public Warrants purchased in the open market, held directly by Meteora Strategic Capital, LLC (“MSC”). Meteora Capital, LLC (“Meteora”) is 
the Manager of MSC and has investment and dispositive power over the securities. Vikas Mittal is the Managing Member of MSC and Meteora and may be deemed to have 
voting and investment control with respect to the securities held by these entities. Each of the parties in this footnote disclaims any beneficial ownership of the reported 
securities other than to the extent of any pecuniary interest the party may have therein. The business address of these entities and Mr. Mittal is 1200 N Federal Hwy, Ste 200, 
Boca Raton, Florida 33432.
 
(ix) Consists of (i) 144,884 shares of Class A common stock registered for resale hereby and (ii) 1,294,511 Public Warrants exercisable for shares of Class A common stock 
subject to an ownership blocker pursuant to the Non-Redemption Agreement entered into by the Company and Polar Multi-Strategy Master Fund (the “Polar Fund”), each held 
directly by the Polar Fund. The Polar Fund is under management by Polar Asset Management Partners Inc. (“PAMPI”). PAMPI serves as Investment Advisor to the Polar Fund 
and has control and discretion over the securities held by the Polar Fund. As such, PAMPI may be deemed the beneficial owner of the securities held by the Polar Fund. PAMPI 
disclaims any beneficial ownership of the reported securities other than to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. The ultimate natural persons who have voting and 
dispositive power over the securities held by the Polar Fund are Paul Sabourin and Abdalla Ruken, Co-Chief Investment Officers of PAMPI. The business address of the Polar 
Fund is c/o Polar Asset Management Partners Inc., 16 York Street, Suite 2900, Toronto, Ontario, M5J 0E6 Canada.
 
(x) Consists of, in each case, without giving effect to the 9.9% beneficial ownership blocker pursuant to the PIPE Agreement, (i) 770,727 shares of Class A common stock of 
which (w) 315,019 shares of Class A common stock are owned by Shaolin Capital Partners Master Fund Ltd, (x) 143,596 shares of Class A common stock are owned by MAP 
214 Segregated Portfolio, a segregated portfolio of LMA SPC, (y) 173,614 shares of Class A common stock are owned by DS Liquid DIV RVA SCM LLC and (z) 138,498 
shares of Class A common stock are owned by Shaolin Capital Partners SP, a segregated portfolio of PC MAP SPC (collectively, the “Shaolin funds”), including (1) 509 shares 
held by Shaolin Capital Partners Master Fund Ltd., 7,792 shares held by MAP 214 Segregated Portfolio, a segregated portfolio of LMA SPC, 208 shares held by DS Liquid 
DIV RVA SCM LLC, and 7,292 shares held by Shaolin Capital Partners SP, a segregated portfolio of PC MAP SPC, registered for resale hereby by each such Shaolin fund, 
respectively, and (2) collectively among the Shaolin funds, 754,926 shares purchased in GSRM’s IPO (including rights that were exchanged into shares at the Closing), and (ii) 
1,874,274 Public Warrants purchased in GSRM’s IPO and in the open market, of which (w) 751,584 Public Warrants are held by Shaolin Capital Partners Master Fund Ltd, (x) 
367,358 Public Warrants are owned by MAP 214 Segregated Portfolio, a segregated portfolio of LMA SPC, (y) 414,215 Public Warrants are owned by DS Liquid DIV RVA 
SCM LLC and (z) 341,117 Public Warrants are owned by Shaolin Capital Partners SP, a segregated portfolio of PC MAP SPC. Shaolin Capital Management LLC (“SCM”) is 
the Manager of the Shaolin funds and has sole investment and dispositive power over the securities. David Puritz, in his position as CIO at SCM and Michael Jester in his 
position as Co-founder and Head of Research at SCM may be deemed to have voting and investment control with respect to the securities held by these entities. SCM has sole 
voting and dispositive power over the securities held by each of these entities. Each of the parties in this footnote disclaims any beneficial ownership of the reported securities 
other than to the extent of any pecuniary interest the party may have therein. The business address of these entities and individuals is 230 NW 24th Street, Suite 603, Miami, 
Florida 33127. Pursuant to the PIPE Agreement, the exercise or conversion of any Series A Preferred Stock, warrants or other convertible or equity-linked securities of the 
Company is subject to ownership limitations such that Shaolin Capital Management, LLC and its affiliates cannot beneficially own in excess of 9.9% of the pro forma issued 
and outstanding Class A common stock of the Company at any time. The number of shares beneficially owned by the Shaolin funds after the offering is based on 13,183,691 
shares of Class A common stock outstanding as of the date of this prospectus supplement, plus an aggregate of 610,720 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise 
of 610,720 Public Warrants held by the Shaolin funds, which represents the maximum number of such warrants exercisable by the Shaolin funds to be in compliance with the 
9.9% ownership limitation to which the Shaolin funds are subject.
 
(xi) Consists of 1,323,944 shares of Class A common stock, of which (a) 134,832 shares are held by Special Situations Cayman Fund, L.P., 463,214, (b) 463,214 shares are 
held by Special Situations Fund III QP, L.P., (c) 81,782 shares are held b Special Situations Private Equity Fund, L.P., (d) 40,653 shares are held by Special Situations 
Technology Fund, L.P., and (e) 216,521 shares held by Special Situations Technology Fund II, L.P. (collectively, shares held by the “Funds”). AWM Investment Company, Inc. 
is the 
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investment advisor to these Funds. The ultimate natural persons who have voting and dispositive power over the securities held by the Funds are David M. Greenhouse and 
Adam C. Stettner, as controlling principals of AWM Investment Company, Inc. The business address of AWM Investment Company, Inc. is c/o Special Situations Funds, 527 
Madison Avenue, Suite 2600, New York, NY 10022. 
 
(xii) Consists of 1,218,611 shares of Class A common stock. Aristeia Capital, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company is the investment manager of, and has voting and 
investment control, with respect to the securities described herein held by, one or more private investment funds. The business address of Aristeia Capital, L.L.C. is One 
Greenwich Plaza, Suite 300 Greenwich, CT 06830.
 
(xiii) Consists of 1,093,322 shares of Class A common stock. Walleye Capital LLC, a Minnesota limited liability company is the investment manager of, and has voting and 
investment control, with respect to the securities described herein. The business address of Walleye Capital LLC  is 2800 Niagara Lane N, Plymouth, MN 55447.
 
(xiv) Consists of 693,050 shares of Class A common stock and 252,000 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants. Owl Creek Asset Management, 
L.P., a Delaware limited partnership is the investment manager of Owl Creek Credit Opportunities master Fund, Ltd. (the “Owl Creek Fund”) with respect to these securities 
owned by the Owl Creek Fund. Jeffrey A. Altman is the managing member of the general partner of Owl Creek Asset Management, L.P. with respect to the securities owned by 
Owl Creek Fund. The business address of the reporting persons is 640 Fifth Ave., 20th Floor, New York, NY 10019. 
 
Equity Compensation Plan Information
 
The following table presents aggregate information regarding grants under all equity compensation plans of the Company through December 31, 2024:
  (A)   (B)   (C)  

  

Number of Securities to be issued upon 
exercise of outstanding options, warrants and 

rights
  

Weighted-average exercise price 
of outstanding options, warrants 

and rights
  

Number of securities remaining available for 
future issuance under equity compensation 

plans (excluding securities reflected in column 
(A))

 

2023 Incentive plan   1,624,687    2.40    4,917,241  
 
Restrictions on Transfers of Founder Shares and Private shares
 
The founder shares and private placement warrants and any shares of Class A common stock issued upon conversion or exercise thereof are subject to transfer restrictions 
pursuant to lock-up provisions in a letter agreement entered into by us with our founder, officers and directors. Those lock-up provisions provide that such securities are not 
transferable or salable (i) in the case of the founder shares, until the earlier of (A) one year after the completion of our initial business combination or (B) subsequent to our 
initial business combination, (x) if the last reported sale price of our Class A common stock equals or exceeds $12.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, 
reorganizations, recapitalizations and other similar transactions) for any 20 trading days within
any 30-trading day period commencing at least 150 days after our initial business combination, or (y) the date on which we complete a liquidation, merger, capital stock 
exchange, reorganization or other similar transaction that results in all of our stockholders having the right to exchange their shares of common stock for cash, securities or other 
property, and (ii) in the case of the private placement warrants and the Class A common stock underlying such warrants, until 30 days after the completion of our initial 
business combination, except in each case (a) to our officers or directors, any affiliates or family members of any of our officers or directors, any members of our founder, or 
any affiliates of our founder, (b) in the case of an individual, by gift to a member of the individual’s immediate family, to a trust, the beneficiary of which is a member of the 
individual’s immediate family or an affiliate of such person, or to a charitable organization; (c) in the case of an individual, by virtue of laws of descent and distribution upon 
death of the individual; (d) in the case of an individual, pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order; (e) by private sales or transfers made in connection with the 
consummation of a business combination at prices no greater than the price at which the securities were originally purchased; (f) in the event of our liquidation prior to the 
completion of our initial business combination; (g) by virtue of the laws of Delaware or our sponsor’s limited liability company agreement upon dissolution of our sponsor; or 
(h) in the event of our liquidation, merger, capital stock exchange, reorganization or other similar transaction which results in all of our stockholders having the right to 
exchange their shares of common stock for cash, securities or other property subsequent to the completion of our initial business combination; provided, however, that in the 
case of clauses (a) through (h) these permitted transferees must enter into a written agreement agreeing to be bound by these transfer restrictions.
 
In order to meet our working capital needs we utilize our credit agreement and operating cash flows. Additionally, since going public after the close of the Transaction, the 
Company has access to public equity markets.
 
Our executive officers and our Sponsor are our “promoters,” as that term is defined under the federal securities laws.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
 

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 
Tax Receivable Agreement
 
At the Closing of the Business Combination, we entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with BT HoldCo and BT Assets. Pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreement, we are 
generally required to pay BT Assets 85% of the amount of savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state, local, and foreign income taxes that we realize, or in certain circumstances is 
deemed to realize, as a result of certain Tax Attributes, including:
 

 •  existing tax basis in certain assets of BT HoldCo and BT OpCo, including assets that will eventually be subject to depreciation or amortization, once placed 
in service, attributable to BT HoldCo Common Units acquired by us at the Closing and thereafter in accordance with the terms of the BT HoldCo Amended 
and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement;

 

 •  tax basis adjustments resulting from our acquisition of BT HoldCo Common Units from BT Assets at the Closing and thereafter pursuant to the terms of the 
BT HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement (including any such adjustments resulting from certain payments made by us 
under the Tax Receivable Agreement);

 

 •  disproportionate tax-related allocations as a result of Section 704(c) of the Code; and
 

 •  tax deductions in respect of interest payments deemed to be made by us in connection with the Tax Receivable Agreement.

 
The payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement are our obligations and not obligations of BT HoldCo. Under the Tax Receivable Agreement, we are generally 
treated as realizing a tax benefit from the use of a Tax Attribute on a “with and without” basis, by comparing our actual tax liability to the amount we would have been required 
to pay had we not been able to utilize any of the Tax Attributes. The term of the Tax Receivable Agreement commenced upon the Closing and will continue until all Tax 
Attributes have been utilized or expired, unless an early termination event occurs and we are required to make the termination payment specified in the Tax Receivable 
Agreement (as described further below).
 
The amounts payable, as well as the timing of any payments, under the Tax Receivable Agreement are dependent upon significant future events, including (but not limited to) 
the timing of the exchanges of BT HoldCo Common Units and surrender of a corresponding number of shares of Class V common stock, the price of Class A common stock at 
the time of each exchange, the extent to which such exchanges are taxable transactions, the depreciation and amortization periods that apply to any increase in tax basis resulting 
from such exchanges, the types of assets held by BT HoldCo and BT OpCo, the amount and timing of taxable income we generate in the future, the U.S. federal income tax rate 
then applicable and the portion of our payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement that constitute imputed interest or give rise to depreciable or amortizable tax basis. In 
connection with the preparation of the proxy statement filed in connection with the Business Combination, we previously estimated that the payment of the Over the Top 
Consideration (as defined in the Transaction Agreement) to BT Assets in the Business Combination would result in aggregate payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement of 
approximately $1.7 million. This amount did not take into account any future exchanges of BT HoldCo Common Units by BT Assets pursuant to the BT HoldCo Amended and 
Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement and this assumed (i) there would be a certain number of redemptions in connection with the Business Combination, (ii) a 
constant federal and state blended tax rate of 26.1% would apply to the Company, (iii) there would be no material changes in tax law and (iv) we have sufficient taxable income 
to utilize all Tax Attributes. These amounts are estimates and were prepared for informational purposes only. The actual amount of payments under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement could vary significantly.
 
Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will generally be based on the tax reporting positions that we determine (with the amount of subject payments determined in 
consultation with an advisory firm and subject to BT Assets’ review and consent). The IRS or another taxing authority may challenge all or any part of a position taken with 
respect to Tax Attributes or the utilization thereof, as well as other tax positions that we take, and a court may sustain such a challenge. In the event that any Tax Attributes 
initially claimed or utilized by us are disallowed, BT Assets will not be required to reimburse us for any excess payments that may previously have been made pursuant to the 
Tax Receivable Agreement, for example, due to adjustments resulting from examinations by taxing authorities. Rather, any excess payments made to BT Assets will be applied 
against and reduce any future cash payments otherwise required to be made by us under the Tax Receivable Agreement after the determination of such excess. However, a 
challenge to any Tax Attributes initially claimed or utilized may not arise for a number of years following the initial time of such payment. Moreover, 
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even if a challenge arises earlier, any excess cash payment may be greater than the amount of future cash payments that we are otherwise required to make under the terms of 
the Tax Receivable Agreement. As a result, there might not be future cash payments against which any excess can be applied and we could be required to make payments under 
the Tax Receivable Agreement in excess of our actual savings in respect of the Tax Attributes, which could materially impair our financial condition.
 
The Tax Receivable Agreement provides that, in the case of certain early termination events (including certain changes of control, material breaches, or at our option subject to 
the approval of a majority of our independent directors), we will be required to make a lump-sum cash payment to BT Assets equal to the present value of all forecasted future 
payments that would have otherwise been made under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which lump-sum payment would be based on certain assumptions, including those 
relating to us having sufficient future taxable income to fully utilize the Tax Attributes over certain specified time periods and that all BT HoldCo Common Units that had not 
yet been exchanged for shares of Class A common stock, shares of Class M common stock or cash are deemed exchanged.
 
Accordingly, as a result of these assumptions, the lump-sum payment may be due significantly in advance, and could materially exceed, the actual future tax benefits we realize. 
In these situations, our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement could have a material and adverse impact on our liquidity and financial condition, and could have the 
effect of delaying, deferring, or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations or other changes of control. For example, in connection with the 
preparation of the proxy statement filed in connection with the Business Combination, we previously estimated that if we had experienced a change of control or the Tax 
Receivable Agreement had otherwise been terminated immediately after the Closing, the estimated lump-sum payment would have been approximately $90.2 million. This 
estimated lump-sum payment was based on certain assumptions and was calculated using a discount rate equal to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate plus 100 basis points, 
applied against an undiscounted liability of approximately $134.6 million (based on the 21% U.S. federal corporate income tax rate and an estimated state and local income tax 
rate). These amounts are estimates and have been prepared for informational purposes only. The actual amount of such lump-sum payment could vary significantly.
 
Under the Tax Receivable Agreement, we are required to provide BT Assets with a schedule showing the calculation of payments that are due under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement with respect to each applicable taxable year. This calculation will be based upon the advice of an advisory firm. Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement 
generally will be required to be made to BT Assets a short period of time after an applicable schedule becomes final pursuant to the procedures set forth in the Tax Receivable 
Agreement. Interest on such payments will begin to accrue on the due date (without extensions) of our U.S. federal income tax return for the applicable taxable year. Any late 
payments that may be made under the Tax Receivable Agreement will continue to accrue interest (generally at a default rate) until such payments are made. Our failure to make 
any payment required under the Tax Receivable Agreement within three months of the date on which the payment is required to be made will constitute a material breach under 
the Tax Receivable Agreement, which will terminate the Tax Receivable Agreement and accelerate future payments thereunder (as described above), unless making such 
payment would cause us to become insolvent or the failure to make the applicable payment is attributable to us (i) being prohibited from making such payment under the terms 
governing certain portions of our indebtedness and (ii) not having, and being unable to obtain with commercially reasonable efforts, sufficient funds to make such payment.
We are required to notify and keep BT Assets reasonably informed regarding tax audits or other proceedings the outcome of which is reasonably expected to materially and 
adversely affect payments to BT Assets under the
 
Tax Receivable Agreement, and BT Assets has the right to (i) discuss with us, and provide input and comment to us regarding, any portion of any such tax audit or proceeding 
and (ii) participate in, at BT Assets’ expense, any such portion of any such tax audit or proceeding to the extent it relates to issues the resolution of which would reasonably be 
expected to affect payments to BT Assets under the Tax Receivable Agreement. We are not permitted to settle or fail to contest any issue pertaining to income taxes that is 
reasonably expected to adversely affect BT Assets’ rights and obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement without the consent of BT Assets (such consent not to be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).
 
The foregoing description of the Tax Receivable Agreement is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the Tax Receivable Agreement, a copy of which has been filed as an 
exhibit to the Registration Statement and is also filed as an exhibit to this annual report on Form 10-K and incorporated by reference in this annual report on Form 10-K.
 
BT HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement
 
We operate our business through BT OpCo, a wholly owned subsidiary of BT HoldCo, and BT OpCo’s subsidiaries. At the Closing, we entered into the BT HoldCo Amended 
and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement with BT HoldCo and BT Assets, which set forth, among other things, the rights and obligations of the members and the 
manager of BT HoldCo.
 
Management
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Pursuant to the BT HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement, the business, property and affairs of BT HoldCo are managed by Brandon Mintz, as 
the manager of BT HoldCo, whose actions as manager are subject to our sole, absolute and exclusive direction.
 
Capitalization; Earnout Units
 
In connection with the BT Entity Restructuring and the Transaction Agreement, BT HoldCo now has three authorized classes of units: BT HoldCo Preferred Units, BT HoldCo 
Common Units and BT HoldCo Earnout Units, with the BT HoldCo Earnout Units further divided into three subclasses, being (i) Class 1 Earnout Units of BT HoldCo, (ii) Class 
2 Earnout Units of BT HoldCo and (iii) Class 3 Earnout Units of BT HoldCo.
 
In connection with the Closing of the Business Combination and subject to the terms and conditions of the Transaction Agreement, BT HoldCo issued BT HoldCo Common 
Units and the BT HoldCo Matching Warrants to us in exchange for a cash contribution to BT HoldCo. The BT HoldCo Matching Warrants issued to us are exercisable to 
purchase a number of BT HoldCo Common Units equal to the number of shares of Class A common stock that may be purchased upon the exercise in full of all Warrants 
outstanding immediately after the Closing, such that immediately after completion of the Business Combination and the issuance of BT HoldCo Common Units and BT HoldCo 
Matching Warrants by BT HoldCo to us, the total number of BT HoldCo Common Units held by us will equal the total number of outstanding shares of Class A common stock 
and the total number of BT HoldCo Common Units into which the BT HoldCo Matching Warrants held by us are exercisable are equal to the total number of shares of Class A 
common stock for which outstanding warrants issued by us are exercisable. Upon the valid exercise of a BT HoldCo Matching Warrant by us in accordance with the Warrant 
Agreement, BT HoldCo will issue to us the number of BT HoldCo Common Units to be issued in connection with such exercise. If any holder of a Warrant exercises such 
warrant, then we will cause a corresponding exercise of a BT HoldCo Matching Warrants, such that the number of shares of Class A common stock issued in connection with 
the exercise of the Warrants will equal the number of BT HoldCo Common Units issued by BT HoldCo. The exercise price to exercise a BT HoldCo Matching Warrant will be 
equal to the exercise price paid by the holder of the corresponding Warrants. We further agreed that we will not exercise any BT HoldCo Matching Warrants other than in 
connection with the corresponding exercise of a Warrant.
Additionally, in connection with the Closing of the Business Combination, BT Assets sold, transferred and assigned to us, and we purchased and accepted from BT Assets, 
certain BT HoldCo Common Units in consideration for the Over the Top Consideration (as defined in the Transaction Agreement).
 
In connection with the Closing of the Business Combination, BT HoldCo issued BT HoldCo Earnout Units to BT Assets and to us that are accompanied by certain conversion 
requirements and rights, including that the BT HoldCo Earnout Units may either be converted into BT HoldCo Common Units or forfeited based on achievement milestones for 
the per-share price of Class A common stock during applicable earnout periods. Additionally, BT HoldCo Earnout Units may be automatically converted into BT HoldCo 
Common Units upon the consummation of a change of control transaction that meets a certain per-share price of Class A common stock.
 
Preferred Units
 
BT Assets holds 2,900,000 BT HoldCo Preferred Units. The BT HoldCo Preferred Units are non-voting units of BT HoldCo that are senior to the BT HoldCo Common Units in 
respect of distributions (as further described below). Each BT HoldCo Preferred Unit will automatically convert into one BT HoldCo Common Unit upon the distribution of 
$10.00 in respect of each such BT HoldCo Preferred Unit (or $29.0 million in the aggregate). The conversion of the BT HoldCo Common Units will occur automatically upon 
such event without any further action by BT HoldCo, the manager of BT HoldCo, BT Assets or any other person. Following the conversion of the BT HoldCo Preferred Units, 
such units will entitle the holder to the rights and obligations of a holder of a BT HoldCo Common Unit and each converted BT HoldCo Preferred Unit will cease to be issued or 
outstanding. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the $29.0 million preferred distribution was paid to BT Assets as a return to BT Asset's on the preferred units it holds in 
BT HoldCo.
 
Additional Units; Repurchase or Redemption of Class A common stock
 
The manager of BT HoldCo has the right to cause BT HoldCo to issue and create additional equity securities of BT HoldCo.
Subject to certain exceptions, at any time that we issue shares of Class A common stock, we will contribute to BT HoldCo all of the net proceeds (if any) we receive with respect 
to such shares of Class A common stock. Upon the contribution by us to BT HoldCo of all of such net proceeds we receive, BT HoldCo will issue a number of BT HoldCo 
Common Units equal to the number of shares of Class A common stock so issued.
 
If, at any time, any shares of Class A common stock are repurchased or redeemed (whether by exercise of a put or call, automatically or by means of another arrangement) by us 
for cash, except where such repurchase or redemption is paired with a stock split or stock dividend such that after the split or dividend there is an equal number of shares of 
Class A common stock outstanding as prior to the 
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split or dividend, then the manager of BT HoldCo will cause BT HoldCo to, immediately prior to such repurchase or redemption of such shares, redeem a corresponding number 
of BT HoldCo Common Units held by us at an aggregate redemption price equal to the aggregate purchase or redemption price per share of Class A common stock being 
repurchased or redeemed by us (plus any reasonable expenses related thereto) and upon such other terms as are the same for the share or shares of Class A common stock being 
repurchased or redeemed by us.
 
Distributions
 
The BT HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Agreement requires tax distributions be made by BT HoldCo to the BT HoldCo unitholders (including us), on a pro 
rata basis, to the extent funds of BT HoldCo are legally available for distribution and such distribution would not be prohibited under any credit facility or any other agreement 
to which BT HoldCo or any of its subsidiaries is a party, in each case, as determined by the manager of BT HoldCo in its reasonable discretion. Tax distributions shall be made 
on a quarterly basis to each unitholder based on such unitholder’s allocable share of the taxable income of BT HoldCo and an assumed tax rate (and, in our case, taking into 
account our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement). The assumed tax rate will be the highest combined federal, state, and local tax rate that may potentially apply to 
a corporate or individual taxpayer (whichever is higher), taking into account certain assumptions and without regard to the actual final tax liability of any unitholder.
 
Other than with respect to tax distributions and subject to distributions to reimburse the manager of BT HoldCo and us for reasonable expenses, the manager may cause BT 
HoldCo to make distributions at such time, in such amounts and in such form (including in kind property) as determined by the manager, in each case, to the holders of BT 
HoldCo Preferred Units and Common Units in the following order of priority: (1) first, to the holders of the BT HoldCo Preferred Units until each such unit has received $10.00 
in distributions (or $29.0 million in the aggregate) and (2) to the holders of the BT HoldCo Preferred Units and Common Units, pro rata based on the relative ownership of such 
units.
 
We expect BT HoldCo may make distributions out of distributable cash periodically and as necessary to enable us to cover our operating expenses and other obligations, 
including tax liabilities and other obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement, except to the extent such distributions would be prohibited under the BT HoldCo Amended 
and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement or are otherwise prohibited by law.
 
Liability; Indemnification; Manager Reimbursement
 
The BT HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement limits the liability of the members and unitholders of BT HoldCo and the officers, directors and 
managers of our, BT HoldCo and each of our subsidiaries to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL and provides that BT HoldCo provide such persons with customary 
indemnification and advancement of expenses. BT HoldCo will reimburse the manager for any expenses incurred on behalf of BT HoldCo.
 
The manager will not be compensated for its services as the manager of BT HoldCo, but the manager will be reimbursed by BT HoldCo for any reasonable out-of-pocket 
expenses incurred by it on behalf of BT HoldCo.
 
Requested Services
 
Pursuant to the BT HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement, for so long as BT Assets holds at least 5% or more of the outstanding BT HoldCo 
Common Units, BT HoldCo will use its reasonable best efforts to provide (or cause to be provided) at BT HoldCo expense, any accounting, tax, legal, insurance and 
administrative support to BT Assets and its affiliates as BT Assets may reasonably request.
 
The foregoing description of the BT HoldCo Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the BT HoldCo 
Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement, a copy of which has been filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement and is also filed as an exhibit to this 
annual report on Form 10-K and incorporated by reference in this annual report on Form 10-K.
 
Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement
 
At the Closing, we amended and restated the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 24, 2022, as may be amended, by and among GSRM, Sponsor and the other 
holders party thereto. Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, we granted certain customary registration rights with respect to our securities. 
Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, within 45 days of the Closing Date, we agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to file with the 
SEC (at our sole cost and expense) a registration statement registering the resale of certain securities held by or issuable to the parties to the Amended and Restated Registration 
Rights Agreement. In certain circumstances, certain parties to the Amended and Restated 
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Registration Rights Agreement can demand our assistance with underwritten offerings and block trades, and certain parties to the Amended and Restated Registration Rights 
Agreement are entitled to piggyback registration rights.
 
Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, shares held directly or indirectly by Sponsor, or distributed by Sponsor to certain third parties and 
affiliates of Sponsor concurrently with Closing, and BT Assets are subject to the Lock-Up Period, with 25% of such Lock-Up Shares being released at each quarterly earnings 
release that occurs at least 60 days after the Closing Date, subject to an early release if approved by a majority of the independent members of our board of directors.
 
The foregoing description of the Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the Amended and Restated Registration 
Rights Agreement, a copy of which has been filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement and is also filed as an exhibit to this annual report on Form 10-K and incorporated 
by reference in this annual report on Form 10-K.
 
Preferred Sale Registration Rights Agreement
 
On October 3, 2023, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement (the “Preferred Sale RRA”) in connection with the Preferred Sale (as defined in the Preferred Sale 
RRA) with the Holders (as defined in the Preferred Sale RRA). The Preferred Sale RRA, among other things, provides that the Company is obligated to, within 15 calendar 
days of the consummation of the Preferred Sale, file with the SEC a registration statement to register the resale of the shares of Class A common stock issuable upon conversion 
of the Series A Preferred subscribed for and purchased by the Holders.
 
The foregoing description of the Preferred Sale RRA does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the Preferred Sale RRA, a copy of which 
has been filed as an exhibit to the 8-K filed on October 4, 2023,
 
Indemnification Agreements
 
In connection with the Closing of the Business Combination, we entered into separate indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers, in addition to the 
indemnification provided for in our organizational documents. These agreements, among other things, require us to indemnify our directors and executive officers for certain 
costs, charges and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts, reasonably incurred by a director or executive officer in any action or 
proceeding because of their association with us or any of our subsidiaries.
 
The foregoing description of the Indemnification Agreements is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the Indemnification Agreements.
 
Policies and Procedures for Related Person Transactions
 
Effective upon the Closing, our board of directors adopted a written related person transaction policy that sets forth the following policies and procedures for the review and 
approval or ratification of related person transactions.
 
A “related person transaction” is a transaction, arrangement or relationship in which we or any of our subsidiaries was, is or will be a participant, the amount of which involved 
exceeds $120,000, and in which any related person had, has or will have a direct or indirect material interest. A “related person” meanbs:
 

 •  any person who is, or at any time during the applicable period was, one of our executive officers or directors;
 

 •  any person who is known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of shares of Voting common stock (as defined below);
 

 •  any immediate family member of any of the foregoing persons, which means any child, stepchild, parent, stepparent, spouse, sibling, mother-in-law, 
father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law or sister-in-law of a director, executive officer or a beneficial owner of more than 5% of shares 
of Voting common stock, and any person (other than a tenant or employee) sharing the household of such director, executive officer or beneficial owner 
of more than 5% of shares of Voting common stock; and

 

 •  any firm, corporation or other entity in which any of the foregoing persons is a partner or principal, or in a similar position, or in which such person has a 
10% or greater beneficial ownership interest.

 
We have policies and procedures designed to minimize potential conflicts of interest arising from any dealings we may have with our affiliates and to provide appropriate 
procedures for the disclosure of any real or potential conflicts of interest that may exist from time to time. Specifically, pursuant to the Audit Committee Charter, the Audit 
Committee will have the responsibility to review, approve and ratify related party transactions.
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The Audit Committee shall be provided with the details of each new, existing, or proposed related party transaction, including the terms of the transaction, any contractual 
restrictions that the company has already committed to, the business purpose of the transaction, and the benefits of the transaction to the company and to the relevant related 
party. Any member of the committee who has an interest in the related party transaction under review by the committee shall abstain from voting on the approval of the related 
party transaction, but may, if so requested by the chairman of the committee, participate in some or all of the committee’s discussions of the related party transaction. Upon 
completion of its review of the related party transaction, the committee may determine to permit or to prohibit the related party transaction.
 
Independence
 
The Board has determined that five of the Company’s seven directors are “independent” as defined in the applicable listing standards of the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, 
including that each such director is free of any relationship that the Board believes would interfere with his or her individual exercise of independent judgment. As a part of the 
Board’s review of the independence of directors, questionnaires are used on an annual basis (or when a new director is added) to gather input to assist the Corporate Governance 
and Nominating Committee. The following directors were determined to be independent: Teri Fontenot, Bradley Strock, Tim Vanderham, Daniel Gardner and Daniel Stabile. 
 
In making its determinations regarding director independence, the Board considered, among other things:

•any material relationships with the Company, its subsidiaries or its management, aside from such director’s service
as a director;

•transactions between the Company, on the one hand, and the directors and their respective affiliates, on the other
hand;

•transactions outside the ordinary course of business between the Company and companies at which some of its
directors are or have been executive officers or significant stakeholders, and the amount of any such transactions
with these companies; and

•relationships among the directors with respect to common involvement with for-profit and non-profit
organizations.

 
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
 
Our independent registered public accounting firm is Wolf & Company P.C. (“Wolf”), Boston, MA, Auditor ID: 392.
 
KPMG LLP ("KPMG"), Atlanta, GA. Auditor ID: 185, audited our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
 
The following table represents aggregate fees billed to the Company for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 by the Company’s independent registered public 
accounting firms. Wolf has served as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm since August 23, 2024. KPMG was our independent registered public 
accounting firm for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. See “Change in Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” below.
 

 Year Ended December 31,  
 2024   2023  

Wolf & Co.      
Audit fees $ 739   $ —  
Audit related fees  —    —  
Tax fees  —    —  
Wolf & Co. total  739    —  

KPMG      
Audit fees  1,304    5,590  
Audit related fees  1,858    —  
Tax fees  184    25  
KPMG total  3,346    5,615  

Total $ 4,085   $ 5,615  
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Audit fees consist of amounts for professional services rendered for the audit of our year-end financial statements and services normally provided in connection with statutory 
and regulatory filings or engagements including comfort letters, consents and other services related to SEC matters. 
 
Audit-Related Fees. Audit-related services consist of amounts for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to performance of the audit or review of our 
financial statements and are not reported under “Audit Fees.” These services include attest services that are not required by statute or regulation and consultations concerning 
financial accounting and reporting standards.
 
Tax Fees. The aggregate amount of fees charged by KPMG for tax planning, tax advice and tax compliance for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled $184,000 
and $25,000, respectively.
 
All Other Fees. We did not incur fees related to KPMG for any other services for both the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 
 

Exhibit  Description Schedule/Form Exhibit No. Filing Date
      

2.1†  Transaction Agreement, dated as of August 24, 2022, by and among by and 
among GSRM, the Sponsor, BT Assets and BT OpCo. 8-K 2.1 August 25, 2022

      

2.2  First Amendment to the Transaction Agreement, dated February 13, 2023 by 
and among GSRM, the Sponsor, BT Assets and BT OpCo. 8-K 2.1 February 14, 2023

      

2.3  Second Amendment to the Transaction Agreement, dated April 4, 2023 by and 
among GSRM, the Sponsor, BT Assets and BT OpCo. 8-K 2.1 April 4, 2023

      

2.4  Third Amendment to the Transaction Agreement, dated May 11, 2023 by and 
among GSRM, the Sponsor, BT Assets and BT OpCo. 8-K 2.1 May 11, 2023

      

2.5†  Fourth Amendment and Joinder to the Transaction Agreement, dated June 7, 
2023 by and among GSRM, the Sponsor, BT Assets and BT OpCo. 8-K 2.1 June 13, 2023

      
3.1  Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Bitcoin Depot 

Inc.
8-K 3.1 July 7, 2023

      
3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Bitcoin Depot Inc. 8-K 3.2 July 7, 2023
      
3.3  Certificate of Designation of Rights and Preferences of Series A Convertible 

Preferred Stock of Bitcoin Depot Inc.
8-K 3.3 July 7, 2023

      
4.1  Specimen Warrant Certificate (included in Exhibit 4.2). S-1/A 4.3 February 23, 2022
      
4.2  Warrant Agreement, dated as of February 24, 2022 by and between GSRM 

and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent.
8-K 4.5 March 2, 2022

      
10.1  BT HoldCo LLC Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company 

Agreement.
8-K 10.1 July 7, 2023

      

10.6  Form of Indemnification Agreement. 8-K 10.6 July 7, 2023
      
10.7  PIPE Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2023, by and among the Company, 

GSRM and the investors listed therein.
8-K 10.1 June 26, 2023

      
10.8  Amendment No. 1 to the PIPE Agreement, dated October 2, 2023, by and 

among the Company and the investors listed therein.
8-K 10.1 October 2, 2023

      
10.9  Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 3, 2023, by and among the 

Company and the holders listed therein.
8-K 10.2 October 2, 2023

      
10.10#  Form of Bitcoin Depot Inc. 2023 Omnibus Incentive Plan. 8-K 10.8 July 7, 2023
      
10.11  Form of Voting and Non-Redemption Agreement. 8-K 10.1 May 19, 2023
      
10.12  Form of Non-Redemption Agreement. 8-K 10.1 June 2, 2023
      

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312522229484/d396102d425.htm
https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/edgar/data/0001901799/000119312523036528/d657900d8k.htm
https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/edgar/data/0001901799/000119312523091021/d439889d8k.htm
https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/edgar/data/0001901799/000119312523142185/d438596d8k.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312523165518/d479758dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312523183847/d527686dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312523183847/d527686dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312523183847/d527686dex33.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312522048758/d216512dex45.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312522048758/d216512dex45.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312523183847/d527686dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312523183847/d527686dex106.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312523174559/d646464dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/edgar/data/0001901799/000119312523250362/d862376d8k.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312523250362/d862376dex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312523183847/d527686dex108.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312523148553/d498867dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312523159321/d487282dex101.htm
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Exhibit  Description Schedule/Form Exhibit No. Filing Date
10.13#  Form of Phantom Equity Award Termination Agreement and General Release. 8-K 10.11 July 7, 2023
      
10.14†+  Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2023, by and 

among BT OpCo, as the borrower, BT Assets, as the initial holding company, 
Express Vending Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of British 
Columbia, Mintz Assets, Inc., a Georgia corporation, BitAccess Inc., a 
corporation incorporated under the federal laws of Canada, Digital Gold 
Ventures Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of Ontario, Intuitive 
Software LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, the financial institutions 
and institutional investors from time to time party thereto as Lenders, and 
Silverview Credit Partners LP (f/k/a Silverpeak Credit Partners, LP).

8-K 10.1 June 28, 2023

      
21.1*  List of Subsidiaries of Bitcoin Depot Inc.    
      
23.1*  Consent of Wolf    
      
23.2*  Consent of KPMG    
      
31.1*  Certification of Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) Pursuant 

to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)  under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

   

      
31.2*  Certification of Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting 

Officer) Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. 

   

      

32.1**  Certification of Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) Pursuant 
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

   

      

32.2**  Certification of Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting 
Officer) Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

   

      
      

101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document.    
      

101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.    
      

104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL 
document).

   

      

*  Filed herewith.    
      

**  Furnished herewith.    
      

#  Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan, contract or 
arrangement.

   

      
†  Schedules and exhibits to this Exhibit omitted pursuant to Regulation S-K Item 

601(b)(2). The Registrant agrees to 
  l

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312523183847/d527686dex1011.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1901799/000119312523176466/d506805dex101.htm
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Exhibit  Description Schedule/Form Exhibit No. Filing Date
  furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the SEC 

upon request.
   

      

 
 
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.
 
None.
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly 
authorized. 
 
Date: March 24, 2025  By: /s/ Brandon Mintz

  Name: Brandon Mintz
  Title: President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive 

Officer)

 

 
Date: March 24, 2025  By: /s/ Scott Buchanan

  Name: Scott Buchanan
  Title: Chief Financial Officer (Principal

Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and 
on the dates indicated.
 

Signature Title  Date
 
/s/ Brandon Mintz

 
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

  

Brandon Mintz

/s/ Scott Buchanan

(Principal Executive Officer)

 

 March 24, 2025

Scott Buchanan

 
/s/ Dan Gardner

Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Director
(Principal Financial Officer)

 
 

 March 24, 2025

Dan Gardner

/s/ Teri Fontenot

Director  March 24, 2025

Teri Fontenot

/s/ Daniel Stabile

Director  March 24, 2025

Daniel Stabile

/s/ Bradley Strock

Director  March 24, 2025

Bradley Strock Director  March 24, 2025

/s/ Tim Vanderham
   

Tim Vanderham Director  March 24, 2025

 





Exhibit 21.1
 

Bitcoin Depot Inc.
List of subsidiaries

 
 
Bitcoin Depot Inc. has the following subsidiaries as of December 31, 2024:
 
 

Subsidiary  Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization  Percentage of Voting Securities Owned by Immediate Parent  
BT Holdco LLC  Delaware   100 %
BT Assets, Inc.  Delaware   97 %
Bitcoin Depot Operating, LLC  Delaware   100 %
Intuitive Software, LLC  Canada   100 %
Digital Gold Ventures, Inc.  Canada   100 %
BitAccess, Inc.  Canada   80 %
Mintz Assets, Inc.  Georgia   100 %
BTM Solutions India Private Limited  India   100 %
Express Vending, Inc.  Canada   100 %
COAM Assets, LLC  Delaware   100 %

 
 
 





Exhibit 23.1
 

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-283353 on Form S-3 and Registration Statement No. 333-273287 on 
Form S-8 of our report dated March 24, 2025, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Bitcoin Depot Inc. appearing in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of Bitcoin Depot Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2024.
 
/s/ Wolf & Company, P.C.

  
Wolf & Company, P.C.
Boston, Massachusetts
March 24, 2025
 
 





Exhibit 23.2

1

 
 
 

        
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 333-283353) on Form S-3 and (No. 333-273287) on Form S-8 of our report 
dated April 15, 2024, except for Note 2(v) and Note 5, as to which the date is March 24, 2025, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Bitcoin 
Depot Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP

McLean, Virginia
March 24, 2025

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





 

 

Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF  EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGEACT OF 1934,                                                                                                       AS ADOPTED 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, Brandon Mintz, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2024 of Bitcoin Depot Inc. (the “registrant”);
 
           2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
           3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
           4.The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)and 
15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information 
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,particularly during the period in which this report is being 
prepared;

 
 b)[Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313];

 
 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls 
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 
      d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s 
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
          5.The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit 
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the 
registrant’s ability to record, process,summarize and report financial information; and

 
 b) Any fraud, whether or not material,that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
 
 
Date: March 24, 2025

By:     /s/Brandon Mintz______________________
Brandon Mintz
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)





Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGEACT OF 1934,                                                                                     AS ADOPTEDPURSUANT TO 

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, Scott Buchanan, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2024 of Bitcoin Depot Inc. (the “registrant”);
 
           2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
           3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
           4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)and 
15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,particularly during the period in which this 
report is being prepared;

 
 b)[Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313];

 
 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 
 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s 
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and

 
           5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit 
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the 
registrant’s ability to record, process,summarize and report financial information; and

 
 b) Any fraud, whether or not material,that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
 
Date: March 24, 2025

By:     /s/ Scott Buchanan___________________
Scott Buchanan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 





 

 

Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, I, Brandon Mintz, Chief Executive Officer of Bitcoin Depot Inc. 
(the “Company”), hereby certify, that, to my knowledge: 

1.The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2024 (the “Report”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) 
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

2.The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and for the 
period covered by the Report. 

 
       
       
Date: March 24, 2025       

    By:  /s/ Brandon Mintz
      Brandon Mintz
      Chief Executive Officer
      (Principal Executive Officer)
 





 

 

Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, I, Scott Buchanan, Chief Financial Officer of Bitcoin Depot Inc. 
(the “Company”), hereby certify, that, to my knowledge: 

1.The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2024 (the “Report”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) 
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

2.The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and for the 
period covered by the Report. 

 
       
       
Date: March 24, 2025       

    By:  /s/ Scott Buchanan
      Scott Buchanan
      Chief Financial Officer
      (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
 




